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INTRODUCTfON 

These :notes; ~h have been compiled ih my spare 
rime as ~ Qf Anam,. f-Tom 1937 to 1'942 are an 
attempt !W :bring- that in~oable work '<if reference, Sir 
Alexander Mackenzie's "History of the Relations « the 
Government with the Hill Tribes of the North-East Frontier 
d_Be~" up to dat~ so far ~s it touches on the fronti-er 
districts of Assam, l-.le., taking them from south, by east, 
round to t4e north, 

The Lushai Hills ; 
Manipur State; 
The Naga Hills ; 
Sadiya Frontier Tract ; 
Balipara Frontier Tract. 

Mackenzie's work was published by the Home DepattiflefJ.t 
Press, Oalcutta in 1884 and his history of these areas stops 
short ~t that. year or in some instances earlier. 

_ The information cOntained in these flotes has beeh 
almost entirely compiled from official soutees except -Cor 
occasional references to books suth a$- Sir Henty Cotton's 
ulndian and Home Memories", Sir James Johnstone's 
"My Experiences in Manipur and the Naga Hills" or 
-Mrs. Grim'~'(Ood's "My three year~ in Manipur". 

For the notes on Marupur, I am indebted for much 
good advice and information to ~It. J. C. Higgins, C.I.E., 
I.C.S., lately retired, who served for nearly 20 years in that 
State and to his successor Mr. C. Gimson, I.C.S., who has 
served for more than 10 years in the State. 

For those on the Naga Hills, I have had the assistance 
as regards facts, policy and nomenclature first of Mr. J. P. 
Mills, C.I.E., I.C.s., Governor's Secretary throughout my 
term of office, who served for many years in that district 
and who, besides being an able administrator, has made 
himself an authority on Naga custom and foJk1ore: and 
secondly, of Mr. C. R. Pawsey, M.C., I.C.S., the present 
Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills, of which area he 
has had ] 0 years' experience. So far as the history of the 
Lushai Hills is concerned, Major A. G. ~lcCall, I.c.s. 
Superintendent of the Lushai Hills from 1932 to 1942, ba~ 
checked the manuscript, supplied information from his own 
records and experience, and given most useful advice on 
the subject of the spelling of names. 
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For the Sadiya Frontier Tract, Mr. R. W. God­
frey, I.P., the present Political Officer, has checked my 
manuscript and given me useful criticism, while Captain 
G. S. Lightfoot, I .. P~;~ Political Officer, Balipara Frontier 
Tract, has performed a similar service so far as his district 
is concerned. 

2. When Mackenzie's book was published the Naga 
Hills district (in a very embryo fonn) had only been 
formed a few years: the Lushai Hills district (at first 
organised in the form of two districts, North and South) 
was not to be constituted till 6 years later: while the two 
Frontier Tracts were not to come into existence until 1912, 
after the Abor Expedition. I have, however, for conve­
nience, arranged these notes under the headings of their 
present-day districts. 

3. As regards form, I have followed Mackenzie's 
example in introducing copious quotations from official 
documents. This has resulted in a certain amount of 
repetition, especially in the history of the Naga Hills, since 
so many important letters are of the "self-contained" 
variety and furnish a synopsis of past history as the back­
ground for present proposals. But perhaps this method 
gives a clearer picture of what was in the -minds of those 
who were grappling with particular problems at the time 
than something more ab.breviated. These notes too are 
meant mainly for reference and more for use of members of 
the Administration than the general public. 
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I. Introductory.-Mackenzie's references to the Lushai Hills stop 
at the year 1883, when disturbing reports had been received by the 
Deputy Commissioner. Cachar, as to the intentions of the Lushais to 
raid under Khalgom (by modern appellation Kalkhama Sailo son of 
Suakpuilala)* and troops had been hurried up to strengthen the frontier. 

At this time we did not attempt to administer the Lushai Hills, 
but the Deputy Commissioner, Cachar, whose district bordered the 
Lushai Hills on the north and west, was charged with political rela­
tions with the Lushai Chiefs, and had a Political Assistant (at that 
time Rai Bahadur Hari Charan Sarma) to aid him in these duties. 
Not many years, however. were to elapse before the inevitable happen­
ed and these unsatisfactory political relations Wf're done away with 
and the Lushais were brought fully under British administration. The 
history of the Lushai Hills for aU except a comparatively small portion 
of the period with which -these notes deal, therefore, ceases to be what 
Mackenzie's work was, a " History of the relations of the Government 
with the Hill Tribes of the North-East Frontier of Bengal" but the 
histories of an Assam and a Bengal District and then that of an Assam 
one only, albeit a non-regulation one. 

II. Till E~pfdition of 1888-1889.-The anticipation of serious trouble 
referred to in Mackenzie's concluding lines were not immediately ful­
filled, but raids of varying degrees of seriousness continued in succeed­
ing years, necessitating eventually the Expedition of 1888-89. On 
ll'ebruary 3rd, 1888 Lieutenant J. F. Stewart of the lst Leinster Regi­
ment, when in charge of a survey party, was attacked at a place only 
18 miles from Rangamati, near the Saichul Range by men described 
at the time as " Shendus "(an Arracan appellation which does not 
really apply to any particular tribe), led by a chief named Housata 
[Haosata] and killed together with two British soldiers and one sepoy. 
Mr. Stewart apparently had not the smallest idea that any danger 
threatened and took no precautions whatsoever for the safety of himself 
or his party. A little later, on the 15th February, a raid was p~rpe­
trated on the village of Roazo Prenkhyn Mro in the Chema Valley, in 
which 6 persons were killed, 2 wounded, and 23 prisoners taken. This 
also was attributed to Shendus. 

The Commissioner of the Chittagong Division, Mr. D. R. LyaU, 
in a letter, dated the 4th March 18R8t, urged in the strongest terms 
that an expedition should be sent in the ensuing cold weather to exact 
punishment from the cc Shendus " or Pois in a thorough and unmis­
takable way, in retribution for the long series of outrages which they 
had committed over so many years. After recounting these outrages 
and pointing out our entire inaction ever since the expedition of 
1872-73 he observed as follows :-

cc 11. • ........ I think that a strong case for active reprisals has 
been made out. 

·Spelling of names in Lushai is a matter of considerable difficulty. In 
Mackenzie's book, for instance, many of the names are quite beyond identification, 
even by well informed Lushais. 1 have therefore, wherever possil;>le, added after a 
name when it lirst occurs, the modem spelling in square brackets. 

I, Military Report-Chin-Lushai Country, 1893. Pages 36-37, 41-42. 
2. Military Report-A~sam 1908. 

tBcngal Secretariat, Pol., A, June Hl9l, Nos. 1-139. File Lj20., 1889. 
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12. From the earliest days of our connection with these hills, the 
officers best able to give an opinion have said that until the She-ndoos 
were dealt with there would be no cessation of raiding. 

The operations of1872-73 caused a lull, but when once they began 
again in 1882 with the attack on Lalseva [Lalchheuva] which was 
clearly a feeler in order to see whether any notice would be taken, they 
have followed up with a raid almost every year, culminating in the 
attack on Lieutenant Stewart and his guard at a place only 18 miles as 
the crow flies from Rangamati. 

13. The feeling of insecurity caused by these raids is reacting most 
injuriously on our revenues. The Hill Tracts revenue consists chiefly 
of toUs on hill produce, and these have gone down from Rs.89,109 in 
Rs.l,882-83 to Rs.83,222 last year, and the amount collected will be 
even less this year. In fact Mr. Home does not expect it to exceed 
Rs.50,000. 

Even in a financial point of view, an expedition ought, therefore, 
to go through the Shendoo country next year, but I urge the necessity 
on far higher grounds. 

We are bound to protect the men living within our declared 
boundary, and not to avenge them would be a breach of faith. 
Lif>utenant Stewart, too, was surveying ten miles from the boundary 
When attacked, and if these men be allowed to carry off from within 
our territory the heads of three white men with impunity, next year 
will doubtless be marked by even more savage raids. Mr. Murray 
says that every white man is held to be a Chief, and the recent raid 
is therefore the most succes'iful they have ever made. 

14. The report already submitted shows on what slight grounds a 
raid is committed. In the present case a quarrei between a savage and 
his wife on the banks of the Koladyne has caused the death of Lieute­
nant Stewart, two soldiers, and a sepoy within our territory. some 12 
or 15 days' march distant, not to mention the affair in the Chaima 
Valley. Similarly, the death of a Chief may at any time cause a head­
hunting expedition to come off; even the" chaff" 6f the village girls 
may send a body of young men off on the warpath for heads. 

IS. We are quite powerless in preventing such raids, and would 
be equally so if we had ten times our present force. In the kind of 
junglf' which covers the hills a band of savages can alway, slip by 
unobserved, and the effect of our police guards is almost entirely moral. 
Their existence in fact serves to continue the remembrance of more 
severe lessons, such as the expedition of 1872-73, and they should also 
be able to cut off the retreat of raider. if we had a system of telegraphs, 
but the main safeguard against the recurrence of raids mUllt always be 
th~ fe~ of punish~ent. A certain show o~ force is necessary to main­
tam tbiS fear, but It would be most expensive and useless to maintain 
al:ways on the frontier a f?rce capable of punishing the most powerful 
tnbes. The Shf'ndoos thmk they are beyond our power to punish, and 
the more thoroughly we show them the baselessness of their belief, the 
more free shall we be from raids in the future. , , 
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It is for this reason that I advise three columns exploring their 
country from every side. I feel sure that if thi.; be not done the hms 
on the side of Burmah will become a refuge for the dacoits and bad 
characters of Burmah, an~ will be a continual thorn in our side." 

In their letter No.2576-P., dated the 3rd August 1888, the Govern­
ment of Bengal fully endorsed Mr Lyall's proposals, remarking tbat 
" it is plain that, as a matter of genrral policy, it will be impossible 
to avoid the adoption of punitive measures sooner or later, and 
Mr. Edgar has shown conchsive reasons against postponing it'~. 

The reference to Mr. (later Sir John) Edgar who was then Chief 
Sectetary of Bengal, concerns a long'" note which that officer had 
recorded on "Shendoo Raids on the Chlttagong Hill Tracts" on 17th 
July 1888 This note giYt"s a history and appreciation of the situation 
together with proposals for the future. The gist of jt appears from the 
following extracts: 

"The country is almost unexplored, and very little is known of it, 
except that it is a tract of most intricate hill ranges and impenetrable 
cane-brakes lying between Manipur and Cachar on the north, and the 
Arrab.n Hill Tracts on the south, and between the Chindwin river on 
the east, and the Chittagong HiU Tracts and Hi1l Tipperah on the 
west. On the edges of this tract on all sides the hills are low, cover­
ed with dense forest and trackless jungle, the only path'3 being for the 
most part the beds of torrents. Further in the hil's are much higher 
and more open, so that there would be less difficulty in exploring them. 
The villages of the inhabitants of the tract are, as a rule, situated on 
the higher hills The people form a mingling of clans, speaking so 
far as I know, dialects of the same language, who are known to us 
by various names-Kookis, Lushais, Pois, Shendus, Chins, etc ......... . 
Almost every village has its own Chief, who generally, however, owes 
some sort of allegiance to the most powerful Chief of the group of vil­
lages to which he belongs, whom I may. for convenience sake, call1he 
head of his clan. From time to time the Chief of somt" subordinate 
village gets power 4nd throws off his allegiance to his former head, 
and founds a new clan for himseJf, which gets known sometimes by 
hi;J name, sometimes by the name of the hill on which the Chief's vil­
lage is situated, and sometimes by a variation of the original clan 
name. The people of these Chiefs change about from time to ~me, 
leaving a declining or feeble "chief to settle under some one more able 
and energetic. Nothing does more to establish a Chief and bring him 
followers and influence than success in raids upon weaker ChiefS, upon 
the viUages of Manipur, Hill Tipperah, and Upper Burma, or upon 
our villages and outposts and tea-gardens. The last are the most 
attractive of all, for there are more plunder and heads to be got there, 
with much less risk than elsewhere, especially now that our troops pro.­
tect the villages of Upper Burma. In addition to the constant changes 
in the relative position of individual chiefs, a general movement would 
seem to take place from time to time amongst these people, apparently 
as if swarms were thrown off from the more crowded villages in lhe 

• A'lSam Secretariat, Political and Judicial, A., Foreign Pr~., August 1890. 
Nos. 1-46." 
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higher central hills, such swarms forming new communities all round 
the outer fringe of the tract, and in doing so driving before them the 
villages which had previously inhabited this fringe. The inhabitants 
of them are compelled, in consequence of the pressure, to take refuge 
in our territory or in Tipperah or Manipur, where they are often fol­
lowed, themselves killed or taken captive and their villages plundered 
by the new-comers This seems to have been the origin of what is 
called the great Kooki rising of 1849 and 1850, as it certain1y was of 
the great series of raids in 1860-61. 

• .. • 
"But, apart from the danger to our tea.gardens, it is alm~t cer­

tain that, if no "punishment is inflicted on account of the sUQcessful 
raids of the past vear, the offending vi1lages will be emboldeped to 
make more extensive attacks on all parts of the frontier next year or the 
year after It seems clear, therefore, that punitive measures are impera­
tively caUed far, and the only question is the from they should take. 

Mr. Lyall has proposed that a column from Burma and a column 
from Demagiri should meet near what has until lately been supposed 
to be the most easterly branch of the Koladyne, but which is now 
known to be a confluent of the Myetta, and that a third c01umn 
shou1d etrC'ct a junction with these from the south ........... but I gath-
er the Chief Commissioner of Burma would not be likely to support 
such a project, and as it seems to me that the punishment of the per­
petrators of the outrage on Lieutenant Stewart's party, and, if pos­
sible, of the Chima Valley raiders, is of paramount importance, I 
should therefore confine our present proposals to effecting these objects. 
In order to punish Housata and Jahoota {Zahuata] I should propose 
to despatch a small column from Demagirl, which should advance in 
the direction of the offending villages, possibly using 'the villages of 
Sayipuiya rSeipuia] and Vandula as a base, should these be found 
friend1y and unmistakably to be trusted, and not attacking any of 
the other villages on the route unless active opposition from them were 
met with. On arriving at the hills occupied by Housata and Jahoota, 
the force should remain there until thpy had reduced the offending 
Chiefs and their people to submission, and inflicted on them such 
punishment as might be considered necessary. If possible, a portion 
of the force should be detached to march against the villages of the 
TJangsai [this was the chief clan among the LakhersJ in order to 
punish the Chima Vaney outrage, and to recover the prisoners then 
taken. '. • • 
• ..: ... Ot one ~hing I am absolutely convinced. Any plan for deal­
JOg WIth these h1l1men should be worked in concert by the Govern .. 
ments of Bengal. Assam and Burma. No mistake can be greater than 
for each of these Governments to deal separately with the villagers 
adjo:ning its own frontier without reference to those in the vicinity of 
the other two Governments, or in the centre of the tract, because the 
effect of this would be merdy to divert attacks from on.~ portion of 
the frontier to another, while doing nothing to remedy the real source 
of the evil which I take to be the belief of the inhabitants of the 
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I higher central' hills in the inaccessibiIty of their country and their 
safety from danger of punishment. It would be very easy to put. an 
end to aU this if the Governments of all surrounding country were to 
unite in a steady continuous attempt to open up this unknown tract, 
and to make its inhabitants feel that they were surrounded on all 
,!lides by a single government, with a single ~ and a single method 
of working." 

The Chief Commissioner of Assam in his letter No. 2574* dated 
the 7~h'September 1888 fully supported the Bengal proposal, but the 
Supreme Government in their letter No. 1889-Et ofthe 24th Septem­
ber 1888 intimated that they considered that their position in the 
Chindwin districts of Burma was not yet sufficiently consolidated to 
allow then of a "satisf~ctorily full and permanent development of the 
objects which a joint expedition from Chittagong and Burma Plightl 
be expected to secure", and for this and other reasons they were not 
going to undertake an expedition. This decision evoked the strong­
est protest from Mr. Lyall who, writing on the 26th September 1888, 
said Qur inaction would be misunderstood by the trans-frontif'r tribes; 
we should have to expect fresh raids; the frontier police must be 
strengthened at once, a telegraph line between Demagiri and Ranga­
mati being indispensable as well as from the latter place to C\litta­
gong; while revenue would suffer owing to apprehension among the 
tribes within the frontier. The Lieutenal,t-Governor in his letter 
No. 140-PD., dated the 15th. Octobert 1888, strongly supported all 
the Commissioner's proposals, adding that the local non-officials and 
planters and business ~en as well had represented the dapger to which 
the frontier was exposed. As a result of these protests the frontier 
forcf's were strengthened and a detachment of the 9th Bengal Infantry 
left for Chittagong on the 8th November 1888, but the Govemment 

-of India in their reply to Bengal on the 7th November said tbat.Jhey 
were unable to modify their previous orders about an expedi tio.n. The 
Government of Bengal again .represented the matter in their letter 
No. 2726-P. t, dated the 10th December 1888, in which tliey reported 
a new development, i.e., the possibility of the hitherto loyal Chjef 
Sayipuia being alienated owing to our inaction,.a fact which "would 
not merely gready increase the .. difficulties of any future expedition 
but would bring the dangers of attacks on our villages during the pre­
sc:nt season very much nearer". They were satisfied that a spirit of 
unrest prevailed on this border, and though they hesitated to reQpm 
the question they felt it wai their duty to atate the facts,. so, that the 
Government of India could make up their minds before the season be­
came too far advanced. 

The question was, in fact, settled by the tribesmen themselve.s. 
On the 13th December 1888 occurred the ·raid on Pakuma Rani's 
village, within our territory and 'only 4 miles from Demagiri, when the 
Rani.and 21 Ulen were killed, 13 heads taken and 15 captives carried 
off. This raid introduced a new factor ~nto the situation in that.it was 

• Assam Secretariat, Political and Judicial. A._ Foreigq Progs .... Nos.1-46. 
August 1890. 

t Bengal File No.L/20 of 1889. 
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committed by men from a direction hitherto not taken into considera­
tion. (It was ~scertained a year later that it had been carried out by 
the sons of the Lushai Chief Vuta, who inhabited country round 
about the places now known as Tachhip and Phulpui. There was, 
therefore, t'very reason to view with some apprehension this new source 
of raiders. their country being 50 or 60 miles distant, as the crow flies, 
from the Rani's village.) In forwarding the information regarding this 
outrage in his letter No. 2734* t dated the 17th December 1888* and 
urging the necessity of punitive measures, the Lieutenant-Governor 
gave his 'Views as to the general policy which should be adopted for 
the future in the following terms. 

"4 ...... The policy which has been followed since 1872 owed 
its acceptance ~o the fact that the Lushai Hills formed 
a real frontier, h2ving beyond them the territories of Upper 
Burma. and that the occllpation of these hills would have brought us 
into immediate proximity to the tribes then imperfectly controlled by 

the Burmese Government. There were m:;mifest objections to this, but 
since Upper Burma has been incorporated with our own territories, the 
political conditions affecting this tract of country have be!n changed. 
It is now surrounded on all sides by our settled districts, or by petty 
States under our immediate control. We cannot permit the continu­
ance in our midst of groups of head-taking savages without responsible 
Chiefs. without organisation, and not amenable to political control, 
Who yet from their geographical position are enable to commit out­
rages with practical impunity upon our territory on all sides of them; 
while we are put to great and constantly increasing expense to main­
tain lines of defence which prove ineffectual to protect our praceful 
people. 

5. The alternative policy which commends itself to the 
Lieutenant-Governor is to undertake the permanent pacifica­
tion of the whole tract by means of roads run through 
it, and the substitution, for the present line of comparatively 
weak guards, of a central dommant post with an adequate 
military reserve, and such outposts as might be found necessary. 
The whole tract should be eventually brought under the control of a 
single officer stationed at the central post above mentior.ed. It is 
needless to point out that a similat policy has proved successful in 
many parts of India, as for instance, in the Garo, the Naga and the 
Cossyah Hills ...... " 

As regards immediate action, he did not, owing to the lateness of 
the season, advocate sending two expeditions into the Lushai country 
but advised that one only should be sent to the east to punish Houseata 
and his associates. 

The Expedition of 1889.-The G)vernment of India agreed 
that this fresh and atrocious outrage made it "necessary that active 
measures should be immediately undertaken" (their letter No.2424-E* 
dated the 19thpecember 1888), and stated their view of the purpose 
of the operatlons as follows. "4. The object of the expedition 

• Bengal File No.L/20 of 1889. 
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is essentially to prevent raiding. The primary objective of the force 
will be Sayipuia's village, and it will, as proposed by the Government 
of Bengal, proceed as far eastwards as may be possible with a view 
to operations against Howsata's and Jahuta's villages, if time and the 
season permit. Communications will be maintained by means of a 
roal to be made from Demagiri as the force advances, and the Officer 
in Command will be instructed to select, if such can be found, a domi­
nant central position suitable for the location of a sufficient force, and 
capable of being held throughout the coming rains and hot weather. 
A line of telegraph will also be immediately constructed between 
Chittagong and Rangamatti to Demagiri". 

Demagiri was made the base and our troops commenced to pene­
trate into the country in January 1889. The operations were under 
the command of Colonel F. V. W. Tregt"ar of the 9th Bengal Infantry 
with Mr. Lyall, the Commissioner, as Civil Political Officer and 
Messrs. C. A. S. Bedford and C. S. Murray as Assistant Political 
Officers. Captain J. Shakespear was employed as Intelligence Offi­
cer. About 1,150 men were engagc:.d, including 200 men of the 2nd 
Madras Pioneers, 250 men of the 2nd Bengal Infantry, 4CO men of 
the 2j2nd Gurkha Rifles, and the 250 men of the 9th Bengal Infantry, 
who were already in the country; together with two mountain guns, 

The course of the operations is described in Mr. Lyall's ll'tter, 
No. 492-H.T., dated the 5th May 1889*. The 17th February 1889 
saw matters sufficiently organised for a party consisting of ~OO men 
with Mr. Murray and Captain Shakes pear to visit Sayipuia's viIIage~ 
who was now convinced that we meant business and gave his whole 
support to our demands. Murray then went on to Vandula's 
where he was well received, and heard news of Howsata's 
death. The advante on Howsata's village was commenct'q. 
on the 14th Ma~ch, starting from the fort which had been 
established at Lungleh. (Lungleh was described as "a hill 3,500 feet 
high in the neighbourhood of the village at present [1889) inhabited 
by Saipuya".) Jabuta's village was reached on the 19th March and 
Howsata's on the 20th. Howsata's grave was examined and under­
neath his body was found Lieutenant Stewart's gUIJ, proving, as Mr. 
Lyall's report says, "that he had punished the right men." The 
village was destroyed, and so was Jahuta's. 

On the 3rd April a durbar of Chiefs was held. It was attended 
by the 3 great Howlang [Haulawng] Chiefs, Saipuyia, Lal Thang­
bunga [Lalthangvunga], Lalunga, Vandula's son Sangliena [Sangliana] 
and Lalruma. These represented the whole of the southern Howlongs 
and they gave undertakings of loyalty. As Mr. Lyall observed in his 
report, this Was excellent as far as it went, but the Shendoos, owing to 
the lateness of the season, could not, except for the burning of the des. 
erted villages of Howsata and Jah~ta, be fully dealt with. Be that as it 
may, by the 16th April substantial punishment had been exacted, Fort 
Lungleh had been established, a road constructed, and it was possible 
to withdraw, leaving a garrison of one British Officer and 212 men 
of the Frontier Police -'in occupation of Lungleh. 

• Bengal File No.U20 of 1889. 
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Ill. The Chin-Lushai Expedition of 1889-90.-The Lieutenant­
Governor reviewed these results and considered what should be done 
in the ensuin~ season's operations in Chief Secretary Sir John Edgar's 
letter No.19-PD*, dated the 3rd June 1889. His conclusion wag "that 
the first object of the oper.~tions to be undertaken next year must be 
to reduce the Shendoos to submission, to recover the remainder of the 
arms, and the heads taken when Lieutenant SteNart was killed, and 
also to release captives taken in 1883 from the village of the Lushai 
Chief Lalsiva .......... This, however, should only be a subsidiary object. 
The main scheme of operation next sea':lon should be devoted to the 
release of the captives carried away in the raids on the village of 
Pakuma Rani and those in the Chengri Valley, and to the infliction of 
such punishment on the perpetrators of these atrocious outrages as may 
suffice to prevent the commission of similar raids in the future". 

The reference to the Chengri Valley concerned the following 
incident. On the 8th January 1889 a party of about 600 men led by 
Len~punga (or Lianphunga) and his brother Zarok [Zahrawka], sons 
of Sukpilal [Suakpuilala] had descended on the valley which lay on the 
Chittagong Frontier and within 2 marches of Rangamati, burnt 24 
villages, killed 101 persons and carried off 91 captives. Two con­
temporary letters give interesting details regarding the' habits of the 
raiders. Writing on February 26th, 1890, Mr. L. R. Forbes, Deputy 
Commissioner, Chittagong Hill Tracts, says;-

"1 beg to state that according to the lists furnished the number 
carried off amounts to 91, vi<:., 76 in captivity and 15 ransomed or 
escaped. In addition to these there are those that were sacrificed on 
reaching the Chiefs' village and those said to have committed suicide. 
Beaides these the Manager (Chakma and Mong Rajah's circles) states 
there may be more but owing to migration to Hill Tipperah he has 
not been able to get information. Lengphunga (Lianphunga) I see 
has given up 61, captives, if to these are added the 15 escaped and 
transferred there remains a very large nu mber for sacrifice and 
suicide". 

Writing on July 13th, 1889 to the Secretary to the Chief Commis­
sioner, the Deputy Comrni9Sioner, Cachar, Mr. J. D. Anderson says:-

"2...... Lengpunga's own account of the Chengri Valley raid 
app:ars to be as follows :-While Zarok ruled a separate village, he 
laid claim to the land of the Chengri Valley people, and informed them 
that, inasmuch as they were not tributary either to the British G.:>vern­
ment, or to the Maharajah of Tipperah, he intended to assert his rights 
to their lands as an elephant-huntmg ground. Shortly after this, some 
of the Chengri Valley Kukis hovered about Zarok's jhum cultivation 
and scared his women and children. Zarok took counsel with his 
brother, Lengpunga, who (he candidly admits) advised him that it was 
his bounden duty to subjugate the Kukis, and for that purpose lent him 
lome of his young men. Lengpunga admits that eight souls, seven 
women and a bo} were released two months ago, being ransomed by a 
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:Cjemadar from Chittagong". He says_ this_p.erson :paid down Rs.lS5-
In cash, an<J. promised to pay RJ,.515, ~bsequently.; the latter sum to 
be treatec1 as a loa.n from Lengpupga.. to him a,t,a rat~ o( 10 per cen~. per 
mensem. He (Lengp~Ka) has receivep,l}q money subsequent~y and 
says that, if more noney be not forthcoming i~ two months' time} he will 
raicl again. At least such is the report ormy informan,t, who seems to 
l1ave been much imprc;ssed by the Chief's truculent' 'demeanour. 'OUr 
messengers were allowed free access to the captives who gave them a 
fhll account of how they were captured and: carried off They as Nell 
as their captors are suffering considerably from scarcity of food....:...tl'1ey 
more than the Lushais, however 1 inasmuch as they are not accustdmed 
to Lushai messes .of jungle leaves, etc. In other respects they appear 
to be treated fairly well., They give a deplorable accoUnt of the 
journey to' Lengpunga's Village after they were taken eaptives. The 
babies of nursing women (who could not carry other loads than their 
children} were taken froIn them, 'and butchered before their, eyes. 
When they got to-Lengpunga"s pungi, seven of them were sacrjficed in 
the presence of the rest, and then (repeating the action) 'we P.ut our 
hands to our eyes lest we should see any more'. So their words are 
reported to me. 

3. Lengpunga sturdilY,refused to let any captives go, The Deputy 
Commissioner of Cachar was 'his father', and so. forth, but the Chengri 
VaUey affau had cost him R,.3.,300, and if that sum were not paii::l, he 
was not going to let his victims go. These, according to 1m own 
account, are 55 itt number, but the Kukis. themselves' say thali they 
know of 7(}still surviving, and think there may be more in confinement 
of whom they know nothing." 

Sir Steuart Bayley advised as follows r~arding the conduct of the 
o;pedition. -

H •• : ••• ~ •• While, as before urged, steps should be taken at- the 
outset to reduce the Shendoos to submission~ our main advance should 
not be tawards their villages but should be ~irected northward along 
the hills overhanging the Dallesari- [known-now-a-days as- the -Dhales­
~ari or Tlang], until some commanding poi1l.t could be occupied from 
which the villages implicated in the Chengri Valley outrage could be 
effectually visited and punished. When the people inhabiting the 
villages on. both sides of the Dallesari, and as far as the Sunai, have 
been reduced to complet~ submission, an advance should be made to 
the east, and the villages belonging to- the sons of Bhuta [Vuta} should 
be dealt with, in the same thorough-going manner as_ has proved soo 
effectual this year in the case of the Kamhows and Qth~ tribes of the 
Burmese fronUeJl' .... __ .No attempt should ~ made without more 
complete knowledge of the country than we have at present, to ~y out 
the. permanent road which. will eventually h~ve in be made between 
some point in the Chittagong Hill Tracts. and some point. on the 
frontier of Burma; and the Lieutenant-Governor,. as at presen t 
advised, is very doubtful whether the direction of such a road would 
coincide with the line of advance which must be adopted by us next 
season; but it is probably that hereafter the first portion of the road 
from Lungleh towards the villages of Lengpu-nga and Zarock could be 
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extended to Cachar, and so form means of communication between 
that district and the Chittagong Hill Tracts, which would in any case 
be a necessary portion of the scheme for the permanent pacification of 
the Lushai tribes advocated in my letter above quoted." 

The Government of India decided on the 11th September 1889· 
that operations should take place. The general plan was that a 
Chittagong Column should move via Lungleh to Haka, meeting a Burma 
Column coming from Gangaw via Yokwa, a column from the former 
force to go north to punish the raiders on the Chengri Valley and 
Pakuma Rani. This was the expedition known all the Chin-Lushai 
Expedition of 1889-90. It was on a bigger scale than that of 1888-89 
and Bengal, Burma and Assam all took part. The "Scheme· of Opera­
tiom" drawn up by the Quarter Master General which was approved by 
the Government of India stated the object of the expedition thus "The 
object of the expedition will be, firstly, to punitively visit certain tribes 
that have raided and commit~ed depredations in British territory, and 
have declined to make amends or to come to terms ; secondly to sub­
jugate tribes as yet neutral, but now, by force of circumstances 
brought within the sphere of British dominion; thirdly, to explore and 
open out as much as can be done in the time, the, as yet only partly 
known, country between Burma and Chattagong ; and, lastly, if the 
necessity arises, to establish semi-permanent posts in the regions 
visited so as to ensure complete pacification and recognition of British 
power". 

The Chittagong Column, based on Demagiri was again under 
the command of Colonel Tregear and the 3,400 men engaged 
included the 3rd Bengal Infantry, 2/2nd Gurkha Rifles, the 28th 
Bombay Infantry (Pioneers), and detachments of the 2/4th Gurkha 
Rilles, the 9th Bengal Infantry, the Bengal Sappers and Miners and 
the Chiltagong Frontier Police. Captain J. Shakespear was again 
attached as Field Intelligence Officer. From this force a column 
about 800 strong, referred to a.'\ the "Northern Column' in the corres­
pondence of the period, under Colonel G. J. Skinuer pf the 3rd Bengal 
Infantry, accompanied by Mr. C. S. Murray as Political Officer, was 
detached to the north-west principally in order to punish the raiders on 
the Chengri Valley and on Pakuma Rani's village. 

Simultaneously with these movements in the south, a force com­
posed of 400 men of the Sur ma Valley Battalion of Military Police 
under thdr Commandant, Mr. W. W. Daly, a police officer, was 
organised from Cachar with orders to recover the captives taken in, 
and punish Liengpunga for, the raid on the Chengri Valley; to punish 
Vutais' [VuttaiaJ sons for the raid on Pakuma Rani's villages; and to 
establish a permanent post in the vicinity of Liengpunga'. village. 
The organisation of this force was undertaken in close consultation 
between Bengal and Assam, and Mr. Daly's instructions were agreed 
upon at a conference· held at the Lieutenant-Governor's residence at 
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Belvedere in Calcutta on 15th January 1890 at which the Lieutenant­
Governor of Bengal, the Commander-in-Chief, the Chief Commissioner 
of Assam and Sir John Edgar, Chief Secretary of Bengal were present. 
They were as follows :-

"(1) Establish a stockaded godown, with sufficient guard, at 
Changsil or any other place Daly considers preferable in the direction 
of Lengpunga's village. 

(2) Collect all the information he can, and prospect for the road 
towards Lengpunga. 

(3) As soon as he can, open up communications with the 
Northern Column, and, when communications are opened, place him­
self under .the Officer Commanding the Column. 

(4) Meanwhile, when everything is made perfectly secure, Daly 
is not precluded from advancing against Lengpunga, with the special 
object of punishing Lengpunga as completely and severely as his means 
permit, unless Lengpunga surrenders himself unconditionally, and gives 
up all captives. 

(5) There is no objection to Daly's receiving friendly overtures 
from other villages which did not take part in the recent raids" . 

Mr. Daly was accompanied by 3 British Officers, Messrs . .1. R 
Carnac, and L. St. J. Brodrick of the Assam Police, and Mr. S. N. 
Walker of the Bengal Police, with Dr. Partridge and subsequently 
Surgeon Coleman of the 43rd Gurkha Rifles, as Medical Officers. 
Mr. Daly left his base camp at Jhalnacherra in Cachar on the 18th 
January 1890, reached Changsil on the 24th January and joined hands 
with Colonel Skinner's column on the 11 th February at Aijal. On the 
30th January, 58 of Lengpunga's captives were brought in to Changsil, 
to be followed by 5 more on the next day, while the last remaining 
captive, a young girl of about 8 years old, was brought in a good deal 
later on 9th February. "Thus" (to quote the Chief Commissioner's 
letter No.2876-J,,* dated the 19th July 1890, to the Government of 
India) c<the recovery of the Chengri Vaney captives, one of the most 
important objects of the expedition, was completely and expeditiou-;ly 
attained without bloodshed." On February 4th, Mr. DaIy reached 
the Aijal range and built a stockade on a site which he describes as 
"a good one for a permanent post", and which eventually became the 
site of the headquarters of the Lushai Hills District. On the 8th he 
advanced on Lengpunga's vjUage some 16 miles south of Aijal, not far 
distant from the present-day village of Tachhip. Here he had an 
interview with the Chief but did not place him under arrest Three 
days later Colonel Skinner's Northern Column arrived, and Mr. Daly 
thenceforth came under his orders. Lengpunga then fled and it was 
some time before he came again in contact with our officers. The 
failure to apprehend Lengpunga led to a good deal of correspondence. 
Daly'st explanation was that the man had come into his camp only 
after persuasion by the Political Jamadar, Shib Charan, and on a 
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solemn promise that he would not be detained. Daly, therefore, was 
unwilling to break faith with him by seizing him. He got him to 
promise, however, on c')ndition his ife was spared, to give himselfup 
when Colonel Skinner's Column. arrived. But the man) alarmed eLt 
leaining of the approach of the Column, would not come in. Daly 
then made arrangements to try and capture him. But Colonel 
Skinner's Column arrived earlier than expected, and Lengpunga took 
to flight. The Chief Commissioner, however, and the Government of 
Bengal were both sufficiently satisfied that Daly acted rightly. 

There was no opposition worthy of the Dame throughout these 
operations which were completed in March 1890, and, apart from the 
rescue of the Chengri Valley captives, the main work achieved was to 
establish posts ~nd organise communications. The Assam Column 
established posts at Aijal (on the range on which Lengpunga's village 
lay) and Changsil, while in the south, Fort Tregear, east of Lungleh on 
the Darjow [Darzo] Range, was established and Fort Lungleh was 
improved. 

In reviewing the results of the expedition, the Adjutant-General 
in his report No.4179-A.,· dated the 16th July 1890, said-

"3. [The objects ofthe expedition] have been attained by the 
expedition in a most complete manner, and his Excellency cannot too 
highly bring to the notice of the Government of India 'the excellent 
conduct of all concerned, in having so cheerfully borne the hardships 
and overcome the difficulties which had to be encountered-difficulties 
which were considerably enhanced by the physical conditions of the 
country and the severe sickness which attacked the force, and which 
crippled the Burma columns to almost a dangerous extent. 

4. In such adverse circumstances, the results which have attended 
the operation. of the expedition must be regarded a~ eminently satis­
factory; for not only has communication between 'Bengal and Burma 
been established, and the tribes which had previously given annoyance 
fittingly dealt with, but all the principal tribes inhabiting the country 
have been brought under subjugation, a large number of captives 
who had been in the hands of these tribes restored to their own 
homes,-and military posts at certain places for the prest'rvation of 
order, and as evidence of British supremacy, established". 

The Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal in his letter No.39-P.R.T.,t 
dated the 19th August 1890, agreed with this view so far as the \punish­
ment of Howsata, Paona and Jahuta was concerned, and said ,that 
there was not much "left to be done in the way of publishment in 
connexion with the tribes under Liengpunga and the sons of Vutai who 
were responsible for the raids on the Pakuma Rani's ·village and on the 
Chengri Valley". He was still of opinion. however, that a further 
expedition in the ensuing cold weather was required against the tribes 
oc('upying the loop of the Koladyne, to whom had been traced res­
ponsibility for the raid on the Chima Valley (of the 15th February 
1888). This, as it turned out, did not become necessary as the 5 vil­
lage concerned themselves surrendered. 
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A reference to the future administration of these hills is made in 
paragraph 3 of the same letter in the following terms. 

"3, The suggestion. however, for separating the Bengal portion of 
this territory entirely from the Chittagong Hill Tracts, and transferring 
to it the frontier police ohhe tatter district (whkh wdUld 1hereafter be 
ma'!l'ned only by civil police)., ana for placing the new -district 'Under ,a 
separate political agency controlled by the -Commissioner· of Chittagong, 
is one which commends itself to the Lieutenant-Governor. It has 
already been carried out to some extent, and whtn 'Certain financial 
and legal details have beeD worked aut, the Lieutenant-Governor will 
address the Government of India with a view to give full effect to the 
proposal" . 

On the administratixe side these operations led to the creation of 
the 2 districts of the North Lushai Hills and South Lusbai Hills, with 
Jteadquarters at Aijal and Lungleh respectively. The North Lushai 
Hills became part of the Chief Commissionership of Assam. while the 
southern district was attached to Bengal. 

IV. The North Lushai Hills District.-The future of this area was 
the subject of discussion 'before the Ulnclusion 'Of ,the Chin-Lushai 
operations, and in February 1890· the Chief C<1JnIliMsioner of Assam, 
Mr. J. W. Quinton, taused inquiries 'to be hlade from Mr. Daly, who 
was 'then in Aijal, as to'details of -the garrison nec~9Sary and so on, as 
he had reason to believe that ., a proposal w,ll be made to him to take 
-over in some form or other" the administration of the North Lushai 
country". The final proposals for the ..control ()f the Northern portion 
of the Lushai Hills are contained in Mr. Quinton~s letterf No.1830-P., 
dated the lSth May 1890. One important 'Point, rthat Q[ the method 
of exercising -eonb"ol, is dealt with as follows. 

" ..• , .. Mr. Quinton was, , ......... satisfied that the mere occupation 
by a police force of certain points in the tract referred to would not in 
itself be sufficient.o bring underoour influence .the chi~fs with whom 
we have been so lately in collision, and that, if this object was to be 
adequately attained, it'was ~ssential that an l.officer, ,possessing both 
experience and judgment, should .be .at tl}.e same time appointed ,to 
'feel his way among the people, and graduaUy aC<!ustom them tcil 'our 
'Control. Itis'quite impossible to employ 1he Deputy Commissioner 
'OfCachar for 'this 'Propose. It is true [that lOUr interco'lrse 'with. \the 
Lmlhais has hitherto been -conducted under the control 'of lthat officer, 
'but 'such intercourse has -been 'only very slight, land 'our rdea.1istgs .with 
'the Lmhals have been few and .infrequent. This state lor 'things <has, 
however, -beeR Ctlmp1ete1y altered ·by It he late .expeditian, ,and ithe 
Deput,. Commissioner could not, comistendy -with the due perform­
ance-of his other duties, 'spare the ltime <required for the clOser (:ontrol 
-and more constant communication, froIn which alone the exteI1sien of 
-our irifluente (wer the tribes .tonoerned .can ,be lGOked for. Aaeord-
ingly, the Chief Commissioner has deputed a separate officer, ,and thas 
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selected for this purpose Captain H. R. Browne, Officiating Assistant 
Commissioner of the First Grade, and subject to the confirmation of the 
Government of India, has appointed him Political Officer in the 
Northern Lushai country ......... ". 

The Chief Commissioner's proposals were ,accepted by the Govern­
ment of India in their letter No. 1391*, dated the 3rd luCy 1890 of 
which ilie following is an extract:...!-. 

" ......... the measures YOll recommend contemplate-

(1) The employment of 300 men of the Frontier Police to hold 
the tract of country, which will henceforth be under your 
control. 

(2) The' appoiJ;ltmeI1t of a Poutical Officer to conduct our rela­
tions with the tribes. The officer selected for this duty 
is Captain H. R. Browne, and it is proposed to grant him 
a salary of Rs. 1,000 a month, leaving his vacancy in the 
Assam Commission unfilled for the present. 

(3) The appointment of an Assistant Commandant of the Surma 
Valley Police Battalion. A young military officer will 
be selected for this post, and receive a staff allowance of 
Rs. 200 a month in addition to the military pay of his 
rank. 

(4) The appointment of an European medical officer with the 
pay attached to a first-class civil station. 

(5) The organisation of a coolie corps of 100 men, who will 
receive Rs. 10 a month with free rations, and the main­
tenance of a small reserve of boat carriage between 
lhalnacherra and Changsil. 

• • • • • 
4. It is observtd from the second paragraph of your Jetter under 

reply, that "ou concur in the opinion of His Honour the Lieutenant­
Governor of Bengal that it would be premature at present to fix any 
geographical boundary between Bengal and Assam. The control of 
the villages of the descendants of Lalul will, however, come under 
your jurisdiction. I am to say that the Government of India agree to 
this arrangement as a temporary measure, until fuller information of 
the country in question shall have been obtained. As regards the 
boundary between Assam and Burma, I am to forward a copy of a tele-

gram* from the Chief Commissioner of Burma, 
-No.367. tiated the and to state that the Government of India con-

7thJunc 1890. cura in the views as therein set forth. The Tas­
hons will accordingly remain under the control of the authorities in 
Burmah for the present". 

-Assam Secretariat, Political and Judicial, A, Foreign Progs. AuguAt 1890, 
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Curiously enough, it was not until the 6th' September 1895 that 
the deJacto position as regards the administration of the North Lushail 
Hills districts, which had persisted since 1890 apparently without: 
formal legal sanction, was regularised by a proclamation, No. 1698-E., 
made by the Governor-General in Council. 

Captain Browne, who had lately been Personal Assistant to the' 
Chief Commissioner, arrived at Aijal in May 1890 in the appointment 
of Political Officer. His instructions were contained in the Chief 
Commissioner's letter No. 1468-P.,'" dated the 22nd April '1890, and ran 
as follows:-

"I am directed by the Chief Commissioner to communicate, for' 
your information and guidance, the following instructions~..... . 

1. Your headquarters will be at Fort Aijal but you should keep 
moving about among the chiefs with the object of establishing politi­
cal influence and control over them, and inducing them to ~ubmif 
themselves gradually to our rule. As far as your means will allow ~ 
you should further endeavour to put down open raidings to protect 
our friends, and to punish those who injure them. You will otherwise 
not be strict to mark what is amiss or attempt to introduce' a crimirial' 
administration, which, under existing circumstances, you are not in a 
position to enforce. You will leave the inhabitants, as far as possible, 
to settle their own affairs among themselves. For the present, you 
should consIder as coming within the scope of your influence the trib~ 
inhabiting the tract lying between the Cachar Frnntier on the north, 
Hill Tipperah on the west, the Manipur rIver on the east, and on the 
south an imaginary line drawn east and west through the Darlung 
Peak. It is desirable that you should, if possible, open communications: 
with the officers who will represent the Bengal and Burma Govern .. 
ments at Fort Lungleh, Fort Tregear, Haka and Fort WhIte. You. 
should also take every opportunity of procuring information regarding 
the numerical strength of the several tribes with whom you may come 
into-contact from time to time, and regarding such matters as their 
tribal customs and organisation, particulars of which may be of 
considerable use hereafter. 

2. After your arrival at Fort Aijal. you will take up and enquire 
fully into the question of the comohcity of Lengpunga in the Chengri 
Valley raid, and submit a full report on the subject to the Chief 
Commissioner, containing any recommendations you consider fitting 
as to Lengpunga's punishment. 

3. If, as the Chief Commissioner und~rstandli from :Mr. Daly to 
be the case, some of the Chiefs are willing or anxious to pay revenue 
or tribute, you will receive it in money or kind as tendered, subjec~ 
to the orders of the Chief Commissioner, and you will endeavour tOr 
induce others to follow their example; but no attempt should pe 
made at present to exact revenue or tribute from tribes unwilling to 
pay it. You should report fully in due course what you find the 
position to be in regard to the willingness or Otherwise of the tribes to 
pay revenue or tribute; and, pending the final orders of the Chief 
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Commissioner. you should be careful not to accept, in return for the 
payment of revenue or tribute, any obligations of a nature which 
might render their futurt" fulfilment a matter of difficulty. 

4.. yo .... should re-open the hazar at Changsil if" as the Chief 
Commisllioner understands to be the CdSel- the Lushais are anxious fOf 
it$ re-establishment, and, so far as is practicable during the rainy 
seas()n~ you should examine the country between Changsil and our 
frontier,. with a view to advise upon the alignment of the road whi·:h 
must: ultimately be made to connect Cachar with Lushai-land. 

5 . You will exercise the powers of a Deputy Commissioner over 
the police quartered within the tract described in paragraph 1 as 
coming within the scope of your influence. 

6. You wiil correspond directly with the Secretary to the Chief 
Commissioner, to whom you wiIJ submit weekly d:aries. Any import­
ant matters, or any matten which may appear to you to require 
orders, should be reported separately for the consideration of the 
Chief Commissioner". 

A subsequent letter bf the same date informed him that the Politi­
cal establishment hitherto attached to the office of the Deputy 
Commissioner, Cachar, would be transferred to his office. 

The Western Lushai Chiefs were restive and were determined 
neith~ to pay revenue nor to supply labour, and objected to the 
punishment of Lengpunga, which, as Captain Browne announced in a 
Durbar of Chiefs held on 14th June 1890, was to be qeposition for 4 
years. (This Durbar was held on the mound on which AijaI Jail now 
'!tands.) Their dissatisfKtion culminated on 9th September 1890' in 

the ambushing of Ca\>tain Browne on his way down, from Aijal to 
Changsil, at a pomt only 2 miles from Changsil. Apparently he had 
taken no special precautions against attack~ being accompanied by a 
small party of only 4 police sepoy!. Three of hi~ men were killed and 
Captain Browne himself succumbed to loss of blood from three '!evere 
wounds in the arm fifteen minutea after reachina the Changsil 
stockade. An attack was made on the same day on another party 
consisting of sepoys and coolies between Aijal and Sairang and 11 of 
them killed. This outbreak was evidently quite unexpected by the 
locaJ officers and it is possible that the immediate cause of its sudden 
~currencc may be found in the opinion expressed by Sit Frederick 
Roberts, then Commander-in-Chief in India. that the assaults on. 
Changsil and Fort Aijal were the result of a "great drink on the part 
of the tribes and to the fact, stated i~ one of the late Ca~tain 
Browne's diaries, that the neighbouring Lushais had been conSider­
ably excited at the prospect of some revenue being demanded from 
them" . Aija! and Ch~ngsil Were immediately besieged by the 
Lush~s, the former being commanded by Surgeon H. B. Melville, 
I.M.S., and the latter by Lieutenant H. W.G. Cole [Later Sir Harry Cole} 
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Commandant of the Surma Valley Military Police Battalion, 
who had with him 170 Military Police. A Relief Force of 200 men 
of the Surma Valley Military Police was sent up from Silchar at once 
with Lieutenant A. C. Tytler, Assistant Commandant, ir. command 
and accompanied also by Lieutenant R. R. Swinton of the 44th 
Bengal Infantrv, Mr. A. W. Shuttleworth, Assistant Superintendent 
of Police, and Dr. Whitchurch, I.M s. Swinton was unfortunately 
killed on th~ 26th September in a fight which took place as the force 
was making their way up the Dhaleswari river towards Changsil. On 
the 28th Changsil was relieved. In referring to the defence of Chang­
sil on this occasion, Mr. Quinton, Chief Commissioner of Assam, 
observed that-"Lieutenant Cole on this sudden emergency exhibited 
great coolness and sound judgment to which it is probably n1ainly 
owing that the garrison was not surprised and cut off". On the 2nd 
October Cole and Tytler started to the relief of Aijal accompanied 
by a force under the command of Lieutenant Watson of the 40th Ben­
gal Infantry.The) reached that place on the 4lh October and brought 
Dr. Melville's arduous labours to an end. Dr. Melville was deservedly 
commended by the Chief Commissioner for the way in which he 
defended the place in the following terms-(Chief Commissioner's 
letter No.4346-P., * dated 20th October 1890) "The Chief Comm,is­
sioner would bring to the special notice of the Government of Ind~a 
the excellent services rendered by that young medical offic~r in circums­
tances so novel and foreign to the sphere of his proper dutit's." He 
had been invested since the 9th September and his small garrison of 
uO native officeI"l and men and 43 others had suffered great hardships 
from wet and cold, constant duty, shortage of food and want of warm 
clothmg. It was stated in Melville's diary that 5 out of every 6 men 
had no warm clothing at all. 

Meanwhile, .Mr. R. B. McCabe, I.C.S., had been transferred from 
the post of Deputy Commissioner, Lakhimpur, to be Political Officer 
in succession to Captain Browne. He lost no time in setting out and 
with Captain Williamson of the Commissariat, he arrived at Changsil 
on 5th October where he found Mr. A. W. Shuttleworth in command. 

The operations undertaken to subdue the country were rapid and 
successful. By the end of the year all offendmg villages had been 
destroyed; the Lushais had suffered some 50 casualties; fines in guns 
had been realised and great losses in property had been inflicted. The 
opposition encountered was in fact not very serious and our casualties 
were nil. In the last days of November and first days of, December, 
Lenkhunga [Liankunga], Lalrhima [Lalhrima], Sailenpui [<;ailianpuia], 
Thangula [Thanghula], Lienpunga, and Khalkam had all surrendered. 
It was Lenkhunga's men who were responsible for the death of both 
Captain Browne and Mr. Swinton, but Lalrhima was also implicated 
and it was he who eventually surrendered much of Captain Browne's 
personal property. The action which resulted in the taking pf 

-Assam Secn:tariat, Foreign, A. May 1892, Nos.3-110. 
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Khalkam's village was well-planned and was carried out by a com 
bined movement of forces from the direction of both Aijal and Chang­
silo Khalkam fled but 5 days later gave himself up to McCabe's 
"inexpressible delight", as he put it in his letter of the 23rd Novem­
ber 1890*. 

McCabe's appreciation of these events is contained in his letter 
No.l3 dated the 19th January 1891*, of which the following is a 
quotation :-

"As far as I have been able to ascertain, the Western Lushais 
under the headship ofSukpilal, formed decidedly the most powerful 
combination of villages in these hills. After his death, about 1880-81, 
the chieftainship de.volved on Khalkam, who has, from that date, 
virtually assumed control of this section of the Lushais, and has been 
more than able to hold his own against aggressive action on tl).e part 
of the tribes east of the Sonai. I have noted with astonishment the 
blind lIubmission rendered to these Lushai Rajas by their dependents, 
combining a feeling of almost filial affection with one offear, and consi­
dered that this is a factor that cannot be ignored in any future 
arrangements that may be made for the administration of these hills. 
It may, therefore, be safely argued that in punishing the chiefs we 
punish the prime movers and instigators ofthe late raid, and at the 
same time impress on the Lushais generally that they will have to seek 
a different source from which to derive their initiative in any of their 
future undertakings. . 

As long as Sukpilal was alive, we had only one unit to deal with, 
now we have his many descendants, who may be classified as follows 
in order of merit as regards the extent of their influence :-

1. Khalkam [Kalkhama]. 
2. Lengpunga [Lianphunga]. 
3. Sailenpui [SaiJianpuia]. 
4. Thanruma. 
S. Lenkhunga. 
6. Rankupa [Hrangkhupa]. 
7. Lalrhima. 
8. Thangula [Thanghula]. 
9. Lalsavuta. 

10. Thalien. 
11. Lalluia [Lalluaia]. 
12. Minthang [Hmingthanga]. 
13. Lenkhai [Liankhama]. 
14. Thompong [Thawmpawnga]. 
15. Tolera. 

*Auam Secretariat, Foreign, A. May 1892, Not.S-UO. 
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Of these, Lenkhunga, Rankupa, Lalrhima, Lalsavuta and LaUuia 
are mere boysJ while Tolera, Minthang. Thompong, Thalien and 
Lenkhai are dependents of Sukpilal's family, so that we have only to 
deal with Khalkam, Lenkhunga r Sic: this should be Lengpunga], 
SaiIenpui, Thanruma, and Thangula as responsible agents. Thanruma. 
is still at large, and his village is completdy dispersed, and I do not 
anticipate that he will give us any trouble in the future. 

As regards Sailenpui, I have no evidence against him sufficient to 
warrant his deportation, and from his previous histor} I am inclined 
to think that he is well disposed towards the British Government. 
The reports of the Depu'y Commissioner of Cachar from 1880 up to 
date ~pealc most favourably of him, and described him as influential, 
popular, and endowe<I with an aptitude for ruling. I had no occasion 
to attack his village, as he made a voluntary surrender, and he has 
given me great assistance with coolie labour, and proved that he could 
command, even under adverse circumstances, immediate and implicit 
obedience to his orders. 

In the interest of the future effective administration of these hills, 
it is necessary to utilize existing powers, and, pending your sanction. 
I have, as a temporary measure, and without making any condltions 
or promises whatsoever, released Sailenpui, and told him that I will 
hold him responsible for the actions of the villages under his 
control. 

This may appear at first sight a mild condoning of the late Lushai 
rising, but I think that, looking forward to the Government of the 
country with a minimised expense, the measure will meet with the 
approval of the Government of India. I have had an opportunity of 
seeing Sailenpui daily, of noting his personal influence, and have read 
carefully all his previous history. On these facts I have based my 
prescnt plans, and consider that unless some responsible chief be 
released, I shall have to deal with scattered units, and for some years 
to come Government will find no one on whom respomibility can be 
thrown. 

Khalkam was the leading spirit in the recent rising, and I consider 
that his deportation Will have a good effect on the Lushai chiefs 
generally. Lengpunga has a bad record and the punishment inflicted 
on him last year does not seem to have proved an effective deterrent. 
He openly disregarded the orders of Government, rebuilt his villages, 
and threatened Lenldlai mantri, who had made himsdf popular with 
the Political Officer. During the present outbreak he has undOUbtedly 
been one of our most subtle, though not prominent, oppont'nts. and 
his presence in these hills would always prove a source of danger to 
us. Thangula Raja is Khalkam's step-brother and his right-hand 
man in the attacks on Aijal and Changsil. After careful ddiberation, 
I have come to the conclusion that the deportation of Khalkam, 
Lengpunga, and Thangula will prove of salut~fY effect~ and faci1itatc; 
the admini~tration of the Lushai Tribes." 
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The Chief Commissioner fully endorsed Mr. McCabe's advice in 
his letter No.753-P.,· dated the 7th March, 1891, to the Govern­
ment of India in the following words. 

" ............ The Chief Commissioner.................. accepts full y 
'Ar. McCabe's finding as to the guilt of the three chiefs whom he 
proposes to punish. V;{;., Khalkam, Lengpunga, and Thangula, and 
concurs in the course which the PoUtical Officer has adopted, of 
leaving Sailenpui and the other chief descendants of SukpiIal (except 
Thanruma) at large, and working through the former for the control 
and pacification of the country. 

2. Khalkam, Lengpunga and Thangula have been deported, and 
are now awaiti(lg the final orders of the Government of India, in the 
Tezpur Jail, in accordance with warrants of commitment under Regu­
lation III of 1818 forwarded by you. and Thanruma, who lived close 
to Aijal and whose conduct was marked by special treachery towards 
Capital Browne, has fled. If arrested, he should be dealt with in the 
same way as the others. The Political Officer recommends that the 
three chiefs now in custody should be deported for a term limited to a 
defined number of years, and adds that he "thinks it advisable that the 
future good behaviour of the villages under the Rajas' control be 
made a conditi.:>n on which the term of banishment should be based, 
all it is decidedly unwise to kill hope and let loose a number of out­
laws in the district." Mr. Quinton considers that the security of the 
British dominions, whether from foreign hostility or internal commo­
tion, calls for the confinement of these men as State prisoners. They 
have all three taken prominent parts in the late rising. 

3. Lengpunga was only three years ago the leader in a raid upon 
British subjects, which necessitated the despatch of a military expe­
dition to inflict punishment on the guilty parties and give security to 
British districts, and all three were present at the Darbar at Fort Aijal 
on the 14th of June, and swore friendship with Captain Browne, pro­
mising to obey his orders and three months afterwards secretly ro~e in 
rebellion, killed Captain Browne and peaceful traders and coolies, and 
endeavoured to cut off our garrisons at Fort Aijal and Changsil. They 
are men of turbulent character and of great influence amongst their 
country men, and their past career shows that such influence is not 
likely to be used for any good purpose. Khalkam, by their own 
admissions, was the head of the confederacy, and Thangula was his 
lItep-brother and right-hand man. The Chief Commissioner doubts 
whether Regulation III of 1818 authorises a sentence of imprisonment 
for a definite term on any person confined under its provisions, but he 
has no doubt that a long term must elapse before these three chiefs 
can safely be allowed to retum to Lushai-land, and have the opportu­
nity of exciting to violence against their peaceful neighbours the 
restle,s tribes whom we are now endeavouring to bring under control. 
Mr. Quinton would suggest that the place of their deportation be 
changed from this Province, where they are in dangerous proximity to 

·Assam Secretrriat Foreign, A, May 1892, N08.B-llO. 
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their own country, to the Andaman Islands, or some other place in 
British India where they may be under no temptation to escape from 
custody, and may gradually acquire habits of peacefulness and 
industry." 

The Government of India concurred and j(halkam, Lengpunga and 
Thangula were accordingly ordered to be detained for ten years under 
Regulation III of 1818. The two former Chiefs hanged themselves in 
Hazaribagh Jail in the following September, an incident which caused 
little or no interest among their late subj eets. The result of 
Mr. McCabe's expedition is described in the Report for the year 
1891-92 as "The complete pacification of the North Lushai villages, 
west of the Sonai river." 

These operations ag~in'!t the western Chiefs were followed by the 
erection of a stockade at Sonai Bazar and a "promenade" in the 
Eastern Lushai country, i.e., on the east of the Sonai river. The pur­
pose of this was not punitive, but rather exploratory so as to make the 
acquaintance of the Chiefs and to locate the sites of the different 
villages; and also to inform the tribes that they wele now under the 
control of the British Government and tha t they would have to pay 
revenue. This "promenade" lasted from the 24th January up to the 
Sth March 1891 and McCabe took with him a force of 400 men of the 
43rd Gurkha Light Infantry under Colone1 Evans, (the same officer, 
no doubt, who presided over the Military Court of Inquiry set up in 
Manipur after the disastrous events of March 1891) and 20 Military 
Police. McCabe expressed himself, at any rate then, as entirely satis­
fied with the results, though he was careful to observe that it was 
"too early to prognQsticate what absolute effect this promenade on the 
Eastern Lushais would have or whether house-tax would be paid 
without demur after next harvest .. ' Be that as it may, he could show 
that he had increased our topographical knowledge of the hills; he had 
obtained local information about the country and the people ; he had 
entered into relations With the Chiefs, who had agreed to pay house·tax 
and supply rice and labour; and he had shown that a force could 
march from village to village and rely upon obtaining Lushai 
coolies and supplies, the latter an important point. 

In 1892 occurred the Eastern Lushai rising, the suppression which 
necessitated an expedition on a considerable scale. Mr. McCabe was 
Political Officer of the North Lushai Hills at the time and his Report 
written some 6 weeks after the expedition had completed its work, 
and dated the 23rd July 1892*, contains some valuable historical 
information. He points out that from 1872 to 1892 the Eastern 
Lushais gave no trouble. He says that the rising appears to have been 
mainly due to the determination of one of the Chiefs, Lalbura, not to 
submit to the payment of house-tax. or the supply of coolies and rice. 
The tax was easily realised from nearly all the other villages which 
McCabe visited, but there were one or two important one'!, notably, 
beside.1i Lalbura's, those of Poiboi, Pawibawia), and Bungteva [Buang­
theuva] which showed signs of recalcitrance. Matters came to a head 

*Assam Secretariat, Foreign, A, December 1892, Nos. 14-141. 



22 THE LUSHAI HILLS 

in February 1892, when McCabe ordered Lalbura to supply 100 
coolies. Lalbura refused and McCabe decided to visit the village. 
Towards the end of February he started for Lalbura and at his first 
stage on the journey he found Lalbura's men engaged in burning his 
camp at the Sonai. He reached Lalbura on the 29th February. 
Mr. McCabe had an dnpleasant experience here. Some 300 Lushais were 
seen advancing towards the village. Mr. McCabe ordered Lieutenant· 
Tytler to fire a volley which held up the enemy temporarily. But 
before satisfactory dispositions could be taken up to guard against 
attacks from every quarter the Lushais started to fire the houses. 
Mr. McCabe's party, however, managed to get much of their baggage 
out, and this was placed in a heap in the open centre of the village. 
The coolies were told to lie down and take shelter from the bullets 
behind this.' So great Was the heat that the brass plates of the sepoys, 
who lay near the west face of the stockade, b~came twisted into 
fantastic shapes. Severe fighting followed, but McCabe established 
himself in the village without real difficulty, though Poiboi, Bungteya 
and Langkham [Liankhama] joined in and aided Lalhura in the 
repeated attacks which were delivered on McCabe's position between 
1st March and 16th April. During this period, on the 4th of April, 
a party of Lushais from Maite, Poiboi and Lalbura raided Boruncherra 
Tea Estate in the Hailakandi Subdivision of Cachar district, their 
object being to divert attention from the Eastern Lushai people, an 
object of course which was not fulfilled. In this raid 45 persons weIe 
killed and 13 carried off into captivity. 

It was clear that operations on a big scale would have to be under­
taken and a request was made for Military aid. Three hundred men 
of the 18th Bengal Infantry under Lieutenant-Colonel R. H. F. Rennick, 
were sp.nt up to AijaI, and they arrived there on the 19th March, releas­
ing the Military Police for operations in the field. McCabe's plan was 
to keep Aijal strongly protected, to fortify Lalbura as a main base and 
to make a road from Aijal to the Sonai, so as to maintain his communi­
cations with Aijal. This road which was 14 miles m length over diffi­
cult country was completed by Mr. Sweet on the 3rd April and 
McCabe was ready to start on the 10th April. Captai Loch, Com­
mandant of the Military Police, was in command of the column, which 
consisted of 225 men of the Surma Valley Military Police, under 
Lieutenant Tytler, Roddy and Johnson, and 75 men of the 18th 
Bengal Infantry under Lieutenant Edwards. The remainder of the 
18th Regiment under the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Rennick 
garrisoned the fort at Aijal throughout the operations and gave great 
assistance in supplying food and reinforcements from the base. On the 
14th April Poiboi was captured. The attack had been 
planned for the previous day, but as many coolies of the transport 
department were 5uffering from moon-blindness the advance was so 
delayed that camp had to be made on the banks of the Tuirini, and 
the attack postponed. The village was then stormed at dawn after a 
steep climb of over 2,000 feet. At thil! time Poiboi's village con:iisted 
of 722 houses. On the 7th May, Bungteya W:15 cap­
tured. Before the end of May Lalbura was a fugitive and aU resistance 
was at an end. T~e destruction of ~aite at the end c;>f May was the 
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last important event in these operations. On the 8th June the Expe­
dition returned to Aijal. 'They had had a very strenuous time, fight­
ing and marching under very harsh conditions in inclement weather, 
but they were completely successful in subduing the resistance of the 
eastern Lushais and casualties were small, 16 killed and 30 wounded. 
Fortunately the Western Lushais behaved well throughout this period, 
having evidently learned their lesson in 1890. 

It is interesting to note than in forwarding McCabe's Report to 
the Governtnent of India in his letter No. *4873-P., dated the 23rd 
October 1892, the Chief Commissioner already had in mind the possi­
bili ty of the inclusion of the South Lushai Hills in the Al.sam 
administration. He was awaiting then McCabe's report on that 
proposal. Probably the incidents of the Expedition had emphasised 
the inconvenience of having the Southern Lushais under a different 
administraticn from the Northo In sympathy with the Eastern Lushai 
rising, for instance, the Howlongs in South Lushai also took up arms, 
and were dealt with by Captain Shakespear from the South together 
with a column from Burma. But these forces failed owing to lack of 
provisions to join hands with McCabe at Bungteya as arranged and 
McCabe seems to consider that this detracted from the results of his cam­
paign to some extent. 

In 18~4-95 it came to light that the Chief of Falam within Burma 
was demanding and receiving tribute from Chiefs within the Lushai 
Hills, and the Political Officer, North Lushai Hills, issued notices to 
the effect that Lushai Chiefs were not to meet such demands in the 
future. Among the Chiefs who had paid to Falam were Kairuma 
Sailo as well as others ev'en nearer Aijal. 

In 1895-96 the Western Lushais gave no trouble, and the condi­
tions had improved, so much that the Chief Thangula who had been 
deported in 1891 was allowed to return in July 1895, long before the 
ten years period, for which he was detained, ~had expired. 

In the Eastern Lushai Country Lalbura submitted, and the How­
longs gave no trouble. But it became necessary to undertake an ex­
pedition against Kairuma, the determination of whom, and the other 
descendants of Vuta, in the east of the district to maintain their inde­
pendence had been sufficiently evident when Shakespear, 
Political Officer, South Lushai Hills, and the Political Officer, North, 
had met at Kairuma's in January 1895. Loch with Lieutenants 
Wilson of the 44th Gurkha Rifles and Clay of the 43rd Gurkha Rifles, 
and 300 Norlh Lushai Military Police, co-operated with the South 
Lushai administration under Shakespear and that of the Chin 
Hills under Mr. Tuck, and the operations were successfully carried out 
in Decembet 1895. There was no resistancet. 

*Assam Secretariat, For. A, December 1892, Nos. 14-141. 
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In reporting the results of the expedition to the Government of 
India, the Chief Commissioner of Assam observed as follows in his 
letter No.321-For.-P., t dated the 15th June 1896. 

"2. The Chief Commissioner considers that the expedition has 
fully accomplished the object for which it was organised, vi<;., the 
complete subjugation of what is known as the Kairuma group of vil­
lages. The fact that there was no active opposition to our forces is, in 
Sir William Ward's opinion, due partly to the previous disarmament of 
the Tashons by the Falam Column, partly to the excellent arrange­
ments by the Political Officer Mr. Porteous, for the conduct of the ex­
pedition, and partly to the cordial co-operation of the three columns 
from Fort Aijal, from Falam, and from Lungleh. Major Shakespear's 
brilliant capture of Jakopa and Jaduna had also a marked effect in 
bringing the ~airuma group to terms . 

• • • 
4. In addition to the submission of Kairuma, which has been 

brought about by this expedition the Government of India will 
observe from paragraphs 20 and 21 of the report [i. e., that the 
Mr. Porteous, Political Officer, North Lushai Hills] that the 
Eastern Lushai Chief (Lalbura), wno gave so much trouble in 
Mr. McCabe's expedition of 1892 against the Eastern Lushais, has 
also tendered his submission. This Chief had been a fugitive ever 
since the operations of 1892. 

• • • 
7. Sir William Ward considers that much credit is due to the 

Political Officer, North Lushai Hills, for the results which have been 
attained, and to Major Shakespear and the officers of the Burma 
Column for the cordial manner in which they co-operated with 
Mr. Porteous. The Political Officer, in paragraph 260fhis report, 
brings to the Chief Commissioner's special notice the services of Cap­
tain Loch who commanded the whole police force. Captain Loch's 
connection with the North Lushai Hills Military Police Battalion will 
shortly cease, and the Chief Commissioner has much pleasure in bring­
ing to the notice of the Government of India the excellent work this 
officer has done not only in thi .. expedition and in that against the East­
ern Lushais in 1892, but also throughout the period of his tenure of the 
appointment of Commandant of the North Lushai Hills Military 
Police Battalion, during which he has organised that battalion on its 
present footing, and has also succeeded, in spi te of many difficulties, 
in his efforts to improve the position of the men and to make them a 
thoroughly efficient and, at the same time, a thoroughly contented 
body". 

• • • 

t2. Bengal Secretariat, Pulitical, At November 1896, NOl. 16-11. 
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In the closing paragraphs of his report No. 85" on these perations 
dated the 6th May 1896, from Fort Aijal, Mr. Porteous reviewed the 
position as it then appeared. His conclusions were these. 

"25. With the close of the operations again'!t Kairuma it may, 1 
think, be safely prophesied that the long series of Lushai expeditions 
has now ended, and that no further operations on the scale, which it 
was thought necessary to adopt against the descendants of Vuta, 
can ever again be necessary. There is not in the Lushai Hills any 
unexplored CCHinter-Iand" such as still exillts in the Naga Hills to 
give possible future trouble, and although the system of Chiefs, all 
closely related, who are so implicitly obeyed and so complacently 
looked up to by their subjects, as is the case among the Lushais 
must for long demand a display of force unnecessary amongst a less 
intelligent and more disunited race, a substantial reduction in the 
force required to garrison these hills should certainly in a few years' 
time be possible. 

The immediate results of the expedition have been to br~ak 
completely the power and pre tige of Kairuma, and to dispel effec­
tually the idea that any Lushai Chief, by reason of his supposed 
inaccessibility from Aijal, can safely ignore the orders of the Political 
Officer. The facility with which columns from Falam and Lungleh 
can co-operate with a force from the North Lushai Hills has also been 
demonstrated, and any lingering idea that the assistance of the Tashon 
Chiefs from Falam may be -counted upon by a refractory Lushai Chief 
has been dissipated. 

26. It remains for me to acknowledge the effective assistances 
received from Major Shakespear on the one hand, and from Mr Tuck 
and Captain Whiffin on the other, with their respective columns. To 
the previous disarmament of the Tashons in particular, I chiefly attri­
bute the entire collapse of Kail uma's threatened resistance. 

With the Aijal Column, I am pleased to record that the officers, 
one and all, worked zealously and cheerfully. I wish however, 'to bring 
specially to the notice of the Chief Commissioner the services of 
Captain Loch as the officer in chief executive command of the whole 
force. To his untiring personal efforts and excelient orgallization of the 
transport and supply services, it is mainly due that in the incessant 
movements of detachments and convoys there was no hitch of any sort 
from beginning to end of the operations, while the discipline and 
marching of the sepoys was all that could be desired, and showed the 
high state of the efficiency to which Captain Loch has brought his 
battalion. Mr. Anley made an excellent transport officer, and did 
good service afterwards in dealing with three of the Chiefs to whose 
villages- I sent him. I desire to draw special attention to his 
services." 

• Bengal Secretariat. Political, November 1896, Nos. 1~17. 
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In reporting on the history of the year 1896-97, Mr. Porteous was 
able to observe, "I leave the district with practically all the Chiefs re­
conciled to Government, and with, I believe, not the least likelihood 
of any futllre disturbance of the peace .............. Lalbura received me 
in his village in March like any other Chief, while Kairuma met me 
outside his village, no sepoys, however, being present." 

The same Report makes reference to the labours of 
Messrs. Savidge and Lorrain, the pioneer Missionaries who had been 
in these hills sir.ce the spring of 1893 and had been wonderfully suc­
cessful in introducing education. In the Report for the following year, 
1897-,)8, the last for the North Lushai Hills as a separate administrative 
unit, it is stated as proof of the peacefulness of the district, that while 
on tour no officer had had more than 4 rifles for an escort. 

V. Till South Lushai Hills District.-As early as 12th January 1890, 
the Commissioner of the Chittagong Division, Mr. D. R.· Lyall, I.e.s., 
sent up proposals· for the adtninistration of these Hills to the Bengal 
Government on the assumption that it was "the intention of the 
Government of India to completely dominate the country between this 
and Burmah". A note which he prepared on the subject recommends 
that "for the present the system of Government through Chiefs should 
be fuUy recognised". He drew up (paragraph 5 of his note) a set 
of orders which he considered should be issued to the Chiefs. These 
were a'J follows:-

"1. All raids absolutely prohibited. Any chiefTaiding, to have 
his vmage destroyed by the paramount power, and the offending 
chief to be liable to death. 

I put in this last clause advisedly. At present human life, except 
that of a chief, is of the very smallest value, and one of the most 
necessary lessons is to teach th,..se men that it has a value. This can 
best be done by taking the only life that at present has any value. 
In the long run this will be found the kindest way, and, as the chiefs 
value their own lives, it will also be found the most effectual, but it 
must be no idle threat, and the first raiding Chief must be executed 
in the most public way possible. 

II. Absolute security of person and property and free access into 
every viUage must be insisted on from the first. By this I mean 
security of persolls and property as between village and village and 
between the people of the country and ourselves. The chiefs must 
be made to understand that a single frontier policeman, dak-runner, 
or a telegraph official must be as safe as the European Superintendent. 
Free aocess into every village must also be insisted on. 

The present is the time to insist on these terms under severe 
penalties. If life is taken, it should be life for life, and if access is 
refused 01' a traveller robbed, severe fines should be imposed._ 

Anam Secretariat, For., A, July 1896, NOl. 7",41. 
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Ill. Each village and chief should be made responsible for the 
maintaining. improving, and, ifso ordered, the making 0: su("h roads 
round his village as the Superintend~nt ma.y order him to maintain. 
The Jabour should be paid ror at a low rate, thus -enabling the mell 
to pay their tax, as proposed hereafter. It is absolutely necessary, in 
order to 'control the people. ~hat t~ere -should be a route fit for mules 
and coolies to IDtry village............... -

The; Superintendent should have power of fining any chief not 
keeping up his roads, and of compelling him and his people to do the 
work by force-. 

IV. Each chief should be made responsible for the collection, and 
payment of the lax of his ,,::Uage. This should ue in the form {)f a 
poll-tax, both as being moSt easily imposed and as affording informa­
tion regarding the number of his followers. It has been foun'i best 
in the Naga Hills to insist on payment of taxation f(om the first. 
The payment should at first be not much more than the amount each 
Village can earn by road.making, and the Superintendent should, 
distribute the roads, so far as possible, in proportion to the size of 
the villages 

V. There should be a meeting of the chiefs each year at the central 
post, and attendance at this should as far as possible be compulsory, 
as evidence of their acknowledgment of sovereignty, and absence should 
be punished by ~ne. 

1 lay strl'SS on this so long as the Government is merely personal, 
and at this 'meeting the Superintendent '5hould decid~ all - dispute~ 
between chiefs and villages, the chiefs being instn'cted that the 
Superintendent is to be the final arbitrator of all disputes which they 
fail to settle amicably among -themselves, and that they are not to be 
decided by force. Chiefs will, of course~ have it open to thetrt to bring 
forward rrrievances at any time, and so far as possible the Superinten­
dent should decide tbem promptly; but there are some regarding 
which he would wish to consult the other chiefs, and all "ucli disputes 
should be decided at this meeting. 'In the first davs of the Hill 
I'racts as a district, Captain Lewin, who knew the people better than 
any British officer has done since, recommended a similar gathering 
for his district in the following words (paragraph 23 of his No. 532, 
dated Ist July 1812:-

"1 recommend that once a year there be held at Rangamati a 
mela or gathering at which every Chief, Roaja, Dewan, or other 
headman, be ordered to atte. d to meet the Commissioner of the 
Division and pay their respects. The chiefs should on this occasion­
publicly lay before the Commissioner such part of their revenue 
payment as may be due at that time to Government._ On this 
occasion also all appointments of headmen might b· publicly made 
or confirmed. By this meeting the headmen would be once a year 
at least brought into direct personal communication with the head of 
the district, whereas at present there exist hundreds of them whom I 
have never seen. This would also be a valuabl«; opportunity for 
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ascertaining the popular feeling upon any subject, as well as for obtain. 
ing information as to what got'S on in remote parts of the district". 

If such a mela was advisable in the Hill Tracts, it is absolutely 
• th t " necessary m e new coun ry ....... 0 0 00... • •• 

7. In all other matters he advised that the present administration 
by chiefs be absolutely left as it is, and that we should not interfere 
with the village administration of criminal, civil, aIld social matters, 
but confine the administration, at least for the present, to preserving 
the public peace, leaving internal matters to the Chiefs. 

Mr. Lyall's proposal visualised the whole of the present Lushai 
Hills District being placed under Bengal, but this was subsequently 
modified to a horizontal division of the country between Bengal 
and Assam. 

Discussions as to the future administration of the country went 
on during the year 1890·91, and a reference to the Northern boundary 
ofthe South Lushai Hills is found in paragraph 6 of the Bengal 
Government's letter No. 1619·P· OJ dated the 19th April 1890 where 
it is stated that it might be safely assumed that it would be to the 
south of the country "occupied by the descendants of Lullal". This 
boundary was accepted by the Government of India in their letter 
No. 1396-E*., dated the 3rd July 1890. 

Definite proposals were next submitted to the Government of India 
in Bengal letter No.449·P.D.,t dated the 6th November 1890 as follows. 

"With reference to my ptedecessor's letter No. 1628.P., of the 
19th April last, I am directed to submit, for the consideration and 
orders of the Government of India, the folIowing proposals made by 
the Commissioner of Chittagong for the administration of the Lushai 
country under this Government. 

2. Mr. Lyall proposes-
(1) That the Lushai country under the control of the Bengal 

Government should not b· amalgamated with the Chittagong Hill 
Tracts, but that it should be constituted a separate charge under a 
special officer. 

(2) That a post of Superintendent or Political Officer for the 
Lushai country, on a salary of Rs. 800 to Rs. 1,000 a month, should be 
created. 

(3) That the appointment of Superintendent should be con­
ferred on Mr. C. S. Murray, Assistant Political Officer Lushai Ex-
peditionary Force. • 

(4) That the Chittagong Hill Tracts Frontier Police should be 
tt:~ferred .to the Lushai country, and that the Civil Police of the 
district, whIch would now man the Hill Tracts, should be increased. 

·Bengal Secretariat, Political, A, April l891, Nos. 1.38, File No. 1..-10, 
tBeD~al Secretariat. Pol •• A. April 1891. Nos: 1.~8. File No. L/IO, 



THE LUSHAl HILLS 29 

(5) That Mr. R. F. H. Pughe, District Superintendent of Police, 
now in charge of the Frontier Force in Fort Lungleh, should be 
appointed commandant of the force in the new district. 

3. The Lieutenant~Governor is of opinion that for the reasons 
mentioned in paragr~ph 5 of Mr. Lyall's letter of the 12th January 
last, the Lusliai tracts should not be amalgamated with the Hill 
Tracts, but should be dealt with politically under a special officer. He 
would suggest, therefore, the appointment of a Superintendent of these 
tracts on a salary of Rs. 700 to Rs. 1,000 with a fixed travellillg allow­
ance of Rs. 150 a month, and if the Government of India sanctions 
the appointn1ent, would appoint Mr. Murray to the post in considera­
ti?~ of the good work done by him during the lalt two expe-
ditions ..•....••... 

11. I am to add chat the Lieutenant-Governor begs permission 
during the present cold season, and until the above arrangements come 
into force, to retain the services of Captain Shakespear as Assistant 
Political Officer as at present, as the work to be done during this 
period, according to Mr. Lyall's programme, will require two 
officers ..••.•..•... " . 

The Government of India in their letter No. 2641-E., * dated the 
24th December 1890 agreed that the Lushai conntry should be formed 
into a separate charge and that the Chittagong Hill Tracts Frontier 
Police should be transferred to the Lushai country, It''aving other points 
for further consideration. 

Proposals for the future administration of the district in their final 
form were, after consultation with the Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal 
Sir Charles Elliott, submitted by die Commissioner of Chittagong 
Mr. D. R. Lyall, in his letter No 133-H.T.,t dated the 28th February 
]891. The main features of the proposals were as follows. The 
principal officers were to be a Superintendent in general control, a 
Commandant of Police with 4 Assistants, a European Medical Officer, 
and a native District Engineer. The Headquarters were for the 
present to be Fort Tregear, though Lungleh was regarded as the most 
convenient location, at any rate for police headquarters. Taxation was 
to bet imposed, and the rates were based on rates proposed by 
Mr. McCabe in the Jight of his experience of the Naga Hins, i. e., at 
Re. 1 house-tax, 10 seers of rice per house at the rate of Rs. 2 per 
maund, and 6 days free labour a year: labour above 6 days to be 
paid for. 

The duties of the Superintendent are enumerated in a set of rules 
attached to Mr. Lyall's letter of which the three most important run 
as follows. ' 

"1. The Superintendent will be over all departments, and will 
correspond With the Commissioner of Chittagong. 

-Bengal Secretariat, Pol., A, April 1891, Nos. 1-38, File No. L/IO. 
tBensal :iecretariat, Pol., A, Al>ril 1891, Nos. 1-13, F~c No. L/27, 



THE LUSHAI lULLS 

II. His cuties are to settle all disputes between chief and' chief 
village and village, and tribe and tribe, and to prevent an raiding and 
public breaches of the peace. He will not interfere in the administra. 
tion of each village by lts own chief unles~ in, very exceptional cases 
when called on to interfere by either the chief or the villagers, and 
then only on strong grounds being shownl and he will report all such 
cases to the Commissioner. 

III. The Superintendent will not interfere with tlte-ordinary· 
internal administration of the police, but he i& the head of the police, 
as of all other departments, and all correspond ~nc(! from the office of 
the Commandant will pass through him. He has power to is'me 
orders on the Commandant in all matters, ani his orders must be 
carried out." 

Mr. Lyall also had something to say about the need for opening 
up communication .with Burma from Chittagong, a subj'!ct that has 
become ofincreasing interest in more recent years. He wrote as 
fdlows. 

"7. This subject has not been touched this year, though it is, in 
my opinion, the most important poin~ in connection with the new 
country. Mandalay is only some 250 miles as the crow flies from 
Chittagong, and Chittagong will be within 20 to 22 hours journey from 
Calcutta when the railway is made. [It was completed in 1896.] It~ 
then, a feasible line for a cart road or a railway can be discovered from 
Chittagong to Mandalay, the land route to Upper Burma will enable 
the surplus population of Bengal, who refuse to cross the sea, to spread 
into Upper Burma, benefiting both pro/inces. The trade of Upper 
Burma will also gain much by the possibility of easy communication 
between Calcutta and Mandalay .......... .. 

The difficulties are great but not, I think, insur.nountable, while 
the gain would be enormous. It 

These proposals were forwarded to the Government of I ndia with 
Bengal's letter No. 1049·P.,· dated the 16th March 1891. Discussing 
boundaries, it was stated that it had been agreed that, 
as between Bengal and Assam, CCthe boundary on the north should 
follow on the whole the tribal division between the descendants of 
Lalul and their southern neighbours." The Lieutenant~Governor 
agreed as to their being one head of the district in control of all depart. 
ments and had already sanctioned the rules quoted 
above. As to location, His Honour had decided to post both the 
Superintendent and the Commandant of the Police at Lungleh, in 
order to shorten the route taken by supplies. Tb.e rate of tax proposed 
was approved: the Lieutenant·Govf'rnor's comment being that the 
payment of rice rather than cash should be encouraged. 

The Government of India sanctioned these proposals in their 
letter No. l104.E.,t dated the 27th May 1801 and subsequently inti­
mated the sanction of the Secretary of State in their letter No. 2408.E.~ 

.Bengal Secretariat, Pol., A, Aorit1891, Nos. 1-13. 
tBenga\ Recretarlat, Pol., A, December 1891, Nos. 65-96, File No. L/27. 
;Bengal Secretariat, Pol., A, January 1892, Nos. 63-64, File No. L/28. 
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dated the 12th December 1891. In forwarding thei.r views to the 
Secretary of State. the Government of India in their Financial 
Despatch No. 191J 'dated the 14th July 1891 stated their view that 
C'lt is probable that ultimately it may be found possible and desirable 
to 'Consolidate under <me ad ministration the whole or the greater part 
of the territory in the occupation of the various tribes- now separately 
controlled from Bengal, Burma and Assam." 

Meanwhile, in antidpation of the. Government of India'.. and the 
Secretary of State's sanction, the new district had been constituted as 
from April 1st 1891 with Mr. Murray as the first Superintendent. 
Between the time when the operations of 1889-90 terminated and this 
date, there was evidently, judging from the Commissioner's letter 
~No. 231-H.T.~ dated the 22nd February 1891, which purports to be 
CCa report on the work done in the Southern Lushai Hills since the 
departure of General Tregear and the bulk of his force in May 1890" J 

no attempt at setting up a system of administration. Officers were 
engaged - on 1eparate' opet'ations in different directions. 'in improving 
communications and in difficult transport work; the latter especially 
being a major problem ,which 'bulks largely in aU the correspondence. 
AprarentJy"Mr. C. S; Murray ofthe Police was 'posted in these Hills 
as Assistant Political Office~, possibly 'Under the Deputy Commissioner 
of the ChittagongEiII Tracts,while Captain J. Shakespear lWas also 
serving in the area, with a similar status. The Frontier Police were 
partly with Murray at Lllngleh and partly in the Hills Tracts 'under 
Mr. RyLmd and the Deputy Conunissioner, 
. But !\'lr Murray'was not toehold the poiition for long. Though in 
the previous November they had recommended that he should be the 
Supetmtendmt of the' new district, Government had, after the unfortu. 
nate incidellt at Jacapa's [ZakapaJ to ad 'rise that he should be returned 
to the Police. The mattf'r is dealt with ·in Bengal's .letter No. X.t 
dated the'27th March 1891 to the Government of India, which ran as 
fonows 

'c'The Lieut('nant:'Gove. nor' desires me to_apply to the Government 
of India -fur the services of Captain J. Shakespear, District Staff Officer 
of the 1st Leinstei Regiment, to fill the appointment of Superintendent, 
South· Lushai Hills District. 

'His 'HoJ1~ur has had b~fore him the full account of Mr. Murray's 
proceediJigs whkh ended 'On the lOth:of February in the outbreak in 
Jacopa~s "Village and in the death of two ·sepoys and. a naik ohhe Fron .. 
tter 'Police, two army -signallers, and a private servant of one -of the 
oflh:ers, and is constrained to say that they show such want of political 
s~:ga.citt,·'Offudgm.ent and oftoreslght as' to lead to the conclusion that, 
however successful he has been in subordinate posts,. Mr. Murray i-; not 
fifto bold the important and almost independent position 'of ,",uperin .. 
tendent of' the South Lushai District. In spite 'Of the distinguiShed 
service which Mr. 'Murray had previously rendered when. under the 
-,guidance -of such ·oHicen'" as Mr. Lyall ~nd Colonel Tregear, 

*Bengal Secretariat, Pot, A, April 1891, File No. L/27, Nos. 1-13. 
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Sir Charles Elliott is convlUced that it is for the public interest that that 
officer should return to his ordinary duties in the Bengal Civil Police. 
Captain Shakespear has, lU hIS capacity as Assistant Pohtical Officer in 
these Hill Tracts, earned much dIstinctIon and evinced the possession 
of qualities which lead to a confident belief that he will do well in the 
position in which thf" Lieutenant-Governor proposes to place him". 

The Government of India and the Secretary of State agreed to 
Captain Shakespear's being thus employed and he took over charge 
from Mr. Murray on the 16th April 1891 He was to remain in the 
Lushai Hills for some 14 years, first in the Southern area and then as 
Superintendent of the combined Lushai HIlls district. 

The first task that Shake~pear had to carry out was the punishment 
of Jakopa who had defeated Murray a few months before. He was 
completely successful, Jakopa fled, and the Mollienpui tribe were finally 
subjugated. 

His first report as Superintendent is for the year 1890-91 and is 
dated the 14th July 1891, but, SInce It refers to a period when, as he 
explains, he was not in charge of the district, but merely Assistant 
PolItical Officer, it is not a very informative document. He reported 
the country as having been quiet. It was garrisoned by 200 of the 
2/2nd Gurkhas based on Tregear and 170 Frontier Police based on 
Lungleh. 

His second· report for 1891-92 which contains much valuable 
material, is embodied in a report WrItten by the Commissioner, 
Mr. W. B. Oldham, himself, who explains that this method had to be 
adopted "as Captain Shakespear was necessarily ignorant of much that 
was done for and in his charge". A durbar of chiefs was held on 1st 
to 4th January 1892 at a spot about 2 miles from Lungleh, and it was at­
tended by representatives trom every tribe. Shakespear addressed them 
on the subject of the permanency ot our occupation and the punish­
ment they would suffer if they carried on feuds with each other. They 
were made to swear friendship or at least peace with each other, and 
Mr. Oldham points out that, of those who thus swore amity, the only 
one concerned in the subsequent troubles was the petty chief Morpunga 
[Hmawngphunga] (of the Howlong clan). Five clans were represent­
ed, Howlong, Thangloa, Mollienpui, Lakher or Longshen, and Poi. 

As regards revenue, Shakespear claimed that the principle of pay­
ing trIbute in rice had been generally accepted. The question of 
enforced labour IS discus~ed in paragraph 10 of the .report. Shakespear 
considered that the labour should be paid, and suggested 4 annas a 
day. The Commissioner considered it should be 8 annas (para­
graph 11). 

Shakespear succeedeJ in effecting a meeting on 30th January 1892 
with Mr. McCabe, the Superintendent of the North Lushai Hills 
at Kairuma's village: and they settled between them the 
details of the boundary line between the two dIStrIctS. It appears that 
Captain Shakespear then went towards the south to the village of 

"'Bengal Secretariat, Political, November 1892, Nos. 30-34. No. 32. 
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Dokola [Dokulha], a Poi Chit'f, brother of Haosata, for or. 20th of 
February 1892 he recorded a statement by Chief Dokola when the 
latter was being charged with murder, which reads as follows:-

"Thonghena's men shot my brother V dnturd. If I did not kill 
some men my brother's spirit would have no slaves in the '~Head men's 
village" [sic. probably should be "Dead Men\ village (Mithi Khua)], 
therefore I went to shoot two men of Thongliena's vIllage. We met 
some men of Boite Thilkara's village and mistook them for Thong­
liena's men and so shot at them". The capture of this Chief Dokola 
was eifect(d on the V;th Febl uary 1892 by Mr. R Sneyd Hutchinson 
in the foHowing circumstances. On February 17th he and his party, 
consisting of a Subadar and 36 men, had camped late at night alter an 
arduous march through thick bamboo jungle along the Kolodyne, for­
ding and refordmg the river and often missing their path. 

At 3 A.M a start was made and Mr. Hutchinson's account reads as 
follows :-

"We reached old Jhums in about an hour and then struck down a 
path into some of this year's Jhums Two houses were heavily laden 
with dhan but nobody was about. We then went through high tree 
jungle up to the top of a hill While ascending I heard a cock crow­
ing so knew we were near our goal and advanced wIth great caution. 
On topping the summIt I saw the village with light of fires in the houses 
lying below me ; we moved rapidly down the SIde but were observed 
just nearing the north village and a yell was given. I charged into 
the village with some] 5 men who were near me , men wIth guns came 
tumbling out of the houses and I heard shots fired. I had ordered my 
men not to fire but to follow me in a rush on the ChIef's house, the 
situation of which I knew. Unfortunately a man with a gun took 
deliberate point blank aim at me and I fired at hIm with my pistol, he 
lurched forward dropping the gun but was seIzed and carried off by 
some other men near him, the glln IemamlDg wIth me The delay of 
a minute or so Just stopped me from gettmg Dokola who made away 
as I entered the house in company with some other men" 

Mr. Hutchinson did not know that it was the Chief Dokola he 
saw disappearing, but learned this later. His force was too small to 
risk engaging the enemy III thick jungle so he remamed in the villa~e. 
It was here that on searching, MI Hutchmson found a knife 
and a prismatIc compass belonging to Lieuten nt Stewart, also a 
brown leather shoe and some empty revolver cartridge cases. 
Mr. Hutchinson used the captlves he had made as a bargaming count­
er for the productIOn, unconditionally of Dokola and after much 
procrastmation Dokola came in on the evening of the 18th of February. 

Lalbura's rising of February 1892 in the Northern district had 
its effect in the Southern district. News of the attack on McCabe on 
2nd March reached Shakespear on the 5th and he at once prepared to 
start for the North, with 3 British Officers and 150 rifles of the Fron­
tier Police. Shakespear undertook this operation without being asked 
ane though the Commissioner decided later his action had been 
precipitate, yet both the Assam Admmistration and Mr. McCabe 
welcomed his advance to the North as a diverSIon which might pre­
vent the Southern Howlongs from joining the trIbes who were fighting 
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McCabe. Though Shakespear wa, able to get no further than 
Vansanga's village, he succeeded in keeping a number of chiefs fully 
employed. The o~position he encountered was considerable and he 
had eventually to decide that his force was too small to quell the 
rebeUion completely and to return, to Lungleh towards the end of 
March, leaving a force under Mr. Daly to garrison Vansanga's 
village. Reinforcements were sent both troops and police from Dacca, 
but the situation continued dangerous for 'lome time, Vansanga was 
constantly attacked, Lungleh itself and Demagiri were threatened, 
telegraph wires were cut, communications interfered with, while 
Shakespear had great difficulty in preventing the friendly chiefs from 
joining the rebels, but all opposition came to an end with the arrival 
of a column from Burma. This Burma, or Nwengal column, as it 
was called, was" originally destined to assist McCabe by demonstrat­
ing in the neighbourhood of the dill'urbed area, They had, however, 
for some reason been recalled to Fort White sO as tc be there on 10th 
April. But on receipt of the Lieutenant-Governor's request for help 
it at once started out again and. after a most arduous march in un­
known country at a very trying season, effected a junction with Shakes­
pear at Daokoma's village on 3rd May. They were about 350 strong. 
The combined forces effected as much pun;shment as they could bet­
ween 4th and 9th May, which, owing to want of provisions occasioned 
by difficulties of transport, was all the time they could spare, about 
1,500 houses being burnt. The column then continued to Lungleh and 
Chittagong and so back to Rangoon. 

Climatic conditions in the country were bad and sickness among 
the men employed was very great. In paragraph 18· of the Com­
missioner's letter, he saYi that out of 409 ranks of the 3rd Bengal 
Infantry, 267 including 1 British Officer, were sent away invalided, 
and of them many died: of 74 men of the Dacca Special Police 
Reserve all but 6 were invalided and some died: of 4Sl) Military 
Police over 100 were invalided including 2 British Officers. 

Fort Tregear was destroyed by fire on 5th January 1892 and 
Mr. Apothecary Antonio was burned to death. 

In commenting on the results of these operations, the Lieute­
nant-Governor of Bengal, in his letter No.601-P.D. t dated the 3rd 
October 1892, described them as far from decisive and gave his 
opinion that it would be necessary to organise a eombined military 
expedition from North to South and from Burma as welJ cc in order 
to thoroughly subdue these warlike and enterprising savages", 

It was thus that at the urgent request of the Bengal Government 
the Government of India sanctioned reluctantly, in the Viceroy's 
telegram No. 38-C.,t dated the 7th November 1892, further opera­
tions in the cold weather 0 1892-93, and agreed to furnish a 
force of 400 Gurkhas and 2 guns. These operations were undertaken 

-----------------~ -------._----
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l>etween December 1892 and February 1893, and resulted in the ~ub­
mission of all the villages concerned. They were carried out jn 
cbnsultation with Mr. A. W. Davis, Political Officer of the North 
Lushai Hills, who co-operated in occupying the village of Lalrhhna. 
Five hundred and fifty troops were employed and ,about 400 
Military Police. There was no organised opposition, thl' fines 
imposed were easily collected and about 500 guns were surrendered. 
The c.'Cpedition and its results were summarised as follows in the 
Bengal Government's report No. I-P.T.,· dated the 31stJuly 1893. 

" ........ .in order to protect friendly villages, our convoys and 
communications, and to impress on the native tribes once for all a 
sense of British supremacy, a punitive expedition, consisting of 400 
Gurkhas, two Mounted [sicJ BattelY guns and 150 rifles of the XVIth 
Bengal Infantry under corrpnand of Major Pulley, was despatched to 
Chittagong in December last. This force, actil'g in concert "dth a 
force from Fort Aijal, completely effected its object, and without 
meeting any resistance established the authority of Government 
through')ut the whole tract of country wheJe it had been resisted and 
returned to India in February. Captain Shakespear summarises the 
result of the expedition in the following words :-" The general condi­
tion of the country now, and the success we have attained in the pay­
ment of revenue and fines, seem to point to the fact that the Lushais 
have abandoned all idea of combined resistance, although it is quite 
possible that isolated outbreaks, such as that at Jacopa's, may, under 
si milar circumstances occur for several years to come, but the force of 
the police on the spot, if maintained at its present strength, should be 
sufficient for the suppression of such distur~ances". An outpost has 
been established at Lalr.hima in the heart of the Lushai country on the 
boundary liue between the North and South Lushai territory, and the 
small force stationed there, together with the disarmament of -hostile 
Chiefs will, it is believed render it almost impossible for any serious 
trouble to again arise." . 

In the following year, t.If., 1893-94, Shakespear reported the 
capture of an important person and a bitter enemy of the British in 
the shape of Ropuilieni, mother of Lalthuama, widow of Vandula, 
an old enemy ot the British, and daughter of Von ole 1, the chief against 
whom the Cachar Column was directed in 1871-72. She was evidently 
a focus of discontent and her capture led to the surrender of her son 
and another man, Loncheyva, who was wanted for murder. The 
woman and her son were dealt with under Regulation III and confined 
in Chittagong Jail, where Ropuilieni died of old age in January 1895. 
Another capture which had a good effect in pacifying the country wa~ 
that of Van chang a or Vansanga, made personally by Mr. C. W. CJ' 

Plowden of the Military Police. Vansanga had been troublesome in 
1892 and as long as he was at large he kept up the spirit of hostilitY 
among the Lushais. In his report for,this year, 1893-94, Captain 
Shakespear reviews the three years in which he had been in charge of 
the District since April 1891. At that time only 20 villages in the 
whole District had ever been visited by our Officers; the subject of 
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tribute had not been broached; the buildings at Lungleh were mere 
hovels ; between Demagiri and Lungleh there were no Rest Houses; 
the Military Police were disorganised and badly equipped; the whole 
clerical staff of the District only numbered two men; and the utmost 
confusion prevailed everywhere. He was able to claim that in three 
years this confusion had been cleared up and that the machinery of 
the District was in working order. 

In August 1893, the Government of India sanctioned the per­
manent transfer to the civil authorities of 2 150-lb mountain guns 
(7 pounder) which were retained at Lungleh. 

On September 6th 1895 by their Proclamation No. 1697-E., the 
Government of India declared the South Lushai Hills to be included 
in the Lower Provinces of Bengal. a position whkh they had in fact 
if not in law, occupied since 1891. 

In December 1895 operations were commenced against the villages 
01 Kairuma and Jaduna, in consultation with Porteous, the Political 
Officer and Loch, the Commandant of the Military Police, of the North 
Lushai Hills. Shakespear started on the 17th December 1895, reached 
Jaduna's village on the 24th December and he and the forces 
from Aijal and Burma, the latter under Mr. Tuck, met at Kairuma's 
on the 25th. There was no resistance, the necessary punishment was 
imposed without any trouble and J aduna himself was captured on the 
4th January 1896. Jacopa who had for long evaded capture was also 
run to earth on the Ist January 1896 in this expedition. Shakespear's 
last in the south. 

The report for 1895-96* being Shakespear's last, as he was under 
orders to leave the District for the North Lushai Hills, he took the 
opportunity to set down his view as to future poliey. He expressed 
the firm conviction that throughout the District all ideas of resistance 
had been definitely abandoned and it had been generally accepted that 
tribute must be paid and coolies must be supplied whether for trans­
port or for building. The" rough coercive measures" of the past 
could now safely be changed for more gentle ones, though he still held 
that any chief who disobeyed orders would have to be severely dealt 
with. He mentions as a certainlY that with peaceful conditions the 
villages would gradually break up into small hamlets, a tendency which 
would render it more difficult to recover tribute and to coIlect labour 
as it would make it harder for the Chiefs to enforce their orders. As 
a remedy for this, his view was that certain Chiefs should be appointed 
as Heads of Circles, being paid at certain moderate rates per month. 
They would be responsible for tribute and labour for all hamlets in 
their Circle and for the disposal of all complaints. In this system 
Shakespear law a way out of many difficulties which lay ahead. 

In forwarding this report to the Government of Bengal with his 
letter No. 239-L., t dated the 26th March 1896, Mr. W B. Oldham, 
the Commissioner of the Chittagong Division who had worked with 
Shakespear for several years, wrote as follows. 

·Report on the Administration of the South Lushai Hills for 1895-96, iQ 
Bengal Secretariat, Political, A, Mav 1896, NOlI. 17-21, 
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cc •••••• The full accomplishment of all he has striven for is a fitting 
crown to Major Shakespear's work and efforts in the South Lushai 
Hills during the five years for which he has administered them. This 
last report of his will have to be carefully studied by his suceessor, as 
it either lays down, or refers to, the lines in all matters of chief impor­
tance on which the administration should proceed and progress, and 
desirable developments should be sought for. Major Shakespear is 
making over his charge not only wholly pacified, but thoroughly 
examined and accurately known and ready for the gradual application 
of the internal territorial system, which alone can be a permanent basis 
for its future administration." 

The Lieutenant-Governor· added his encomium when forwarding 
the report to the Government of India in these terms. 

cc 7. Sir Alexander Mackenzie entirely concurs in the high praise 
which is bestowed by Mr. Oldham on Major Shakespear's administra­
tion of these hills, and is glad also to recognise the value of his final 
report, which deals thoroughly and clearly with all matters of impor­
tance. It must be added that to Mr. Oldham's advice and coumel 
much of Major Shakespear's success is due. It is a serious loss to 
Government that both these officers should be simultaneously trans­
ferred from a division where they have laboured in co-operation for 
several years, during which time the country has not only been pacified, 
but British rule has been firmly established and the lines of future 
administration finally laid down. In effecting these results, the work 
of Major Shakespear's Assistants,. Messrs. Sneyd Hutchinson, William­
son and Drake-Brockman, deserves also to be acknowledged." 

In writing to him on the 16tht January 1896, on l.is going on 
leave, the Chief Secretary of Bengal, Mr. (afterwards Sir Henry and 
Chief Commissioner of Assam) H. J. S. Cotton, said, cc You will have 
the satisfaction of leaving a thoroughly quiet country to your successor, 
and will know that however trying your work has been during the past 
five years, it has not been in vain." 

Mr R. H. Sneyd Hutchinson of the Indian Police succeeded 
Major Shakespear, and was the last Suprrintendent of the South 
Lushai Hills. Very little of importance occurred in 1896-97 except 
that two important wanted men submitted voluntarily, Kaplehya 
[T{aphleia] son of Jaduna [Zaduna], and Kairuma, who gave himself 
up to Porteous of the North Lushai Hills. 

VI. The amalgamation of the North and South Lushai Hills intQ, the 
Lushai Hills Distrid.-This had long been the subject of discussion. 
On 29th January 1892, a conference was held at Calcutta, subsequent­
ly known as the "Chin Lushai Conference," at the instance of tl=e 
Governor General, "to discuss civil and military affairs connected 

*Bengal. Political, A, May 1896, Nos. 17-21. 

tBengal, Political, A, January 1896, Nos.. 12o.1~1. 
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with the control of the Lushai and Chin Hills" (letter No. 248.B., * 
dated the 21st January 1892 from Government of India, Military 
Department) at which the following officers were present-

Sir Charles Elliott, Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal ; 
Lieutenant-General Sir J C. Dormer, Commander-in-Chicf, 

Madras; 
Sir Alexander Mackensie, Chief Commissioner of Burma ; 
Mr. W. E. Ward Chief Commissioner of Assam; 
Sir Mortimer Durand, For~ign Secretary, Government of 

India; 
Major-General E. H. H. Collen, Secretary to the Government 

of India, Military Department ; 
Major-General Sir James Browne, Quartermaster-General; 

The following is an extract from a Resolution which the Govern­
ment of India recorded on the proceedings of this Conference on the 
25th July 1892 (No.1383-E.)t. 

"Resolution-In January last a Conference met at Calcutta to 
examine certain questions relating to the country -of the Lushai and 
Chin tribes. The Governor-General in Council has now considered 
the report orthe Conference, and is in a position to pass orders upon 
the main poiuts involved. 

2. The territory referred to is at present under three distinct civil 
administrations and three distinct military commands. The northern 
Lushais are urder the Chief Commissioner of Assam and the General 
Officer Commanding the Assam district, the southern Lushais are under 
the Bengal Government and the General Officer Commanding the 
Presidency.district, and the Chins are under the Chief Commissioner 
of Burma and the General Officer Commanding in that province. It 
has been recognised for some time past, both by the Government of 
India and by Her Majesty's Secretary of State, that this tripartite 
division of authority is open to objections, and the main question laid 
before the Conference was what remedies would be practicable. 

3. The final recommendations of the Conference are stated in 
these words :-

"The majority of the Conference are of opinion that it is very 
desirable that the whole tract of country known as the Chin-Lushai 
Hills should be brought under one administrative head as soon as this 
can be 'Clone. They also consider it advisable that the new adminis­
tration should be subordinate to the Chief Commissioner of Assam ...... 

The Conference is agreed that North and South Lu hai, with such 
portions of the Aracan Hill Tracts as may hereafter be detertl'ined

J 

should be placed under Assam at once on condition that-
(1) complete transport and commissariat equipment for supplies 

from Chittagong to South Lushai, and from Cachar to 
North Lushai are provided; 

-Bengal Secretariat. Political, A. April 1892, NO!. 55.60, File L/36. 
tBengal Secretariat, Politicai, A, October 1892, No •. 87-9~1 
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(2) Funds are granted for roads and tel~graphs from Aijal to 
Lungleh". 

4. The conclusions at which the Governor-General in Council has 
arr~ved in respect of the proposals of the Conference are as follow!! :-

(1) The whole of the Lushai country should be under the Chief 
Commissioner of Assam, and the transfer of the Southern Lushais from 

,Bengal to Assam should be made as early as possible ..... . 

• '. • • * 
(4) The Northern Arakan Hill Tracts should be transferred from 

Burma to Assam." ..... . 

Some four years, however, were to pass before the Government of 
India again leviewed the situation-greatly improved in both North 
and South Lushai as well as in the Chin Hills-in their letter No.1564-
E.B., dated the 8th September 1896*. They stated that everything 
seemed to point to the arrival of a period when very substantial reduc­
tions in expenditure and establishment might safelv be undertaken, 
and suggested the holding of a conference of Superintendents of the 3 
tracts. This took place between 14th and 18th December 1896 at 
Lungleh and was attended by-

Mr. A. Porteous, I.C.S., Political Officer, 
Northern Lushai Hills ; 

Mr. R. Sncyu Hutchinson, Bengal Police, Superintendent, 
South Lushai Hills ; 

Mr. H. N. Tuck, Burm1. Commis'lion, Political Officer, 
Chin Hills; 

Captain G. H. Loch, I.S.C., Commandant, 
North Lushai Military Police. 

They discussed and made recommendations on a large number of 
important subjects. As regards the amalgamation of the North dnd 
South Hills Districts, they were all agreed that on both political and 
financial grounds th~ transfer of the South Lushai Hills to Assam was 
eminently desirable, and that it might effect an annual saving of 
2 lakhs of rupees. 

Inciqentally, it should be observed that the Government of Bengal 
decided in February 1897 to abandon Fort Tregear, a course which 
the Chin-Lushai Conference also advised. 

The project took final form when, in his letter No. 149-P., t dated 
the 17th July 1897, the Chief Commissioner submitted to the Govern­
ment of India his proposals for the future administration of the Lushai 
Hills. (The transfer of the South· Lushai Hills to Assam was then 

------~------------ -----
·Bengal Secretariat, Political, A, Februacy 1897, Nos.IO-73. 
tAssam Secretariat, Foreign, A, August 1897; Nos.26-42. 
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intended to take place on the 1st October 1897, but this date was to be 
put back by 6 months). The salient points of this letter are given in 
the extracts below. 

" ... 2. The first step to be taken must be the formal transfer of the 
South Lushai Hills from the Government of Bengal to the Administra­
tion of As~am with effect from ht October next. The whole of the 
Lushai Hills will then constitute one area, which will be placed under 
the immediate control of the Political Officer of the North Lushai 
Hills, to whom, as subsequently explained in this letter, it is proposed 
to give the designation of Superintendent of the Lushai Hills. I am to 
enclose herewith a draft notification of transfer for the approval of the 
Government of India ..... 

• • • • • 
5. The st~tion of Demagiri is not situated within the present area 

of the South Lushai Hills. It is topographically within the area of the 
Chittagong Hill Tracts. But, under Sir Charles Elliott's orders, 
passed in 1892, it was declared that, for administrative purposes, 
Demagiri should be considered to be part and parcel of the South 
Lushai Hills, and the ChiefCommi~sioner considers it absolutely essen­
tial for the future administration of this tract under Assam, that Sir 
Charles Elliott's arrangemen t should be continued after the transfer of 
the South Lusha; Hills has been carried out ...... 

6. Mr. Cotton accepts Sir William Ward's views as to the (>resent 
legal position ofthe Lushai Hills ...... but he does not concur 10 the 
opinion therein expressed, that only the adjective law should be barred 
in the Lushai Hills, and that the substantive law in force in other parts 
of British India should be allowed to remain in operation there ...... Sir 
Alexander Mackenzie observed that in his opinion it was desirable to 
have as small a number of enactments as possible in force in the Lushai 
Hills, that very few of the Acts enumerated in list (i) annexed to my 
letter of the 26th June 1896, were really necessary, and that the rules 
framed for the administration of the Hills, supplemented by the Execu­
tive action of the Officer in-charge, should generally suffice. The 
Lieutenant-Governor commended this question for the reconsideration 
of the Chief Commissioner, and Mr. Cotton, who had already given 
the matter his careful attention, has had no hesitation in entirdy 
accepting Sir Alexander Mackenzie's views ...... lt has always-been main­
tained in Bengal that the less substantive law there is in force among 
the Frontier tribes the better. This principlc has been steadily main­
tainl"d in the Chittagong Hill Tracts to the great advantage of the Hill 
peoplc, and Major Shakes pear who has had long experience of the 
Bengal system and was consulted by the Chief Commissioner on the 
question now under discussion, has expressed his approval of it. In 
these circumstances, I am to recommend for the sanction of the 
GovernmCllt of India, .that the whole of the substantive as well as the 
a~jectiv~ Jaw which ~ held .to be j.n Jcree in the Lushai Hills proprio 
V2.g0f' wlth the exception d the Indian Penal Cod~, may be barred 
under the prQvisions cd" soctioo 2 of Regulation 11 Qf U180, in that 
tract .•••.• 

9. With reference to the rules for the administration of the country 
which. it is proposed to issue under section 6 of Act XIV of 1874, I 
am dll'ccted to say that Mr. Cotton has carefully considered tbe rules 
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drafted by Mt. Porteous which were accepted by Sir William' Ward. 
These dran rules were baSed on those in force in the Naga Hills, but 
Mr. Cotton ascertained from the late Mr. McCabe that they are 
practically unworkable in those hills; and, although he is not prepared 
without further· consideration to recommend their modification where 
they are already in force, lie could not agree to their application to the 
Lushai Hills. They are far too elaborate for the purpose aimed at 
and involved an amount of interference with the Chiefs which the 
Chief Commissioner i& convinced it would be most ineXpedient to 
exercise. On this subject, Mr. Cotton's attention has been drawn by 
Major Shakespear to the following remarks recorded by Mr. Davis on 
the occasion of his making over charge of the North Lushai Hills to' 
Mr. Porteous in 1894: 

"I always held the Chiefs of villages responsible for the behaviour 
of their people, and upheld their authority to the best of 
my ability. I have repeatedly told them that this policy 
will be consistently followed, and that, as long as they be­
have themselves as they should, their orders will not be 
interfered with, even though the orders may appear to us 
at times a little high-handed, and not quite in accord with 
abstract ideas of justice. In this connection, it is well to 
remember that -no Chief can very greatly misuse his power 
or oppress his people. Were he to do so, his village, and 
with it his own importance, would quickly diminish, as the 
people would migrate to other villages. In upholding the 
authority of chiefs, I have., as a rule, declined to take up 
appeals against their orders in petty cases, as it only dimi­
nishes a man's authority to be brought into Aijal to answer 
some petty charge prefelTed against him by a disc(intented 
villager. Besides, any course of action which tends to dis­
courage litigation amongst a people like the Lushais is 
worth persisting in or they would soon become like the 
Kukis, in the Naga Hills, who, having been, by neglect 
on our part, practically emancipated from the con trol ot 
their hereditary chiefs, are the most litigious tribe in that 
district. " 

The Chief Commission~r entirely agrees with these observations, 
and he is aware that they were fully endorsed by the late Mr. McCabe, 
and are approved by Major Shakespear. Holding: these vieWs, Mr. 
Cotton placed himse1fin communication with Mr. McCabe, and he is 
indebted to the invaluable experience of that lamented officer for the 
sketch of the draft rules which forms the last AppendiX to the-letter. 
It will be seen that they have not been drafted with any attempt' at 
technical precision, and that they aim at simplicity and elasticity, 
while at _the same time giving effect, as far as possible; to the procedure, 
which, either with or without formal sanction~ has already established ' 
itself in the Lushai Hills. The rules have been sent to Major Shakes­
pear, who reports that they are well &uited to the tract for which they 
are designed and the Chief Commissioner trusts 'that they may receive 
the sanction of the COVeTPPlept of India. 
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10. I am to add that the Chief Commissioner has purposely used 
the term Superintendent throughout these rules as the designation of 
the officer in charge of the Lushai Hills. The expression Political 
Officer is not very appropriate, as his dunes are widely different from 
those of Political Officers employed under the Foreign Department. 
The term Deputy Commissioner is also not suitable, as it fails to mark 
the distinction, which should be clear and decisive, between his status 
and that, for instance, of the Deputy Commissioner of Cachar. The 
only suitable name appears to be Superintendent, which Mr. Cotton 
believes is the designation applied to the officer in charge of the similar­
ly situated Shan States. It is proposed, therefore, unless the Govern­
ment of India should see any objection, to give to the officer in charge 
of the amalgamated area from the Ist October next the style and de­
signation of Superintendent of the Lushai Hills, but to make no change 
in his status or allowances as a member of the Assam Commission." 

The Government of Bengal on being consulted, agreed to the in­
clusion of Demagiri in the Lushai Hills (their letter No. 278-P.D.,* 
dated the 4th September 1897) and in their letter No. 667-P.D., 
dated the 9th October 1897 'submitted to the Government of India a 
notification defining the boundary between Chittagong Hill Tracts and 
the Lushai Hills. 

A Conference to discuss the numerous matters relative to the trans­
fer took place on 12th August 1897 at Chittagong, among those present 
being Mr. H. J. S. Cotton, Chief Commissioner of Assam and Mr. 
Collier, Commissioner of Chittagong. 

The proposals put forward by the Chief Commissioner in his lette r 
of July 1897 were accepted by the Government of India in their letter 
No.1SS.E.B.t dated the 27th January 1898, from which the following 
are extraets. 

Ie ...... 2. The first step must, as you say, be the formal transfer of 
the South Lushai Hills from the Government of Bengal to the Admi­
nistration of Assam. This will be effected by the issue of a Procla­
mation under section 3 of the Government of India Act, 1854 (17 and 
18, Viet., 77). Neither the Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal nor the 
Governor-General in Council sees any objection to your proposal to 
include Demagiri and the adjoining villages in the Lushai Hills. A 
copy of the Proclamation which it is intended to issue is enclosed, to­
gether with a draft Regulation to amend the Assam Frontier Tract! 
Regulation, 1880 (II of 1880), and revised drafts of six of the notifica­
tions received with your letter under reply. 

• • • 
6. The rules embodied in the draft notification which formed Ap­

pendix VIII to your letter are accepted in substance. 

• • • 
a. The proposal that the officer in charge of the amalgamated area 

should be styled "Superintendent of the Lushai Hills" is approved and 
accepted. " 

------- ----_._---',-----
• Bengal Sccrew:iat, Pol., A, November 1897, Nos. 5-•• 
t Auam Sccrctanat, For., A, May 1898, Nos. 13-46. 
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On lst April 1898 a proclamation by the Government of India 
No. 591-E.B. • placed the South Lushai Hills under the administration 
of Assam. It ran as foIlows-"591-E.B. Whereas the territories 
known as the South Lushai Hills, were by a Proclamation No.1697-E., 
dated the 6th September 1895, issued under the Government of India 
Act, 1865 (28 and 29 Viet.,., Cap. 17) section 4, included within the 
lower Provinces of Bengal, and whereas the Tract known as Rutton 
Puiya's villages, including Demagiri, in the Hill Tracts of Chittagong 
is also included within the said Lower Provinces, and whereas it is ex­
pedient; that the said territories and tract should now be placed under 
the admmistration of the Chief Commissioner of Assam ; know all men, 
and it is hereby proclaimed, that the Governor-General in Council has 
been pleased, in exercise of the powers conferred by section 3 of the 
Government of India Act, 1854 (17 and 18 Viet., Cap. 77) and with 
the sanction and approoation of the Secretary of State for India, to 
take the said territories and tract under his immediate authority and 
management, and to place them under the administration of the Chief 
Commissioner of Assam, and further to direct that henceforth they 
shall be included within the Province of Assam." 

Another Proclamation of the same date by the Assam Government, 
No. 977-P. ran as follows :-"977-P. With the previous sanction of the 
Governor-General in Council the Chief Commissioner hereby declares 
that the Lushai Hills shall be placed in charge of an officer who will 
be styled "Superintendent of the Lushai Hills" and appoints Major 
John Shakespear, c. I. E., D. S. 0., to be the First ·Superintendent". 

\ 

A third proclamation, No. 978-P., by the Chief Commissioner of 
Assam, published the rules for the administration of the Lushai Hills, 
rules which with periodical modifications have remained in fOJ;ce till 
to-day Que of the main principles of these rules is the internal control 
of villages by their own leaders, the Chiefs. This was one of the most 
important aspects of Major Shakespear's policy and, as he states in the 
report for 1897 .. ~8, the last year in which the North Lushai Hills re­
mained .:separate from the South, his aim was to interfere as little as 
possible between the Chiefs and their people and to do all he could to 
impress upon the Chiefs ,their responsibility for the maintenance of 
order in their villages. In a note which Shakespear recorded on-22nd 
March 1905, on leaving the district, he said, eel am sure that the sound 
policy is to do all we can to make the best of the form of Government 
we found existing. The people are quite ready to'run to an officer 
whenever the chief's decision does not suit them, and as the decision 
in every case must be unpleasing to the loser, there is a greattendency 
to appeal to the nearest Sahib, but this does not mean that the chief's 
rule U unpopular or that their "decisions are always cott'llpt, and wbile 
admifting that in many cases the otder passed may not be as' just as 
we should like it to be, I am convinced that it is bttter ,to' uphold "the 
government of the chiefs and to govern through them, 'father 'than to 
try to govern without 'them. With this view, I have submitted pi'040 
posals for educating - the sons of the-l:hiefs. I am,strOngly opposed to 

• Assam Secretariat, For., A, ~y 1898, Nos. 13-46. 
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the formation of many petty hamlets. Every chief has his boundaries 
now and I should not subdivide the land further. Where a chief has 
sons, he may if he likes give them hamlets within his boundaries, but 
his .responsibility for the collection of house-tax and the carrying out 
of orders should not thereby be diminished." 

VII. The Lushai Hills District from 1898 onwards.-An important 
event of the year 1898-99 was the beginning of Shakespear's system 
of 'Land Settlement', the basis of which was to give to each Chief 
a certain area of country within which he and his people could move 
about as they liked. This scheme was successfully carried out and 
holds the field until the present day. It has been of the greatest 
benefit to the people themselves as well as to subsequent adminis. 
trators. 

A detail ~hich should be recorded at this point is that in 
1897-8, the last years of separate administration for the North and 
South, Shakespear discontinued in the North Lushai Hills the refund 
of ten per cent. for commission on account of revenue on the ground 
that it was never given in the Southern Hills and was quite an 
unnecessary concession. He says that the discontinuance had caused 
no grumbling. 

In 1901·2 an important event was the introduction of the new 
system of" Circle administration", a system which was adumbrated 
in the report for 1895·6, the last one which Shakt.spear recorded 
before he left the South Lushai District on transfer to the North. 
The whole District" was divided into Circle', 12 in the Aijal Sub­
division -and 6 in the Lungleh Subdivision. An Intrepreter was 
appointed in each as a channel between the Subdivisional Officen 
and the Chiefs and their people. This syste m, of which Shakes­
pear lai~ the foundation, has stood the test of 40 years experience 
and is s~ working well. Experience has shown, however, that it 
is necessary to maintain vigilance so that 'the Interpreters do not 
US\UP the positions of the Chiefs. 

In this year 23 Chiefs had the privilege of being taken down 
to Silchar by Colond Shakespear to meet the Viceroy, Curzon, who 
was then on his way up to Manipur. 

The Military Police were reduced in this year by 150 to a 
stre~gth of 840 and were armed with Martini rifles. 

There is nothing worth noting in the foHowing three years, 
except that 1905 saw the departure of Colonel Shakespear from these 
hills for Manipur. He had served for 5 years as Superintendent of 
the South Lushai Hills, for a year as Political Officer of the North 
Lushai lIllis, and for 8 years as Superintendent of the Lushai Hills: 
and had left his mark on the administration of those areas . 

.. In 1906-07 it is mentioned that there was a tendency for the Circle 
System, which had been reported to be working well in the intervening 
years, to be abuse~ by the Interpreters for their own advantage. There 
was s,!me trouble In the far south of the District where outrages were 
COIDlIlltted by the people of Zongling in what was then unadmi­
nistered territory about 7 miles south of our southern border but 
owing to the lateness of the season punitive operations had 'to be 
postponed until the next cold weather. 
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These operations> took place in December 1907, Major Cole 
taking with him a force of 100 Military Police under Lieutenant­
Colonel Loch. The fine of Rs. 500 which it had been decided to 
impose was realised without difficulty in the shape of 20 guns at 
Rs. 2S each. Our pfficers then met the Burma Officers at Lakhi, 
one day's march south of Zongling, and discussed with them pro­
posals for the delimitation of the southern boundary of tl\e Lushai 
HiUs, and for bringing under administration the tract betwee» 
Northern Arakan and the Lushai Hills. The Burma Officers were 
Mr. W. L. Thom, Deputy Commissioner of the Arakan Hill Tracts 
District, and Mr. W. Street, Superintendent of the Chin Hilb. 

An interesting change was made in the Circle System by which 
Interpreters were made to reside at Aijal and only go to th~ir 
Circles once in three months. 

In 1910 the Aijal-Sairang Cart Road was completed. 
The partial failure of crops in 1910-11 as an indirect r:esult of 

the flowering of the bamboos, was followed by serious scarcity all 
over the district. The effect of this flowering was to cause a 
tremendous increase in the number of the rats, who destroyed all 
crops. Government had to distribute relief, and the rotal amount 
finally given out was Rs.5,85,OOO. Since it was useless to hand-out 
money to the people when there was no rice within the' $listrict to 
buy, this relief was given in the form of orders for rice at a fixed. 
price on shopkeepers at Sairang for Aijal and Demagiri for Lungleh, 
to which places rice was imported from outside the district. 

The Eastern Bengal and Assam Government decidc:d· to fix the 
boundary· of the district on the south of the Sherkor region and 
proposals to this end, as made by Colonel Loch and modified by 
Major Cole, the Superintendent of the Lushai Hills, were 
approved by Government in their letter No.432-P., ·dated the 21st 
June 1911. Keokratong on the Chittagong Hill Tracts 'border was 
taken as the western starting point and the line ran fairly straight 
east across the Koladyne past Kaisi to the S1111a and then north­
east past Laiki and keeping north of Zongling. 

In 1914.-15, the first of- the war years, therLushai Hills Military 
Police Battalion supplied 103 officers and men for the Anhy in 
October 1914. They also sent 101 officers and men to Manipur for 
eight months to relieve the regular unit there. Throughout 'the war 
the Battalion supplied to the Gurkha Brigade a total of 7 Indian 
Officers, 36 Non-Commissiqned Officers and 1,024 men. Besides 
fighting troops a Labour Corps o( 2,OOQ men was raised without any 
difficulty in 1917-18 and went to France under Lieutenant-Colonel 
Playfair. This Labour Corps earned a good name for itself when on 
service and returned inJ~e 1918 when it,was ,disbandec;l, 

In September 1915, the then Superintendent, Mr., Hezlett, and 
his two Agricultural Inspectors together with a party of Chiefs, paid 
a visit to Kohima to acquire information on the methods of culti­
vating terraced rice, and as a consequence two Angamis were employed 

*Eastem Bengal and Assam 5eeretariat. Political, A,' January 1912, Nos: 7-l3'. 
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at Aijal and one at Lungleh to teach the Lushais their methods. 
This process has gone on with varying success ever since but it has 
had to face many difficulties not least of which is the apathy of 
the Lushais themselves. 

In 1917-18 there was serious unrest in the unadministered area 
lying to the south between the district border and Arakan Hill Tracts, 
which mainfested itself in the shape ~f raids within our border and 
elsewhere. The Superintendent Mr. H. A. C. Colquhoun, I. c. s., 
went there in January 1918 with an escort of 50 rifles and visited the 
villages of Zonglong, Chapi and Laikei. There was no opposition and 
he exacted punishment in the shape offines. Conditions in the district 
were also affected by the disturbances which took place in that year in 
the Chin Hills .and in Manipur. The Military Police Battalion was 
called upon to send parties of troops to the Manipur Border as well as 
to Falam to help the Chin Hills administration and also to guard the 
Lungleh-Haka Road. In addition to this, 150 men from the Srd 
Assam Rifles were sent to Hakaitselfin December 1917. 

These disturbances in the south continued during 1918-19 and the 
unadministered villages showed considerable hostility during this 
period. The Battalion had to supply 287 officers and men for service 
in ManipUJ: in connection with the Kuki operations. Altogether it was 
a bad year with disturbed conditions in the soutH, bad agricultural 
conditions and a serious outbreak of the post-war inBuenza in Aijal 
Subdivision. 

By 1921-22 the disturbances in the direction of the Chin Hills had 
subsided and the inhabitants of the Lushai Hills c"'ased to be nervous. 
In that year orders were received about the future of the unadminister­
ed territory in which the Lushai Hills, the Chin Hills, the Arakan 
Hill Tracts and the Chittagong Hill Tracts were interested and the 
boundaries were settled. 

In 1923-24 the Governor, Sir JOM Kerr, visited Aijal, and passed 
orden which led to the eventual extinction of the long outstanding 
agricultural loans which were given out in the scarcity between 1910 
and 1912. In a note which he retordecl on the 19th December 1923, 
Sir John observed that he had gone into the matter at some length 
with Mr. S. N. Mackenzie the Superintendent and Mr. Tilbury, the 
Subdivisional Officer at Lungleh, and stated his conclusion thus 
"I am convinced that our best course is to cut our losses and to bring 
!he bus.ines~ to an end as soon as possible." The bulk of ~he outstand­
lOgs bclOg Irrecoverable, the result was that in the followlOg year they 
'were practically wholly written off. 

In the cold weather of 1924-25, 'Mr.' N. E. Parry, J. c. 8., the 
Superintendent, made a long tour in the hitherto unadministered 
~rea in th~ So~h of the district, where he met the Deputy Commis-
81~ner! Chm~. Mr. Parry's recommendations Were mainly in the 
~rect1on of brmgmg these areas under the same system of administra­
tion as the rest of the district, proposals with which the Assam 
Government had DO difficulty in agreeing. 
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In 1925-26 the bamboos were again reported to be flowering and 
the Superintendent, Mr. Parry instituted a rat-killing campaign 
which resulted in over half a million of these animals being ki11ed~ 
This threat of renewed scarcity arising out of the flowering of bam­
boos persisted in the following year, but fortunately did not materia­
lise to the extent which it did in 1910-12. In fact, as the Commis­
sioner noted at the time, the usual period is 30 years and, therefore, 
it ought not to have been expected so early as this. 

In 1931-32 the Zongling area, previously under loose political 
control, was with the sanction of the Secretary of State, conveyed 
in Foreign and Political Department Government of India letter 
No. *F-185fX/28, dated the 11th January 1930, included in the 
district, certain adjoining ... areas being at the same time included in the 
Chin Hills District of Burma. 

In 1935-36 was inaugurated the South Lushai Chiefs' Conference. 
The tdea had originated with Pu Makthanga, the Lushai Chief of 
Aijal. Three such Conferences were held in the cold weather of that 
year and promised success. 

In 1936-37 there was recorded the first beginnings of the Lushai 
Cottage Industries, which wer> started by the enterprise of Major A. G. 
McCall, I. C. s., and his wife. The first class of work which they 
developed was that of making Lushai rugs, an indigenous industry 
which they greatly improved. The work has greatly enlarged since and 
there is a definite hope that it may become a permanent institution in 
this district. 

In 1937-38 a certain amount of anxiety was- caused to the authori­
ties by a "revivalist" outbreak which contained dangerous possibilities. 
The matter became so serious that the Supt"rintendent had to go him­
self with an armed escort to one village, Ke1kang, and compel the 
people to give up their hysterical doings. Such hysteria is a thing to 
which Lushais are always prone and it has to be carefully watched. 

In this year Major McCall initiated an elaborate system of Wel­
fare Committees in the villages with a view to serving two purposes­
(1) the dissemi~ation of public health information by authoritative 
means and (2) the formation of a local Village consultative machinery 
capable of being adapted to any electoral needs which the future 
might bring, and with the intention also that such a system might 
strengthen the relationship between the Chiefs and their subjects. 

VIII. The qonstitution Act of 1935.-Neither the Assam Go~ernment 
nor any other authorities who dealt with the matter had any difficulty 
in agreeing that the Lushai Hills showd be excluded from the purview 
of the New Constitution, and they were accordingly classed as an 
., Excluded Axea" in terms of the Government of India (Excluded 
and Partially Excluded Areas) Order 1936-. 

*Assam Secretariat, Political, A, December 1931, Nos._27-S9. 
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POLITICAL OFFICERS, NORTH LUSHAI HILLS 

1890 
1890-1892 
1892-1894 
1894-1897 
1897-1898 

Captain H. R. Browne, killed 6th September 189{1. 
Mr. R. B. McCabe, I.C.S. 

Mr. A. W. Davis, I.C.S. 

Mr. A. Porteous, I.C.S. 

Major J. Shakespear, C.I.E., D.S.O. 

SUPERINTENDENTS, SOUTH LUSHAI HILLS 

1891-1896 tlaptain (later Colonel) J. Shakespear. 
(Leinster Regiment). 

1896-1898 Mr. R. H. Sneyd Hutchinson,l.p. 

SUPERINTENDENTS, THE LUSHAI HILLS DISTRICT 

1898-1899 Major J. Shakespeare 
1899-1900 Captain H. W. G. Cole,I.A. 
1900-1903 Major J. Shakespear. 
1903-1904 Mr. L. O. Clarke, I.C.S. 

and Major J. Shakespeare 
1904-1905 Major J. Shakes pear. 
1905-1906 Mr. J. C. Arbuthnott, I.C.S.} 

Major Loch. For short periods. 
Major H. W. G. Cole. 

1906-1911 Major H. W. G. Cole. 
1911-1912 'Major W. Kennedy. 

1912-1913 

1913-1917 
1911-1919 
1919-1921 
1921-1922 
1922-1923 
1923-1924 
1924-1928 
1928-1932 
1932-194.2 

Major Loch. 
Mr. F. C. Henniker,l.c.s. 

and 
Mr. J. Hezlett, I,(::.s. 

Mr. J. Hezlett, I.C.8. 

Mr. H. A. C. Colquhoun, 
Mr. W. L. Scott, I.C.S. 

Mr. S. N. Mackenzie, I.C.S. 

Mr. W. L. Scott, I.C.S. 

Mr. S. N. Mackenzie, I.C.S. 

Mr. N. E. Parry, I.C.S. 

Mr. C. G. G. Helme, I.C.S. 

Major A. G. McCall, I.C,S, 

1 
SFor short period., 

I.C.S. 
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SUBDIVISIONAL OFFICERS, LUNGLEH 

1898·1899 Mr F. C. T. Halliday, Bengal Police. 
1899-1902 Mr. C. B. Drake-Brockman, Bengal Police. 
1902-1904 Mr. G. P. Whalley, I.P. 
1904·1906 Mr. A. R. Giles. 
1906-1901 Mr. C. W. T. Feilman. 
1907-1909 Mr. C. N. Shadwell. 
1909-1910 Lieutenant J. H. G. Buller. 
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1910·1912 Mr. R. W. Von Morde, Eastern Bengal and Assa.r,n 
Provinci~ Service. 

1912-1914 Mr. M. Bradshaw, I.P. 
1915-1918 Mr. J. Needham, I.P. 
1918-1919 Mr. H. G. partley, I.P. 
1919-1924 Mr. J. Needham, J.P. 
1924-1926 Mr. H. Fischer, Assistant Superintendent of Police. 
1927-1932 Mr. W. H. Tilbury, M.O., Extra Assistant Commis-

sioner. Died on 15th December 1932. 
1933-1937 Mr. L. L. Peters, Extra Assistant Commissioner. 
1937-1938 Mr. G. P. Jarman, Extra Assistant Commissioner. 
1938-1942 Mr. L. L. Peters, Extra Assistant Commissioner. 

COMMANDANTS, SURMA VALLEY MILITARY POLICE 
BATTALION 

1889-1890 Mr. W. W. Daly, Bengal Police. 
1890-1891 Lieutenant Cole. 
1891-1892 Captain G. H. Loch. 
1892-1893 Captain G. H. Loch. 

COMMANDANTS, NORTH LUSHAI MILITARY POLICE 
- BATTALION 

1894--95 
(In 1894-95 the North Lushai Battalion was 

Battalion) 
1895-98 

Captain H. Loch. 
separated from Silchar 

Captain H. Loch. 

COMMANDANTS, SOUTH LUSHAI HILLS MILITARY POLICE 
(IF SUCH WAS ITS TITLE) 

1892-95 

1895-96 

1896-98 

Mr. C. W. C. Plowden, 
I. P. 

Captain J. Shakespear 
(as well as Superinten­

dent). 
Mr. R. H. S. Hut­

chinson, I.P: 
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COMMANDANTS OF THE LUSHAI HILLS MILITARY 

POLICE 

1898-1914 
1914 

1914-15 

1915-16 

1916-17 

1917-18 

1918-19 
1919·20 

1920-21 

1921-22 
1922-23 

1923-24 
1924-25 
1925·26 
1926-27 
1927-33 
1933-38 

Major G. H. Loch. 
Captain H. C. Nicolay 

2nd Gurkhas. 
Major Nicolay 
Captain F. K. Hensley 

the Guides. 
Captain F. K. Hensley 
Captain J. S. Ring 
Captain J. S. Ring 
Captain F. K. Hensley 
Captain F. K. Hensley 
Captain H. Falkland 
Captain H. Falkland 
Captain H. Falkland 
Captain Davies. 
Captain H. Falkand 
Catain W. A. Gardiner 
Major W. L. Corry. 
Major W. L. Corry, 

and 
Captain C. D. Balding. 
Captain Balding. 
Major J. D. Scale. 
Major J. D. Scale. 
Captain H. T. Craig. 
Major W. B. Shakespear. 
Captain A. L. Fell. 
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MANIPUR STATE 
I. 1883-1890.-Mackenzle's chapter on Manipur (Chapter XVI 

of his Dook) brings us down to February 1883. At that time the 
Ruler was Maharaja Sir Chandra Kfrti Singh, K.C.S.I., who had been 
formally recognised in 1851 by the Government of India. Chandra 
Kirti had outstanding qualities as a Manipur Ruler, and his name still 
commands the greatest respect in Manipur. Although his methods of 
administration might not commend themselves at the present day. he 
was certainly more enlightened than most of his predecessors and he 
took a genuine interest in the \telfare of his subjects. Always loyal to 
the British Oovernment, h«< greatly improved communications in the 
State and encouraged trade with British India: and it was in his 
reign and with his approval that English education was started in the 
State. He died in 1886 after a reign of 35 years, and was succeded by 
his son Sur Chandra Singh, whose inability to control his more turbu­
lent brothers led to his abdication and was a contributing cause of the 
disaster of 1891. 

Between 1883 and 1890, there are one or two events which 
require notice. The first is the part pla.yed by Manipur in the 3rd 
Burmese war which broke out in November 1885. Colonel (later 
Major-General Sir) James Johnstone Was then Political Agent. A 
few days before the commencement of hostilities he received orders to 
do what he could for the European employees of the Bombay Burma 
Corporation who were in the Chindwin Valley. Seven of these, while 
making their way down the Chindwin to the Irrawaddy, were met by 
the Thundawsin or Secretary of the Que<tn of Burma, who had three, 
Messrs. Allen, Roberts and Moncure, murdered in cold blood, and four, 
Messrs. Hill, Rose, Bates and Ruckstuhl junior, handed over as pri­
soners to the Woon of Mingin. Meanwhile, three more of the Com­
pany's men, Mdlsrs. Morgan, Bretto and Ruckst:Jhl senior, were made 
prisoners by the Woon of Kendat. They were protected by the two 
Woons and not badly tteated. Johnstone then went himself on Decem­
ber 19th with force of 50 men of his own escort of the 4th Bengal 
Native Infantry, and Some 300 or 400 Manipurls to try and tes€ue the 
prisoners, and bring them to a plac~ - of safety. He reached Kendat 
by tremendous exertions on Xtmas Day, 1885, and was fortunate in 
finding the Bombay Burma Corporation men still alive. Besides rescu­
ing them he took the opportunity of formally annexing the country. 
But he found himself in a precarious position; his force was small 
and most unreliable, the country hostile, and he himself the only Bri­
tish Officer, apart from the Bombay Burma employees. On January 
the 3rd, the country was up, the Woon, Mr. Ruckstuhl (Morgan and 
Bretto had escaped) and all native British subjects were imprisoned 
by the people of Kendat, while Johnstone in camp on the right bank 
of the Chindwin was in a dangerous position. He, however, decided 
to attack, and 'on the 4th he opened fire on the Burmese stockade on 
the opprnJite bank of the river. By evening all outworks had been 
captured except the ~eat stockade. Next morning, 5th January, the 
latter had been evacuated and Johnstone immediately took possession 
of it, together with 16 guns; and nscued Ruckstuhl and the Woon and 
his family: That day a relief party from Mandalay consisting of Bri­
tish and Indian troops under Major CampbeU of the 23rd Madras 
Infantry arrIved by steamer. :aut the troops and the steamers an went 
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back again 3 days later and Johnstone and his Manipuris were left to 
make their way back to Manipur. He took with him the Woon of 
Kendat, and arrived at Tamu on the 14th January. Here he establi­
shed the Woon and returned to ImphaI. He soon however, had to 
return to the assistance of the Woon ~nd was wounded seriously him­
self by a gunshot in the left temple in a fight with the Burmese at a 
place, called variously Pantha, Pawsa, or Pot-tha, on 1st February 
1886. 

Colonel Johnstone's wounds necessitated his taking leave. The 
serv'ces he and the Manipur State forces had rendered in restoring 
order in the Kubo and Chindwin Valleys while the occupation of 
Upper Burma was proceeding were considerable, and were appreciated 
by the British authorities. He was succeeded by Major Trotter, who, 
a short six weeks later, was ambushed near Tamu and died of the 
wounds he received. It was not till the autumn that order was res­
tored. 

Among internal affairs, there were rebellions against Sur Chandra 
in 1886 and 1887, which had to be put down with British aid. That 
of 1886 occurred within a few months of Sur Chandra's accession and 
was led by Bora Chaoba Singh, a son of the Nar Singh who had been 
Regent in Chandri Kirti Singh's infancy and then Raja from 1844 to 
1851 before Chandra Kirti succeeded. Bora Chauba was defeated by 
Manipuri forces under Tangal General and fled to Cachar, whence he 
started again in October for a fresh attempt. He was pursued by a 
party of the Cachar Fro!".tier Police under Lieutenant Harris of the 4th 
Bengal Infantry, was defeated near the capital, and then surren­
dered. 

In 1887 two attempts were made. The first was led by the 
Wangkhairakpa, who ranked next to the Senapati and was the princi­
pal judicial officer of the State. This was quelled without difficulty 
and the Woon was shot. The second was led by Jogendra Singh, a 
Manipuri exile but not related to the ruling family. He also started 
from Cachar but was attacked by forces made up of Frontier Police 
and of the 44th Gurkha Light Infantry and killed with 14 of his fol­
lowers on the 4th of October 1887. 

II. The Disaster of 1891.-1n 1890 the events occurred which led 
up to the disaster of March 24th 1891, when five British Officers, i.I., 

Mr. J. W. Quinton, e.8.1., I.e.S., Chief Commissioner of 
Assam, 

Lt.-Col. C. McD. Skene, D.S.O., 42nd Gurkha Rifles, 
Mr. F. St. C. Grimwood, I.e.S., the Political Agent, Manipur, 
Mr. W. H. Cassins, l.e.s., Assistant Secretary to the Chief Com-

missioner, and 
Lt. W. H. Simpson, 43rd Gurkha Rifles, were put to death by the 

Manipuris, and Lieutenant L. W. Brackenbury of the 44th Gurkha 
Rifles, died of wounds received in action. 

------------------Pagea 240-270 of "My experiences in Manipur and ]the Naga Hill," by John-
atone. 

Assam Administrative Report for 1885.8, pages 2-3, Part II.B, 
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According to a note written on 16th July 1891 by Mr. W. E. 
Ward, I c.s., (later Sir William Ward, K.C.S. I.) who succeeded 
Mr. Quinton as Chief Commissioner on the latter's death, the Raja Sur 
Chandra Singh, was never anything more than a puppet Raja and the 
real Ruler of Manipur since 1886 had been the Senapati Tikendrajit 
Singh, a man who had always heen hostile to the British influence. 
Tikendrajit was one of Sur Chandra's seven brothers, and tre third 
son ofthe late Maharaja Chandra Kirti Singh. On the 2nd Septem­
ber 1890 the Raja Sur Chandra appeared at the Residency at 2-30 
a.m., accompanied by Pakka Sana and two other brothers, and 
announced that the Palace had been attacked; that he had fled ; and 
that the Senapati Tikendrajit and two of the other brothers were in 
possession of the Palace. The next day the Political Agent, Mr. Grim­
wood informed the Chief Commissioner that the Raja had abdicated 
in favour of the Jubraj, by which tide his next brother Kuia Chandra 
Singh was known, and was going to retire to Brindaban. The Political 
Agent took the view that this was a good thing and that the Senapati 
(i.e., Tikendrajit), who was popular with all classes, would help to 
make the rule of the Jubraj (i.e., Kula Chandra) strong and popular. 
The Chief Commissioner agreed that Kula Chandra, the Jubraj, should 
be acknowledged as Regent until the sanction of the Government of 
India was received. He had been recognised already as the heir to the 
throne, in conformity with the wishes of the late Maharaja (Chandra 
Kirti Singh) who, contrary to the ordinary Manipuri custom of primo­
geniture, had desired that his sons should succeed to the throne by 
turn The Government of India, however, on receiving the report 
of the Chief Commissioner, dated 31st December 1890, expressed 
considerable doubt as to whether the course recommended was advis­
able, and observed that if they acquiesced in the proposed recognition 
of the Jubraj (Kula Chandra) the Senapati (Tikendrajit), a man who 
had more than once incurred the displeasure of the Government of 
India, would wield the real power in the State. The views of the 
Government of India and the Chief Commissioner were strongly 
divergent as to what policy it was most expedient to pursue, but after 
considerable correspondence followed by personal discussion the Gov­
ernment of India issued their final orders in their letter No.360-E., 
dated 21st February 1891 which were to the following effect :-

(a) that the Senapati (Tikendrajit) should be removed from 
Manipur ; 

(b) that the Jubraj, i.e., Kula Chandra, should be recognised 
and that the ex-Raja should not be restored ; 

(c) that the Chief Commissioner should visit Manipur and 
make known on the spot the decision of the Governor­
General. 

The Chief Commissioner set out for Manipur from Golaghat with 
an escort of 400 men of the 42nd and 44th Gurkha Rifles, (now the 
1/6th Gurkha Rifles and 1/8th Gurkha Rifles respectively), under the 
command of Col. Skene of the 42nd on March 7th 1891. There were 
already in Manipur 100 rifles of the 43rd Gurkhas (now the 2/8th 
Gurkha Rifles). Lieut. P. R. Gurdon, as Assistant Political Officer 
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to the Chief Commissioner's staff had previously been sent on ahead 
to Manipur to make arrangemrnts and acquaint Mr. Grimwood with 
what was intended. Mr. Quinton's intention was to require the 
Regent (Kula Chandra), and the Darbar to meet him on arrival; to 
announce the decision of the Governor-General ; to arrest the Senapati 
Tikendrajit and take him away into exile in India. Thes.e proposals 
were approved by the Government of India. 

The Chief Commissioner arrived at Manipur on the 22nd March 
1891. He had announced that a Darbar would be held at noon of 
that same day at the Residency. The Regent (Kula Chandra) arrived 
at the Darbar, with the Senapati (Tikendrajit) but there was consider­
able delay, they were kept waiting outside the Residency gate, 
and eventually the Senapati went away. The Chief Commissioner 
said that he would not hold the Darbar unless the Senapati was 
present, nor would he see the Regent until the Senapati came and in 
the end the Regent also went away and no D~rbar was held. Another 
Darbar was fixed for 9 A.M. on the 23rd but nohody came. Every 
effort was made to persuade the Regent to prod:uce the Senapati but 
all proved useless. The Chief Commisilioner then decided that he 
must use force and had a letter delivered to t4e Regent (Kula Chan­
dra) stating that the Senapati (Tikendrajit) -WQuld be arrested if he 
were not surrendered. It was estimated at the time by the Political 
Agent that there were 5,000 to 6,000 Manipuri troops in the. PaJace 
enclosure. 

Two small columns of troops consisting of lO .a.I,ld 70 m~ under 
Lieutenant Brackenbury of the 44th and Captain Bu.tcher of the 42nd 
respectively, with Lieutenant Lugard of the 4~ in suppor,t with 50 
men, were ordered to enter the Fort and arrest tI:~e Senapati on the 
early morning of the 24th. These operations r~sulted in complete 
failure. The Senapati was not found in his bouse and the troops 
suffered severe losses, 3 Gurkha other ranks being ikilled, Lieutenants 
Brackenbury, who subsequently died, and Lugard and 14 other ranks 
being wounded. During the course of the day these detachments were 
withdrawn to the Residency and the Residency was "ubjected to severe 
fire both from muskets and two 7...pounder guns. It should he added 
that when our ,troops entered the palace Sl,lbs¢qllently they found there­
in four 7-pounder guns, 1 mortar and six 3-pounders. [General 
Officer Commanding Assam's report, dated 30th April 1891 at page 5 
of E. I. (M) 1891, No.4.] The existence of these considerable 
armaments is to some extent accounted for by the fact ,that after the 
3rd Burma War, in recognition of the flervices rendered to our troops 
by the State, the Government of India presented the Maharaja with 
two 7-pounder guns and 180 rQunds of ammunition, 200 Enfield rifles 
and 60,000 rounds of ammunition, and 6 Martinis and 1,000 rounds 
Martini ammunition for the Maharaja's brothers. 

The fire was so sewere that the Chief Commissioner and Colonel 
Skene discussed the advisability of withdrawing from the Residency 
and taking up a position in the open. Before doing this, however. an 
~~--·---------""Fr----

Assam Administration Report for 1887.88, Part lIon, page S. 
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attempt was made at negotiation, and eventually a messenger came 
and said that the Senapati wished to meet the Chief Commissioner. 
The Chief Commissioner with the four officers referred to at the 
beginning of this chapter proceeded to the main gate in the Fort. 
They had no escort and were unarmed. After a long conversation 
they all went inside the gate and were seen no more. They were all 
murdered. Mr. Grimwood was speared by a Manipuri sepoy when 
the party was surrounded by an excited crowd' and the other four were 
kepf. for 2 hours and then beheaded by the public executioner . 

• Little authentic inf'ormation is, naturally, available about thf"se 
occurrences. It is improbable, however, that this act of treachery 
was premeditated, but when Grimwood had been killed it appears that 
the Ministers came to the ,conclusion that there was nothing to be 
gained by sparing the lives ~ of the others. 

That night a party consisting of the .remaining British military 
Officers, Mrs. Grimwood and Lieutenant Gurdon, together with 160 
men, evacuated the Residency, taking the wounded to the number of 
17 with them. They left some 270 men behind still holding the Resi­
dencyenclosure. The Residency, a wooden structure with a thatched 
roof, was set on fire soon after they evacuated it. They went across 
country westwards towards the hills and eventually made contact with 
a detachment of the 43rd Gurkha Light Infantry under -Captain 
Cowley. who Were marching up to Manipur from Cachar in tne ordi­
nary course of relie£ Their action in retreating from Manipur wi~h­
out attempting to rescue their s1!perior officers or even to ascertain 
what had happened to them, and at the same tim.e leaving so many of 
their men behind to their fate, was the subject for a considerable time 
of great controversy and severe comment. It was investigated by a 
Court of Enquiry held under the orders of the Government of India, 
and the two senior officers, Major Boileau of the 44th and Captain 
Butcher of the 42nd Gurkhas, were court-martialled and cashiered for 
gross neglect of duty in the face of the enemy. In contrast to the 
feeble conduct of these officers was that of Lieutenant ,C. J. W. Grant 
of the 12th Madras Infantry who was commanding at Tamu on the 
Burma·Manipur border, and of the Gurkha Officer, Jemadar B~rbal 
Nagarkati of the 43rd, who was in command of the detachment at 
Langthobal, 4 miles from Imphal. Displaying great gallantry and 
powers of leadership, the Jema<1ar cut his way through to Tamu with 
his little force of 33 men, covering 60 miles in 48 hours, and brought 
to Grant the news of the disaster. Grant at onc;e asked for and obtain­
ed orders to march on Imphal and did so with 50 men of the 12th 
Madras Infantry and 30 ofJemadar Birbal,Nagarkati's gallant detach­
ment. They were held up at Athokpam Lawai close to the village of 
Thobal, 15 miles from Imphal and surrounded by superior Manipuri 
forces They fought, however, a most gallant action for 10 days until 
ordeled to withdtaw and join the Burma Column, which they did with 
a loss of 1 I. O. R. killed and 3 wounded. For this action 
Lieutenant Grant received the Victoria Cross and J emadal' Birbal 
Nagarkati, who' was wounded subsequently at the attack on the stock-
ade on 25th April, was decorated also. . 
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Two members of the telegraph Department, Mr. Melville) 
Superintendent of Telegraph and Mr. O'Brien, a signaller, also lost 
their lives in connection with this outbreak. Tht'y were on their way 
to Kohima on the 25th March when they were attacked at Mayang­
khang by some Manipuri sepoys assisted by some neighbouring Nagas, 
and both killed. 

Columns of troops were at once sent into Manipur from Kohima, 
Silchar and Tamu under the command of Colonel R. H. F. Rennick, 
Major-General H. Collett, C. B., and Brigadier G('neral T. Graham, 
C. B., respectively, and the rebellion were soon quelled. The chief 
incident was the attack on the Manipuris' stockaded position by the 
Burma Column (n April 25th, when about 130 Manipuris were killed 
and the British lost 2 killed and 13 'Wounded, am'Jng the latter being 
Lieutenant Grant and Jemadar Birbal Nagarkatti. The three 
columm met at Manipur on the 27th April. 

Retribution feU on the perpetrators of the outrage of March 24th. 
Kajao Singh, who speared Grimwood, was hanged on May 24th, and 
Niranjan Subadar, a renegade from the Indian Army, on June Bth. 
Tikendrajit, the Senapati and Thangal Genetal were hanged on the 
13th of August 1891 in public. The Regent or Jubraj Kula Chandra 
Singh together with his brother Angou Singh and a number of others 
were sentenced to transportation for life Of the men who murdered 
Messrs. Melville and O'Brien, one was hanged and 8 sentenced to 
transportation for life. The area covered by the Manipuri citadel 
and Palaces, together with a large amount of surrounding land, cover­
ing in all 1.B3 square miles, was taken as a British Reserve and cleared 
of most of the buildings on it. The site of the old citadel and Palaces 
IS now occ.upied by the Assam RIfles Lines, Officers' Bungalows, etc. 
The only things left standing were the brick wall round the Palace and 
Coronation rnclosures, Gobindji's temple buildings, the Senapati's 
temple, the Durbar Hall where the prisonel s were taken before 
execution, and the timber entrance to the Coronation enclosure. It 
was at the foot of the steps leading up to this last building that the 
British Officers were beheaded. The masonry dragons which formerly 
stood in front of these .. teps were blown up. 

It may conveniently be mentioned here that in 1928 His Highness 
made a representation asking fol' the return of the site of the old Palace 
and neighbouring buildings. This was rejected'" by Sir Laurie Ham­
mond. He renewed his request in 1932t as part of his statement before 
the Sta~es Ellquiry Committee which was set up in connection with 
Federation. The Local Government gave its opinion in 1934 (Sir 
Michael Keane) that it was not desirable. The Government of India 
agreed in their letter No.F.19~.I/34, dated the 13th August 1934, 
that the proposal covld not be dIscussed as long as the Assam Rifles 
remained there. This view was again endorsed in paragraph 6 of 
Assam letter No.93-G.S., dated the 22nd April 1937, to the Crown 
Representative in connection with the details of Federation. There 
the matter rests. New cantonments were built on the site for the 
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troops of the garrison and from 1901 were occupied by regular troops 
until, in March 1915 the 123rd Outram's Rifles handed over to the 
Darrang Battalion of the Assam Military Police, subsequently to be­
come the 4th Battalion, Assam Rifles. 

The new Residency which replaced that burnt down by the rebels 
in 1891 was completed in 1897 and first occupied in January 1898. 

The way in which Mr. Quinton handled the situation on the 24th 
March was the subject of considerable controversy, both in England 
and in India, especially in respect of' his action in inviting the Senapati 
{Tikendrajit) tu the Durbar with the intention of arresting him. The 
views of the then Viceroy (Lord Lansdowl'e) were given in a 
telegram No.954-E., date<! May 11th, 1891, to the Secretary of State 
in the following terms: " ... You may repudiate in strongest language 
idea that Government of India inten ied to sanction treachery 
towards Senapati, and we believe· that Quinton was incapable of 
carrying out instructions in a treacherous manner. Imputation of 
treachery arises from misconception of Senapati's position and that of 
Manipur State. State is subordinate to Government of India, and 
Senapati must have known that his conduct in conspiring against 
Maharaja, Who had been recognised by us, rendered him liable to 
punishment. There was no question of alluring him to Darbar under 
false sense of security. It is very doubtful whether he ever meant to 
attend Darbar. According to Gurdon, Grimwood did not believe 
that he ever left Palace to do so on m<.rning of 22nd. If he did not, 
he apparently expected arrest. 

Until Gurdon's telegram of 7th May reached us, we had not 
re.:eived s~ific information that, if Senapati refused to submit quietly, 
Quinton intendf.d to have him arrested at Darbar after announcement 
of our orders ; but we have no doubt Quipton considered open arrest 
in Darbar, in case of such refusal, would be most straightforward and 
safest procedure. Knowing Senapati's character, Quinton probably 
felt that only chance of depriving him of opportunity of fomenting 
disturbance was to effect his deportation as promptly as possibl£. 

As a matter of fact when Senapati failed to comply with Quinton's 
orders and letter of warning was sent to Regent, Senapati evaded 
arrest and prepared resistance which led to massacre. This result 
S~lOWS correctness of Quinton's provision. Had arrest taken place at 
Darbar as intended, Quinton would not have lost his life. 

Antecedents of Senapati should not be overlooked. Grimwood 
described him as a desperate man who would not be taken alive. In 
1881 he was banished and made an outcaste for brutally ill-treating 
some Manipuris, and in 1888 we advised Maharaja to remove him 
from State for similar ofi'enc-e. His cruelties were notorious." 

East India (Manipur) 1891, No. 4. (C 6410). Correspondence relating to Mani4 
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This point of view is reiterated in the Viceroy's telt'gram of 5th 
iJune, 1891 to the Secretary of State in which he completely exonerates 
Mr. Quinton of any discreditable intention or conduct. The telegram 
ran as follows :-

"Manipur-We wish to draw special attention to the following 
points :-

First.-It is the right and duty of the British Gover~ment to 
settle succession'! in Subordinate Native States. Every successIOn must 
be recognised by the British Government, and no succession is valid 
until recognition has been given. This principle is fully understood 
and invariably observed. 

Second.-Manipur is a Subordinate Native State. We rendered 
it independent of Burma. We have recognised successions in Manipur, 
and have asserted suzerainty in many ways; and Manipur ruling 
family have repeatedly acknowledged their position of dependence. 
For example, in 1874, Maharaja plesented Nazar to Viceroy and 
received Khilat. Again ex-Maharaja now in Calcutta was recognised 
as future successor by us during his father's lifetime at his father's 
request; and, similarly, at ex-Maharaja's request, we recognised as 
his successor present Jubraj. Ex-Maharaja, and even Regent and 
Senapati since revolt, have all admitted dependent position of State. 
See ex-Maharaja's letter, 14th November, paragraph 7. Regent's 
letter 25th March, last paragraph but one. Rassick Lull Kundu's 
letter, 4th April, end of paragraph 6. He now states that portion of 
Jetter referring to Senapati was dictated by Senapati himself. 

Third.-It is our right and duty to uphold Native Chiefs recog­
nised by us except in case of gross misrule, and to punish unlawful 
revolt against their authority. We have accordingly more than once 
upheld Manipur Chiefs by force, and punished rebels against their 
authority -See Aitchison's Treaties, Volume I, page 24,8, and recent 
case of Bara Chauba and Jogendra Singh, referred to in Maharaja's 
letter of 14th November. 

lfourth.-The rising against Maharaja in September 1890 was 
unlawful revolt, and we should have been justified in putting it 
down by force and punishing rebels. But for Maharaja's abdication, 
which was somewhat hastily accepted by Grimwood, without reference 
to us, we should probably have done so. Chief Commissioner offered 
Grimwood armed assistance from Kohima. See Qumton's telegrams 
to Cunningham, 22nd and 24th September 1890

1 
and Grimwood's 

lett~r 25th September, ,paragraphs 10 to 14<, and Cunningham's Jetter to 
QUInton of 24th January, paragraph 6. 

. Fifth.- When Maharaja wished to recall abdication we were 
dl~pose~ to rest?re ~im and fe-assert his authority. Wf' gave away on 
thIS pomt to obJectlonll earnestly pressed by Quinton, both in let.ters 

~ast India (Manipur) 1891. No.5. Further correspondence rel.lring to 
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and in personal communication, with the Viceroy and COllncil. 
Grimwood also was opposed to Maharaja's restoration. See 
Quinton's letters to Cunningham, 9th and 19th February 1891, and 
Grimwood's letter 4th December, paragraph 26. 

SzXth.-Nevertheless we could not permit a revolt against a Chief 
recognised by us to remain wholly successful and unpunished, and 
virtual authority in Manipur to pass into hands of Senapati, who, as 
lately described by Johnstone in letter, is" a man of infamous 
character", and who was notoriously turbulent, and the rea1leader of 
the revolution of September 1890. See paragraphs 4, 11 and 19 of 
Grimwood's letter of 25th September, and paragraphs 5, 14, 17, 19 
and 27 of his letter of 4th December. Also, correspondence of 1881 
and 1888, as to Senapati's antecedents and occasions on which he 
incurred the displeasure of Government. 

Under these circumstances we decided that Senapati should be 
removed from the State, and Quinton while at Calcutta did not ques~ 
rion propriety of this decision. 

Seventh.-We did not indicate to Quinton method in which depor~ 
tation was to be effected. We asked him what steps he considered 
necessary for carrying out removal withont affording Senapati the 
chance of making forcible resistance. No instrnctions-other than those 
contained in Letter NIl.360 of 21st February were given to Quinton on 
this point, either by letter or by word of mouth. 

Eighlh.-QjIinton did not immediately consult Grimwood vn -sub~ 
ject, doubtless for reasons given in demi-official letter to Cunningham 
of 22nd February. Following is extract from this lettt'r :-Begins. It 
is of importance that the decision of the Government of India, which 
I am going to Manipnr10 announce and enforce, -should not be divulg­
ed prematurely, and it is scarcely possible to guard against its leaking 
out if I use the telegraph at Manipur or even write: so -many persons 
are in teres ted in knowing .what is about to happen. The 'Political 
Agent has no cypher code.-Ends. No -doubt Darbar would have 
tried hard to get message or letter from telegraph -or Post Office, and 
might have succeeded. Some of the Agency establishment are suspect­
ed of having been in the habit -of supplying information to Darbar, 
-and Quinton must have- known this. These facts exp1ain alleged 
studious concealment from Grimwood of Quinton'S atten1ions, (sic). 

Ninth.-Quinton's desire to consult Grimwood as far as circums~ 
lances permitted is shown by Gurdon's special mis~ion to 'Manipur a 
week in advance of Quinton. On that occasion Gurdon gave Grim­
wood clear information of intended removal of Senapati, and consulted 
him as to the method of arrest. Grimwood' could suggest no way for 
effecting arrest without affording Senapati opportunity of making forci­
ble resistance. Gurdon's Italian telegram to Quinton reporting on 
situation was seen and approved by Grimwood. See Gurdon's tele­
gram, 7th May, and his report forwarded with our Despatch of 26th 
May. 

Tmth.-On Gurdon's return from Manipur, ,Quinton sent his 
Telegram of 18th March to Cunningham. This telegram was the only 
reply received to inquiry mentioned in section 7 above, excep"t 
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demi-officialletter of 22nd February mentioned in section 8. In that 
letter Quinton expressed intention of consu1ting with General Collett 
before submitting his recommendations officially. 

Eleventh.-We did not know, and we had no reason to infer from 
Quinton's telegram of 18th March, that Quinton contemplated sum­
moning a formal Darbar or public assembly for the purpose of arrest­
ing Senapati. The words" Regent and the Darbar " in that telegram 
mean Regent and Court or entourage. The word Darbar is habi­
tually used in thi.s sense. 

Twelfth -The decisil)n to arrest in Darbar or public assembly 
was apparently arrived at on 21st March in conference at Sengmai 
between Quinton, Skene, Cossins and Grimwood. Gurdon, who was 
in Quinton's confidence, informs us, in report cited in section 9 above, 
that after this conference Quinton told him that Senapati would be 
arrested at Darbar next cay. Gurdon adds :-Begins. This was the 
first mention I had heard of the p1an.-Ends. Until Gurdon's tele­
gram of 7th May reached us, we did not know precisely what Quinton 
had intended. 

Thirteenth.-Grimwood was opposed to removal of Sen'lpati, and 
doubtless also to his arrest. 

Four/eenth.-As to merits of Quinton's proposed action, there was 
certainly nothing unusual in announcing our orders in formal Darbar, 
including the order for removal of Senapati. Under ordinary circums­
tances, this would have been the natural and proper course. No 
question as to exact time and method of arrest would have arisen, 
because ordinarily there would have been no thought of resistance, and 
any person to be deported would have considered himself at Quinton's 
disposal from the time that orders of Government were announced. 

Fifteent h.-The anticipation of possible resistance to such orders is 
so rare that comparatively few instances of formal arrest in Darbar are 
on record; but the following cases may be cited. Sandeman lately a:-­
rested in open Darhar the Naib ofKej who had attended at his summons. 
In 1879 General Roberts made formal entry into Bala Bissar, and r('ad 
out proclamation to assembled notables. After doing so, he informed 
principal Ministers, whom he suspected of using their influence against 
us, that it was necessary to detain them. In these cases idea of trea­
chery never occurred to anyone concerned. 

Sixteenth -~t cannot be too clearly understood that the proposed 
Darbar at Mampur Was not a conferen~e between equals, or anything 
of the nature of a hospitable reception. It was an assemblage sum­
moned by the Representative of the Paramount Power to declare the 
orders of the British Government in a case of disputed succession upon 
wh!ch . both ex-Mahar?-ja and Regent had ~ddressed us, aud' upon 
whIch m accordance with custo~ .Wf" were ~ntltl(d to decide, and they 
were bound to accept our declSlon. QUlnton, in tel{'gram of 18th 
March says :_h I propose requiring Regent and the Darbar to meet 
me," and Regent's letter, 25t~ March, first paragraph, shows Regent 
understood that he Was reqmred to attend with his brothers to hear 
what our decision was. There was nothing of the nature of allure­
ment. The Senapati like the Regent was bound to attend and accC'pt 
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our order. The Regent was to be recognised as Maharaja, and the 
Senapati was to be banished. In the meantime Quinton was right in 
treating both with ordinary politeness. Though Senapati was to be 
banished, the immediate cause of his banishment was political rather 
than criminal misconduct. 

Seventeenlh.-To say that Quinton was bound to give Senapats 
previous warning of the orders of Government, and of the fact that he 
would be forcibly arrested unless he submitted to them, is in effect 
to say that because ,Senapati was known to be a man of violent 
character and likely to give troable, it was therefore Quinton's duty 
to Clhow him special consideration and give him special opportunity 
of preparing for mischief. The necessity for forcible arrest could not 
arise unless Senapati refused to accept our orders. It could only there­
fore be the result of his own'misconduct and revolt against our para­
mount authority, which authority he himself subsequently acknow­
ledged in letter referred to above, Section 2. 

Eighteenth.-We do not know Quinton.'s motive for arrest in 
Darbar. He:- probably desired to announce and carry out our orders 
in most formal and open manner. Statement that Darbar was 
delayed in order to give time for translation of Quinton's speech 
supports this view. Arrest of Senapati could apparently have been 
effected with less difficulty by summoning him to private interview ; 
but Quinton probably thought this would not have been as a suitable 
to the occasion. In any case there was nothing of the nature of trea­
chery involved. 

Nineteenth.-I£ Quinton had been willing to stoop to treachery there 
would have been no difficulty in the matter. He could certainly and 
easily have allayed Senapati's suspicions by friendly as<;urances and 
have seized him on occasion offriendly visit. 

T u:enlieth.-Suspicion of treachery, which arises primarily from 
misapprehension of n3.ture of proposed Darbar, may perhaps be 
secondarily due to speCIal circumstances for which QIinton was not 
responsible; for example, Grimwood and Simpson's shooting expedi­
tion with Senapati after orders of Government had been communicat­
ed to Grimwood. 

Twenty-fiTst.-As to military questions involved we would rather 
not offer any opinion until the receipt of the proceedings of the Court 
of Inquiry held at Manipur, which were posted the"e on the 31st May 
and are due here on the 14th instant. We can only say that both in 
letters and in personal communication with Quinton. we instmcted 
him to take care that he had a sufficient force. From the papers that 
have come before us, it is evident that Quinton and the responsible 
military authorities in Assam considered the escort ample to overcome 
any resistance that could reasonably be expected. 

Twenty-second.-To sum up. It was our duty to settle disput~d 
suc;cessiou in Manipur. We accepted opinion of local authorities and 
decided in favour of acknowledging Jubraj instead of restoring 
Maharaja: but we stipulated that Senapati, who had Jed revolt against 
Maharaja, and was a man of turbulent and infamous chardcter, must 
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leave the State. We did not prescribe method of his deportation; and 
we did not know Quinton intended to arrest him in Darbar; but we 
considered that Darbar was suitable place for announcemj!nt of our 
orders, including order for banishment of Senapati, and we see no 
treachery whatever in Quinton's intention to arrest Senapati there and 
then if he declined to submit to those orders, which, as subject of a 
subordinate Native State he was bound to obey. As to question of 
escort we desired Quinton to take sufficient force, and he took the full 
force which was considered necessary by him and the local military 
authorities. " 

Paragraphs 12 to 17 of the Secretary of State's despatch No.9, 
dated the 24th July, 1891 are important on the question of policy and 
run as follows :7" 

"12. Your Government would undoubtedly have been justified in 
restoring the Maharaja by force in September, when the revolution 
took place, and had he not fled precipitately this course would 
probably have been adopted; nor, in my opinion, would either the 
delay that occurred or the fact that the local officers were content to 
accept the l"esults of the revolution without comment have justified you 
in abstaining from considering the ex-Maharaja's application when it 
came before you, and vindicating the right of the Paramount Power to 
decide the question of succession on its merits. Your interference was 
necessary, not ouly in tht' interests of the Manipur State, where the 
character of the Senapati and the traditions of the succession indicated 
the probability of this attempt, if allowed. to go unpunished, being 
frequently repeated; it was necessary also in the interests of the British 
Government, which has of late years been brought into much doser 
relations with the State and its subject tribes than was formerly the 
case, and cannot safely tolerate disorders therein; but above aU it was 
necessary in the interests of the other protected States of India, for 
every Chief would have felt the stability of his power was compromised 
had you passed over without notice an unprovoked and successful 
rebellion proceeding only from family quarrels. 

13. I am satisfied, therefore, that your Government were right in 
deciding to interfere. I am equally satisfied that no interference which 
left the successful head of the rebellion, a man notorious for his 
turbulent and violent character, in possession of the real power of the 
State would have been adequate, and that your decision to remove the 
Senapati from Manipur and intern him in India was sound and 
politic. 

14. The question whether the ex-Maharaja should be restored, or 
whether the Jubraj should be acknowledged as Maharaja, was by no 
means so clear as that of the Senapati's removal. Your Government 
were at first inclined to restore him, and only yielded to the strong 
re monstrances which the Chief Commissioner urged against that 
course. I have very carefully considered the subject in the light of the 
objections urged by Mr. Quinton to the restoration of the f"xpelJed 
Maharaja, and am of opinion that your Government was justified in 
yielding to tho'le objections. The obligations imposed on yoU by the 
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declaration of the Government of India in 1851, though not limited to 
Maharaja Kirti Chundur, were necessarily dependent on the 
Maharaja's capacity to govern, and on his willingness to abide by 
our advice. In this case, the Maharaja's abandonment of his throne 
and territory (for I am satisfied that his abdication was deliberate and 
complete), and his unreadiness to follow the advice of your Govern­
ment, absolved you from looking to any other considerations than 
those demanded by the interests of peace and good government, while 
the representations of the local authorities, as well as the Maharaja'S 
previous history, indicated that these interests would in all probability 
be better served by the acknowledgment as Maharaja of the heir 
apparent, than by the forcible restoration of one who had shown 
himself incapable of properly exercising the authority conferred upon 
him. 

15. The decision to accept the Jubraj as Maharaja, if Sur Chandra 
Singh was not to be restored, followed as a matter of course. He had 
not taken part in the insurrection, he was the heir apparent, he was 
supposed to be capable, he had shown himself amenable to advice, and 
there was practically no other competitor. 

16. So far then as the policy of your Government is concerned, I 
am glad that Her Majesty's Government have been able to afford it 
their full support. It was honourable, it asserted the rights of the 
Government of India, and it was calculated to give assurance to 
feudatory Chiefs. Nor do I doubt that you were right in leaving to the 
discretion of the Chief Commissioner the details of the method of 
enforcing your decision. 

17. One question remains, which I think may be better dealt with 
in considering the orders of your Government than in considering the 
action of your subordinates. I refer to Mr. Quinton's intention for 
causing the Senapati, should he not surrender, to be arrested in 
Darbar. I have considered this subject very carefully in 'the light of 
your telegram of 11th May last, in which you explained that you had 
no specific information on this point until the receipt of Mr. Gurdon's 
telegram of 7th May, and I am satisfied that in giving your san::tion to 
the proposals formulated in Mr. QIinton's lelegram of 18th March, 
you had no reason to contemplate, and in fact did not contemplate, 
this action. I fully concur with you that nothing like treachery can be 
imputed to Mr. QIinton in this matter, but care should be taken that 
persons summoned to attend Darbars, which are almost universally 
understood to be held for ceremonial purposes, should not be subjected 
therein to measures of personal restraint. to 

It will be observed that Lord Cross, while he concurs with the 
Government of India in holding that ~Cnothing like treachery can be 
imputed to Mr. Quinton in this matter''. indicates by the injunction in 
his last sentence as to future procedure some feeling of misgiving 
r~arding the line of action that was adopted at Manipur. 

In paragraph 2 of the same despatch, reference is made to a 
Committee of Enquiry which the Government of India had constituted 
at Manipur and the Secretary of State observes that until he had 
r~ceived those proceedings and the GoverI\men~ of IIlc:fu\'s orders 
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thereon, he would not be in a position to comment on the later phases 
of the question (i.e., the action taken by the local authorities in giving 
effect to the Governor-General's instructions which culminated in the 
disaster of March 1891). A Military Court of Enquiry presided over 
by Colonel Evans, 43rd Gurkhas, sat during May 1891 to investigate 
the action of Military Officers between 21st and 25th March, and also 
of civil officers so far as was known to the witnesses: while Major 
Maxwell, the Chief Political Officer, undertook simultaneous investiga­
tions into "the causes and circumstances of the outbreak ...•... .including 
the action of our civil and military officers between the 21st and 25th 
March."· It is a serious misfortune that in spite of search at Manipur, 
in the ShiUong and the Government of India Secretariat, and at the 
India Office, no record of either the Assam Government's nor the 
Supreme Government's views nor the Secretary of State's final decisions 
on those inquirie'J have been traced. 

These events were the subject of discussion both in the House of 
Commons and the House of Lords. 

On June 16th, 1891, Sir William Harcourt, the Member for Der­
by, movt"d for papers in a moderate speech. One of the points he 
made was that it was improper to arrest the Senapati in Darbar. The 
Secretary of State for India, Lord Cross, being in the Upper House, 
Sir John Gorst, the Under-Secretary, replied. He made an unfor­
tunate speech, which was severely criticised by other members and 
in one particular repudiated by his official superior. His main effort 
was directed towards defending the procedure which was adopted, and 
in particular repudiating any sugge!ltion of treachery on Mr. Quinton's 
part. But he made a great blunder in advancing the theory that Gov­
ernment did not like to have able men in native States, and that 
that in fact was the real reason for getting rid of the Senapati, a pOl" 
licy of cutting off the taU poppy heads. 

Mr. George Nathaniel Curzon, then the Member for Southport, 
and latter to become the great Viceroy, expressed his complete dis­
agreement with the Under-Secretary and warmly defended the arrest 
in Darbar of the Senapati, whom he described as a man of infamous 
character. Mr. Campbell-Bannerman defended Quinton and Grim­
wood as against the Government of India, who, he made out, made 
him act against his better judgment. Sir Richard Temple, the Mem­
ber for Evesham and ex-Governor of Bombay, said it was not justi­
fiable to summon the Senapati to the Durbar without giving notice 
of the intention to arrest him, but he defended generally the action 
of the Government of India. 

The general trend of the debate was in the direction of exonera­
ting Quinton but condemning the Government of India. Gorst, the 
Under-Secretary, undoubtedly made a bad impression. 

In the House of Lords on the 22nd of June 1891 the debate 
was on a rather higher plane. The lx-Viceroy, Lord Ripon, criticis­
ed the Government of India's action as an unsatisfactory compromise 
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between two courses. Either th~y could have restored the ex-Raja or 
they could have acknowledged <de facto the new one. But they chose 
the third course of acknowledging 'the revolution but punishing" its au. 
thors. He condemned the arrest in the Datbar but acquitted Quin­
ton of any underhand intention. He severely condemned Sir John 
Gorst's "rash and cynical deClaration" as to the policy of the Gov· 
ernment of India and he ended by begging the Government not to 
annex Manipur. 

He was followed by Lord- Cross, the Secretary of State. He de­
clared himsdf, subject, of course, to the advice of the Government of 
India, which had not yet been received, as against annexation. He 
described his Under-Secretary's suggestion that a man was to be re­
moved from a State simply because he was an able man or an 
independent man as '~utterly -repugnant to all common sense and to 
all our practice in India or dsewhere". As regards the arrest in 
Darbar, he explained this particular one as being in the nature of 
a Court where Govtrnment's decision was to be pronounced but 
could find no precedent for the summoning of a man to a Darbar in 
order to be arrested and he expres ed his disapproval of such a proce­
dure. He defended, however, the action of the Indian Govern­
ment and paid a high tribute to the Viceroy, Lord Lans­
downe. Lord Kimberley and Lord Northbook t the second another 
ex-Viceroy, both condemned what Was done in connection with the 
Darbar as being wrong, Lord Kimberley describing it as savouring 
"a little too much of oriental finesse'" Both of them were opposed 
to annexation. Lord Derby also advised against annexation and said 
that the Princes would mistrust us if we did so. 

It is interesting to observe that throughout the discussions in both 
Houses there was no mention, much less criticism, of the ignominious 
Bight of our officers on the nigh t of March 24th. Probably details 
had not yet reached England. 

The future position of Manipur had to be decided. The Chief 
Commissioner, Mr. Ward, was decidedly in favour, as were a great 
many other officers, of annexing the State. Reviewing the facts in 
detail in a note recorded on the 16th July 1891, he stated his view, 
and in the strongest terms, that there were no miti.gating circumstances 
which might lead to hesitation in declaring the annexation of Mani­
pur. Paragraph 35 of his note sums up his views as follows:-

"35. To sum up, then, the views expressed in this note: 
; 1) In view of the recent evetl~s at Manipur, I think that we 

are not only justified ill annexing ~hat State, but that it is impera­
tive for the maintenance of our prestige, and as a lesson and a warn­
ing to other Native States in· India, and without any regard whate 
ever to financial considerations, that we should do so. 

(2) I hav~ little doubt that the whole of the hill population, 
being oneethird of the total population of the State, and that nine­
tenths of the whole population of the State, would welcome annexation. 
In the case of the hill tribes I think there are obvious reason$ 
why they should do so. Under the circumstances, 'unless we wish 
to cast off the obligation, which we took upon ourselves thirty years 
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ago, of protecting the people of the State against oppression, and 
against the necessary consequences of misrule and periodical revolu­
tion, I consider it to be a moral duty imposed upon us to annex. 

(3) Lastly, I have no doubt, looking at the matter soleJy from 
a financial point of view, that there are no grounds whatever for 
thinking that annexation will result in financial loss to Government. 

The view taken by the Supreme Government was otherwise, as 
the following quotation from pages 286 to 288 of Tupper's Indian 
Political Practice, Volume II, shows :- ' 

286. Another illustration of the policy of maintaining Native 
rule is afforded by the Manipur case, of which the main facts have 
been state(in the first chapter. In discussing the question whether 
the Manipur State should be annexed, the Viceroy, Lord Lansdowne, 
wrote as follows :-

"The questions which have to answer are, I think, two--

(a) Have we a moral right to annex the State? 
(6) It we have such a right, is it desirable, upon grounds of 

brOad policy, to exercise it ? 
The answer to the first of these questions must, I think, be in the 

affirmative. At the same time it might, I think. be contended with 
some show of reason that the Manipur rebellion was the work of One 
man, and not a deliberate attempt on the part of the State to shake 
off our yoke. Be this, however, as it may, we cannot allow ourselves 
to forget thal the lawful Ruler of Manipur-a Ruler whom we had 
recognised-was forcibly deposed; that the nominal Ruler by whom 
he was replaced, has been properly convicted of waging war 
against the Queen ; and that the virtual Ruler of the State from the 
time of the conspiracy of September 1890, up to the date of occupa­
tion of the State by a British force, was the turbulent and disJoyal 
ruffian who, supported by the whole of the Manipur army, and 
as far as we know, by the people of Manipur generally, has been, 
implicated in an open rebellion, the ultimate consequence of which 
was the murder, under circumstances of exceptional horror and 
treachery, of a high official of the Government of India and the 
officers with him. The savage hounding down of the telegraph 
officials, who were in no wayeonnected with the political or military 
proceedings, and the barbarous murder of Mr. Melville, the entire 
destruction of the telegraph line, and the desecration of graves in 
remote localities, have incidentally shown that orders must have 
been issued for the extirpation of all traces of British supremacy. 

We arc, therefore, justified in holding that the State, as a whole, 
has been guilty of rebellion, and that it has consequently, forfeited its 
right to exist as a State. 

It remains then to consider whether we are to insist upon 
luch forfeitute or not. In arriving at a decision, we have, I think to 
determine one point only. Are we, or are we not, satisfied that it is 
possible to inflict upon Manipur and the Manipuris a punishment 
sufficiently significant and, exemplary without annexation? If luch 
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a punishment has been, or can be, inflicted without annexation, I 
think we should cettainly not annex. I am on principle strongly 
opposed to needless annexations, and I would have a scrupulous 
regard for the independence of the Native States in subordinate 
alliance with us so long as they remain loyal, and do nothing to forfeit 
their right to our pr.:>tection. The onus should, I think, always 
be upon those who advocate annexation, and it lies with them- to show 
that no other course will satisfy the claims of justice and public policy. 
We have then to consider what punishment has already been 
inflicted upon the Manipur State, and what punishment, supposing us 
to stop short of annexation, can, or ought, yet to be inflicted upon 
it, and we have to decide whether, when all has been done that can 
be done without actually annexing, it will be possible for anyone to 
contend that the offence of the State has not bef"n sufficiently purged. 

As regards, then, the punishment which has been already 
inflicted, we have to remember-

(1) that the rebellion was promptly suppressed by the display 
of overwhelming force; that in the only engagements 
which took place, considerable loss of life was sustained 
by the Manipuris; and that their capital has been 
occ\lpied during the last few months by British troops; 

(2) In the next place, we have to consider thf" fact that, of the 
persons most conspicuously concerned in the rebellion, the 
Senapati and the Tongal General will be put to death, 
the Regent and one of his brothers transported and their 
possessions forfeited, and that suitable punishment has 
been inflicted upon the other offenders. Upon the 
assumption that the Senapati was the person most res~ 
ponsible for the rebellion, and for the murder of the 
prisoners, his execution, and that of the Tongal, must be 
regarded as of the first-rate importance in respect of the 
exemplary character of the punishment. 

As to the future, assuming that we are to stop short of annexa­
tion, I hold strongly that we should deal with the State in such a 
manner as to make it clear that, just as some of the persons tried before 
the Manipur Court were properly held to have forfeited their lives, 
although we did not exact the death penahy, so the State, as a 
whole, has forfeited its right to exist a~ a State, although, as a 
matter of clemency, we may determine not tei insist upon such 
forfeiture. I would, therefore, in the contingency which we are 
supposing, pC'ss sentence of extinction upon the Manipur State in the 
most solemn manner. I would revoke all existing Sanads, and I would 
re-grant to a new Ruler whom we shall select a. carefully limited 
amount of authority under conditions which would for all time 
render it impossible for any Manipuri to contend, as·Mr. Ghose has 
contended, that the. State is one enjoying sovereign rights, and 
therefore not owmg any allegiance to Her Majesty. The new Sanad 
should, on the contrary, place Manipur in a position of distinct 
subordination, and any privileges conceded should be made to conti­
nue only during the good behaviour of the Ruler, and the pleasure 
of the Government of India". 
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287. With regard to the selection of a Ruler, Lord Landsowne 
did not think it would be desirable to restore the deposed Maharaja; 
and eventually the choice fell upon a minor collateral relative of the 
Maharaja a boy aged five, named Chura Chand, the great grandson bf 
a former Manipur Chief. The Viceroy was of opinion that the new 
sanad should put an end to the successibn of brother by brother-a 
system w ich had been fraught with trouble to ~e State, and His 
Excellency was inclined to adopt a suggestion made by Sir Mortimer 
Durand that to the new Ruler shOUld be given the title of Raja instead 
of Maharaja. 

The views thus expressed by His Excellency were carried into 
effect by a Proclamation, dated August 21, 1891, and a notification 
dated Septeml>c-r 1891, both of which are here transcribed:-

Proclamatl'on.-u Whereas the State of Manipur has recently been 
in armed rebellion against the authority of Her Majesty the Queen, 
Empress of India; and whereas~ during such rebellion, Her 
Majesty's Representative and other officers were murdered at Imphal 
on the 24th of March last; and whereas, by a Proclamation bearing 
the date the 19th April 1891 the authority of the Regent, Kula 
Chandra Singh, was declared to be at an end, and the administra .. 
tion of the State was assumed by the General Officer Commanding 
Her Majesty's forces in Manipur territory; 

'It is hereby notifioo that the Manipur State has become liable 
to the penalty of annexation, and is now at the disposal of the Crown: 

It is further notified that Her Majesty the Queen, Empress of 
.India. has been pleased to forego Her right to annex to Her Indian 
Dominions the territories of tbe Manipur State; and has graciously 
assented to the re-establishment of Native rule under such conditions 
as the Governor-General in Council may considet desirable, and in 
the person of such ruler as the Governor-General in Council may 
select. 

Her Majesty has been moved to this act of clemency by the 
belief that the punishment inflicted upon the leaders of the revolt, 
together with the imposition upon the State of suitable conditions of 
re-grant, will afford an adequate vindication of Her authority. 

The Governor-General in Council will make known 'hereafter the 
name of the person selected to rule the State and the conditions under 
which he will be invested with power." 

Nolification (No.1862-E., dtllid the 18th September 'I891).-HWith 
reference to the notification in the Gazette of India, No.1700-E' t 

dated the 21st August 1891, regarding the re-grant of the Manipur 
State it is hereby notified that the Governor-General -in Council 
has selected Chura Chand, son of Chowbi Yaima, and great grandson 
of Raja Nar Singh of Manipur, to be the Raja of Manipur. 

The Sanad given to Chura Chand is published for general 
information. 
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SANAD 

The Governor-General in Council has been pleased to select 
YOU t Chura Chand, Son of Chowbi Yaima; to be Chief of the M;anipun 
State; and you are hereby granted the title of Raja· of Manipur, and 
a salute of eleven guns. 

The Chiefship of the Manipur State, and the ~itle and salute 
will be hereditary in your family, and will des-cend il'\ the direct line 
by primogeniture, pr~vided that i~ each case the succession is approved 
by thrl Government of India. 

An annual tribute, the amount of which will be determined 
hereafter, will be paid by you and your successors to the British· 
Government. 

Further you are informed that the permanence of the grant 
conveyed by this Sanad will depend upon the ready fulfilment bY, you 
and your successors of all orders given by the British Government with 
regard to the administration of your territories, the control of the hill 
tribes dependent upon Manipur, the compositio.n. of ~hcr arm~~ fOrces 
of the State, and any otber matters in.whicq. th~ British Gov~rnJIlent 
may be pleased to intervene. Be assured. ~hat $0 long.as yo",r House is 
luyal to the Crown and faithful to the con.ditions ~f this Sanpti you 
and your successors will enjoy favour and, protection of.' the British. 
Government" . 

288. The cases of Mysore. Baroda, Manipur and, we may add, 
Kalat are aU leading ca~es of great i,mportance and therefore the 
subject of frequenl reference and comment in these volumes in connec­
tion with the sever~l topics of political policy and law. The Baroda 
and Kalat cases are a like in this that in both the Chief was 
actually or virtually deposeq (foJ; tpe Kha,n. of Kalat merited 
deposition, and it seems certain t1;1at he must have been c;leposed if he 
had not abdicated), while in both ~he relations of thC? State with the 
British Governm~nt were aIlowe<J. to remain UI1changed. In both of 
these cases intervention was necessitated solely by the personal miscon­
duct of the Chief himself; the Sardars and other people of the S~ates 
were sinned against, not sinning against us ~ they .. had sl,lffered from 
the oppressidn or cruelty of the Chief; and the Sardars of Baluchistap 
were urgent in their appeals to the British Government to sef them 
free from the tyranny of their ruler. The case of ManipuF differed 
essentially in this, that, as'Lord Lansdowne said, we were justified in 
holding that the State as a whole had been gu~lty of rebellion and h~ 
forfeited its right to exist as a State. A.dvantage was then. very na­
turally'taken of the opportunity to get r'w of ~ bad. law of so.;cession 
which had led again and again to disorders in the past ;'aod, .in. re­
granting the State, to remove all ambiguity as to t4e natllrel .of its, 
dependence on the 1?aramount Power. If by force of arms we conqueI; 
a State in open rebellion, it is obvious that the conquest muSat, sweeR 
away the formel' system of relations existing between the; suzerain. 
and the feudatory ; and the facts in the Manipur case were clearly 
those of the conquest of a rebel State. The future system of relations 
must in such a case dept!od entirely on thq will fIond j pleasure or the 
conqueror. But if what we have to dQ is not to put down a"rebelUoQ 
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a~ainst our authority but to remove a tyrannical Chief or sanction 
bIS abdication, then, though his breach of engagement may set us free 
to make new conditions with his successor, it is probable enough that 
the expediency of making new conditions may, if any such are desi­
rable, be outweighed by the expediency of exhibiting political self­
control. 

* * * * * 
The Chief Commissioner received the final order of the Govern­

ment of India* in their letter NQ.1878~E., dated the 21st September 
1891, which ran as follows :-

uIn continuation of the correspondence ending with my telegram 
No. 48-N. E., dated the 12th S~ptember 1891, regarding the regrant of 
the Manipur State, I am directed to forward the enclosed copy of a 
notification by the Governor~General in Council, No.1862-E., published 
in the Gazette of India on the 18th instant. 

2. The sanad conferring the Chiefship on Chura Chand, son of 
Choubi Yaima, is herein enclosed, and should be made over to the 
new Juler on the occasion of his investiture. A copy of the sanad is 
enclosed for information and for record in your office. You will 
observe that it provides for the complete subordination of the Mani­
pur State. As the new Raja wilJ be a ruling Chief with a salute of 
11 guns he will be entitled to the style of Highness. 

3. The investiture of the new Raja should be carried out under 
your orders without delay. The ceremony should be as public as 
circumstances will allow. The sanad should be carefully translated 
into Manipuri and read aloud in Darbar at the investiture, and in 
the meantime all publicity may be given to the contents of the 
notification. On the occasion of the investiture you should if possible 
arrange that the chief persons in the State shall in some suitable 
manner publicly express their allegiance to the new Chief j and you 
should make it quite clear that his right depends solely upon his 
selection by the Government of India, and that the Government of 
) ndia will not allow that right to be called in question on ~ny ground 
whatever. 

4. Your proposals regarding the levy of tribute will be awaited. 
At present the information before the Govemor-Gen:!ral in Council 
regarding the resources of Manipur is not sufficiently definite to enable 
His Excellency to pass orders on this point. 

S. The Governor-General in Council has further determined that 
a fine of which the payment may be spr~ad over a term of years shall 
be exact~d from the Manipur State as a penalty for its misconduct. 
Your opinion is invited regarding the amount of such fine. I am to 
suggest that a sum of21 lakhs of rupees lBritish} may be tak~n as the 
aggregate contribution on this account. According to your note of 

• 1892. Assam Secretariat Proceedings, Confidential. A, lII'OII. 9-11, Re·grant 
of the Manipur State. 
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July 16th" 1891, this would represent the pecuniary loss to Govern­
ment caused by the outbreak. The contribution Dllght perhaps be 
taken in labour employed upon the construction of good military 
roads. 

6. With regard to the administration of the State during the 
minority, Major Maxwell is hereby appointed Political Agent in 
Manipur and Superintendent of the State, with full powers. He 
should exercise those powers with due regard for the customs and 
traditions of the Manipuris, and should endeavour to interfere as little 
as possible with existing institutions, in so far as they may be compa­
tible with peace and good order. 

7. The education of the newly selected Chief is one of the objects 
to which the attention of' the Political Agent should be directed. I 
am to say that he should remain as much as possible in Manipur, 
and that the aim should be to make him a practical ruler, contented 
with his position and surroundings, and willing to spend his life in 
the management of his State. A complete English eduction is a 
matter of secondary importance. 

8. I am to inform you in conclusion that, although the Govern­
ment of India have not thought it desirable to annex the Manipur 
State, they have given careful attention to the arguments advanced. in 
your note of the 16th July 1891." 

Thus was Chura Chand Singh, at that time aged 6 years, placed 
on the throne. This boy was the great grandson of Nar Sing, who 
was Regent during the infancy of Chandra Kirti Singh, then seized 
the throne for himself and reigned until 1850 when he died. Chura 
Chand was born, according to a statement made in Major Shakespear's 
annual report for 1904 .. 05 on the 14th April 1885. 

From 1891 Manipur entered on a new phase of its history 
characterised, as the terms of the sanad indicate, by close control by 
the British Government and, indeed, until power was made over to 
the young Raja and his Darbar in 1907" by direct administration by 
British Officers. The events of this period down to the present day 
may most conveniently perhaps be dealt with under different heads 
rather than in chronological order. 

IU.-Th RIJn and the System of Administration.-The investiture of 
the Minor Raja took place on 29th April 1892, the proceedings being 
conducted with due ceremony by Major H. St. P. Maxwe~ the Politi­
cal Agent and Superintendent o£the State. A guard of honour was 
supplied by the 43rd Gurkha Rifles. In the course of his speech, 
Major Maxwell announced· the abolition of the "Lalup" system of 
forced labour, for which was substituted a house-tax in the valley of 
Rs. 2 per annum, and of slavery ; and the imposition of a land revenue 
assessment at Rs. 5 a Pari or 21 acres, and of a house-tax of Rs. 3 per 
year in the hills • 

• Assam Secretariat-Foreign, A. February 1893, NOlI. 56-62. 
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As regards lalup, the Chief Commissioner in his letter No.4IS-M.,­
dated the 7th October I8'>l with which were forwarded the instructions 
of the Governmert of India contained in their letter No. 1878-E., 
dated the 21st September 1891 referred to at page 78 above. had 
intimated his wish to see the system abolished a3 soon as might be. 
The Political Agent was then (vide his reply dated the 31st October 
1891) not in favour of its abolition until roads had been further 
improved, but the Government of India in a letter No. S68-E., dated 
the 26th March 1892, expressed a debire "that lalup should be abolished 
as soon as circumstances permit of this reform", and it was in comp­
liance with these instructions that Major Maxwell made the announce­
ment of April 29th, 1892. In his report on the investiture, he stated 
as follows: . 

"4. As regards the lalup, it may be thought that the present is an 
inoppurtune time to abolish a system which so greatly assists in improv­
ing the backward communications in the State; but, in addition to 
the desire of the Government of India to abolish the lalup. I have been 
guided in my action by the numerous cases of distress caused by the 
system which have come to my knowledge. The late Durbar worked 
the la/up in the same slow and easy fashion of its other undertakings, 
the majority of the lalup coolies on duty idled away their time, and 
more often than not were fed by the State during the term of service. 
Under our Engineers a real hard day's work was exacted from each 
man, and he had to feed himself. When sickness entered a house, the 
lalup member had either to carry out his lalup or purchase a substitute; 
in former days the payment for a substitute was a few annas, but 
under the more businesslike way in which the lalup was worked by us 
it rose to 6 and 7 rupees. In Manipur the internal trade of the valley 
is carried on by the women, who are remarkably indu~trious, and the 
lalup fell heavily upon their earnings; when a husband was unable to 
perform his lalup through sickness, the substitute was purchased by the 
wife's industry, and again the idle husband was relieved, when prac­
ticable, by the same means. Over and over again have the groans of 
the lalup coolies reached my ears, and in consequence of the lalup much 
disappointment has been expressed by the subjects of the State at our 
rule. It further possessed the drawback of affecting only the poorer 
classes of the community ; all Brahmans and other well-to-do persons 
escaped the duty. Daily labourers on small wages are obtainable in 
the valley, and I do not anticipate any difficulty in obtaining labour 
for our public works in Manipur. 

5. In the place of lalup I assessed the valley with a house tax of 
Rs. 2 per annum. This tax, I estimate, will produce a sum as 
Rs. 50,000 yearly, which will enable me to carry out the public works 
of the district in an efficient manner. The poorer classes will be able 
to work out the tax, and the rich and others will have the opportunity 
to share the expenditure incurred on communications. The home­
steads of the people are not taxed, and in the majority of instances the 
compounds are large. Should afterwards it be found that the house 
tax is too small, it can be increased by bringing them under assess­
ment." 

• Assam Secretariat-Foreign, A, Feqruary 1893, Nos. 50-55. 
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He made the announcement of its abolition in the following 
words. 

cc ••• The first measure which is most open to abuse is the lalup 
system. ThlS is a system which calls upon a certain part of the popu­
lation to labour free for the State for ten days in every forty. The 
burden of this duty falls upon the poor, and the rich and well-to-do 
escape it altogether. When sickness enters a house, the lalup member 
has either to carry out his lalup or purchase a substitute, and very 
often the family is impoverished owing to his cause. It is, of course, 
necessary for the welfare of the State that its communications should 
be kept in good order, and that its public works should be progressive, 
but it also is the es'ience of just Government that these works should 
not be kept up at the expense of the poor only, or of only a small por­
tion of the community. It is fair that everyone should bear his quota 
of this expenditure, and, in consultation with the leading Manipuri 
gentlemen in Manipur, I have come to the conclusion that the system 
of lalup mmt be abolished, and it will cease from this date. To pro­
vide for the necessary expenditure on public works, as a !!ubstitute for 
lalup, a uniform tax of Rs. 2 an hour per annum throughout the valley 
will be levied. I hope this change will be willingly accepted by you 
all." 

As regards slavery he wrote as follows. 
cc ••• 6. The question of slavery has attracted my attention ever 

t Married couples 394 
Single men 434 
Male children 288 
Female children 128 
Widows 77 
Old and infirm per- 10 

sons. 

since the arrival of the British troops in Mani­
pur. Early in May 1891 I was given a listt 
showing the number of the Raja''i slaves, and 
ever since the birth increase to this number 
has been reported to me. My sanction to 
marriages of these slaves has always been soli­
cited, and the poor people seem to think they 

are as much my property as the fowls in my poultry yard. 
The chief duty of the Raja's slaves is to cultivate the royal lands, 

retaining for themselves just sufficient of the produce to sustain life, to 
work for the Raja at all times, and it has been the custom of de 
master, on marriage, to settle on his wife's family several of his slaves. 
Favourite Ministers and others are also on occasions rewarded by a 
gift of a certain number of slaves. Only under very special circum­
stances are the Raja's slaves released, and the great majority have been 
bom into slavery. 

Ordinary individuals possess slaves by purchase; when a person 
is fined in a court of justice, and is unable to pay, he is sold to any 
other person willing to pay the fine, and the slave is retained until he 
is able to refund the purchase money. Parent.'!, when pressed for 
funds, sell their children. and any children born of these slaves become 
the property of the master of the slave. A husband for the same rea­
son will often sell his wife and children, and marrying another woman 
will c'ommence life afresh. On repayment of the purchase money, 
this class of slaves can redeem their liberty, but, as a matter of fact, 
having to work for their master, no means are open, except a nugget 
fall from the skies, to accumulate money, and death only frees these 
poor people from serfdom. The Chief Commissioner will see I have 
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ordered that all persons at present in slavery to 'private individuals 
shall cease to be slaves in five years from the 29th ultimo or at any 
previous date on repayment of the purchase money, deducting one-fifth 
for each year's service commencing from that date. 

This in a measure may be considered to acquiesce in the system 
of slavery, but I did not see any other practicable way out of the 
difficulty. A leading Manipuri gentleman whose advice I sought ill 
the matter, gravely proposed that a forward service of 25 years should 
be fixed as the term when redemption from slavery might be claimed. 
I myself have no means of judging the number of people at present 
in bondage, nor the total sum invested in this kind of property, but I 
have great hopes. however, by offering advances for working on the 
roads, etc., of enabling maJ,y persons to repurchase their liberty!' 

At the canclusion of his address Major Maxwell made an allusion 
to the succession in the following terms,-

" ... the Government of India has decided that the succession to the 
Chiefship of Manipur will be hereditary in the family of Raja Chura 
Chand, and will descent in the direct line by primogeniture, and that 
each succession must be approved by the Governor Genetal in Coun-
cil. " 

The young Rajah was sent to the Mayo College, Ajmere, in 1895, 
with his half-brother Raj Kumar Digendra Singh, where he had the 
advantage of the _particular care and tutelage of Colonel Loch, the 
Principal of the College. Later on he spent a certain period with the 
Imperial Cadet Corps at Dehra Dun. 

In 1901 the Chief Commissioner (Mr. H. J. S., afterwards Sir 
Henry, Cotton) decided that the Raja, who had attained the age of 
16 in April 1901, should leave the Mayo College in order to obtain 
training in Manipur under the Political Agent. He returned accord­
ingly in September 1901 in time to receive the Viceroy, Lord Curzon, 
who paid a visit to Manipur in November and held a Durbar at which 
the young Rajah was present. A tutor, Captain J. R. Nuttall, 44th 
Gurkhas, was appointed in September 1902. 

A Maharaja of Manipur must have at least 5 wives. The first 
one is known as the Maharani, the rest being called Ranis. On the 
17th Marcb 1905 the Rajah celebrated his first wedding to Ngangbam 
Dhanamanjuri Ibemacha of Imphal. He married a second wife, 
Chingakham Syama Sakhi, in March 1908: and a third, Ngangbam 
Priya Sakhi, subsequently. The first Rani had a daughter Tampha 
Sana, in 1909 and 4 more later on: the second, 3 sons, the eldest 
being born on 24th July 1908; the third 1 son and 2 daughters. By 
1913-14 His Highness had acquired 2 more wives, vi~., Chongtham 
Chetanamanjuri and Haobom Lilabati, the second of whom bore him 
one son. In 1925 he married a sixth Rani, Maisnam Subadani, who 
gave birth to a daughter in 1929 and a son later on. In 1925 Her 
Highness the Maharani adopted as her own the son of the third Rani 
under the name of J ai Singh. 

On the 15th May 1907, the administration of the State was made 
over to His Highness, assisted by ~ Durbar consisting of one member 
of the Indian Civil Service lent from Eastern Bengal and Assam and 6 
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Manipuris. It then had a balance of Rs. 21 lakhs to its credit, while 
its normal revenue was about Rs. 4,20,000 with an expenditure of 
Rs. 4 lakhs. The young Raja was formally installed on the gadi by 
Sir Lancelot Hare, the Lieutenant-Governor of Eastern Bengal and 
Assam in Feb:uary 1908. (It is interesting to note that the Lieutenant­
Governor's party travelled from the railway at Dimapur to Imphal by 
motor car.) 

In 1908 the Raja's new palace. built at considerable cost, was 
completed and occupied. 

On the 4th December 1917 His Highness was made a C.B.E., in 
recognition of his services in connection with the war, and was pro­
moted to the hereditary tide of Maharaja. He was made a K.C.S.1. 
on January 1st, 1934. • 

On 12th September] 941, after a 50 years' reign he announced his 
desire to abdicate, but before the formalities towards this end had 
been completed, he died on 6th November 1941 at Navadwip in 
Bengal. 

He was succeeded by Maharajkumar Bridh Chandra Singh, born 
to the second Rani on July 24th, 1908. He was educated from the age 
of 12 to 20 at the Rajkumar College, Raipur, where he was joined 
later by his brother Pryabrata. 'I hey went to England for 6 months in 
1922 with Mr. V. A. S. Stow, the Principal of the College, and were 
there for 6 months under the guardianship of Colonel Sweet. The third 
son, Lokendra Singh, also went to Raipur in 1925-26 and then to the 
Mayo College, Ajwere, when he obtained the Chief's College Higher 
Diploma in 1"35-36. Pryabrata subsequently pursued his education at 
the Ewing Christian College, Allahabad, and Allahabad UnivenitY2 
where he took his B. A. degree in 1934 The third Rani's son, Jai 
Singh, adopted by the Maharani, also went to Ajmere in 1935-36. The 
Jubraj, as the eldest son and heir is entitled, was married in 1929 
to Rajkumari Tharendra Kishon or Ram Priya Devi, third daughter 
of the Raja of Bodo Khemidi, in Ganjam District, Mad!8s Presidency. 
This marriage was an unhappy one, and he divorced her in 19414 
He was married, secondly, on 18th June 1941 to Iswari Debi, eldest 
daughter of Prince Ramaraja of Ramnagar cousin of His Majesty the 
King of Nepal, and granddaughter of His Highness the .Maharaja of 
Nepal. 

"The system of administration in Manipur underwent changes from 
time to time, and the rules at present (1941) force were framed in 1919 
after the Kuki rebellion. They were approved by the GovE:mml"nt o( 
India, in their letrer No.4326-I. A., dated the 1st October 19l9, a 
letter in which they laid special stress on the need a of the Hill, portion 
of the State. 

The main features of the rules are as follows :-
(a) The Maharaja will be responsible for the ad~nistration of 

the State. "He is assisted by a Darbar, the President of 
.which is selected by the Governor of Assam and is usually 
a member of the Assam cadre of the Indian Civil Service. 
There are at least 3' Manipuri members of the Darbar. 
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His Highness can veto any resolution of the Darbar, but 
copies of his orders have to be submitted to the Political 
Agent. The latter can refer any matter to the Governor. 

(b) As regards justice, the Darbar is the highest Original and 
Appellate Court both Civil and Criminal, and may, in its 
latter capacity, pass sentences up to and including death, 
subject to confirmation by His Highness in the case of 
imprisonment of 5 years and upwards, and by the 
Governor in the case of death. 

The Ruler has powers of pardon in criminal cases and revisionary 
powers in both civil and criminal cases, subject to the approval of 
the Political Ag~nt. 

Cases where hillmen are concerned and cases arising in the British 
reserve are excluded from the Darbar's civil and criminal jurisdiction. 

Below the Darbar are a series of Courts going downwards thus:-
(i) Cherap Court.-This has criminal powers up to 2 years 

and Rs.l,OOO fine (like a 1st Class Magistrate in British 
India) and civil powers up to any amount. 

(ii) Sada, Panchayat sitting in Imphal.-Criminal powers to 
3 months and Rs.I00 fine. Civil powers to Rs.300. 

(iii) Rural Panchayats.-Criminal powers to Rs.50 fine and 
civil to Rs.50. Appeals lie in each case to the superior 
court. 

In 1940, the then Political Agent Mr. C. Gimson, I. c. s., said 
that the Rural Panchayats did their work reasonably well; that the 
Sadar Panchayat waa the subject of frequent complaint: that the 
Cherap Court had a very bad reputation: and that the Darbar as a 
Court was generally respected. References to His Highne!)S were often 
kept pending for yean. 

The Police consist of a small body of Civil Police, S6 in number, 
and a force of 233 State Military Police. The latter are an expensive 
force costing Rs.30,000 a year. Many of them were recruited from the 
Manipur Double Company which served in the Great War of 1914·18 
and were then smart and well-disciplined, but the force is of little or 
no value now. 

(c) Separate rules govern the administration of the Hills, and they 
are detailed in the chapter dealing with the subject. 

(d) As regards finance, the State Budget has to be passed annually 
by the Governor of Assam as Agent of the Crown Representative. 

IV. Relations with th8 Hill T,ib,s.-After the events of 1891, steps 
were at once taken to improve road communications with British India 
and by February 1896 the bridle path to Kohima had been opened as 
a cart road, though as yet unmetalled. 

In 1892 a band of Kukis It'd by one Toki raided Swemi, as the 
Angamis call it or, to give it its correct Manipuri name, Chingjaroi, 
a village in the north east corner of the State, and massacred some 
286 penons. This was duly punished by the Political Agent. 
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In February 1910 a punitive expedition was sent by the Govern­
ment of Eastern Bengal and Assam against two villages of Kukis lying 
in unadministered territory on the eastern boundary of the State, who 
had been guilty of raiding both in the Naga Hills District and in 
Manipur. 

In the following }'ear a similar expedition under the direction of 
Colonel J. Shakespear, the Political Agent, and commancJed by Major 
B. J. Fagan, was sent to deal with some of the more southern tribes in 
the unadministered Somra Tract. This also was successful. 

Kuki Punitive Measures.-The most serious incident in the history of 
Manipur and its relations with its Hill subjects was the Kuki rebellion 
Commencing in the closing days of 1917, it cost 28 lakhs of rupees. to 
quell, and in the course ,of it many lives were lost. 

In Assam letter No.6310-P., dated the 27th June 1919, which 
submitted for the orders of the Governor-General the cases of the 
principal rebel Chiefs arrested in connection with the Kuki punitive 
measures, is to be found a self-contaifled account of the origin and the 
circumstances of the re bellion. In this letter it is observed that one 
general defect in the administration of Manipur was that the rules did 
not make adequate provision for the administration of the hills. It was 
impossible for a single officer to tour satisfactorily in the huge area 
under his control. Secondly, between the hillmen and the British 
Officers there intervened a most unsatisfactory intermediary in the 
shape of the petty Manipur officers termed Lambus. These men 
were responsible in no small measure for the rebellion. Thirdly, 
changes in the rules made in 1916 resulted in the President of the 
Durbar being very much tied to Imphal and so prevented from making 
long tours in the hills. Lastly, the war and other local troubles made it 
more difficult than ever for the President to devote the proper 
amount of time to the hill tribes. 

There is no doubt that the administration had been seriously out 
of touch with their hill subjects, that the latter were not always well 
treated, and that there were genuine grivances and genuine abuses 
behind the immediate cause, i. e., the question of recruitment for the 
Labour Corps, which turned discontent into open rebellion. Such was 
the position in the beginning of 1917 when recruiting commenced for 
labourers for employment in France. Difficulties manifested them .. 
selves from the start. The Chiefs were against this recruitment, while 
the Lambus used it unscrupulously as an opportunity to make money 
for themselves. In spite of these difficulties, however, by May 1917 
the first Manipur Labour Corps (No.22) consisting of 2,000 Nagas and 
Kukis from the Hills was completed and went away, A 'second Corps 
was asked for in June 1917 but the idea was soon dropped and the War 
Office only asked for drafts for the existing Corps. The Chiefs continu­
ed to be as obstructive as before and when the Political Agent 
met them in September 1917 they flatly refused to have anything to do 
with i~.. In November 1917, recruiting was suspended owing to the 
OppOSitIon. In December 1917, the Thado Kukis who had responded 

rolitical. A., February, 1920 Nos. 1-57. 
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poorly to the calls for the Labour Corps sent to France early in the 
year, broke into open rebellion and raided into the Manipur Valley. 
The}- had been alarmed by rumours of further recruitment and coer· 
cion, and by pictures- painted by the Manipuris on the hill staff of the 
difficulties and dangers of the journey to Europe and of service in 
France, in the hope that, by prevetlting reCCl,litment, they would 
themselves avoid being compelled to accompany the Corps. The un­
rest was brought to a head by a low class Manipuri adventurer who 
toured the hills with stories of the wane of the power of the British 
and promises of immunity in battle and favours to come, if the royal 
house were overthrown and he himself installed as the ruler of the 
State. 

Columns of the 3rd Assam Rifles, stationed at Kohima in the Naga 
Hills, and of the 4th Assam Rifles, stationed at Imphal "Since 1915 
'Were immediately despatched against the rebels. The area affected was 
tht; greater part of the hills "outh of parallel 25° IS' in the west and 
parallel 25 0 0' in the east, the Kukis of the So mra Tract, which was 
still unad ministered, joining the rebels. b the south west, the 
villages south of parallel 24° 30', and west of paraH."1 93° 30', 
which had sent men to France, remained loyal. The villages, however, 
Jll()stly belonged to non-Thado tribes. 

Between December 1917 and May 1918. three columns, aided by 
ope arions directed from Burma, acted vigoromly and continuously 
against the rebels with varying measures of success. 

Towards the end of May, further operations.in the hills became 
impossible, owing to the climate and the state of the rivers, and the 
rebels were left in peace until the following cold weather. They were 
still far from being subdued. A large number of villages had been 
destroyed, but, owing to the nomadic habits of the tribe and the 
flimsy nature of their houses, the loss sustained was small. More seri­
ous was the destruction of considerable quantities of grain and live­
stock and the interference with cultivation. But owing to their 
methods of fighting, in ambushes and stockades, which they quickly 
abandoned, as soon as outflanked, the Kukis had sustained very few 
casualties, fewer, in fact, than they had inBicted. They were able to 
supplement their supplies from their Naga neighbours who, though 
friendly to the forces of taw and order, were afraid to refuse the 
demands of the more ruthless Kukis, better armed than themselves 
and living in their midst. The majority of the rebels, therefore, were 
not averse from continuing to fight, while those who were inclined to 
yield feared reprisals frottl the rebels, on the one hand and on the other 
punishment from the authorities for having taken up arms. 

The early part of the rains was marked by a succession of raids 
by the rebels. In the hIlls, especially, the Kukis seized the opportunity 
to pay otT old scores against Naga villages, the Kabuis and Tangkhuls 
being the chief sufferers. Upwards of 200 heads were taken ,by the 
raiders, and several vma~es destroyed. With the object of protecting 
the Tangkhuls and induang waverers among the rebel chiefs to Bur .. 
render, a column was sent out from Imphal in July, into the north­
eastern hills. One of the most prominent chiefs in these parts event­
ually made his surrender, and in 'September two leading Chiefs in the 
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riorth-western hills came in, but without their guns. Negotiations 
were opened with all the leading chiefs, promising them their lives and 
a fair trial, if they surrendered, with their gun";, and asswing them that 
no further recruitment of labourers for France would take place. 
But the greater number of the chiefs decided to continue in rebellion. 

Long before ~ however, the local officers had realised the seri­
ousness of the situation and by May 1918 they had begun to envisage 
military operations. In July a conference was held at Governmenf 
House, Shillong, at which Lieutenant.General Sir Henry Keary, 
Commanding in Burma, and Lieutenant-Colonel C. E. Macquoid, 
then A. A. and Q. M. G., Meerut Division: were present, and 
it was decided. that military operations would be necessary in 
the cold weather of 1918/19. The Government of India showed con­
siderable anxiety to avoid having to undertake operations, a natural 
attitude at this stage of the Great War and in view of the wide­
spread commitments of the Indian Army Accordingly, in Septem­
ber, 1918, at their instance, lenient terms were offered to the rebel 
chiefs, but the negotiations only resulted in the surrender of a few 
minor chiefs, who would probably have surrendered in any case.. The 
majority of the Somra chiefs surrendered before the r~umption of 
operations. In the western hills, all thought of surrender was 
rendered impossible by the outbreak of hostilities between the rebel 
Kulis and a friendly Kabui tribe. A Kabui village, to payoff an 
ancient grudge, raided a small Kuki hamlet and massacred the inhabi­
tants. The overlord of the hamlet, one of the rebel leaders, collected 
his forces and destroyed 20 Kabui villages, taking 76 heads. The 
Kukis now dared not surrender and give up their guns, for fear of 
the Kabuis taking advantage of their defenceless condition, and the 
Assam Government made it fully plain in a letter dated 8th November 
1918 that it was now impossible to avoid military operations. The 
Government of India agreed and the operations were entrusted to 
Brigadier-General Macquoid, in immediate command with head­
quarters at Imphal, under the direction of Lieutenant-General Sir 
Henry Keary. 

It had been intended that the period of grace fixed for the sur­
render of the rebel chiefs should expire at the end of October, and the 
operations should commence on the 1st November. But a serious out­
break of the post war influenza, in a very fatal form, Caused serious 
delay in the Naga Hills and Burma, and to a less extent in Manipur, 
\\ith the result that active operations were not under weigh 'until the 
middle of the month. The scheme of operations consisted in divid­
ing the hostile territory into areas, each With one or more well-equip­
ped bases and chains of outposts, from which small and mobile detach­
ments could operate against the rebels and keep them on the run. 
In the south-eastern hills, friendly Chins, and in the south-west Lushai 
and friendly Kukis, were armed and employed as.scouts and irregulars. 
The rebels, who hy this time were beginning to feel the pinch of hunger 
were impressed by the ubiquity of the forces opposed to them, and the 
first of the leading rebel chiefS surrendered in December. By the end 
of January, two more had surrendered, while another had been cap­
fUred, and yet another killed by the Chin irregulfl~. By the first 
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His Highness the Maharaja and of the aid furnished by 
the State in raising a double company of Manipuri soldieIS 
and a corps of labourers to take part in the war, and 

(6) That Government should undertake to pay the whole cost 
of the up-keep of the Mao-Imphal road. 

As regards (a), I am to say that it is inadvisable that war servi­
ces should be made a ground for the reduction of the tribute paid 
by a State. The Government of India desire to make it clear that 
the reduction of tribute is not sanctioned in recognition of the services 
rendered by the State during the war but because they wish to see 
the hill tribes properly ruled and are willing to help the State in this 
aim. Moreover it was expressly provided at the time that the 
Manipur tribute was fixed that the a mount would be liable to 
reconsideration later and the Government of India are of opinion that 
the administration of the hill tribes is an appropriate object to which 
the tribute payable by the Manipur State might be diverted. 1'h:e 
Government of India accordingly agree to the reduction of this 
tribute to Rs. 5,000 a year for a period of ten years, in the first 
instance, with effect from th~ lst April 1920, on condition that a sum 
of Rs. 45,000 is assigned annualJy from the general revenues of the 
Manipur State for expenditure on the Hill trbes. 

As regards (6), the Government of India accept your view that 
Government should in future pay the whole cost of the up-keep of 
the Mao-Imphal road on the condition that the Manipur State will 
devote the sum of Rs. 30,000 a year which it at present contributes 
towards the maintenance of this road to the improvement of commu­
nications in the hills. 

You re<l.uest that allowance may be made for this liability in the 
new provinCial settlement to be made under the Reforms Scheme. 
I am to say that due consideration will be given to this point when 
your proposals regarding the new settlement are received. 

6, You state that even with these concessions the Manipur State 
will fiI)d it very difficult to pay its way and repay the loans taken from 
Government by the sanctioned instalmf'nts of Rs. 60,000 a year. 
You accordingly propose to limit the annual payments on this account 
to Rs. 30,000 a year which will have the effect of deferring to the 
year 1937-38 the complete liquidation of the loan of Rs.2,75,OOO 
granted to the State in 1937 to remedy the results of the floods of 1916-
17, The Government of India are pleased to agree to the action 
you propose." 

The wording used in Rule I of the rules which were thus approv­
ed is important :-:-"The hill tribes are administered on His High­
ness' behalf .by tht" President of the parbar, assisted by one or 
more Subdlvlslonal Officers". It is laid down that the President 
or. t~e Su~divisiC?nal Officer shall try all cases (both civil and 
cnm1Oal) 10 which members of the hiIl tribes are concerned. 
Sentmces of dea!h or transportation or imprisonment exceeding 7 
yean h.ave to obtain the confirmation of the Governor. His Highnells 
has a nght to be consulted in all matters of importance concerning the 
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Hill Tribes (Rule 14 of the Rules for the General Administration of 
the State). The Durbar exercises no direct control; but from time to 
.time it has tried to claim some indirect control through its power 
over the Budget. 

This policy as regards the hill tribes was anticipated ten 
years before when Colonel J. Shakespear in sending up a revised 
set of rules for the administration of the State in his letter No. 1 
of the 4th April 1909, was emphatic about the dangers of letting the 
Ruler have control of the Hills (thereby differing from Mr. A. W. 
Davis, who had been acting for him). The outcome of the discus­
sions was that the Eastern Bengal and Assam Govern ment in their 
letter No. 4780, dated the 9th September 1909, proposed that the rule 
on this point (Rule 18) $hould run as follows:-

"The Hill Tribes are administered by the Vice-President in accor­
dance with rules approved by the Local Government. His Highness 
shall be consulted in all matters of imponance and the Political Agent, 
in consultation with the Vice-President, shall try to give effect to His 
Highness' wishes, so far as may be. If the Political Agent is unable to 
agree to His Highness' proposals, the matter shall, if His Highness so 
wishes, be referred to the Local Government." This in fact differs 
little from the rule accepted in 1919. At an open Durbar held at 
the Palace on 16th October, 1919, by the Chief Commissioner, Sir 
Nicholas Beatson-Bell, the new proposals were proclaimed. For the 
better administration of the Hills the area was divided into 4 Sub­
divisions, one with headquartel'S at Imphal and three outside, viz., 
for the south west area, inhabited by Kukis, with headquarters at 
Churachandpur ; for the north-west area, inhabited by Kukis, Kabui 
Nagas and Kachha Nagas with headquarters at Tamenglong; and for 
the north-east area inl:.abited by Tangkhul Nagas and Kukis, with 
headquarters at Ukhrul. To assist the State to meet the expenses of 
the new arrangements, the Government of India remitted for a period 
of 10 years, later extended to 15, Rs.45,000 out of the annual tribute 
of Rs.SO,OOO on condition that the amount was spent on the Hills, 
while the Assam Government excused the State permanently from the 
annual contribution of Rs.30,000 towards the upkeep of the Manipur­
Mao road on condition that the amount was spent on improving 
communications in the Hills. 

In a resolution dated the 16th September 1920, Sir Nicholas 
Beatson-Bell reviewed the history of events from the outbreak of the 
rebellion, which he d-:-scribed al "the most formidable with which 
Assam has been faced for at least a generation" down to his own tour 
throughout areas which has been in rebeII~on, which he accomplished 
unaccompanied by any escort in May 1920. In it he expressed in 
cordial terms his appreciation of the attitude of His Highness through­
out the rebellion and of the statesmanlike view which he took of the 
problems that had arisen. 

BasteI'D Bengal and &sam, Political, A, December 1909, Nos. 1-3. 
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He could however be made a source of profit, and till 1891 as much 
tribute as possible was extracted from the hiUs while not a rupee was 
spent for their benefit. The method of dealing with recalcitrant 
subjects in the hills was a simple, if barbarous, one based on the fact 
that all hill tribes were head hunters. If any village failed to pay the 
taxes demanded, other villages were armed with guns by the State and 
allowed to go in and decapitate as many of the inhabitants as they 
could. 

3. Even after 1891 there was no proper administration of the hill 
tribes and no proper provision for them in the budget. The expendi­
ture on them was only one quarter of the amount they paid in taxfOS. 
Neglect of their interests and lack of touch between them and the 
administration came to a head in the Kuki Rebellion of 1918, which 
cost the Govenlment of India nearly twenty lakhs of rupees, and the 
hill tribes and the forces engaged a large number of lives. After the 
rebellion had been quelled proposals for the future administration of 
the Manipur State, including the dependent hill tribes, Were submitted 
to the Government of India with Mr. Webster's letter referred to 
above. Under the Rules approved in the Government of India's 
letter No.4326-I.A., dated the 1st October 1919, the Political Agent 
and the President of the Manipur State Darbar were given the control 
over the hill tribes which they now exercise. The President adminis­
ters the hill tribes on behalf of His Highness, who is consulted in all 
matters of importance. The Political Agent, in consultation with the 
President, gives effect to His Highness wishes so far as is consistent 
with the orders of the Governor. The duties of the Political Agent are 
not clearly defined. but in practice his powers are wide. 

4. His Excellency, after careful consideration, has reached the 
conclusion that the pre ... ent control should in no way be lessened. It is 
a fact, if a regrettable one, that neither His Highness nor his Darbar is 
interested in the good government of the hill tribes. while tht'y grudge 
the expenditure of money on them. Nor would the hill tribes, all 
warlike peoples, tolerate a reimposition of the old Manipuri method of 
control by periodical massacre. There is little doubt that any consi­
derable relaxation of our control would inevitably lead to head-hunting 
and tribal warfare. Thus when one of the hill subdivisions in the 
State was abolished in 1930, war between Kukis and Nagas was 
preached within a few months and the hills were soon in a turmoil. 
Murders were committed both in the State and in the adjoining 
British Distric..t of the Naga Hills) and even now some of the murderers 
are still at large and in fact it is oply on the surface that there is peace. 
In this connection a reference is invited to the correspondence resting 
with Jetter No.D.-3754-Pf32 of the 8th December 1932 from the 
Deputv Secretary to the Government of India on the subject of unrest 
among the Kabui Nagas and the case of the woman Gaidiliut as 
illustrative of the ease with which unrest can arise and the difficulty 
with which it can be allayed among these primitive peoples. His 
Excellency feels that only by maintaining a decent standard of adminis­
tration can peace be preserved. Nor would a rising in the hills of 
Manipur be confined to that locality. It would undoubtedly have 
Jll9St seriou, reperc\l$Sions in th~ State, in Assam, and probably, iq 
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Burma. History shows that the Manipuri cannot and win not' give the 
bills an administration of the standard to which they are bOth entitled 
and now accuStomed'and that'it can only be maintained by the conttol 
now exercised. 'We are under an 'obligchion to the hill tribes to 
maintain t<ithw1 a dttent 'administra'tion. The comequenMlofuiittst 
and rebellion among them might be disastrous '-for Manipur ahd 'Would 
be most dangerous for those portions of. British India and Burma '"Which 
lie along Manipur's boundaries." 

V. Internal Affair.r:-In May-July 1898 the Manipu.. Valley was 
visited by a terrible epidemic of cholera which caused some 1i,053 
deaths, including that of the wife of the Political Agent~ Captain Cole. 

Ten years later an eVen worse epidemic carried off 12,491 persOns 
in the 'valley or 6·5 per cent. of the population and double the number 
that died at the last visitation. In a similar epidemic in May-Aug'ust 
1924, 7,327 persons perished An outbreak in 1935 promised to 'be as 
bad as that of 1908, but the efforts of the medical staff." and the lmore 
enlightened attitude bfthe people enabled effective p'revehtive -thea. 
sur~ to be taken, and'the number of deaths was only 1,162. 

In 1904· there were disturbances in Imphal known as "nupi..Jall" 
or the women's war, arising out of an order issued by the -then Poli­
tical Agent, Lieutenant-Colonel H. St. P. Maxwell, temporarily resus­
citating cClalup" or forced 'labour for' the pul'pOse' of , making the 
Maoipuri inhabitants of Imphal rebuild as a punishment the Assistaht 
Political Agent's bungaloW, which had been burnt down. Colonel 
Maxwell attributed the bUrning of this bungalow, which was o'rily one 
of several such incidents, to incendiarism on the' part of the Manipur 
inhabitants of the town, instigated by the "Rajkumars" or descendants 
of the late niling house, as a means 'of showing their dil.like for the 
Ruler who had been imposed upon them in 1891. There Was violent 
agitation, and demonstrations by the hlarket women had to be' 018-
persed by force, but the whole thing was' over within a week. "In 
making his recommendations on the matter to the Government· of 
India in his letter No.2-C.; dated the '19th October 1904, the Chief 
Commissioner, Mr. J. B: 'Fuller, expressed a doubt as to. Whether it 
had been wise to allow the families of the former Regent and Senapati 
(Tikendrajit) to return; as they did with the sanction of the Govern­
ment of India in 1900, to Manipur after the incidents of 1891. Be 
that as it might. the Chief Commissioner now advised the banishment 
of such of the six' Rajkumars who had been arrested as ringleaders of 
the disturbances and who coul~ not show goOd cause against banish­
ment The Government of India agreed to this measure, and all ,six 
were banished, together with Arsem Gulab Singh, President or the 
TC)wn panchayat Collrt• who had been found guilty'l()f serious iutrigue 
entaiIipg a false charge against the Raja himsel£ . 

! e 

Statcs~ A.June 19'0, Nos.'S~07, Pages 60.62. 

• Assam Secretariat, Foreign, A, March 1905,-Nos.l:93. 
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In the letter referred to, Mr. Fuller had something to say on the 
subject of "Ialup" which Colonel Maxwell said he had resuscitated for 
the purpose of punishing the disaffected element in Manipur. The 
Chief Commissioner explained that though, as reported to the Govern­
ment of India in telegram No.23-S., dated the lst May 1892, "The 
system of forced services known in Manipur as Lalup" had been 
abolished on the occasion of the investiture of the minor Raja, this 
abolition did not extend to labour for annual repair of roads and 
embankments. He was not satisfied that it was desirable to continue 
the system and proposed to make further inquiries. 

On the 22nd November 1904, Lord Kitchener, the Commander­
in-Chief, visited Manipur on his way to Burma. Unlike Lord Curzon, 
who travelled "ia Cachar, he chose the Kohima-Mao route, and is said 
to have had the satisfaction of completing the further journey froIll 
Manipur to Burma in one day leas than the great Viceroy took in 
1901. 

1911 saw one of those periodical visitations of scarcity consequent 
on the .eeding of the wild bamboo which attracted hordes of rat. which 
then turned their attention to the rice crop and destroyed it in the 
villages of the South Western tract of the hills. Elsewhere, though 
there was scarcity it was by no means serious and relief measures were 
not necessary. 

In 1912 there was worse scarcity as the rats destroyed the millet 
on which the hillmen-were relying to replace their lost rice crop. 

Early in 1913 the public peace was seriously disturbed by a wide­
spread agitation against the system of "pothang" or compulsory labour 
provided by villagers for the repairs of roads and schools and the 
transport of officials' baggage, every village in the valley combining in 
passive resistance. The administration almost came to a stand­
still, attempts at conciliation were in vain, and finally a detailed 
scheme for the abolition of pothang and the substitution of grants for 
road and school repairs and for officials' travC"lling allowance were 
drawn up and sanctioned by the Chief Commissioner. The abolition 
of pothang was proclaimed on June 9th, 1913 together with orders 
regarding the imposition of new taxes to defray the extra cost conse­
quent on the abolition of pothang. These new taxes gave rise to fresh 
agitation which it took some time to allay. The Darbar then went 
into the various other ancient obligations and services of the people to 
the ruler and the State and put them on a regular, in many cases a 
cash, footing. The Vice-President's annual report for the year 1913-
l4. describes it as rca memorable one in that ..... .it saw the last of all 
the old systems binding the people to personal service to the State." 

In October 1916 occurred disastrous floods. Practical1y the whole 
of Imphal was submerged and great damage and distress Was caused 
both in the Manipur Valley and in the settlements in the valleys of 
the Barak and Jiri rivers on the Cachar border. Some 35,000 acres of 
rice was severely damaged. The cost of repairing public works was 
C!!timated at i'Jr lakh of rupees and Rs,ll,OOO w~s spent in the relief of 
distress, 
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In May 1921 and February 1922 detachments of the Manipuri 
Military Police were sent to assist the Assam Uovernment in maintain­
ing order on the Assam-Bengal Railway and in Sylhet and Silchar 
during the troubles consequent on the Civil Disobedience movement 
a tribute to the efficiency and discIpline which they then possessed. ' 

In 1921 there was great distress owing to the high price of rice 
resulting.Qn the poor harvest of the previous winter. Relief works 
were opened and gratuitous relief distributed and the State had to 
spend Rs.20: 000 on famine relief. 

In November 1926 the Commander-in-Chief, Sir William Birdwood., 
passed through the State on his way to Burma. 

InJune 1929 the Valley was visited by severe floods similar to 
those of 1916, and great damage was done to the State works, includ­
ing the new Hydro-Electric plant, necessitating the taking of a loan of 
Rs.99,OOO from Government for repairl. Owing, however .. to' the­
time of year at which they occurred, the damage to crops waS' not so 
serious. 

The Viceroy, Lord Irwin, visited the State in January 1931, the 
first visit made by a Viceroy since that of Lord Curzon, 30 years 
before. 

In 1939 and 1940 there was a substantial amount of agitation 
arising partly out of economic conditions, partly out of grievances of 
other sorts. There was an unfortunate incident on December 12th, 
1939, when the President, Manipur State Darbar, and other British 
officers were besieged in the Telegraph Office in the British Reserve 
by hundreds ofbazar women who had in the end to be forcibly moved 
aside by men of the Assam Rifles. The occasion for this was the eco­
nomic grievanc;e arising out of a rise in the price of rice due to exces­
sive exports coupled with a genuine fear of a shortage of rice in 
Manipur, where a shortage means starvation, because it is impossible 
to import rice at a price which Manipuris can pay. :The heavy exports 
in turn. were the result of the numerous rice mills which have sprung 
up in Manipur. Though the export of rice was stopped and the mills 
ceased working, the agitation, which was fomented by Congress ele .. 
ments in Assam, persisted for many months in 1940 and gave rise to 
some anxiety. 

VI. External relations.-Boundaries, to which Mackenzie's book 
devotes considerable space, were the subject of discussion many times 
after 1883. 

Controversy centred chiefly round the Kabaw Valley in its bear­
ing on the Burma-Manipur frontier, the dispute regarding which was 
kept up till modern .limes, though it may now be regarded as 
closed. 

Mackenzie deals with this matter at pages 175 and following of 
his book. The important dates are as follows. In 1834 an agreement 
was reached with the then Government of Burma by which 'the boun­
dary between Burma and Manipur was placed at the' eastern fqot. of tlae 
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IIlQuntFliQs on the west of the plain of the Kabaw Valley, in ,other 
wQrds the valley was ceded to Burma. Manipur was granted com­
pe~tion at the rate of Rs.SOO a month on accoun,t of the loss of terri­
tory. Thi~ agreement received the sanctiQn of the Government of 
India. 

In 1882 a Boundary Commission was appointed to examine the 
boundary or rather only a part of it, i.e., that part north of Kongal 
thana. Colonel Johnstone who incidentally was a staunch supporter 
of Manipur's claims to the Kubo Valley was appointed on the Manipur 
side, but Burma did not co-operate in the matter and the Commission 
did its work without their assistance. The Government of India accept­
ed the findings of the Commission and the Secretary of State approved 
of them in his Despatch No.8 of 3lstJanuary 1883. 

In 1896 a Joint Boundary Commission on which Colonel Maxwell 
represented Manipur and Captain MacNabb represented Burma explo­
re~l, th~ bouudary between the two countries south of Kongol thana up 
tp.the Tinzin river. They defined as far as, possible the boundaries 
laid Gown by the agreement of 1834, their conclusions were accepted 
by the Government of India in their letter No. 1262-E.B., dated the 
J6thJuly 1896, and the Chief Commissioner of Assam accepted the 
boundary in his letter No. 478-For.-3299-P. of the 5th August 
1896. 

In 1924 the Maharaja raised the question again regardless of the 
long period which had elapsed,since the boundary was last defined. 
His main point was that the existing boundary did not follow tbat 
which had been agreed on in 1834. There followed a long correspon­
dence between Manipur, Assam and Burma. In a letter dated the 5th 
June 1928 the Governor in Council expressed the opinion that the 
matter ought to be dropped. The Maharaja, however, persisted and, 
on its being again represented to them, the Government pf India in a 
letter dated the 3rd October 1929 said they would be prepared to 
reconsider the matter. They referred it to Burma and said they would 
be prepared to appoint a Board. of Arbitration. Burma expressed the 
strongest opposition to the l'e-opening of the case and incidentally 
pointed out that if it was rc>opened then they could not avoid in 
fairness to refuse to re-open also the claims of the Thaupgdat Sawbwa 
in the territory lying to. the north of Kangal thana,.. Assam agreed 
entirely with the view taken by Burma and informed India accor .. 
dingJy. His Highness, however, expressed a wish to visit the area in 
po ron and there the matter rested. The Maharaja never in fact found 
It convenient to make the proposed visit. 

In M~ch,1932 this question, ampng othe~ forIPed, the subject of 
a ntem~and"Jn ligtU!d by His HigluleM for submission to the States 
Enquiry.Comm~ttee which was set up in connectiol). with Federation. 
The Committee, however. held that the matter was outside their ~erms 
of reference. 

1. Political, A. December 1931, Nos. 80.116. 
2. Political, At June 1932, Nos. 75-118. 
3. PoliUcal. At September 1935, Noe. 1.18, 
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The last time on which it was raised was in August 1932 when the 
Maharaja again addressed the Local Government. In forwarding the 
representation 10 the Gvvernment of India in a letter dated the 6th 
April 1934 the Government of Assam strongly advised against action 
to fe-open the matter being taken or even contemplated and His 
Excellen~y in Council expres'!Ic:d his hope that the Government of India 
would decline to consider the proposed retrocession of the Kabaw 
Valley. The matter was finally disposed of in the Government" of 
India's letter No. F.453-P /34, dated the 11th April 1935, in which they 
said _that "The agreement of 1834 could not be revised at this late 
stage 'and the Government of India are unable to agree to an enhance­
men~ pi thf! rate of compensation which had been fixed and enjoyed for 
a period of 100 years". 

The question of the Somra Tract was of interest to Manipur. 
The Tract lay on her North-East frontiet in the direction of Burma, 
in the hi11s north of the Kabaw Valley, between the Tizu and the 
Nampanga rivers, and covered some 800 square miles inhabited by 
Thado Kukis and Tangkhul Nagas. The latter were concentrated in 
the north west corner of the Tract. The Kukis, who were immi­
grants 01 the Manipur State lived in the eastern and southern part of 
the Tract. 

Both the Tangkhuls and the Kukis were in the habit of making 
occasional raid!! into the Naga Hills, the Manipur State, and Burma 
and from time to time expeditions were sent to exact reparation: 
In 189.7, a force of 150 of the 44th Gurkha Rifles, with 50 Manipur 
State Military Police, destroyed Somra Khulen, the principal Tang­
khul village arresting some raiders and recovering two heads taken 

-from a Manipuf hill village. In 1910, a joint force of the 17th 
Infantry. the Naga Hills Military Police anc~ the Manipur State 
Military Police visited the Kuki villages in the north of the tract 
imposing fines for raids and arresting the Chiefs of the villages con~ 
cemed. In 1911, a force of the 17th Infantry and the Manip~r 
State Military Police vhited and destroyed the Tangkhul village of 
Somra Phuntret, and fined and disarmed a Kuki village in the south of 
the Tract. 

In a letter.dated the Ilth,September 1915, Burma made the pro­
posa.). that the ~omra Tract should be brought under administration 
and included in BUJ"Il}a. In 1908 and.again in ,1911 and 1912 they 
had. considered the matter but decided against such action, as the 
Tract wa. giving 1:0 trouble and the Chief Komyang kept a good 
control over his Kukis. Komyang, however, was now dead and there 
watl1lO Jlope of peflce. This proposal seems to .have ,had ~omc rela­
tion tp ,a letter from .(\ssam., No. 1544-P. dated the 3rd April 1914 
wh;cb .made certain proposals resarding this Tract. ' ' 

There were two- 'Partie~ of Kukis, one urtder the son of Komyang 
which numbered 22 villages and 496 houses and the other under Pase' 
or Pachei which numbered 6 villages and 107 houses. The latter por= 
tion were Chassads. The Nagas were in 11 villages and numbered 
1,002 houses. There was agreement between Assam and Burma that 
the Somra Tract naturally belonged to, Burma and not to Manipur. 
The only doubtful point was a small area, hatched on the map, and in 
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subsequent proceedings known as the "cross hatched area", as regards 
which there was doubt ali to whether it should properly go to Assam 
or to Manipur State. Be that as it may, the Tangkhul Nagas in the 
Somra Tract were anxious to be administered and to be saved from 
what was described as "wholesale slaughter" by the Kukis. In letter 
No. 3270-P., dated the 27th May 1916, the Assam Government recom· 
mended to the Govern ment of India that the Somra Tract should be 
placed under Burma leaving the fate of the cross-hatched area {or later 
consideration. More than a year later, the Government of India 
agreed to the proposal regarding the Somra Tract in their letter 
No. 359-E.B., dated the 23rd November 1917. 

3. The Cross-hatched Area.-As indicated above there was difference 
of opinion as to the correct affinitietl of this area. On the one side 
Mr. Higgins, th.e Political Agent in Manipur, expressed the view that 
the villages in the cross-hatched area had paid taxes to Manipur State 
for many years and considered themselves subjects of that State, whi.le 
on the other side the view was equally firmly held, though they were 
unable to adduce any very strong reasons for it, by the Commissioner, 
Surma Valley Division, Mr. W. J. Reid, and the Deputy Commis­
sioner, Mr. H. C. Barnes, that the cross-hatched area ought to go to the 
Naga Hills. 

In December 1917, the then Commissioner, Mr. W. J. Reid, rather 
modified his views and suggested that the Tungkhul villages in the 
cross-hatched area might be given to Manipur in exchange for Jessemi, 
a Naga village, in Manipur territory. In the meanwhile Government 
were preoccupied with the widespread Kuki Rebellion of 1917-1919 
and when the matter was raised in 1919 and again in 1920 the Chief 
Commissioner, Mr. Beatson-Bell, declined to take it up. Finally how­
ever in April 1922 the then Chief Secretary, Mr. A. W. Botham, 
suggested that the cross-hatched area should be recognised as belong­
ing to Manipur. Sir William Marris agreed and Mr. Reid gave way. 
A request was made to the (,ovemment of India accordingly in our 
letter of the 26th April 1922 and they agreed. The northern boun­
dary of the area was finally defined in 1923. So ended a trifling 
matter, affecting three small villages, which was noted on and re-noted 
on for a matter of seven years. 

VIJ. The Great War of 1914-18.-The first 2 years of the Great 
War, vk., 1914-15, )915-16 made little 'difference to the life of the 
State, except at the beginning of the War when the wildest rumours 
were current, soon however to be satisfactorily alJayed. In 1916 His 
Hignness offered to raise a Double Company of lIlen for service. This 
was accepted and they were sent under the command of Mr. F. B. 
Blackie, the Raja's Private Secretary.- to .bc:, trained with the 3/39th 
Garhwalis at Lansdowne. Some US men of the Manipur Contingent 
were ordered to go on active service in Mesopotamia during 1917-18. 
This led to considerable uneasiness and opposition which was however 
overcome by the Raja's personal exertions. He visited the unit at 
Lansdowne in February 1917. 

Political, A, May 1916, Nos. 15-3'7. 
Political, B. June 1919, Nos.S62.S78. 
Pohtical. A,June 1922, Nos. 3-6. 
Political, A, Decr-mber 1923. Nos. I-H. which includes a useful map. 
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His Highness presented an aeroplane and two motor ambulances 
to the Imperial Government at a cost of Rs.22,500. 

One unfortunate outcome of the War, so far as Manipur was con­
cerned, was the Kuki Rebellion of 1917-19. This is dealt with above 
under the heading "Relations with Hill Tribes". 

VIII. TM Constitution Act of 1935.-The Government of India Act, 
1935, brought fresh problemo; with it. The Central Government were 
anxious to bring all States still in relations with Local Governments 
into direct relation with the Government of India. But in the case of 
Manipur 10 many difJiculties were found to stand in the way that it 
was decided that when the new Act came into force relations with the 
State should be conducted by the Governor of Assam in his personal 
capacity as Agent of the Crown Representative, and by letter No.F.544-
P/36, dated the lst April 1937, he Wa!! authorised under section 287 of 
the Act "to discharge such functions of the Crown in its relations with 
Manipur State as had hitherto been performed by the Governor in 
Council of Assam". This in fact has led to no practical change in 
procedure. 

Federation ia terms of Part II of the Government of India Act, 
1935 and all the complicated questions connected with it, was the sub­
ject of prolonged correspondence and discussions between 1936 and 
1939, and one of the principal subjects of controversy was, of course, 
the administration of the Hills. Though they cover some 7,000 square 
miles out of the State's total area of 8,000 square miles and contain a 
population of about 150,000 persons, it has never, and with reason, 
been adjudged safe to leave their administration in the hands of the 
Ruler. To quote the words of Mr. A. C. Lothian of the Political 
Department who in 1936-37, was on special duty in connection with 
Federation "the Ruler's sole concern with Federation would appear to 
be whether by so doing he would lighten the political control exercised 
over him by the Assam Government and regain direct administrative 
control over the Hill Tribes". The Assam Governor's Secretary's 
letter No 93-G.S., dated the 22nd April 1937 gives an appreciation of 
the then position and an outline of what was considered necessary for 
the future. The views of the Governor as regards the administration 
of the Hills were that they could not possibly be handed over to the 
Ruler, and he cited a number of cogent reasons to that effect. This view 
was accepted by the Government oflndia in their letter No.F.359-Fed./ 
36. dated the 30th July 1937. Two years later the Ruler again raised 
the question of the Hills during the course of discussion on the details 
of Federation (Enclosure to D. O. No.F.69-Fed./36. dated the 13th 
July 1939, from Political Department), but he agreed in a letter dated 
July 21st. 1939, to federate on terms which covered the exclusion of the 
Hills from his direct control. 

But the hopes that Federation would be established by 1938, i. ,., 
a year after the inauguration of Provincial Autonomy Were never ful­
filled. Further discussion were brought to an abrupt end by the out­
break of the Second World War in September 1939, during which, as a 
letter from the Government of India expressed it, "it Was not expected 
that in view of War pre-occupation, His Majesty's Government will be 
abJe to give artive ~ttention to Federal problems", 
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The new status assumed by Burma under the Act of 1935 raised 
the question of the relations of Manipur with that country, no longer 
part of India but a separate Dominion. 

In November 1936 orders were issued by the Government of India 
as to the channel of communication on matters affecting Indian StateS 
and Burma and it was laid down that all correspondence on matters 
affecting Indian States and Burma should be conducted through the 
headquarters of the Crown Representative, except that as long as the 
Governor acted as Agent of the Crown Representative, correspondence 
which was not of importance and did not affect policy should be con· 
ducted direct between him and Burma regardin~ Manipur, the Khasi 
Hills and Tribal Areas. 

IX. The Tribule.-The circumstances under which the Tribute of 
Rs.SO,OOO per annum was imposed and was later, with effect from lst 
April 1920, reduced to Rs.5,OOO, at first for 10 years, a period later 
extended to 15, have been req:>unted above. The condition of the con­
cession was that the difference between Rs.50,000, and Rs.5,OOO i.e., 
Rs.45,OOO should be spent on improving conditions in the Hills. To this 
concession was added at the timt" a further concession' of Rs.30,OOO on 
account of contribution for the upkeep of the Manipur-Mao road. This 
concession was an absolute one and not for a term of years but the same 
condition that the money thus made available should be expended on 
the Hills was attached to it. The period of the Concession expired on 
the 21st March 1935 and the Government of India put forward the 
proposal that the concession should, be withdrawn. Though the Political 
Agent protested vigorously against the withdrawal of the concession, 
the Assam Government agreed that the payment might be gradually 
restored, the instalments being increased until they reached the full 
amount of Rs.50,000 in 1939·40. There was some discussion as to the 
distribution of the instalments but the matter was finally adjusted and 
the full amount is being paid since 1939·40. Arrangements have been 
made to ensure the expenditure of a reasonable amount on the Hills. 

States A, JWle 1940 Nos.I-41 
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I. 1881-1890.-The history of the Naga Hills since 1882, where 
Mackenzie leaves off, is the same in kind as that of the' years preced .. 
ing. The process of penetrating into the HilIs, the early 
stages of which are described in Mackenzie's book, has been 
a gradual one, dictated originally, and mainly, by the necessity of 
protecting our settled districts, Nowgong and Sibsagar, from raiding 
Nagas, and generally agreed to at each step with great reluctance 
by the Supreme Government. Visits to troublesome villages led 
inevitably to the establishment of posts to control their doings. For 
our fi~st permanent footing, Samoogudting *[Chimakudi] was chosen in 
1866-67. This viIIage commands the Diphu gorge, the natural path 
to the plains from the Angami country, and was a more suitable place 
from which Nowgong ~puld be protected against Western Angami 
raids especially from the'-powerful villages of Mpzema, Khonoma and 
Jotsoma, than the old outpost of Asalu to the south-west. Thence 
we proceeded in 1878 to move to Kohima in the centre of the Western 
Angami country in order to command both the Eastern Angami 
country and the Manipur frontier, and simultaneously to Wokha in 
order to dominate the Lhota country to the t"ast of the Dikhu and 
to protect it from raids from the north and east. The final decision 
to make the Naga Hills a British district was taken in 1881. The 
steps thus taken had permitted the hope that, as Mackenzie(page 143) 
puts it, "on the whole the Angami Naga problem was at 
last in a fair way to final solution." The Angami in fact have not 
since given any serious trouble, but besides them and the other tribes 
enumerated in Chapters XII and XIII of Mackenzie's work there 
were numerous others who were to offer problems to be solved. 

*Nomenclature in the Naga Hills history presents great difficulties just as it does 
in that of the Lushai Hills. Both place-names and names of tribes are exceedingly 
confusing throughout the older writings. To start with, of course, the general name 
of "Naga" is merely an Assamese appellation, meaning "naked", and, like the 
sterrotyped tribal names now in common use, is not what the people call themselves. 
This was fully recognised by the early British administrators. Thus Lieutenant 
G. F. F. Vi!lcent, "Acting Junior Assistant Commissioner on Special Duty, Angamee 
Naga Hills", writing to his Principal Assistant Commis.ioner at Nowgong, Captailil 
John Butler, on the lOth September 1850, describes how he was surprised to find "the 
people called by us 'Angamee Nagas' were totally ignorant of the signification of 
the tc-rm and how he learnt that this was a term given by the Cacharees to all 
independent Nagas signifying in their language, • 'unconquered". This is repeated in 
1873 by that great authority Captam Butler, in the long extract regarding the Naga 
tribes quoted at page 84 of Mackenzie. Similarly the phrase "Hatiguria" was for 
long used as a synonym for "Ao" though it was certainly known as early as 1886 
that the latter was more correct. Very frequently a tribe apphes to itself merely the 
word meaning "man" in its own language-with the implication that members of 
that tribe are the only real men in the world. Thus the Lhotas call themselves 
"Kyou", the name "Lhota" being apparently that applied to them by the Assamese. 

By the exertions, however, of such ethnologists as Hutton and Mills who have 
been Deputy Commissionen of the district, the whole nomenclature has been put on 
a scientific footing. Monographs have been written by these and other authorities 
pn the Naga Tribes in general and on the Angamis, Semas, Aos. Rengmas and Lhotas 
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The necessity of protecting the borders of Nowgong and Sibsagar 
against raiding Nagas which in the early days compelled us to 
penetrate in to the hills little by Httle, ceased with the formation of 
the Naga Hills district. But the process of penetration went ont 
inexorably if jrregularly. It was impossible to draw a line as the 
boundary of our area of control and to say that we should be blind 
and deaf to all that went on across that line. Transfrontier Nagas 
raid our administered villages, the latter are involved in dispute with 
the former, head hunting and massacres go on just across the border 
and under the very noses of our officers. In such conditions local 
officers inevitably, and with reason, clamour for a forward policy. 
The Chief Commissioner sometimes supports them, sometimes he does 
not. The Government of India is nearly always reluctant. But the 

in particular, thus carrying out the wish expressed by Mr. Chief Commissioner 
Elliott in his memorandum of March 1881 (see page 4. below), and can be studied by 
anyone who wishes to acquaint himself with the ethnographical history of these 
interesting peoples. 

Mr. J. P. Mills, C.I.E., I.C.S., who was Governor's Secretary throughout my 
time in Assam, and who had, previous to that, sixteen years experience of the Nagas, 
as Subdivisional Officer, Mokokchung, and as Deputy Commissioner of the Naga 
Hilh District, writes as follows on this subject in a note by him, dated the 5th 
September 1941. 

"On modem maps the names of villages shown are those used by the in­
habitants themselves, a commonly used synonym being sometimes added in brackets. 
Sometimes the name in the old record is obviously merely a corruption of the correct 
name. Frequently however, there is no apparent connection between the two at all. 
The reason for this is that at each advance into the Naga country officers tended to 
adopt the names of villages used by the interpreters hailing from the area on which 
the advance was based. For instance, when we first entered the Ao country from 
the plains, Merangkong was known as Naogaon and Mubongchokut as Molodubia, 
and so on, NaogaoD and Molodubia being the Assamese names for these villages. 
Once established in the Ao country, officers began to ask the names of Villages yet 
further in the interior and were naturally told the Ao names. Thus the big Chang 
village of Tuesang was for years known by its Ao name of MOlllungJami-" the village 
of wicked men", for the Changs were the hereditary enemies of the Aos. Fur ther 
complication was caused by the system of transliteration used by the American 
Baptist Missionaries, who were often the first people to attempt to record Ao namel 
in writing. They do not use the British system but write "j" where we should use 
"ch" and often omit "y". Thus "Chami" becomes "Jarni", and "Yongyimsen" 
becomes "Yongimsen". 

The same process went on at the southern.end of the district. Western Angami 
l1ames were soon brought into use, though often misspdt, lind for long Western 
Angami names Were used for Eastern Angami aod Kacha Naga villages. For 
example, the Eastern Angami village of Chizami was wrongly called KhNabama, 
aad even now Henima would hardly be recognised by its correct name of Tt'nning. 
When we began to acquire more detailed knowledge of the Eastt'rn Angami country 
we began to learn their own names for their own villages. Dut here again. the same 
muddle was repeated and Eastern Angami names were ust'd for the Jess known 
Sang tam and Rengma villages beyond them. Even today "MeJiomi" and "Primi" 
are probably in more general use than the correct names of "Meluri" and "Akht"gwo" 

The method I have adopted, a. in the case of Lushai names, is, Wht'D a name 
first occurs, to put the correct s peJling in square bracket. after that uled ~n the 
~urreqt records, 
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frontier moves forward. Whatever difficulties were felt by Governments 
the truth of the dictum of the Secretary of State of 1878. Lord Cran 
brook, that "the continuance in the immediate proximity of settled 
districts of a system of internecine warfare conducted principally 
against women and children> canot be tolerated" was vindicated time 
after time. 

While, therefore, in 1882 our writ ran only in an area covering 
Kohima and Wokha and their immediate neighbourhood, we have in 
the intervening 60 years become responsible for an administered area 
covering country far to the east and south of the boundaries of that 
date, and beyond that again of an area of "control". 

After the occupation of Kohima and Wokha in 1878 the general 
policy appears to have~ been one of consolidating our rule around 
those two centres. Mr. C. A. Elhott, Chief Commissioner of Assam 
between 1881 and 1885, recorded on the 31st March l8S1, a memo­
randum *on the administration of the district after he had made a tour 
of the Naga Hills in the cold weather of 1880-81. A brief reference is 
made to it at page 142 of Mackenzie. As regards forced labour, 
which had been levied in a very unequal way, causing extreme 
dissatisfaction, he said things must be put right at once and laid 
down certain rules to that end. It is clear that transport arrange­
ments at that time were very badly organised, if organised at all, 
the position being made difficult because the station of Kohima was 
in course of construction. His views as to di'larmament of the district 
are, in the light of present conditions, interesting. He states that all 
guns had been taken away from the Nagas anp, that no Angami Was 
even allowed to carry a spear. He regarded it as "essential that the 
habit of carrying of arms should be discouraged which has a 
martial tendency or lead the people to believe that they can success­
fully resist our arms". He was also very strong on the point that 
all village defences should be removed, and expressed the dosire that 
the practice of fortifying villages sites should altogether be put a stop 
to, his idea being that as soon as the village ceased to be defensible 
it would be safe to relax the rules against bearing arms. His wishes, 
however, were never fully carried out. Though village defences have 
in fact gradually faUen into disrepair, large numbers of guns did 
remain in Angami hands. and it is still normal for a Naga t<\> carry a 
spear, for use both as a "khud-stick" and to kill any game which 
may cross his path. He foresaw the great need of extending the 
practice of terracing as an alternative to jlluming, and he was very 
insistent that his officers should try and spread this practice. (Over 
30 years were to elapse before these orders were carried out. 
Dr. Hutton began to introduce terraces into the Serna country about 
1915). He also advocated the extension of the cultivation of potatoes. 
Finally, he declared that all officers should do their utmost to 
enquire into and record the habits a.nd customs of the people and 
said that he would be glad to publish works on these subjects free 
of cost. 

* Assam Secretariat Files No. 137-J. of 1881 and No. lO4-J. of 1882~ 
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A further reference to policy is to be found in a letter dated the 
25th January 1883 *No. 122 to the Deputy Commissioner, in which 
Mr. Elliott referred to "his scheme for the alIocation of out-posts in the 
district by which to bring home to the people the assurance that they 
are permanently under the domain of the British Power" . This letter 
was written with reference to a report from Mr. R. B. McCabe, I. c. 8., 
the then Deputy Commissioner, who had earlier in the month 
established a post without any opposition at the Serna village of 
Lozema [Lazami]. The villagers had failed to pay their revenue in 
full for two years and Mr. McCabe decided it was necessary to punish 
them. He took an ample force, met with no opposition and construct. 
ed a stockade where he left a garrison of 55 police under a British 
Officer. Incidentally, in his report he makes mention of the bitter 
mutual hatred between the pushing, intruding Semas and the Angamis, 
an antagonism which perSlSts to this day. 

A similar expedition on a smaller scale, but attended unfortunately 
with considerable loss of hfe, was undertaken by Mr. McCabe in June 
1883 against the Serna Village of Ratami across the Diyung in reprisal 
for that village's raid on the Lhota village of Tsingaki, or Chingaki, as 
McCabe spells it. He took a force of 72 officers and mt"n of the 
44th Sylhet Light Infantry under Lieutenant Boileau and 42 officers and 
men of the Frontier l'olice under Mr . Livesay, Assistant Superintendent. 
The Deputy Commissioner reportingt on the 28th June 1883, was fully 
satisfied with the results, but the operations certainly entailed severe 
loss both of life and property. The Nagas were estimated to have lost 
between 50 and 60 men, their houses and dhan were destroyed, and 
their cattle carried off. This incident seems to be closely connected 
wi th the steady pressure of the Semas towards the west, the pursuit of 
which received a check when we occupied Wokha. 

Mr. Mc:Cabe raised the question of policy in a letter No. 20St 
which he addressed to the Chief Commissioner on the 10th June 1884. 
He took the view that there were two possible policies,-(l) non-inter­
ference with the trans-Frontier people; (2) annexation. Of the two 
he preferred annexation carried out in a gradual way. He also 
explained that his own policy had been based on four general princi­
pIes, (0) to insist on strict obedience within his own jurisdiction 
(b) to punish villages Within his jurisdiction for all raids 
committed against trans-Frontier villages; (c) to punish trans-Frontier 
villages for raids against cis-Frontier villages; (d) as far as possible to 
mediate jn disputes between villagt's adjacent to the Frontier. 

It js interesting to observe that in paragraph 4 of his letter he uses 
the "sumewhat singular name", as an Assam letter of November 1888 
was later to describe it, of "military promenade" to describe expedi­
tions made by the Deputy Commissioners with an armed escort among 

-Auam Secretariat, Foreign, B, Ft"bruary 11\83, NO!l.12-13. 
t As~am Secretariat, Foreign, B, December 1883, NO!l.4.11. 
;A'lSam Secretariat, Judicial Department. File NQ.149-,J of 1884. 
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the Frontier tribes. This was later to become. a commonplace term 
of the Naga HiOs frontier» but was used possibly for the first time on 
this occasion in official correspondence. 

The Chief Commissioner, Sir Charles Elliott;-and it looks as if 
the problems raised in this letter from the Deputy Commissioner had 
long been in his mind-addressed the Government of India on the 
22nd August 1884 in his letter No.1263. He referred to the increase 
of outrages of recent years; to the decrease of influence of British 
Officers and to what he considered had been the failure of the policy 
that had been carried on for the last 20 or 30 years. These circums­
tances had led him to review again the policy which had been 
associated during the years 1840-44 with the name of Captain Brodie, 
who was then in charge of the Sibsagar district, and which was describ­
ed briefly in pages 93 to '95 of Mackenzie's work. The main feature of 
this policy were comprehensive excursions throughout the Naga villages 
accompanied by an armed force, during the course of which Captain 
Brodie took engagements from the Chiefs to abandon their feuds and 
refer all differences to the British Power. Sir Charles Eliott proposed 
to revert to some extent to that policy and he outlined a scheme by 
which a force of 150 Naga Hills Frontier Police should start from 
Wokha in the Naga Hills under Mr. McCabe; 50 Frontier Police 
should join in from Sibsagar at Molong [Molu~o-yimchen] or Deka 
Haimong under the Deputy Commissif'ner of that district ; and, thirdly 
SO L1khimpur Frontier Police should join in tum with their Deputy 
Commissioner at Jaipur. It appears that Colonel W. S. Clarke, the 
Deputy Commissioner of Sibsa..:,oar was opposed to the proposal and 
preferred complete annexation straightaway. Mr. Godfrey of Lakhim­
pur, however, thought a promenade would have an excellent effect. 

The Government of India replied in Mr. Grant's letter No.2789-E., 
dated the 20th October 1884, a letter which was quoted as. a "locus 
classicusu of policy for many a year thereafter, and which in the words of 
Sir William Marris, written 37 years later, "Sanctioned nit did not 
actually initiate the policy of political control areas beyond the Naga 
Hills Frontier". They did not approve of the proposal for a compre­
hensive promenade. They preferred to adhere to the existing policy, 
i. '., (a) that infraction of our border and ill-treatment of British 
subjects beyond it should be punished, but (6) inter-tribal feuds and 
murders committed outside the Frontier -should be disregarded. They 
expressed in definite terms their dislike of-taking e~oagements and gave 
at length their reasons for this attitude. They were clearly opposed to 
doing anything which might entail commitments, a term which 
covered of course such undesirable eventualities as extension of responsi­
bility~ a series of expeditions and a widely increased area of adminis­
tration. Their instructions are summed up in the final paragraph of 
the letter which runs as follows : 

"S. For these reasons, chiefly, the Governor-General is disinclined 
to sanction any very marked alteration of tbe policy at present pursued 
towards the tribes in question. But at the same time he considers that 
......... the existing methods of checking and punishing border offences 
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should be followed when necessary with increased energy and prompti­
tude. He therefore approves of the arrangement under which the 
political control of the Nagas to the east of the Lhota country as far as 
the Jhanzl river, or any other point which you may select will be made 
over to the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills. Allother details 
he leaves to your discretion with the reservation that interference with 
inter-tribal quarrels should, as a rule. be limited to those cases where 
they involve (1) outrages on British subjects; (2) violation of the Inner 
Line; (3) danger to the interests 01 people dwelling inside the British 
borders by reason of the proximity of disturbances outside, such 
disturbances, for instances, as would be likely to intimidate coolies 
employed upon tea estates or cultivators". 

T his decision was passed on to the Deputy Commissioners of the 
Naga Hills and of Sibsagar, but, as will be seen later, it was not long 
before it had to be modified. 

In order to implemerat the Government of India's instructions, the 
Chief Commissioner then ordered the Deputy Commissioner. Naga 
Hills, to make two expeditions (a) to a number of Eastern Angami 
villages along the Manipur border to the east of Kohima and outside 
the existing boundary of the Naga Hills district, and (b) to a number 
of Ao villages east of Wokha. The Deputy Commissioner, Sibsagar, 
was instructed to make a similar visit to the Konyak villages to the eas~ 
of his boundary, ending by a return to his district along the Dikhu. 

Mr. McCabe of the Naga Hills, accompanied by an escort of 
30 Frontier Police, accomplished the first expedition between December 
23rd 1884 and January 3rd, 1885 and reported a highly successful trip 
in connection with which Mr. EllioLt expressed lus "extreme gratifica­
tion" that the fame of British administration in the Naga Hills was 
"attracting the wistful admiration of the residents beyond the Inner 
Line." Mr. McCabe started on his second expedition from Wokha on 
the 11th January 1885 with Mr. L. St. J. Brodrick, Subdivisional 
Officer, Wokha, Dr. S. Borah, Civil Surgeon, and Captain Plowden, 
Commandant and 100 non-commissioned Officers and men of the 
Frontier Police. The objects of the expedition were-"lst.-To punish 
the Sema village of Nungtang [Litami] for the murder of a British 
subject. 2nd.-To bring home to the Ao tribe the fact that it is 
politically subordinate to the British Government. 3rd.-To determine 
a point on the Borodubia [Changki] Waromong range, which should be 
the limit of the political control of the Deputy Commissioner of the 
Naga Hills District in the direction of the Frontier of Sibsagar." They 
punished Nungtang, and then turned aside from their original route to 
visit the Serna village of Lophemi [Lumami). The Ao village of 
Nankam [Lungkam] had complained against them, and this village 
was connected with the other of1(mding village of Nungtang 

------------~- . 
Assam Secretariat File No.40-J of 1885. 

Military Rcpwt. 
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Secondly, they visited the Ao village of Longsa to the south on a 
complaint from Borodubia and Moldubia. To Longsa McCabe went via 
Ungma, the biggest village of the Ao tribe. In both cases submission 
was obtained without difficulty. Thence proceeding via Mokokchung 
he met the Deputy Commis,ioner, Sibsagar (Colonel Clarke), on 30th 
January, the date fixed. The villages visited, except the Sema villages 
of Nongtang and Lopphemi were all Ao. 

Mr. McCabe's conclusions as a result of this tour were clear and 
definite. In his letter No.8S3, dated the 16th March 1885, he wrote as 
follows-

"21. In attempting to form any idea of the probable results of this 
promenade, it would be advisable to consider the object attained by 
Captain Brodie's tour in{ 1844. Captain Brodie marched from Bor 
Haimong to Lakhuti, and took engagements from the headmen of the 
different villages to refrain from inter .village war. He had not return­
ed to the plains before many of these engagements were broken, and 
the chiefs in fault refused to obey his summons and appear at Sibsagar. 
From 1844 up to the present time, these villages have carried on in­
cessant blood-feuds; the Deputy Commissioner of Sibsagar has re­
peatedly sent orders prohibiting murderous raids, but, as no steps were 
taken to enforce these orders, they have been systematically dIsregard­
ed. The Government of India has now sanctioned the extension of the 
political control of the Deputy Commissioner of Naga Hills district to 
these tribes, and my chief object in this promenade was to acquire a 
knowledge of the country and of the inhabitants, and to impress 
on the people my determination to put a stop t,o the cruel murders 
which have unhappily been of so frequent occurrence during the 
past years. 

22. The reception I experienced was of a friendly though somewhat 
apathetic character, and coolies and supplies were obtained without 
difficulty. The smaller villages would welcome subordinatIon to the 
British Government, and the whole of the Ao tribe would view with 
pleasure security in trading with the plains.' 

The larger villages make constant demands on the smaller ones for 
cattle and doos, and in case of refusal a feud is established resulting 
in the loss of several lives. If murder is to be checked, the causes 
which stimulate it must be attacked, or the political control over these 
tribes will be of a merely nominal character. Mr. Clark, the 
missionary, who resides at Molong, belives that this promenade will 
check for some time the aggression of the larger villages. I am not so 
sanguine. The men of the Ao tribe have been so accustomed to receiv­
ing orders and being allowed to disregard them, that nothing less than 
the most severe punishment will impress on their minds the necessity of 
obedience. 

I presume that the Government of India intends that this political 
control shall be of a real character, and it therefore remains to be 
decided in what manner it should be carried into effect. 

There are two courses open :-
(I) To make an annual promenade during the cold-weather, 

when punishment might be infticted on all villages that had 
disobeyed orders during the rains. 
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(2) To estdblish an outpost in the heart of the Ao country, and 
exercise the same political control over these tribes as that 
now brought to bear ~:m the Angamis and Lhotas. 

The objection to the first proposal is that the punishment inflicted 
would follow at such a lapse of time after the commission of the" offence 
that the motives of our actions might be misconstrued, and the inhabi­
tant'! would simply regard us as a superior class of looters and 
murderers to themselves. 

The second proposal is the one which appears t.) me to afford the 
only solution of the difficulty. Experience has clearly proved that as 
long as Government contented itself with establishing outposts on the 
frontiers of these hill tribes, no efficient control was ever exercised. 
From 1837 to 1879, no outpost existed in the heart of the Angami 
country, and the history of those years was one succession of raids on 
Assam and mter-village feuds. From the date of the occupation of 
Kohima, the development of the control over this the most warlike of 
the N aga tri bes has been dearly marked. 

On the Sibsagar frontier outpost!; have been established 
for ma'lY years past, and nothing has been effected towards checking 
feuds which have caused the loss of thousands of lives. Undex 
these circumstances, I think the Sibsagar Frontier Police might be 
more usefully employed if they were incorporated with the Naga Hills 
Polk"!, and posted in th(' heart of the Ao tribe. A guard of 100 men 
at Ungma would, in my opinion, effectually control the whole of the 
country between the Doyang, Dikhu and the plains, and communica­
tion with Wokha could be maintained by a road, via Nankam, and 
the crossing the Doyang by a suspension bridge below Ao. 

Captain Plowden, the Commandant of the Naga Hills Frontier 
Police, has given full details of this scheme in his letter No.75, dated 
7th instant, to the Inspector General of Police, and it IS not necessary 
for me to enter more fully into the matter, pending the decision of the 
Government of India on the policy to be adopted. There is one point, 
however, on which I consider definite instructions should be issued 
and that is the alignment ora fixed boundary, beyond which no con­
trol of any description should be exercised." 

Colonel Clarke who similarly had had no difficulties during his 
tour of 14. days, considered that all the villages he visited should be 
added to the Naga Hills char~e, and he agrt'ed in general with 
Mr. McCabe's views. ' 

McCabe's proposals did not entirely commend themselves to the 
then Chief Commissioner, Mr \Y. E. Ward, I. c. s., who was 
officiating for Mr. Elliott. They are discussed at length in his let ters 
Nos. 923* of 11th June 1885 and 1893 of the 8th October 1885 to the 

·Assam Secretariat, 1885\ File No. 40-J 
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Government of India. ','They seem", he said in tb..:! first)etter "to 
go considerably beyond the policy sanctioned by the GovernILent, of 
India in your lettl"r No.- 2789-E, dated the ,20th October last: 
{see page 103 above] in the second place,. they ampunt pr:actically,t<? a 
proposal to annex aud administer the whole of the new area by addjng 
it on to the present Naga Hijls aistric~, a measure which Mr. Ward 
thinks is certainly not called tor at present; thirdly ~ the, cost of carry­
ing out these proposals is ,more than the circumstances of the case 
warrant. ........ ; and lastly, the proposal to wit~draw the frqntier 
Police entirety from the Sib~agar district and to aboF~ its frontier 
outposts is one which would be sure to meet with much opposition 
from the tea~planting interests in that dist~ict." He then pointed out 
that the analogy ~hich McCabe had drawn from 'the cases of the 
occupation of Samaguting in 1866 and Kohima in 1878 was scarcely 
correct. "The occupation" [he wrote], "of Samaguting and the sub­
seq uent advance of the Political Agent's ,.headquarters to Kohima arose 
entirely from 'the necessity whi,ch existf:d. for cheGking the numerous 
raids of the Arigami,s on Britlsh and Mq,nipur territory, and also the 
state of lflwlessnes~ i~ tpe Naga Hills district which encouraged the 
.Angamis to make these raid:;. , 

10. The Officiating Chief Commissioner does not find that any 
such excuse exists to justify similar action being taken with, resrect _ to 
the hill tribes now living outside the boundary of the Naga Hills district. 
In the first place, we have no longer the warlIke race of Angamis t.o 
deal witp. Then, again, raids by Naga tribes on British subjects are 
now almost unknown; such as have occurred of late years have been 
entirely on villages lying just within the boundary of the Naga HifIs 
district, the raiders having; perhaps, scarcely yet re~lised the fact that 
all Nagas residing within this boundary are now our subjects On the 
Sibsagar frontier the hill tribes are pe2'ceable enough, except amongst 
themselves, being too anxious to trade with us to b~ otherwise Nor 
was the existence of any such raids advanced as a ground for the 
policy. advocated by Mr. Elliott in my letter No. 12,63, of the _22Qd 
August last. [See pa e 103 aboveJ Mr. Elliott's recommendat~ons 
wer:e based on the view that the i~'ter-tribal feuds and><fonsequent 
m~sacres among the tribes on the Sibsagat frontier were ~p the in­
crease, that they bore evidence of the growing turbulcnGe of the 
Nagas and the decreasing inlhience of British officers, and that ifw.e 
wished to prevent this turbulence spreading over into the 'plaips, some 
more stringent measures 'than exist at present ougnt to be adQpted to 
check it. . , 

11'. In your letter of the 20th dct~ber l~!it, yOJ.l stated~ with re­
ference to Mr. Elliott's propos,!-Js', that the Gqvern Wy,nt of .InOi~ w~s 
disil\clined'to sancti9n any very ,marked alteration o( ,the,policy a.t 
present p'ur.sued towards, the tribes in questio~. qllt aJ It~e sa me thpe 
consislered that the existing methods oLche~kiog, ,a nd punishing 1;>or­
der offences sHould be folfowe~, when Ileces.sary. with increas~ 
energy and promptitude, provided only ,t,hat iIl;terie,rence with inter­
tribal quarrels 'snotiId be ,confined, a!j ,a rule, to th~ tp,ree c,a,s:s m~ntion­
ed in the' last paragrapb of your letter I t is, however, onl y In, the 11~s~ 
of the three Cdses mentioned by you that any real difficultv has arIsen 
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in determining the policy to be pursued ; in the other two cases, viz., 
where outrages occur on British subjects or British territory is violated, 
our policy is clear, and is being vigorously acted up to. It is only in 
cases of inter-tribal feuds not affecting British subjects or involving any 
violation of British territory that doubts have occurrrd, giving rise to 
the present .correspondence. In these cases the existing policy has 
ever since the days of Captain Brodie be!n one of absolute non-inter­
ference; neither the former Political Agent nor the present Deputy 
Commissioner of the Naga Hills district has ever since the time 
mentioned exercised any political control whatever in such cases out­
side the district, and the question now to be considered is whether we 
should continue this policy, or, if we interfere, in what way should 
this interference be exercised, what orders should the Deputy Commis­
sioner be authorised to pass, and what power should be given to him to 
enforce his orders. 

12. The' Officiating Chief Commissioner observes that the 
Government of India desires that all interference in the particular 
cases here referred to should be confined to those instances in which 
danger arises to the interests of people dwelling inside the British bor­
ders by reason of the proximity of disturbances outside, such distur­
bances, for instance, as would be likely to intimidate coolies employed 
upon tea estates or cultivators. These instructions, however, only 
affect the question as to what area should now be brought under con­
trol. It still remains to determine the mode of control and the Deputy 
Commissioner's power to enforce any orders he may be authorised to 
issue within that area. 

13. Upon this point, Mr. Ward would ask the sanction of the 
Government of India to his issuing the following instructions to the 
Deputy Commissioner to whom may hereafter be given the political 
control of the new tract or of any portion thereof. He will march 
once annually with a Frontier Police force through the particular 
tract assi~ed to him, and in the course of his march, wiJI enquire, 
whether mvited to do so or not, into all cases of murder committed 
within the past year, and punish the village to which the murderers 
belong. All punishments should, in the first instance, be by fine, the 
amount of fine in each case being Jeft to the discretion of the Deputy 
Commissioner, subject to the approval ofthe Chief Commissioner. If 
the fine is not immediately paid, its equivalent in grain or cattle may 
be seized. If no grain or cattle are found, the village should be 
debarred from all trade al'ld intercourse with the' plains ulltil the fine is 
paid. In no case should the destruction of the offending village be 
resorted to as a punishment. In no case other than murder should 
the Deputy Commissioner interfere to settle inter-tribal disputes by 
making, or attempting to enforce, any award. This does not, how­
ever, debar him from using his personal influence in inducing the 
tribes to settle their disputes amicably. Lastly, in no case should the 
Deputy Commissioner interfere in disputes between tribes residing 
within and the tribes residing outside the area of control, evrn though 
luch disputes may have resulted in murder either without or within 
luch area. 
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U. The Officiating Chief Commissioner thinks that if the Govern­
ment of India will sanction the issue of the instructions above proposed 
nothing more is required. Mr. Ward is-not so sanguine as to expect 
that the limited power of control which he now propqses to give to 
the Deputy Commissioner will suffice to altogether put down the 
inter-tribal feuds and massacres among the Nagas whom it is propos­
ed to bring under control, but he sees no reason to think that his 
proposals will not amply suffice to check to a very great extent that 
growing turbulence among the Nagas to which Mr. Elliott referred 
in my letter of the 22nd August last and so effectually prevent such 
turbulence from spreading over into our settled districts." 

The area of political control which the Chief Commissioner 
proposed should be assigned to the Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, 
was defined in paragraph 6 of the letter of the 11th June subject to 
some slight subsequent modifications and, briefly, it covered the whole 
Ao country starting from west of the Dikhu where it cuts the present 
Mokokchung Subdivision from north to south, together with the Sema 
villages to the east of Wokha. 

The Government of India replied in their letter No.246-E., dated 
the 3rd February 1886,· which was forwarded to the Deputy Commis· 
sioner with Assam letter No.494, dated the 9th March 1886. While 
observing that Mr. Ward's proposals were "practically a step towards 
the amalgamation of a considerable tract of trans-frontier country 
with the British districts", they were unable to see how it could be 
avoided. They approved the proposals in general, only observing 
that the instructions. to be given were a little too stringent and inelastic 
and desiring that more discretion should be· given to local officers. 
Burning a village, for instance, was to be allowed as a last resort. 
The geographical area was agreed to, as also that it should be placed 
under the Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills. 

In February 1886t occurred the Shipvomi raid, in reprisal for 
which two villages had to be punished. Three men of the big Angami 
village of Khonoma were killed while trading in Manipur. Their 
friends believed this to have been done by men of Shipvomi 
rrephunge], a Manipur village just across the border, and on the 
13th February 1886 Khonoma, together with a number of men, said 
to be as many as 1,500 from IS or 20 Naga villages, took revenge. 
They burned and looted Shipvomi and killed at least three persons. 
Mr. R. T. Greer, I.C.S., was on his way to join as Deputy Commis­
sioner when this happened. Arriving at Kohima on the 17th 
February, he af once went to the spot accompanied by Captain Plowden 
and was aided in his inquires by the "Tangal Major", the Prime 
Minister of Manipur, a gentleman who was to figure prominently later 
on in the events at Manipur in 1891. He was satisfied that not 
Shipvomi, but Thetchulomi [Thetsemi] a village within our boundary, 
was the original culprit and that therefore Shipvomi was raided and 
looted by mistake. Be that as it may, a number of Khonoma and 

• Assam Secretariat, File 21-J of 1886. 
t Assam Secretariat. 1886. File No.784-J. 
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other ~ngami men were bro'd.ghf to trial and seve~e punisliment was 
meted out to them. Thetchulomi also was punished by being burned 
for thdr part in the transaction. Mr. Greer had s'ome severe remarks 
to make on the slackness of the Manipur administration. Colonel 
(later General Sir James) Johnstone was the Political Agent 'i'n 
Manipur at that time, and one can well imagine the me'asured periods 
in which, if he had not been busily engaged in connection with the 
Third Burma War, a campaign in which he was wounded, he would 
have trounced the young officer who had dared to 'criticise the 
administration for which he as Political Agent was responsible. 
Greer's remarks, as a matter of tact, only repeated what McCabe had 
said in 1885* on Manipur methods as the result of his own observations 
cnticisms which evoked from the Political Agent, who must then too 
have been Johnstone, a spirited protest dated 20th March 1885. 

There is reference in the Report of 1885-M 'to great trouble over 
forced labour for transport purposes. Unusual and heavy demands 
were made on the labour on account of the sudden . removal of the 
43rd Regiment for service in Burma, their relief 'by the 42nd from 
Shillong and by the breakdown of the Transport Department. 

A brief reference to the growing of potatoes by some Gurkhas 
near the station of Kohima, in fulfilment of the wishes expressed oy 
the former Chief Commis~ioner, Mr. Elliott, is worthy of record. 

The Report for the year 1886-87 is signed by Mr. POI teous, but 
he actually only held charge of the district for the last two months bf 
that year, the preceding period heinl? divided into three short 
incumbencies, namely, those of Messrs. Greer, Davis and Grimwood. 
This last officer was Mr. F. St. C. Grimwood who was to lose 'his life 
as Political Agem in Manipur in 1891. 

A severe though localised outbreak of cholera occurred in this 
year. It Was hrought into the Hills by Naga. coolies who had been 
taken to Manipur on tt ansport work by the 44th Gurkha Light 
Infantry. J here were 350 deaths in the group of villages to which 
the coolies belongro and 367 in Kohima. In the Civil statton of 
Kohima there wa .. only one death, that of the European Subedar, 
Mr. Lyons. 

The cultivation of potatoes spread further, but, as before, the 
Angamis refused to have anything to do with it and it was only 
Gurkhas and Kukis who cultivated it. As regards transport, though 
the position might have been expected to be somewhat eased in this 
year with five to six hundred pack ponies working on the road to 
Nkhuguard and Kohima, Mr. Porteous again makes strong references 
to the hardships arising out of torced labour, as many as 16,500 men 
being impressed during the year. 

-----_. - - . _._---
File 7e4-j of 1886. 

• A~sam Secretariat July 18113. Proceedings of the Chier Commissioner m the 
Dep,utmentl under the control of the Foreign Department of the GovernmeJlt of 
India No.13. 
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Large sums. of money wert< spent on pub,lie works: the total 
amount teing as much. as Rs.92.730. These \\-orks included, besides 
roads, th~ Kohima Fort and Magazine, both of which remained under, 
constructiop. at the end. of the year.. Rupees 9,000 was sptnt on, the 
const~uctjon, of 33, miles 0( the, new bridle path from Henima to 
Khonoma: The K~hima water supply arrangements were complet.cd 
i~ 1887 and actually tak~n into use On the 4th April 1887. 

An interesting side~light on administrative conditions in those 
days is afforded by the fact that during the cold weather of 1886-87 
W-okha subdivision remained in charge of the Head Clerk. It mus~ 
be remembered, however, that the Subdivisional Officer of Wokha 
had at that time neither Civil nor Criminal powers. The gap occurred 
between the death from dystntery oC Mr. C. H. Parish on the 4th 
November 1886. an,d the fI'rival of Mr. E. Muspratt on the 20th Febru. 
ary 1887. 

The. usual promenades were carried out and Mr. Porteous remark~ 
on the. very hostile attitude of the Se~as throughout. All efforts at 
friel1.d~hip failed with only one exception, a village which was wise 
enough to see. that it was worth while to be on frienQly 
ten;ns with the British. It was to the Semas to whom Mr. P()r~ 
teo\lS referred when, in his letter No.8U *- dated the 21st 
February 1887. he asked for permission to take an expedition 
agai~st the cc Mez~mi Na~;" to punish them, for their raids since 
Decem.ber 1885 on Eastern AngaJni villages, especially Chipokitami 
which lay just outside ,the boundary, hut was an off-shooLof a village 
inside the, boundary. As Porteous pointed out in the subsequf"nt 
year's r.epqrt, "Mezami" walJ mer~y an Angami word for" bar. 
bilrian" and mean! nothing to, the SeD;las themselves. The Chief 
Sema villa&~ was that of Sakh,a\" being the headquarters of the power~ 
ful ZUmOIU clan and the village which, thirty years later, was to send 
a higher proportion. of its; popUiatio:r;t as ,Volunteers to ,France, than any 
Gth~r village in the hills. Be,sides, Chipokitami they had, raided in 
December)885 the village of Phium,a [Phuyemi] and in NoveQlber. 
1886 the village of Zulttami~ both of which lay within the political 
control area. The exp~dition was 'authorised, and took place between. 
the 26th March and the 2414 Ap~il1887. Mt1. Davis" Assistant Com­
missioner, and Mr. Muspratt, the SubdivisiOI;lal Offiq!f of Wokha, 
accompanied the ,Deputy Commissiot;ler, and he took. with him ~,s 
escqrt 80 Naga Hills Fronti~r,Poli.ce under thejz: Commandan~. Lieq,te­
nant Macinty!e an~ 40 of the 42n<;l Gur-lilia Ligpt Infantry (presum..­
ably from the garrison of Kohima) under Lieut«oant Robin. rhere 
was' no opposition' and suitaJ;»e Jines were imposed on, offending 
villages, while the Chief of Sakhai ;was carried, off to Kohima, to suffer 
two mon~ detention as f1 lesson to his pride. 

Mr, Porteous. fQll~weQ this \lp with a long tour through the Sema 
Politi<:al Control country, first between the Ti~u and the Doyang, and 
then northwards. still east of the Doyang,. into the, Sema cou'ltry whioh 
lies' east of Wokha. The only displ~y ?f truc1,ll~~~~_<:.aI).le fro.lJ1_,.thk ._ 

*Assam Secreta~iat. File No.181-J of 1887 and page 15 of Military Re;ort. 
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large and powerful village of Seromi, who were the prime movers in 
an attack on Porteous' rearguard when leaving Lukobomi on the 15th 
April and had to be fi.red .on. He ended his tour a.t N1lI.lkum 
in the Ao country, a bIg vIllage of 400 hOUSMI, at which village 
he signified his disapproval of the practice of head-taking by bll!ning 
all their trophies. Thence he turned south-west to the Lhota VIllage 
of Pangti where Captain Butler was killed in 1875 and went back via 
Wokha to Kohima. As he says in his report the results were that the 
" Mezamis" were subdued, our knowledge of the Semas was increased 
and the ground was prepared for the extension of our rule. The 
Chief Commissioner's comments contained in paragraph 2 of Ass::.lm 
Government letter No.1487* dated the the 29th July 1887 were. 

H 2. The results of the march, as stated in your 38th paragraph, 
are the protection, which it is hoped will be lasting, of the Eastern 
Angami villages from further aggression by the Mezamis, the estab­
lishment, for the first time, of our influence among the Semas, most of 
whose villages had never been visited by a British Officer since the 
survey, and the commencement of a policy which in the course of time 
will, the Chief Commis~ioner trusts, put a stop to inter-tribal murders 
and feud~ among these savages and prove as successful in winning 
them to peaceful pursuits as it has already been among the Angamis 
and Uolas ". 

A ml)!lth latter, in his leter No.S16t dated the 17th August 1887, 
Mr. Porteous recommended, as a result of his expedition to Are and 
Nunkum in June of that year, that the four Lhota villages. of Are. 
Are Yanlhamo, Pangti, and Okotso j the Ao villages of Nankum and 
Mungatung; and the Sema villages of Hangrung, Nangtang and 
Phinsing should be taken into the area of ordinary administration, 
and that an outpost should be established at Nankum. His views -were 
stated as follows. 

"22. While at Nunkum, I was frequently begged to have an out­
post statIOned at the village, and was told that revenue would gladly be 
paid for the privilege of being included in British territory. The same 
request as to payment of revenue was preferred to me by the gaon­
buras of Pangti, the principal of the four Lhota tran~-frontier villages. 
At present they said they belonged to nobody, and were taunted with 
their position by their fellow Lhotas in Lakhuti and other British 
villages. A proposal to include these four villages in British territory 
was made by Mr. McCabe in his No.8S3, dated the 16th March 1885, 
giving an account of his tour through the Ao country, vide paragraph 
6, I am unaware whether the separate proposal, there reterred to, 
was ever made, and, if so, with what result. 

23. It is my decided opinion that not only should these four 
villages be included in the Wokha subdivision, but that the whole tract 
lying within the streams Teshi and Chebi might now with advantage 
be so included, an outpost, as desired by its inhabitants, being station­
ed at Nunkum. The tract I refer to forms roughly the triangular or 

• Assam Secretariat, 1887. File No.181-J. 
t Assam Secretariat, File No. 625-J. of 1887. 



THE NAOA lfiLLS 113 

wedge-shaped area of independent territory which will he seen on the 
map running into 'the eastern boundary of the Wokha subdivision 
north-east of ,Wolla. 
. 24. 'the addition of this small area to the 'charge of the subdivi­
sional officer of Woklla would not be felt. There is ,no -village within 
it mOre djsta.nt from the &ubdivisional headquarlers -than at least one­
third. of the village& in the present subdivision. . 

The placing of an extra guard of 25 or 30 men at Nu.1ktim W'ould 
moreover, put no undue strain on the resources m the Ftontier Pblice. 
The Force at headquarters has within the past two yea:rs;lbeenJhereas­
ed b, the'strergth of the out posts formerly kept 'Up at'Barpathaf and 
Dimapur, while no cotresponding decrease for ·the establish:rhetl1! o£ 
new or the increa.se of former outposts has-taken place. The :)?l'oposal, 
therefore, involves no administrative in(;onvenience. , 

25. fro}ll a political point ofviewJ the establishmel)t of an butpost 
at Nunkum. would be advantageous in no ordinary de'gree. The 
pfesent report has illustrated the serious disadvantages under which, 
political control is at present exercised over the Ao and northern ,sema, 
country. Had Nunkum had ready access to Wokha, the feud between 
Ate and that. village could not have occurred. ::r:he complaint of 
Nunkum that it can get no hearing for its griev~nces agarnst Lbotas is 
an old one. TI;e gaonburas represented their case to Mr. McC3;-be'in 
August 18~', 'vide paragraph 21 ofni~ No. 377, aated the 18th A'1.j.gils( 
1884, and he could only lIuggest :to them that if unllble to reach 
Wokha through the 'Lhota country, they shoufd represent their grie­
vances to the 9ubdivisiona! officer 'at j'orha1!, whel'lee news- 'could b;e 
sent to Kohima. The Ao country was'at that time out,'de the Sphere 
of any rt'cogDised pblitical E!6ntrol. Now tha-t it IS within that -sphere', 
it is, I w01!11d submit, our'duty ~o see that the Ao villages have, at aU 
eventS'" the opportnnhy &f making their wa-nts -known to 'the 'authority­
to which they are being taught (0' Ioo'k fOf' gnid~nce in their lidati6bS 
with Qne another'and with tne Seillas-. At p~ese1'l't this opportunity 'IS 
virtually dented ,to' "them, as- their mes~engers are, and n0t it appeal'S 
without causeJ afraid 1:-0 pass 'thrcmgh :the intervening 'Lh<>ta villageS'. 
So, far as the Semas are con~el'nedj·t"eir iSGlation from Kohi:ma: and 
Wokha is still greater. They are on the worst of terms with the 
Lh@tast ancl but few ~ their villages lyiJlg between Lopph.tmi 'and 
Wo~ha. pave in reC~1'l,-1i years, eseaJPed bei:ng:bumt for :quarrel$ ,e:ndi.tlg m 
murckt: between th~m and, OJil¢ and other o£ pur bC!)rder Lb.Qta villa'ges,. 
g¢ner~y Chingaki III the tra-«t J would have annexed t() British 
territo~ _ ar~ includecl t.hree .sema villages, thI:oog}l whkJ:1, soomer lOlt 

later c<?m1l)llniGation 'Wi~ the ~ter Semas. would certainly be estab­
lish.ed .... ~ ..... 

~~. To sum up the- arga~eD't:-s {-or the establishment .or the oufepoSf 
I pt'opose, with annexatron of the -country on: :iis hitli6 sid'e :-Wt" are­
invited. by t.he popula4m- to take·it Gver ; -the- poli.tka1 reSlllt ot -the 
step in incrt'asing our influence over the AOl. and S~3i ,lfihes wouJd be 
most favourable; financially there would. be a smal!. incrt'ase fJf I'evehue, 
the administration of the new territor, would give· rise to- no- incon­
venience, and, lastly; th.e mo'9'e would hi:! a 'safe Ot'le' arid 'unlikely to 
give rise to complications of any kind." 
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It fell to Mr. Denis Fitzpatrick. who had succeeded Mr. Ward 
as Chief Commissioner on 31st October 1887, to decide this question 
of policy. In a note * which he recorded on the 15th November 1887, 
he set out succinctly the general position as regards control. He said-

" 2. Mr. Porteous' proposal is really an instalment of the impor. 
tant scheme advocated by Mr. McCabe in paragraph 22 [page 110 
above J of his letter above mentioned, which would have virtually 
added to the Naga Hills district an extensive tract of country that it 
was ultimately decided by Govf'rnment of India (No.246.E of the 3rd 
Febrllary 1886) on the recommendation of the Chief Commissioner, 
should be excluded from that district and be treated as an area of 
political control to be dealt with on the cc promenade" system. 

3. Now it. seems to be admitted by all who have from time to 
time considered this question. that it is our destiny, if not our duty, to 
bring these wild tribes more and more under control, and. there can 
be no doubt that in time the tract in question, and a great deal more 
besides, wiD come to be included in our ordinary fully admir istered 
districts. 

The only question is as to the rate at which we should proceed, 
and the answer to that must depend on a variety of matters, the most 
important being those inexorable limitations of finance that hamper us 
at every turn in this country, and the absolute necessity of completely 
establishing our authority within the existing boundaries of our dis· 
triets before we advance those boundaries further". 

Further consideration and consultation on the spot with 
Mr. McCabfO, who had once more come to thCi Naga Hills as Deputy 
Commissioner followed, and McCabe's views were summed up as 
follows at the end of a notet which he recorded on the 31st January 
1888. "I would not advise the establishment of an outpost at 
Nankam, unless, Government IS prepared to take over the administra­
tive control of the whole of the country between the Doyong and the 
Dikhu now lDcluded in the area of political control." The Chief 
Commissioner, came to the conclusion that the time was not ripe to 
recommend the depositions proposed, and decided to hold his hand for 
the time being. 

Mr. McCabe made an important promenade between the 13th. 
March and the 7th May, 1888, in the Ao country. In his reportt 
dated the 24th May 1888, No.190, on this promenade and on" the 
expeditions conducted against several transfrontier Naga villages in 
punishment of raids upon villages within the area of political control .. 
he observes that he Was guided by the rules laid down in the Assam 
Government letters Nos.494 dated the 9th March 1886 (s" page 114 
above), and 91-T dated the 4th February 1888. He took with him 
Lieutenant Macintyre Commandant, and 100 Non·Commissioned 

·Aasalll Secretariat File No. 39-J. oC 1888. 
tAssam Secretariat Flle No. 39-J. oC 1888. 
:AlSarn Secretariat File No. 520-1. of 1888. 
S" also pages 16-18 of (C Military Report on Naga Hilla II 1913 (written by 

Hutton). 
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Officers and men of the' Naga Hills Frontier Police, and also 
Mr. Muspratt, the Subdivisional Officer of Wokha, and encountered 
~erious opposition on the 18th April at the trans-Dikhu Ao villages of 
Yajim [Yacham] and Chlhu [ Yong J the latter being a separate 'khel' 
of Yajim, some 300 yards fcom the main village. McCabe had 
determined to visit them, as they had been guilty of raiding on the 
cis-Dikhu villages within the area of political control of Ungurr and 
Akoia. Both villages were burned on the 19th and a number of 
casualties inflicted. On the 25th April he burned Noksen and Letum 
[ Litim] also transfrontiee villages, for similar offences. 

\fro McCabe sums· up the results of this eight weeks tour in the 
following words-

"26. I either visited or received deputations from every village 
within the country lying Between Pangti and Nankam on the south, 
the Dikhu on the east, the plains of Assam on the north, and the 
boundary of the Wokha subdivision on the'west, and disposed of every 
complaint that was brought to my notice. 

With reference to the results achieved by these visits, I would 
point out that from 1885, my first promenade in this part of the hills, 
up to the present time, only three murders have been committed by 
villages within this area, and inter-village warfare has practically ceased, 
and I teust that the punishment inflicted on villages beyond the area 
of control will effectually put an end to the murderous raids that have 
been noted in this report. I enclose copy of a petition presented to 
me, from which you will see that a considerable number of villages 
are willing to pay revenue. No difficuJty whatsoever would be expe­
rienced in administering the Ao country, and a European officer, with 
a force of 100 police sepoys, could in a few years bring this tribe into 
as civilized and amenable a state as that of the Lhotas and Angamis 
in the Naga Hills district." The Chlef Commissioner (Mr. Fitzpatrick) 
who had himself toured in the Naga Hills in .February and March 
1888, forwarded this report to the Government of India with his letter 
No.1441, dated the 13th June 1888, and in commenting on "the 
question of bringing some portion pf the area of political control under' 
our more direct administration referred to in th~ Jast paragraph of 
Mr. MaCabe's report," said that Itit would of course stand on a new 
footing if it appeared that the people were really willing to pay reve­
nue", and that he would address tqe Government of India again. He 
concluded his letter with a warm tribute to the work which 
Mr. McCabe had done in his long service in the Naga Hills, IiI the 
following terms. 

"9. The Chief Commissioner, I am to say, cannot close this letter 
without adverting to the fact that the submission of the report herewith 
enclosed is the last official act of importance done by Mr. McCabe as 
Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills district. The Chief Commis­
sioner views Mr.. McCabe's departure from the Naga Hills with m~fh 
regret; but Mr. McCabe had served his time there, and it was impos­
sible to refuse him a transfer which domestic and other reasons led him 

--------------------------------------------------~ 
*1888, File No.520-J. 
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to so]iqt. Mr. MqCabe's servic\1s! havet been.so \¥gh}y spoken of by 
previous Chief Commissioners th~t Mr. Fitzpatrick can hardly hope 
that, a.nythinl{ he may say would ~a<!? to the reputat~on J that officer had 
alr~a,dy acrqwred ; but, having tr~vell~ wi~~ Mrl' McCabe througll 
the Naga Hil,]s this year, and seen, th~ good work he has done among 
this wild people an4 the feeHngs ot ri:Jingled a~tachment and awe with 
which they rega.t:d him, Mr. Fitzpat.fi~ cannot a,bstain from adding 
his testimony to that of his predecessors. He has rare}y lIeen an o~cer 
who so happily combines the power of; command with kindness of 
feeJing and consideration towards the people" 

Mr. Fitzpatrick's commendation only .repeated similar praise 
which Mr. McCabe's work as Deputy Commissioner of the district 
during the 3 years 1882.85 had already eameq for him from 
Mr. Elliott, whose Resolution* on the Administration Report for the 
year 1884.8~ concludes with a panegyric on Mr. McCabe's work 
wriUen by Mr. Elliott himself. It compares Mr. McCabe's work with 
"the influence exerted by the greatest men in Anglo-Indian history 
over the Santhals, the BhiJs and the tribes of the Derajat", and refers 
with satisfaction to the friendly way in 'Which he. as Chief, Commis­
siqner, had been received throughout a tour which he made in the 
previous cold weather, a happy result which he attnbuted to 
Mr. McCabe's unusual qualities Mr. McCabe subsequentlY became 
Inspector General of Police and it'was when holding that office that he 
was killed in Shillong in the earthquake of 1897. 

Mr. Alexander Porteous succeeded Mr. McCabe as Deputy Com­
missioner and in July 1888 he h~d to report the burning or the Ao 
villages of Mongsembi [Mongsemyinti] and Lungkungt both situated, 
within the area. of our political control. by a combination of trans .. 
Dikhu villages, news of :which wa$ sent to hlm by the Rev. E. W. 
Cl4\rka an American Baptist Missionary, who had been established for 
some time at Waromang and, Molongyimsen (Molungting?) on the 
outer range of the Ao country, Mr. Clark referred to the raiders as 
"Mozunger",.but this is merely the Ao word for "bad men" and they 
were in fact, what al e now k.-.ow as Changs. They had already 
ahsorbed a number of Ao villages and were tending to press across the 
river to the richer Ao country. In this instance they were reported to 
have killed and captured no less than 173 persons in Mongsembi and 
4~ in Lungkung. In his Jetter No.426J dated the 2~th July 1888t" 
Porteou, said • 

• cc3 ..... :~'he. raids are evidently intended as a revenge for the 
purushment Infllctf'd on Noksen and Letum in the late promenade. I 
had. pr~ously so far bac~ as May received news from Mr. Clark that 
these villages were boasting of the vengeance they Intended taking, 
but, as no messengen reached,me direct, and no demand for assistance 
came through Mr. Clark from Susu, which had reported the matter tQ 

~CbjefComrnis5ioaer" Proceedings in the D~partmeah under the control of the 
J~;'Fs8rpal'Unent of the Government of India for July 188S. No.1067. dated 2nd 
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rums I considered these threats as mere empty btavado, not seriously 
taken by the Aos themsdves, and 1 JIlerely wrote im:ormi?lf Mi. Clark 
that villages threaten~ ~ere .free to take any defenstve measures they 
desired so long as they abstained from carrying war across the Dikhu. 
The threats made have been only too amply fulfilled, bu. it remains td 
be seen whether provocatibn of some sort ml;ly not ltave been given. 

4. We have of late so far interfered in the affairs of the Aos, and 
the recent massacres are (so far as can be seen) so clearly the result of 
our late unfortunately futile attempts to protect their outlying villages 
from the attacks of tJ:teir savage neighbours by a policy of punishment 
followed by withdrawal, that it would now, I respectfully submit, be 
inconsistent both-with the honour and duty of the British Government 
to abandon them further to- the attacks of their relentless enemie,., 

5. As regards my proposal to establish a guard at Susu or Mong­
sembi, it wowd be useless to attempt to disguise the fact that such a 
guard must ~most necessarily, to be effective at aU, be permanent, 
an~ that to fender its position perfectly secure the annexation of the 
whole Ao country mUllt pex!orce follow. 

• • • • 
7. An expedition sufficiently strong to visit all the villages which 

combined against us, and imposing enougI! to leave no doubt ~n the 
minds of the inhabitants of the hopelessnes of attempting to contend 
with us,. will be indispemable for the future security' of the Aos, with 
or without annexation of the country of the Tatter." 

In his ietter No.578* of the 21st September IBM he r~ports the 
steps he had taken to establish a guard in the Ao country for the 
protection of the villages recently raided. (Incidentally" in this. letter 
he refers to the hostile tribes as ccMiris"J. He chos~ MongseJ:lldi as the 
site for the stock~de in which the guard would ~e established. He 
gave further details about the raid oil Moil~enidi as follows. 

"11. .. .... The attack~ were unquestiona.bly intended as a retalia­
tion fof the expeditiOn against NokseIi and Litaril in April last, under­
taken to punish thoso villages for raids on Susu, MOfigsemcli, and 
Lungkung. As I have now learnt, these villages suffer.ed' far more 
severely than could ever have been intended by my predecessor. Not 
Qnly were several men killed by the'Small gt;lard left by Mr. McCabe 
at Litam while he proceeded to Noksen, bpt a number, approaching 
40, was killt'd in the jUBgles round· the two villages during 
Mr. McCabe'~ haitI by a rabble of some hundreds of friendlies who 
had fonowed from Susu, Mongsemdi, Lungkung. Salachu, and other 
villages in the wake ()f our force. There is reason to believe the one 
mer. of Mongsemdi Who waS: kiJltd, met with his death while so 
engaged. 

The narrative or this massacre, and the looting 'Which accom­
panied it, was told me with a manifest feeling of pride by, among 
others, one of the gaonbaras of Salachu .and he clearly ex.ulted in the 

• Aasam Seaetariat, 1888, File No.616-j. 
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prospect of being again afforded an opportunity of indulging those 
blood-thirsty instincts, which have now for some years had no outlet 
on this side of the Dikhu. He showed the naivest ignorance that the 
recital of these atrocities could be other than pleasing to me, although 
he had cunning enough to deny, when I put him this question, that 
any women or children had been slaughtered. 

12. It is small wonder that, after losing so many men in addition 
to the destruction of their villages and the loss of most of their cattle,' 
either killed or carried off as loot, the men of Noksen and Litam 
should have sent round the fiery cross, and, with the help of their 
allies, taken a savage revenge on the villages at whose hands (with our 
aid) th~y had suffered so heavy a punishment. . 

13. The attack on Mongsemdi was made in broad daylight, about 
2 o'clock in the afternoon, when alm')st all the men and many of the 
women and children were at work in their fields. A few men were on 
guard duty, but they were apparently taken by surprise, and although, 
with a devotion for which I could hardly have given Nagas credit, 
and which <,ost them all their lives, they stayed long enough at their 
post to sound the alarm on the village drum, which stands near the 
gate by which the enemy entered, it was too late to save the lives of 
the majority of the women and children then in their houses. The 
Miris swarmed over the village like ants, as one of the survivors descri­
bed the scene, and cut down every man, woman, or child who was 
unable to e~cape, a few young children who were taken alive excepted. 
After taking all the heads, they set fire to the village and made good 
their retreat before the Mongsemdi men could come up from their 
jhums. In aU, 148 persons were ki11ed, of whom 15 are said to have 
b~en men, 30 women, and the rest children. Lungkung was attacked 
at dawn on the 23rd of June, no watch having apparently been kept. 
Here the number of persons slaughtered was 40-5 men, 20 women, 
and the rest children Two children were also carried off alive." 

For the future, his views were as follows. 
"18. Now that a guard has been stationed at Mongsemdi, the 

question ari'Jes of how long it is to remain, and, if not permanent, how 
in the future is the protection of the Ao frontier to be provided for. 
I take It for granted that an expedition will be sent through the Miri 
country in the cold weather, but unless we take hostages, which it may, 
perhaps, be imp03sible to do, I do not see how any effective security 
against a repetition of the Mongsemdi and Lungkung massacres can be 
taken, without either annexation of the Ao cOllntry, or a continued 
occupation of Mongsemdi, or some other post in it, which would be 
really equivalent to that step, and would entail many of the responsi­
bilities of annexation with, none of its advantages. 

I~ considering the expediency of taking over the country west of 
t~e Dlkhu, I may here point out that, adding to the list of Ao villages 
given at the close of Mr. McCabe's recent report, the large trans-Dikhu 
Ao village of Longsa, contain:ng 1,000 houses, the Lhota group 
Pangti, Okotso, and the two Ares, containing 500 houses, the fe~ 
Serna '11.1ag;1 north-west of the Teshi. river containing 350 houses, 
and ASSlnngla, Tarnlu, and Narnsang, whlch are not Ao although this 
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side of the Dikh.u, a total of 11,000 houses is attained. Now, even on 
an assessment of one rupee per house, which, it is my own opinion, 
would be all we could at first demand, this represents a large increase 
of revenue, while the S('rvices of a European officer being certainly no 
longer required at Wokha, in the event supposed, a large saving in the 
administration of that subdivisifln would ensue. The duties of the Sub­
divisional Officer at Wokha have for some years, especially since the 
Sernas ceased raiding across the Dayang, been such as could perftt'tly 
well be performed by a tahsildar on Rs.150 a month. They were, in 
fact, performed with ~ccess for nine months in 1886-87 by the Wokha 
Head Clerk on Rs.80." 

Before the Government of India was approached Mr. McCabe 
who was now Deputy Commissioner, Tezpur, was consulted. He gave 
his views as follows. 

"The /Jer7nI.ln41I' occupatio" of the Ao coun:ry.-I have always argued 
that no final settlement of our relations with the Ao tribe could be 
obtained without a permanent occupation of the country. The interests 
of the tea-planters demand that the hill tribes immediately bordering on 
the north-east frontier should be under direct British control ; and once 
this is achieved, raids on the plains of Assam l;ecome an impossibility 
and the necessity of maintaining police outposts in ~e plains districts 
no longer exists. . 

No difficulty will arise in permanently occupying the Ao country. 
The tribe is well disposed towards us, is readily amenable to discipline, 
and has experienced the advantages of the protection we can give it. 

The present movement seems to afford a favourable opportunity for 
instituting direct government, and it would be advisable to commence 
at once by levying a house-tax. 

This tax should be at Rs.2 pei' house, and I think little difficulty 
would be experienced in realising it. The enhanced security to life 
and consequent deveJopment of trade, the sale of rice to the police, 
whose requirements would aggregate 1:500 maunds annually, the 
wages paid for work on roads and carriage of stores, would alI cause an· 
influx of money into this countiy, many of the Aos are opium-eaters, 
and it would take but a small sacrifice of this IUXU1Y to enable them 
to pay the house-tax. If this tract of country become an integral por­
tion of the Naga Hills district, it will be necessary to fix a definite 
boundary Jx.yond which under no pretence whatsoever should any con ... 
trol be assumed. The trans-frontier tribes should be given clearly to. 
understand that, provided they respect the sanctity of our frontier, we 
have no wish to interfere in any way with them. A natural boundary 
is preferable to any other, and as the whole of the Aos, with the excep­
tion of Longsa, reside on the left bank. of the Dikhu no better selection 
for a boundary than this river c~uld be made. 

2nd.-lAcatio" of keadqumtels tmd outposts.-Ungina is a very good 
site for the headquarter station. It is.a large village. finely situated on 
the main ridge running parallel to the Dikhu liver. The inhabitants 
are well-to-do, and inclined to be exacting in' their demands from the­
neighbouring small villages. 
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An outpost at Mongsemdi would betl'le~essary to afford protection 
against the raids of the trans-Dikhu tribes;and th~5 pdst could easily be 
connected with Ungm~ by a road alon&: the rldge above referred to. 
In case of nel:essity the journey from ,Urtgma t~ Mongsemdi could be 
made in one day." 

Letter No.3.iCJ3,* dated the 14th NovempeT' 1~883 was th(m submitted 
to the Government of .India with two, proposalsc·,,((l) a pttnitive expe­
dition ~ross1he Dikhu, and (b) ,the annexatioll of the AQ country. 

On the latter point, the letter contains a vaJ\lable resume of the 
past history of our relations with trans-frontier tribes 'together with 
a careful review of th,e ~hen ~ituation, and tpe obligatioIl$ restipg on 
Go,vernment. ~ir Denis Fitzpatrick e:X;p1'essed himself ~ follows. 

"IO ............... the Chief Commissioner has no hesitation whatever 
in saying that-ifthe'pr~ent political control system is to be maintained, 
it must be with the obligation of defending the area of 'political eon trol 
against aggression ftom Without, and as regards the limitation laid 
down by the Gove:rnment of India, vit., ,that'the measure of protec­
tion must' depend upon proximity and ooIivenienco' ,it is. unnecessary 
to discuss it, becau~ so Jar as the Chief Commissiome:r is aware, raids 
of the sort here in question are ,always Illade by villages. at no great 
distance, which it is easy to reach and punish some way or other. It 
is no, dou.bt very inconvenien~ to b~ve to go. even. across the Dikhu to 
punish the raiders ; 1;>.l1~it is ~ thhlg whi,ch we co1l1ld J;lot with any 
decency refuse to do as long as we I;IlISert the authority we do within the 
area of poli tical control. 

11. The qu.eation accordingly i~ shall we stop (there is no. possibi­
lity of going back) at the present system of political cont1!Ol~ saddled 
with the obligation of defending the territory against raids from with­
out, or shall we go a step further and by degrees occupy the t-erritory, 
taking revenue from it ? 

This question presented itself on a small scale to Mr. Fitzpatrick 
on his taking charge here this time last year, on a proposal made 
by Mr. Porteous to take Nunkum and a few other vil1a~es across the 
Doyung into the district (ste correspondance ending With your office 
letter No. 568, dated the 16th March last). On that occasion 
Mr. Fitzpatrick was averse to the-step, partly because, though he regard .. 
ed it, now that Upper Burma has been ann.exed, as ult,ima tely inevita­
ble, and indeed a thing to be desired, that we should gradually absorb 
all the country between our present district boundary and the confines 
of Burma and Manipur into our regularly administered territories, he 
was anxious to -proceed -slowly and -ca.utiously, partly because he 
thought the political control system promilled to oe fairly successful, 
and had moreover not yet been sufficiently tried, but chiefly because 
there were financial difficulties, the particular proposals then made by 
Mr. Porteous applying to so small a number of villages that the revenue 
whiqb t~y offered to. pay wO-uld have gone but a small way towards 
defraying the J;lecessary additional expense. 

• Assam Secretariat, 1888. File No.676-J. 
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12. Subsequently .••.......•• the Chief Commissioner came to the 
conclusion that if SO large a proportion of the people of any portion of 
the political control area extensive enough to pay the additional expense 
involved are found willing to pay revenue that there would be no great 
difficulty about collecting it from all, It would be unwise on our part to 
abstain from occupying the tract and collecting revenue. The consi­
deration which chiefly led the Chief Commissioner to this conclusion 
was that if we go on for a long series of years settling the affairs of 
these people and protecting them against attacks from beyond the poli­
tical area, doing for them, in fact, almost all they want, they will come 
in time to imagine tliat they h~ve a sort of prescriptive right to have 
all this done for them for nothing, and when the time comes when we 
must realise revenue from them, it may be a difficult and unpleasant 
business ....................... . 

13. As to the necessity of the step, it is manifest that the chastise­
ment inflicted by Mr. McCabe on these trans-Dikhu villages in the 
spring has had no effect whatever, and the Chief Commissioner scarce­
Jy ventures to hope that the further action which he now proposes 
against them, though a sense of duty and a regard for our good name 
compel us to take it, will have very much effect as a deterrent ........... . 

............ altogether the Chief Commissioner, while Insisting on the 
necessity of the punitive visit he now proposes, cannot venture to ,think 
that, so far as the future is concerned, we shall after it has be~n made, 
be in a very much better position than we were before the recent raid. 
It would be utterly impossible to withdraw altogether within the limits 
of the present district. The force at present at Mongsemdi would have 
to be kept where it is, and it is more than possible that a year or two 
hence one or more similar posts would be found necessary. 

The question is how is all this to be paid for, and the only answer 
seems to be by taking revenue from the Aos' who on every conceivable 
principle may be fairly required to pay at least in part for 'the special 
measures we take for their protection. 

14. Further, as above observed, the recent occurrences make it 
easier to take revenue from them, and the opportunity is one which the 
Chief Commissioner would not allow to go by." . 

As regards the headquarters of the new area he proposed that it 
should be ,Ungma to which place the headquarters of the SubcUvisional 
Officer of Wokha would be transferred. Finally he said. 

"17. It only remains to be said that if His Excellency in Council 
should be pleased to approve of what is now proposed, the Chief Com­
missioner would not advocate the establishment of a fresh area of poli­
tical control in the territory adjoining the portion of the present area of 
political control now to' be occupied, flS in his opinion the result of 
doing that would inevitably be that what 'has now occurred would 
repeat itself, and we might be compelled to enter into permanent occu­
pation of that fresh area much sooner that would be convenient. It, 
may be that when the time approaches for a further advance, those 
who come after us will think it well to begin by establishing an area of 
political control along the frontier. That will be for them to consider ; 
but for the present the Chief Commissioner would make the Dikhu our 
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boundary in the strictest sense and have no/hmg whatever to do with 
the people beyond, except in cases, whIch he belIeves under the new 
position of thmgs would hardly ever occur, m which they mIght venture 
to commit aggressIOns on the people on our side It would further, he 
thinks, be a questIOn whether we should not place some restrictions on 
people crossmg the flver from our SIde, such as IS established on other 
parts of our frontier under the Inner LIne Rules". 

The assent of the Central Government was obtained, * an expedi­
tion with MI. Porteous III general charge assisted by Mr. A. W. DaVIS, 
I. c. s., and with Lieutenants R. M. Maxwell of the Lakhimpur 
Military Pohce BattalIon and D. F. MaCIntyre of the Naga Hills 
Frontier PolIce Battalion in charge of the troops, which consIsted 
of 68 of the former's men and 32 of the latter's, crossed the Dlkhu on 
theIr way to visit the offending tnbe on 5th January 1889. This 
tribe .s what is known at the present day as the Changs, b'lt in 1888, 
they are referred to as "Mlris" or Mazungs, with their prIncipal 
village as "Mazung-jami". The ExpeditIOn was entirely successful 
and the casualties on either SIde extremely small. Porteous reported 
that 1 sepoy was killed and 1 wounded and 20 coolies spIked by 
panJis, while he put the loss of the "Mazungs" at "5 men killed, 
wounded unknown". Mozung-Jami lTuensang] was occupied on 
12th January 1889. The tribesmen had then no acquaintance WIth 
fire-arms and Mr. Maxwell remarks that they were so unaccustomed 
to these weapons that they thought, as fire come from the muzzl(' of 
the gun, all that was required was a chunga of water to put It out. 
In fact, In general he deSCribes them as a "contemptible", enemy. 
The ringleaders whom it was deSIred to capture escaped but the trIbes 
were reduced to submiSSIOn without any difficulty. Towards the 
end of his tour, Mr. Porteous viSited the Trans-Dikhu Serna VIllage 
of Seromi, whose attitude to hIm In his tour of Apnl 1887 IS referred 
to at page 116 above. Their defiant attitude was no less marked than 
before and "it was very eVIdent that It was Interpreted as a sign of 
weakness that we had taken no steps to brIng Seromi to its bearings, 
and, on the eve of our assum,ng the admInIstratIOn of the Ao country, 
It would have been impolitlc to allow such a feelmg to get abroad 
unchecked." Seromi offered no resistance and, as they made complete 
submission and were not lD the control area, Poneous contented 
hImself with warning them that head taking must in future cease and 
exacting a small fine of 10 cattle. 

In the course of his tour Porteous halted at U ngma in order to 
examine a site near Mokokchung [Mokoktsu] which seemed to him 
to offer the most suitable place for the new subdlVisional headquar­
ters. He was able to recommend the SIte, prOVIded the water 

.supply ~tood the test of the hot weather. (Subsequently, on 29th 
May 1889, he was able to report that the site he had selected "on 
the eastern slope of a hill, about half a mIle west of Mokokchung" 
had stood the test.) 

*AS5am Secretanat, 1889-File No. 281-J. 
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Government then proceeded to take over the Ao country. This 
had been sanctioned III the Government of India's letter No. 2463-E, * 
dated the 24th December 1888 in the following terms : "3 
The Government of India, while not desirous to ha~ten the extension 
of the frontier in this direction, has previously recognized the proba­
bIlity of such an advance being forced upon it by circumstances; 
and the Governor-General in CouncIl agrees wIth you, for the reasons 
stated III your letter under reply, that the tIme has now come when 
the direct admimstration of the country of the Ao Nagas may with 
advantage be undertaken. It IS not Intended that the system of 
political control should be generally and definitely abandoned, but 
in this particular part of the country, where the people are themselves 
willmg to pay revenue in return for protectIOn, there is no sufficient 
reason why their wishes should not be acceded to. The Government 
of India accepts your recommendation not to establish, at present, 
any fresh area of political control, and wIll comider any further propo­
sal you may make in regard to restnctIons upon people crosslllg the 
Dikhu from our side. 

* * * 
5. As regards the taxation to be levIed from the inhabitants of 

the incorporated tract, I am to say that the Governor-General in 
Council would prefer, if the Ao~ have no oblIgations correspondmg 
wIth those imposed upon the Lhota Nagas, that the house-tax should 
be fixed at Rs. 2 per dwelling to begin wIth; but HIS Excellency m 
Council will not object, If you consider it advisable to its being 
temporarily assessed at one rupee only. It will in any case be desira­
ble that the country should as soon as possible, without exceeding the 
two rupee limit, pay its own expenses." 

Discussion followed as to various details, of which four may be 
mentioned, z e., (a) were any Serna VIllages to be annexed; (b) was 
the Ao village of Longsa, which was across the DIkhu, to be Included 
too ; (c) the rate of revenue to be fixed and (d) where was to be the 
SIte for the new headquarters of the Subdivision. 

As regards the first point, Porteous' adVIce was that the small 
group of villages west of the Teshi flver, vzz., Mangrum~', Nangtang 
and Phinsmg should be taken over : while, subject to the necessity 
of increasing the police force so as to provide for a guard at Lopphemi, 
he would have liked to take over also the powerful group of 6 villages 
lYIng along the ridge from Lumokomi to Lopphemi. As regards the 
second pomt, he was in favour of including Langsa which would have 
otherwise been the sole Ao village outside British territory. ThIrdly, 
he advised that Rs 2 should be the rate of revenue. Lastly, he re­
peated the views referred to above about the suitability of a site near 
Mokokchung, summarismg his reasons as follows:-

"12. Summary of reasons for choosing the site near Mokok· 
chung-

(1) Reasonable prOXImity to headquarters at Kohima. 

*Assam Secretanat-1889. J''tle No.544-J. 
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(2) Command of the frontier ridge of the Ao country with direct 
communicatlon by the Khenza ridge with the rest of the 
Ao villages, without necessity of cropping into any 
valley. 

(3) Convenience of position with view to probable future 
extensions of the subdivision in to the Sema country. 

(4) Situation midway between three large villages Ungma 
600, Khenza 300, Mokokchung 300 houses, none more 
distant than 21 miles, and consequent facilities for procur­
ing supplies and coolie labour. 

(5) Suitability of site in height and lie of ground for establi­
ship.g a station." 

At the conclusion of the letter, N). 1033 of the 8th March 1889, 
ill which he gave his views on these questions, Mr. Porteous added 
the following remarkCJ about slavery ;-

"20. Not the least important question in connection with our 
assumption of direct administration over the Aos is that of slavery, 
an institution which in the domestic form prevails widely throughout 
the tribe. Some rich men are said to possess as many as ten or twenty 
slaves. Slaves are not allowed to marry, nor to possess property, 
alld children borne by female slaves are usually put to death. It 
is obvious such a state of things cannot be allowed to continue in 
British territory, but the question arises·-is Goverument to declare 
at once all slaves emancipated with or without compensation, or 
should we leave the institution to disappear by the slow, but equally 
certain, method of refusing to enforce the supposed rights of slave­
owners? The latter system was that adopted, I presume uncon­
sciously, by Government in the Kuki counlry, where slavery was, 
however, not so widespread as among the Aos,' and the result has 
been that slavery has entirely disappeared. I believe this to be the 
wisest policy, unless the Government be prepared to allow 
compensation, but I have to request that definite instructiom on the 
subject may be issued as soon as possible." 

The Chief Commissioner agreed to including the group of Sema 
villages west of the Teshi, but not the others ; he did not accept the 
inclusion of Langsa; he approved of revenue being collected at the 
rate of Rs.2 and the location of the subdivisional headquarters at 
Mokokchung. (Incidentally, the missionary Mr. Clark, had pressed 
strongly for Waromang but this was rejected on a number of good 
grounds). 

As regards slavery, the Chief Commissioner's reply was as follows;-
"9. Lastly, as regards your request that definite instructions may be 

issued as soon as possible regarding domestic slavery, which you state 
prevails widely among the Aos, I am to say that it would be altoge­
ther out of the question to come to any final conclusion as to the 
manner in Which a matter of such importance and difficulty should 
be dealt with until we have had possession of the country for some 
little time, and learned something about it. It is most probable that 
here, as elsewhere, the status in question mvolves, besides the incidents 
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of mere social inferiority, such as, in accordance with our practice 
of giving effect to native usage, are-recognised all over the country,­
exclusion, e. g., from marriage with superior class('s, exclusion from 
certain special tenures of land, and so forth,-and if from the depths 
of our present ignorance we were to attempt to formulate any definite 
declarations on the subject, we should in all probability either go J 

or be understood to go, too far or not far enough, in the one case 
destroying other things besides slavery, and in the other appearing to 
extend our countenance to things which called for our reprobation. 

T~e only instructiom the Chief Commissioner can give you for 
some time to come are that you should absolutely refuse to lend your 
countenance in any way to slavery, in the proper sense of the word, 
and in particular that you should refuse to admit it as a justification 
for illtreating or restraining the liberty of any person whatsgever. 
I am to add that if the practice of putting to death the children 
born of so-called female slaves actually prevails, you should at once 
pUblicly notifY throughout the new tracts that it w£ll be punished 
as murder." 

The Government of India agreed to the setting up of the new 
Mokokchung Subdivision in its letter No. 223.E., of the 28th January 
1890 and this was formally announced by Assam Government Noti­
fication No. 749-J , of the 28th February 1890, Mr. A. W. Davis,I.e.s., 
being placed in charge as the first Subdivisional Officer by Notifica­
tion No. 149l-G., of the same date. Mokokchung has remained the 
outlying subdivision of the district ever since, and Wokha has lost 
its administrative importance. 

II.- 1890-1900.- The year 1890·1891 was a year of quiet, 
a quiet the more remarkable towards its close in view of the events 
in Manipur in March \891, when the Chief Commissioner and 4 other 
BritiJh Officers were murdered. The Nagas ,beh;.ved ('xtremely well 
and showed generally a dis;-,osition to help the British. There was, 
however, a certain amount ot unrest on the Sibsagar border and so 
much apprehension was felt :lmong tea gardens and other residents 
that a body of troops was maintained for 2 months at Sibsagar. 

There was one exct."ption, however, to the general re~ord of tran­
quility, not that it was of great mome.t in itself, but because it led to 
the raising once more, and in a new direction, of the question of 
policy. 

In December 1890 Davis had to punish two Sema villages outside 
the area of political control which lay to the east of Wokha, Seromi 
and Ghovishe's village. [Tsukohomi], the former for the murder 
of an Emilomi 'llan, and the latter for a more serious raid in which 
one woman and, 10 children were killed. Seromi which he reached 
on the 1st December, put up no opposition, and was fined 30 head 
of cattle. Ghovishe aJso put up no fight, but his village burned as a 
punishment. (Seromi was included within the arf"a of Political 
Control ten years latter, with the sanction of the Government of India 
gjven in their letter No. 1988-E.B.* of the 9tli October 1900). 

----- ----_. _. ---_ .. -._-----------
... Assam Secretariat, For., A. October 1900, Nos. 46-50. 
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With his letter No. 915"', dated the 29th December 1890, Mr. 
Davis sent in certain recommendations for the extension to the east of 
the area of political control, so as to include the Tizu and Tita 
Valleys, or, in other words, the whole of the Sema and Angami tribes, 
as well as the Ao village of Longsa, the only pure Ao village hither­
to left outside our jurisdiction. t 

The propo;al commended itself to Mr. Quinton, but his death 
in 189] and the hostility of his successors resulted in its being shelved 
for many years. The attitude of Sir William Ward and Sir Henry 
Cotton is well summed up in Mr. Ward's note of 25th November 1896, 
which runs as foHows-HI have always been opposed to extending our 
area of political control, which is always followed by annexation, as in 
the case of Mokokchung subdivision. To annexation succeeds a further 
area of political control, and further annexation, etc. All this anne­
xation means futher expenditure. North Lushai i'i bad enough, with 
its expenditure of 51 lakhs a year and a revenue of Rs. 7,000 only, we 
don't want to annex more hill tribes than we probably can help. 
The annexation of the Mokokchung subdivision was due to the theory 
started, I think, by Sir Dennis Fitzpatrick and adopted by India in 
which I have never agreed, viz" that political control area implies 
protection by us of that area from attacks of the area beyond. That 
practically means that to protect properly, we must annex and estab­
lish additional police outposts and establish political control of an area 
next beyond the area annexed, and so on, ad i'!firzitum. The object of 
political control areas is, I have always held, to keep people imme­
diateJy outside our annexed territories from taking heads, etc., on our 
borders. We say-"If you want to take heads, keep away from our 
borders.' I would also say- 'We can't undertake to protect you 
from the attacks of tribes beyond the political control area, and there­
fore won't interfere wi th your marching into their country and re­
taliating upon them if they attack you'. " Mr. Cotton endorsed 
this view on 8th January 1897* saying, "I entIrely agree with Sir 
William Ward's views, and would strongly object to any extension of 
political control, if it can possibly be avoided. But there is always 
the risk of our hands being forced at any time." 

1891-92 was described by Mr. Davis the Deputy Commissioner, 
in his annual report as a most disastrous year both for the Angamis 
and for the foreign residents. The former suffered greatly on­
account of the excessive impressment of coolies for military require­
ments, and the outbreaks of cholera and small-pox. No less than 
20,500 coolies had to be provided during the year and that total did 
not cover those taken at Nichuguard and in that neighbourhood. The 
foreil?~ residents o~ Koh~ma suffered "on account of the scarcity of 
provIslOns.and famme pnces ........... consequent on the inlpressment 
of all avaIlable transport in Sibsagar and this district for military 
purposes and the high prices paid by the Transport Department for 
paddy for pack animals." 

-Assam Secretariat, For., A. January 1897, Nos. 1-8. 
rThe still independent villages of Yacham and Yong are generally regarded aa 

Ao, but differ greatly from the rest of the tribe in language and custom. 
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In 1892-93* Longsa (a hitherto independent Ao village whose 
inclusion in administered territory had been the subject of discussion 
in 1889) paid revenue for the first time. (Mr. Davis had informed 
·them that they would be so liable when he visited the viUage in April 
1892, but, as was disco\ered 11 years later somewhat to the conster-
nation of the Secretariat, no written sanction of Government to this 
order was. ever issued at the time, an omission which the Assam Gov­
ernment requested the Government of India to rectify in their letter 
No. 428-For., t dated the 9th July 1904). In 1893-94 our hold over 
the ea'ltern Angamis immediately east of the Sidzu was tightened and 
Chajubama [Chozumi] was taken in as a revenue-paying village. 

IJorrespondence took place in 1895 between Ihe Governments of 
India, Burma and Assam, arising out of a raid by trans-frontier 
"Chins" from the wes~ on a village called Shawpu, just beyond the 
Burma border and about 10 miles south-east of Melomi in our 
Ea'ltern Angami country, in which the Chief Commissioner of Burma, 
Sir Frederic Fryer, in ttis letter No. --;-42 t dated the 25th September 
1895, raised the question of defining the boundary on either side of the 
tract lying between the North Chindwin District and Manipur. This 
matter was left by the Government of India, in their letter No. 
1942-E., t dated the 23rd October 1895, to the Chief Commissioner of 
of Burma, to the two administrations to arrange. They took, at the 
same time, the opportLmity to reiterate their policy that "no inter­
ference in the tract beyond our administrative borders should be 
encouraged or permitted, provided the tribes occupying that tract 
refrain from raids within the administered area. This principle of 
general policy should be impressed on the local officers concerned." 
In so doing they repeated what they had said previously to the Chief 
Commissioner of Assam in their letter No. 679.E., dated the 29th 
March 1895, i.e., 

3. "The Chief Commissioner of Burma has laid down, and the 
Government of India have approved, the principle that no interference 
with the tribes in this region should be permitted so long as they 
abstain from raiding on the country under our settled administration. 
From this principle the Governor-General in Council would be un­
willing to depart; and should any operations be undertaken, it would 
be desirable to explain clearly to the tribes that the Government of 
India have no desire to enter into any relations with them, or to 
maintain over them any permanent control. The scope of possible 
operations should be regarded from the standpoint of this policy." 

In December * 1897 Captain Cole, now Deputy Commissioner 
of the Naga Hil1s, visited the Sema villages of Kiyeku [Kiyekhu], a 
trans-border village, to punish it for raiding Sakhai and taking 17 
h.eads. He imposed the heavy fine of Rs.l,OOO, but this was not 
----------------.~---

* Assam Secretariat, Fer., A, August 1892, Nos. 36-37.­
t Assam Secretariat, For.,A, August 1904, Nos. 41-56. 
t Assam Secretariat, For., A, December 1895, Nos. 5-13. 
Assam Secretariat, For, A, September 1895, Nos. 9-20. 
* Assam Secretariat, For., A, May 1898, Nos. 4-5. 
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realised and the village was burnt, and cattle to the value of Rs.400 
were seized A sum of Rs.150 Was later brought in in cash, and the 
rest Horked off in labour on the Sema road. 

The report for 1899-1900 records a period of tranquillity, with 
one exception. The one exception * , however, was an important 
one, the incident ofYachumi. In his annual report Captain Woods, 
who had succeeded Captain Cole, merely says 'he "met with opposi­
tion" from this village and had to punish it. The punishment, 
however, was one of unusual severity. Captain Woods, together with 
Mr. Noel Williamson, Sub-divisional Officer of Mokokchung, and 
100 rifles of the Naga Hills Military Police under Captain Shakespear 
left Kohima on the 28th January 1900 on a Trans-Dikhu tour. The 
route he took was north-east from Kohima by way of Khyeku, which 
had been burI\t; by Captain Cole in December 1897, to the Tizu­
river. At Kukiyemi LHuchirr] in the Tizu Valley, some 6 miles from 
Yachumi [Yimtsung-Aenrr], Woods got information of Yachumi's 
hostile attitude. He went there next day, the 8th February, and the 
incident is best described in the following extract from Wood's diary. 

"8th February--Kukiyemi to 'f'achumi and back, about 12 miles.­
Shortly after leaving Kukiyemi this morning, we found the path panjied; 
this, I think, must have been devilment on the part of Ghovishe or 
Kukiyemi with the intention of getting Yachumi into a row, because 
the path was quite clear of panjies until quite close up to the village 
of Yachumi. The path runs pretty level for about four miles, and 
then descends to a stream, from which there is a pretty steady pull 
up to the spur on which the village is situated. then the path runs 
slightly downhill to the viUage; when we got within half a mile or 
so of the village, apparently the alarm was given, and many men were 
seen running up from the fields into the village. The village was 
hidden inside a ring of magnificent bamboo clumps. A number of 
men came out from the village in theIr full war paint with spears, 
aaos, and shields, and executed the usual war dance. My dobhashas 
spoke to the people, and told them that our visit was only a friendly 
one, and that if they put away their arms, no harm would come to 
them, but it was all of no avail, as they were collecting in numbers, 
and there would have been a heavy loss had they got in amongst my 
coolies; I was reluctantly compelled to give the order to fire. It was 
only after they had some Josses that they retired. We then entered­
the village, but not without a good deal of opposition. The village 
had a very strong fence and ditch all round, and the latter was heavily 
panjied. I t was a very fine village with some 400 or 500 houses in it ; 
the houses were all ofthe Trans-Dikhu pattern, with a long main street 
and houses closely parked on each side of it. I had intended to stay 
the night here, but on account of the difficulty in keeping the coolies, 
who had been looting pretty freely aU round, and the impossibility, 
had they boIted, of gettirg coolies from anywhere else, I decided on 
returning to Kukiremo. As the village had offered liO much opposition 
all through, I deCIded on burning it, and Captain Shakespear with the 
rearguard burnt the village. It is probable that this lesson to 

• Assam Secretariat, For., A, April 1900, Nos.1-9. 
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Yachuxni will have a salutary eJfect in th~s valley anQ elsewhere, more 
especially as Yachuxni had been boastihg so muth, aM had such a J 

terl'orising name on all sid~s. Did not' get 'back to K:ukiyemi uritil J 

a{ter d.ark. It was a lqng. tryipg day. One sepoy,anq mynead' 
dobash~ wounded by paniiBs and one coolie with a spear were O)lr onJY, 
c3.$ualties. There are a number of very bi'S vil'~ages in .tl,Us val1~y~ 
This-' village cannot be very far from ~ozungjan;ri. Elevation of 
Yachumi 5,4'00 feet...... -

Th~ UUth >a~ w.b.ic;l;l Capt:Mn WQQds evidently ~ess~c;l" w~$. ,~~~ 
th~ ~~ tm:~>ugJ;i. w1;lQs~ vill,ages I:;te ha.d pa,s.s~, ~a,c;l ~erit :\'\rorc;\. f.p, 
Ya~h,wni, urging them.- ~Q. resist,. T.pe S~mtfli kn.ew t:;ha~ .Q.~Y}', <:,a.s~~,": 
ti~. wou).q. b.e j.oJjI.i,cted ~p.d~ followh,lg, ~b.~ co.Lwn~, decap.i.ta.tecl ~l,le .<;1.e~ 
and wouncleq. The rest of his tour was. uQev~ifuJ aQ.d; ~ y.i~\~~ I~ 
large number of village$" outside the administrative border. 

1;he "Chie(' Comm.is~on~r addressed th,e Depu,ty Commissionet: on 

t1w sy,Qj~t ,i1}.~ letter ~q. 1~~t;'Aate9 tl:;t, \l.th. .A,p:t;il,l90~,w. ~ 
foUowitolg. terms. 

.c ......... It is observed that on the 8th February you wet:e e.nca~" 
ped at the village of Yachumi which is far outside the area of your 
political control, aM We:EC t.aer~ involved in 5Crious €omsion wi1:h- the 
m(m of that ,village, which resulted in youl'- firing on them at close 
q1Jal'4ers and killing several,. and aftet.War.ds- blH'rung -tlle village whidt 
is .said to <:ontam 400-0F·50Q, hoolle5. 

2. J ~m. to say tJ?at the Ch,ief Commissjoner doe_s not wi~h. t9 tak~ , 
any exception to yOUI' conduct at tMs village. He has no x:easQn, t.o 
doubt that the circumstances in which you found yourself rendered- it 
necessary- for the safety of! 'Yool'sclf and pi yom' party t()- fire upon 
the men of -the village, and that some loss of life was llnavoidaJale. 
But h is none- the-less d-eplorable tha4l this comsion should -have occtl-l'­
red. Mr. Cotton -cannot understand that there was any necessity on 
yeUll par-t to-yisU.ofui~ uaftieadly--village, and· he does not> leok with 
fav.oof'-Of,l any- par-1! 'Of your- protracted ·tour ove.... a tract, 'Of. oou~try 
wh~e~the Britilirh Government possess and .claim no politi~al C'ORt>rO),· 
and> wher~ there i&ubvioasrisk-of yoar~oomil'lg into ctomfliet with. th0 
savage tribes who inhabit it. He believes that on former· -occasions· 
e~<:di.tis:ms,simil~r. -tQ 'Y()1J.r Qwn.b~ye b~~Q t,lJild~rtf!.ltxJ) wiitbo.ut sanc· 
tio.u.. anp .. thiJ .m~y ,be- hd9: (0 .i1J.~tjfy, yO.1.l:!' P1Q~lJJct in th,~'P~Q:t 
~JlQ ,; ,by,t ~ iW¥.ooS- ,ypu, nQW tq. l:lwl~r)lt~!l_ cjjJl~jtlQt1y t.~ h«: c~ 
ap;pJ:Ov.c 0.£ ~\\~ ~~q:itWQ!l1 ~:QIJ{S~ .!lc.ogHt sp'c;.cifl:l.'r~a,$!m. ~JJ3)ltl!. faJ! thmn.. 
q,d ~ht\t ynp. U1l\l1~ 'J).ptjp, {1J.~ur.t< qrg~n.is~ Q~ .~.stk.<;J ~Q. t';xpkd~tl. fQJl 

p,ooroepade.fhJ:oygh, ~gc;p~pd~~J t.errj~o.rf, Qp.):Sl91i tl}~, ~J:e3 Qi ty1<\1iJIJIJ 
~JjkiqalcOWQ1. w,i,thoY!.>.QQtSliniJlg ~t pt:~vj?"1Js. ~s\f)!jj.P:Q~, oj the ~oa1. 
Ad~trlJt.U:>n... . 

3; Th~ ge~eral ROUer, \las beep., -t:requently 4li~ 'dQ.w}~ Qf dl.tlc9w.:,::n:'; 
inKjnt.~rf~ren5=e-bey~:)J:~!1,.t~e :Pjk~u." except. wl)en aggr~ssJoIl! arc' C9¢.­
mitted on the people on our side; and while- the Chief Commissioner 
has -JW.-intwWm oflaying.down. any. hard-ancbfast .rules to· which--it­
would probably be found impo;;sible to adhere in practice, l)~ is ,cpn .. 
vi need that it is desirable to conform to the established polity." artd tJtat 
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tours such as you have recently undertaken beyond the polItical con­
trol area involve the risk of collision, such as actually occurred at 
Yachumi, and are likdy to lead to the gradual extension of the area 
under direct administration in the Naga Hills and to political and 
financial responsibilities of a serious nature. The tendency no doubt 
is in this direction, but the Chief Commissioner has no wish to preci­
pI'tate matters. The area of the Serna country under political control 
is sufficiently well defined with a natural boundary, though it is not 
marked on the maps, as it ought to be. This area is within your 
jurisdiction, but the TlZu and 'fita and Yangnu valleys which you have 
recently traversed lie beyond it, and it is to prevent excursions being 
undertaken by the Naga Hills authorities into these independent tracts 
without previoo,.s sanction that the present orders are issued" . 

III. 1900-1913.-The Government ofIndia to whom the Yachum 
incident was reported agreed in thelr letter No.1046-E.B.·, dated the 
18th May 1900 with Mr. Cotton's view of the matter and with his 
orders. 1 hese orders had far-reaching effects as subsequent events 
were to show, and eventually circumstances proved too strong and they 
had to be modified. 

It is worth while recording that Yachumi itself does not seem to 
have taken the matter very much to heart, as Mr. W. M. Kennedy in 
his report for the year 1900-1901 says-"They are now on the most 
friendly terms with us and are anxious that we should visit their village 
again, which of course is impossible, in view of the present orders 
regarding crossing the frontier. The Yachumi people say that Ghovi-
she instigated them to attack us ............ ". 

Mr. Kennedy raised the question of control in the area to the east 
in the Tizu Valley in a letter No.486-G., t dated the lst June 1901, 
which be addressed to Government. He askc.d that he should be 
atlowed to settle disputes across the frontier, and secondly, he strongly 
urged that the boundary should be extended so as to include the whole 
Sema country or at least that the Tizu should be made the boundary. 
At the conclusion of his letter he described the position which had 
come about as a result of the orders which were issued after the Yac­
humi collision as follows. 

"The Chief Commissioner may with justice complain that he is 
always being urged to extend the area of our politic-a! control notwith­
standing his repeated refusals to undertake any further responsibilities 
in that direction, but there are special reasons why this matter should 
be raised now. In times passed my predecessors have from time to 
time toured 10 the Tizu Valley, settled the more serious land disputes, 
and punished recalcitrant viUages, the result being that there is peace 
in the Tizu Valley at present, and more particularly on the western 
sloJ?e thereof, which is contiguous to our boundary. These tours, 
which we're reported in diaries have at least the tacH approval of the 
I;ocaI Government. The position of affairs is however, now entirely 

·Asaam Secretariat, For., A, August 1900, Nos.9-1l. 
tAasam Sec:retariat, For., A, August 1901, NOI.27·S2. 
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different, as, since the collision at Yachumi last year, stringent orders 
have been issued prohibiting officers crossing the boundary or having 
any dealings with independent tribes. I am therefore now precluded 
from settling a land dispute even a few yards across the ridge, which 
is our boundary and once the independent villages close to us. realise 
this, they will resume the former habits of rioting and head-taking, 
which cannot fail to re-act unfavourably on our own villages close by. 
I feel, therefore, that I should be failing in my duty if I did not repte~ 
sent the state of affairs to the Chief Commissioner. If I remained 
silent I should be bound .to carry out the present poli<;:y of non-inter­
ference beyond our porder, and the responsibility for plunging back 
the-Tizu valley into a state of anarchy would be mine". 

The reply which he got in the Government letter No.327-For.-P-
3466, dated the 8th August 1901 turned down his proposals in singu­
larly definite and unsympathetic terms. It ran as follows--

"2. In reply, I am to say that the Chief Commissioner obsen~s 
that most of the arguments put forward by you and Captain Woods 
have been used before and will doubtless be used again in favour 01 an 
extension of the area of political contro1. Where there is an ethnolo­
gical boundary it will be said that a further extension is necessary in 
order to secure a good natural and geographical boundary. When the 
boundary is a natural one an ethnological frontier is declared to be the 
best. When the boundary is a stream it is proposed to push it on, to 
the top of the mountain ridge beyond. When the watershed hail been 
reached it will be found that political considerations require an ext~n­
sion to the bed of the next river below and so on ad irifinitum. It is 
usually reported that the proposed extension, will involve no increase 
of expt'nditure, but in point of fact such extensions always do involve 
directly or indirectly additional outlay and fnrther acquisition!:! of 
t~rritory at no distant date. It may be that in the present case it will 
not be necessary to establish any outpost in the tract, which it is pro­
posed to take,over, and that no addition to the Military Police- force 
will be required. But it is quite certain that the prolonged tours of 
the Deputy Commissioner in the area of Political control and beyord 
it do impose responsibilities and addittonal expenditure on the Admini­
stration, which, increase as that area extends. 

3. The Chief Commissioner does not forget that since the present 
boundary of the political control was laid down the Deputy Commis­
sioners of the Naga Hills have repeatedly interfered to settle disputes 
among the independent Nagas beyond it. There is always a strong 
temptation to do this. Under the important orders of the Government 
of India, No. 246-E., dated the Srd February 1886, you are authorised 
to punish villages outside the area of political control for raids com­
mitted on villages within that area when this can be convenienty be 
done. In practice it has always been found convenient nQt only to 
punish such villages but to make enquiry into .and ~ett1e the disputes 
and quarrels out of which the raids originated. Your predecess9r~ 
have thus come to adjudicate in disputes between independent vill!-lges 
lind to punish disobe~ien(;e of their orders. In making a:p ex:ped.itio:p 
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to an independent village it is necessary to pass through: other indep'eri­
dent villages and sometimes to hatt at ~hem ~ith an armed. {o'rce and 
to requite ,them to furnish transport. In this way the Deputy Com­
nHssioneI's of the Naga Hills have gradually exte'n'ded their control oV'er 
,a ~umbe~ oHndependent villages beyond the political contl'61 al'ea. 

14. It trulY be admitted that the result of this has been beneficial in 
.me estabfisln'nent ofotder in localities lIuch all Tizu and Tita Valleys. 
Bat Mr. o>tUm cannot 40ubt that your predecessors would have been 
-~tei aY.fvised if they had adhered more strictly to the spirit of the 
roi'ders of Government and had avoided as fal as possible any intet­
ference with independent tribes. Sometimes, as for in'Stance, in tire 
case of the visit of Yachumi, which led to a serious collision and loss 

. of life Jast year, expeditions or promenades beyond the al'ea of pblitical 
control app~ar fo have been taken with no other object tnan explora­
tion, and the Chief Commissioner regtets that thoe orders, which were 
the consequence of tbat case, did not issue earlier and that it was not 
laid down long ago that expeditions outside the area of political control 
should not be undertaken without previous sao:ction. 

S. Holding these views the Chief Commissioner IS unable to accept 
your proposals for extending the area of political control id ttie direc­
tton of the Tlzu riy.~r or to approve of your interference in the specific 
cases which you have brought to notice, which all relate to inter-tribal 
disputes in villages outside of that area". 

The Chief Commissioner evidently drafted the latter part of the 
-Jruer hbnself though he inCorporated in the beginning of it almost the 
whble of a note written by his Secretary, Mr. F. J. Monahan. who, 
incidentally, while realizing the nuisance arising out of constant incur­
~ions into tribal territory accepted the situ&.tion and considered that 
thett; was n'l help for it dut to accede to Mr. Kennedy's request. 

The advent of a new Chief Commissioner, Mr. J. B. FUller, pro­
mised a more sympathetic attitude to these ideas. In Februaty 1903, 
apparently in response to enquiries from 'the Chlef Commissidner, 
Captain A. A. Howell, the Deputy Commissio'net, wrote sttongly on 
the unsatisfactory state of affairs in the T·:z.u and Tita Valleys gave 
many instances of outrages which had occurred and reported bow at 
least one village, Yatsimi, had asked to be taken tinder our protection, 
a request which he had had "with grief and regret" been obliged to' 
..rtfuse. In a later letter No. 2426.G., *dated the 24th February 1903 
he made the following suggestions by way of reXnedy. 

('I have the honour to inform you that during my tour along the 
torder of the political tohtrol in the Sema t.ouhtry, many of the It-ad­
fng ~en of that ttibe hav~ corne in to see tne. They all complaia of 
our present boundary, which follows the crest of a range of hills and 
~~rt~~ly i~ !s by !l0 means ~ll t~at a boundary s~ould be.' For 
Instance, wlthm a radIUS of some SlX miles of Sevikhe's VIllage are SMOe 
dozen villages aU on the same hiJI, some on one side of the crest and 
lome on the other, while some are on the crest itself, which is our 
~J~~----~i----------------____________________ ~t~ •• __ --' 

.4'\d\UD Secre<tariat, For., A~ November 1903, NOI.3~1 'I, 
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borde... These villages are all closely connected by descent, marriage, 
and trade (such as it is), and their lands, which lie on both side's of the 
crest of the hill, are inextricably intermingled with each other. What­
ever a red line on the map may mean to a civili$ed man, it has ilo 
meaning to. these people, who entirely fail to see, where all are -alike, 
by what principle Government should make such important distiilc­
nons. In their opinion, the best thing that Governtnent can do is to 
take over the whole of the Serna tribe, or, failing 'that, to take some 
natural boundary, such as the Tizu or Tita Rivet, forbidditlg the 
people on either bank to cross the boundary on any pretence 'whatso­
ever. There is a gOOd deal in what they say, but the fust alternative 
would necessitate the establishment of a Military Police outpost il'l the 
Sema country. Until the tribe will bear the costs of this outpost, the 
expense to Government ~s not justifiable. The second alternative is 
certainly an improvement on the present arrangement. 'A river is a 
natural featu'r<', which the meanest savage understands, and is, to a 
'great atent, a dividing line between villages and village interests, 
which the crest of a hill most tcrtainly is not. I how~er, am fiot pte­
pared to recommend either a natural 'or a tribal boundary. In a 
country such as that 'On the eastern border of the Naga Hills, inhabited, 
as it is, by numuouS tribes often much scattC'l"ed, whose lands are limi­
ted by no well-defined natural features, I venture to suggest with all 
due defetence that neither a tribal not a natural boundary is the most 
desitable, but a mixture of the twO, the principle to be followed being 
that the benign influence of Government should be ex-ercised as far as 
'Can be ex:te'nded without in any way increasing the cast of the ordinary 
adrninisrration of the British portion of the Naga Hills district. That 
.this influence can be thus exerted beyond the boundary of our present 
political control, there is no doubt whatever. I am no advocate of 
exploring excursions unless specially ordered by the Chief Commis­
sioner. It is from these that the present unsatbfactof" state of affai'rs 
has arisen. I would, however, mos' earnestly request that these villages, 
which have lived for many years in peace and order, considering them­
sell'es under our protection, should not be given over 10 every 'descrip­
tien. of violence and outrage. Under existing orders the maintenance 
of peace and order is impossible, and I, therefore, trust that these 'orders 
may speeQily be modified" . 

"Mr. Fuller recorded a long note On the subject on 18th April 1905 in 
which be reviewed the past policy and showed himself to be inclined to 
favant Captain Howell's ideas. Further inquri'es led to letter No.1064':G. 
frem Oaptain Howell dated the 25th July 1903 in which he advo­
cated'the immediate declaration of rontrol over all Angami villages: 
its grsdual -extension over the whole Serna tribe: and the application 
of taxation to the whole existing area of political control, to the 5 
Angami villages east of the Tizu and to the Sema villages Jying between 
our border and the Tizu. He also made certain important recommen­
dations abuut rlIDning .. oads through the couhtry in question, proposals 
with which Mr. A. W. Davis, late of the Naga Hills and by then Ins­
pector-General of Police, agreed. These ipTOposals, as Mr. Davis 
ex:plains in his Memo. of 30th July 1903, wete.a, reviv~ (l[ those whr,«h 
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were put forward by him .. elfin 18~1, accepted by Mr. Quinton, thrown 
aside owing to the latter's death in 1891, renewed in 1891 and 1892 by 
Mr. Davis, again shelved, revived in 1896. and this time definitely 
turned down by both Sir W. Ward and SIr H. Cotton: and then 
again revived in 1901 and again di .. approved by Sir H. Cotton. Mr. 
Davis considered that the poli tical control area should be extended so 
as to include every Serna and Angami village. • 

He obselved incidentally that the prohibition rule (coD'lequent­
on Yachnmi) had led to a "deplorable amount of bloodshed and nu­
merous murderous outrages just across our frontier", and in a note 
recorded a little 14ter he stated his opinion that the frontier line was 
"no longer safe as it was 10 to 12 years ago", a "direct result", he con­
sideled "of the non-interference policy". He condemned the present 
condition of affairs as being "discreditable to our administration and 
unintelligible fo the people who are affected by it". 

The proposals which the Chief Commissioner forwarded to the 
Government of India in his letter No. 517-For-P./S295, dated the 
23rd November 1903 embodied this advice in general. He reviewed 
the policy of the previous 20 years starting from 1884 and made the 
following recommendations: (a) that the present area of "control" 
should be formally incorporated in the district and house tax levied 
which would regularise the existing de facto position; and 

(b) that the area lying west of the Tizu as far north as and in­
cluding the village of Yehim as well as 6 v.llages, among them Sohe­
mi inhabited either by Angamis or by Semas who had adopted Anga­
mj'habits. lying to the east of the said river. should be included in the 
district. He deClded not to include Melomi or Lapvomi, though they 
had applied for annexation. 

The letter ended with the following reference to the Government 
of India's order of the 18th May 1900 arising out of the Yachumi 
case :--

"12 ............... the Chief Commissioner ventures to represent that 
the decision of the Government of India in the Yachumi case, referr­
ed to in paragraph 2 of this Jetter, has led to a recrudescence of bar­
barism across the frontier. Previous to the issue of those orders the 
Deputy Commissioners were in the habit of making occasional tours 
beyond the boundary of the "political control" area, in the course 
of which they settled disputes which were reft"rred to them, and pu­
nished recalcitrant villages, with the result that raiding and head-tak­
ing were kept under control. It was early brought to notice that the 
stringent prohibition against cros!ling the frontier was likely to lead to 
resumption of murderous feuds by the adjacent Naga villages, and 
the numerous cases of violent outrage which have been reported lately 
show that the apprehension was well founded. An annexure to this 
letter gives a summary of the cases which have occurred since the lst 
January 1902. 

With rel{ard to the Tizu Valley, the eastern side of which will lie 
immediately beyond the proposed houndary, Major Howell writes:-

"It should be remembered tha.t until the issue of the orders in the 
YachUDli case, the people in the political ('optrol were as well behaved a~ 
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those in any other part of the district. So were those in the Tizu Valley. 
This Valley is now fast relapsing into barbarism, and the proct!ss 
has a disturbing effect on the vmages within the control proper". 

Mr. Davis writes:-

If the control ar~ be not extended to include the whole Sema 
tribe, then the rule prohibiting the Deputy Commissioner from cross­
ing the border without formal permission should be relaxed, as it is 
very necessary that h!! should be able to settle cases brought by people 
within the control area against people living outside it. * * 
The prohibition rule has, I am afraid, led to a deplorable amount 
of bloodshed and numerous murderous outrages just across our fron­
tier, which would not h~ve occurred if the policy of .the pre-Yachumi 
days had been followed of recent years. 

While we have, of course, no definite re3ponsibilities for keeping 
the peace across our frontier, our Political Officers cannot hut feel 
regret at the constant occurrence of barbarous outrages close beyond 
our border, which are preventible without risk or expenditure, and 
the Chief Commissioner sympathises with their feelings. Both Major 
Howell and Mr. Davis earnestly plead for the relaxation of the rule 
that n<,w prohibits the Deputy Commissioner from promptly visiting 
villages across the border and using his mediating authority to com­
pose feuds which not only lead to misery and loss of life, but have a 
disturbing effect on our own people. Mr. Fuller quite realises the 
danger of allowing British Officers a nee hand across the frontier. 
They are subject to great temptations to extend their authority further 
than it is possible to enforce it without risk of collision or of expendi­
ture. But at the same time he is of opinion that cases arise in which 
short tours may be undertaken without ~ny such risk and with great 
benefit to the people. Mr. Fuller would on no acount allow the De­
puty Commissioner to cross the border 'without his express sanction; 
but he would be glad if the Government of India would permit him 
to give such sanction occasionally on the understanding that a definite 
programme of the tour will be submitted by the Deputy Commissioner 
for his approval, and that it will be strictly followed." 

In their letter No.291-E.B., * dated the 26th January 1904, the 
Government of India agreed to the extension of the eastern boundary 
of the district. This affected a long strip of country from Yehim in 
the north along the hne of the Tizu which became, to its junction 
with the Hipu, the boundary of the administered area (as it is to this 
day) down to Sohcmi [Sahunyu] on the south. Mr. Noel Williamson 
who was then Subdivisional Officer of Mokokchung (subsequently~ 
as Assistant Political Officer, Sadiya, to be murdered by Abors in' 
1911) went through the part of the newly annexed country which lay 
in his subdivision in March 1904 and was well received; Major Howell 
went· a week later to the villages lying to the southern part of the 
area concerned. He also had no difficulties, but he lays emphasis in 

• Assam Secretariat, For., A. August 1904. NOI.41-56. 
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his report on the menace of the Aisban Kuki villages to the east who 
were "a terror to the country side" especially as they were estimated 
to be armed in the proportion of a gun a piece for 200 houses. 

In 1905* occurred the second expedition against Mozungjami­
the filst was conducted by Mr. Porteous in 18S9-sitl,1,a~ed abou,t 20 
miles east of Mokokchung and known by its own Chang inhabitants 
as Tue-nsang 01" Yemkhung. This expedition ~as. sanctioned by the 
Government of India in 190! and it started from Mokokchung on the, 
12thJanuary 1905 wlth Mr W. J. Reid, the Deputy Commissioner, 
in charge, accompanied by Mr. Williamson, and an escort of 100 Il,len 
of the Naga Hi.us Military Police, under Captain H. A. H. Thomp­
son, the Commandant. They arrived at their destination on the 15tlJ. 
January and found both the offending khels, Pelasi [Bil.ashj] and 
Chongpo deserfed. These they burnt in reprisal for the killing of tWQ 
Serna coolies and they then devastated the country and destroyed th# 
possessions of the villagers The punishment meted out is described as 
severe. The expedition, however, instead of staying up to 26th J anu­
ary as was intended had to depart prematuraly on the 22nd on ac .. 
count of choleraic diarrhoea breaking out among the coolies. This 
prevented the operations being as thoro:ugh as the Deputy Commission­
er desired and he wQuld have liked to exact further punishment sub­
sequently. The Chief Commissioner, Mr. Fuller, was however, suffi­
ciently satisfied with the results, though it was realised that it was only 
Chongpu which made reparation while Pelasi made nOlle. Little more 
than 2 years after the receipt of the Government of India's sanction 
to the shifting forward of the eastern boundary of our area of con­
trol, the Local Government again addressed them with a similar re­
quest. Their Jetter No. 6119-J., t dated the 7th June 1906, arose out 
of certain strongly worded complaints which were submitted by the 
J;>eputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills on the 11th July 1905 re­
garding the state of affairs just across his eastern border, of which the 
following are ex.tracts !-

"4 .............. iQ the ea,rly nineties raiding on our imm.ediate fron-
tier lJ.~ ,been put a stop, to to a great extent. Since then, as we have 
~Q no no~ice of savage acts. of I;>lpodshe<;l, the country is lapsing 
into its former state~ and if we maintain the nop-interference policy 
it will be onJy a matter of time before it returns to the condi tion in 
which we fQund it. From. a purely official point of \'jew th~ pre­
seQ.~ .policy of allowing this barbarous w()rfare to be carried on is an 
exceJleQ.t one, provided thue is no fear of th,e sanctity of 0Wi border 
bf;ing viplatecL Ther,e should be no grounds for this fear, however, jf 
we were t,o sl)ow ourselves more across the ftontier. I have said that 
tbe or~rs,in th~ Yachumi case as regards touring across our I;>ordet: 
AAv.e not beeQ the cause of the present condition of affairs. Bu~ these 
or.de.rs, h~ve had a diatJnct effect in lessening our infh.leQc~ acr,os~ t4e 
borq~r. 

• • • 

• Assam Secretariatl For., A, Aprill90S, Nos. 1-50. 
t Eastern Bengal and,Asall~ Secret~iat, r,olitical, A, J~ly 190~, No •. 25.82. 
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The total number of murders, therefore, about which I have 
received reportS amounts to 545 during the last 31 years. For the rea­
sons given in my last Annual Report it might not have been possible 
to prevent the murders across the Tizu which during 1904 and 1905 
amount to 130. But all the other 324 murders, or an average of over 
90 a year, which have all occurred in a portion of the frontiet not 
much more than 30 miles in lergth, could have been prevented with­
out any increase to the MiJituy Police Battalion and without the ex­
penditure of a single extra rupee. These figures, it must be remem­
bered, represent only the numbers of murders about which I have 
received information. As pointed out in my Annual Report others 
must take place about which nothing is ever heard. 

6. If the present awful condjtion of affairs is to cease, the only 
solution as far as I can ~ee is annexation. Let the country annexed 
be ("ailed a political control area if necessary, but let the inhabitants 
dearly understand that they are British subjects, and as such they 
may look to Government for protection and redress in return for the 
obligatjons we impose on them as regards raiding. I have written 
at length on thi~ subject in my Annual Report. If we cannot annex, 
I think our policy ~hould be one of strict non-interference. If a 
savage comes to us for protection or redress which we cannot give 
him on the grounds that our policy is one of non-intervention, we 
can hardly in turn, I take it, place restrictions on him as regards 
raiding and expect him to consider the feelings of Government on this 
subject. 

7. I would mention here that Mr. Davis sent a note to the 
Secretariat in about April 1903 on the state of affairs of this frontier. 
This note was written by him after seeing the village of Alisibo bUrning 
before his eyes on the 25th March 1903 while on tour at Mokok­
chuug." 

In referring the matter to the Government of India in their letter 
No.6119-J., dated the 7th June 1906 the Government of Eastern Bengal 
and Assam enquired "whether the Government of India would assent 
to the exercise of the authority of this Government in. order to ("heck 
the perpetration of barbarities by the inhabitants of villages whi<;h 
lie a short distance across the eastern frontier of the Naga Hills 
district." They were"confident that the Government of India will agree. 
in the view that it is exprdient to intervene for the prevention pf 
these atrocities if intervention will not add materially to the respon­
sibilities of British Government". The general lines 'of policy which Sir 
Bamprylde Fnller advocated were explained thUs :...::..::. 

"4. Should the Government of India' approve an extension' of the 
authority of the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills district,. the 
Lieutenant·Governor would advocate no considerable change of policy. 
He would simply move on the lines which were recommended 16 years 
ago and establish an area of 'political control' along and beyond the 
eastern frontier of the district. He has but little faith in casual 
'promenades', or in isolated punitive intervention ; ana he believes 
that nothing short of a direct declaration of continuous- intervention 
will put an end to the raiding of one village upon another. He is 
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assured by his officers that such a declaration would have to be EUpple­
men ted by a very small amount of punishment in order to maintain the 
sanctity of human life: and their opinion is entirely borne out by our 
experience with the areas of 'political control' which formerly existed 
but have now been included in the district...... In one respect the 
Lieutenant-Governor would depart from the policy of the past in that 
he would not attempt at prc:-sent to define with precision the outside 
boundary of the belt of 'political control'. The country is not well 
known, and the existing maps are not reliable. Moreover it is plain 
that the area over which our influence should be exerted should be 
marked by tribal rather than by territorial limits, and should be 
defined by lists of villages, not by geographical features. Beginning 
with the southern extremity of the belt our intervention should cer­
tainly reach th.e three villages or Melomi, Lepvomi and Primi.. .... 

The geographical limits which are mentioned above are, however, 
merely intended as a general indication of direction. It is proposed 
that the Deputy Commissioner should be authorised to list the vil1ages 
which should be brought under our influence, subject to the limitations 
that they should constitute a fairly compact area, and that they should 
lie at no greater distance than two marches from the present frontier 
of the district or than 12 miles as the crow flies. 

5. If, as is proposed, the assertion of our control is gradually 
brought home to the people, the Lieutenant-Governor is assured that 
the contingency need not be apprehended of any very severe or exten­
sive measures of punishment. It is possible that some of the trans­
Dikhu villages may be disposed to resent interference; but it is very 
improhable indeed that anything further will be needed than a show 
of strength. Sir Bampfylde Fuller believes indeed that the great 
majority of the villages will accept without unwillingness an authority 
to which their neighbours are subject and which brings much material 
advantage in its train. There is no intention of interfering in petty 
quarrels. It would be our policy to repress raiding within the area of 
control, and to protect villages within this area from being raided by 
those on the further side of them. The latter obligation may seem to 
involve rather wide possibilities. But the experience of the past has 
shown that the protection of the British Government, once formally 
asserted, is respected by the tribesmen, and with the exc..:ption of the 
attack on Nongsemdi (in the Ao country) which occurred in 1888, the 
former area of political contro] remained practically immune from 
outside aggression." 

The Government ofIndia, replying at leisure in their letter No.SIl­
E.C.· of the 12th February 1907, were far from sympathetic. They re­
iterated at unusual length and with unusual emphasis their adherence 
"to the principle of accepting no responsibility for the protection of life 
and property beyond the administrative line of British territory" and 
th,e fact that they "had no .desire .to. hast~n the day when the outlying 
tnbes would fall under their admmISlIatlon". They characterised the 
Eastern Bengal and Assam Government's proposal al; being in 

·Eastern Bengal and Assam, Secretariat Political, A, March 1908, Nos.I.IS, 
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opposition to their declared policy, and, after reviewing the course of 
policy which had been adopted for the last twenty-five years, they 
pronounced themselves quite definitely as being opposed to any gene... 
ral change of policy. The only thing they would consider was whether 
there were any particular circumstances in the Naga Hills' case such 
as to make it desirable to make an exception. They, therefore, cauti­
ously and without committing themselves, asked for further information 
on various points which they enumerated. The Local Government 
took a considerable time to reply to this letter and in the meanwhile 
made enquiries frOJ;ll their subordinate officers. These enquiries 
elicited some striking facts. The Commissioner in a letter dated the 
26th September 1907 mentions a peculiarly bad instance in which, 
in January 1906, 250 persons had been butchered at the fords of the 
Dikhu by trans-frontier ~agas, the survivors of whom he himself saw 
when on tour Similarly, Major H. W. G. Cole who had formerly 
been Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills wrote on the. 20th June 
1907 from the Lushai Hills where he was then stationed and pronounc­
ed himself in no uncertain 'terms on the subject. The only sensible 
thing to do was to accept as inevitable the ultimate absorption of all 
unadministered territory between India and Burma; if our advances 
in this direction were to be gradual, they should be at any rate be 
constant, and the sooner the thing was faced the better. Thirdly, 
Mr. A. W. Davis, who was then the Deputy Commissioner of the 
Naga Hills, dealt at length with the subject in his letter No.584.G., 
dated the 6th July 1907 and concluded by saying that "We shall have 
no real peace until \\'e have absorbed the whole hill area between this 
and the Chindwin. This can be done gradually and economically. 
As it is, the huge area of uncontrolled hill couI1try bt"tween Assam and 
Burma is an anomaly." The East Bengal and Assam Government of 
which by this time Sir Lancelot Hare was the head, replied to the 
Government of India in their letter No.5204-J., dated the 7th Decem­
ber 1907. They traced the history of our relations with our tribal 
areas flom 1840 to 1904. They referred with regret to the. effect that 
the orders of Government in 1900 prescribing the necessity of o!:>taining 
previous sanction had had in putting a stop to tours beyond the frontier. 
They strongly supported the view that there was a special case for 
extension of control on the Naga Hills border. 'His Honour does not 
presume" the letter ran, "to criticize the general policy of the 
Government of India, and he ha'. no desire to see the sphere of British 
authority unnecessarily widened, but it seems impossible to avoid the 
responsibilities of sovereignty, and as each successive area gradually 
settles down under our administration the necessity arises for pushing 
back the pale of barbarism from its borders. The case for the Naga 
Hills appears particularly strong owing to the savagery with which 
the feuds there are conducted and now that law and order are estab­
lished within the district, Sir Lancelot Hare would say in the words 
used by the Secretary of State [Lord Cranbrook] of 1878, "that the 
continuance in immediate proximity to settled districts of a system of 
internecine warfare conducted principally against women and children 
cannot be tolerated." In conclusion reference was made to a parti. 
cular aspect of the matter which required decision, i.e., that difficulty 
had arisen owing to the fact that part at least of the coal-bearin~ tract 
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which European finns wished to explQit lay outside the area of British 
administration. The necessity of early orders regarding an area of 
control which had been put forward in their Jetter written so long ago 
as 7th June 1906, or Ii years previously, was urged. 

On the main object, in continuation of the Jetter of December 
1907, to which no reply had apparently been received, Eastern Bengal 
and Assam again wrote in their letter No.245D-J., dated the 18th 
May 1908 and again begged for orders on the question of taking over 
a number of villages in order to put down outrages and raiding. The 
general effect of the letter was that they wanted to extend the area 
of control on the eastern-frontier from the Dikhu down to Melomi 
fMeluri] in the south-east corner, where the ~ukis' appressiou of 
Angami village on our border had been particularly troublesome. 

'1he Government of India recommended these proposals in writing 
to the Secretary of State in their Foreign Department letter No. U2, 
dated the 16th July 1908. 

"3 ........ .it is urged on grounds-whIch are in our opinion ad-
equate-- that there is no reason to apprehend that tbe proposed exten­
sion will involve military operations or additional expenditure. It 
will be observed that Sir Lancelot Hare conCurs in the opinion of his 
predecessor as to the desirability of permitting the officers of the 
Naga Hills District to exercise some control over the tribes just across 
the frontier, and with this conclusion we are forced to agree. On a 
full consideration of the whole case, we think that we should be 
accepting a grave responsibility if, in opposition to the advice of 
successive Lieutenant-Governors supported by the practically una­
nimous opinion of local frontier officers, we declined to take steps to 
ensure the safety of our frontier villages and to put a stop to horrible 
barbarities when we have the power, more especialJy when this end 
can be achieved without adding to our expenditure or increasing 
our political risks. 

4. It is, in our opinion, sufficiently clear from the correspon­
dence, which we forward for your Lordship's perusal, that fitful 
intervention and occasional punitive expeditions have in the past 
pro'. ed ineffectual, whereas in areas of political control the protection 
of the British Government has converted scenes of chronic murder and 
intestine feud to peace and agriculture. The Secretary of State in his 
Despatch No. 107 {Political), dated the 5th December 1878, expressed 
the opinion that the gradual extension of 'British authority over these 
independent tribes must be regarded as inevitable. "The continuance," 
he said, "in immediate proximity to ~ettled British districts of a 
system ofinternecine warfare, conducted principally against women 
and children, cannot be tolerated," , 

We desire therefore, with your Lordship's approval, to accept the 
proposals of the Government of Eastern Bengal and Assam for an 
extension of the area of our political controL ........... " 

. Eastern Bengal and Assam Seqetariat, Political, A,June 1908, NOll.32-3'. 
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In spite howe VeIl of this stJong recommendation the Secretary of 
State (Lord Morley~ declined 10 accede to the proposals. He said \ his 
.Despatch No. 128 .. (PoliticaJ) dated 13th November 1908) . 

eel haye ,c9J)Si,d~red in Cpu.o.cil tht letter of Your E~cellency's 
Governm~nt in the Fot~ign Depart;ment Np.).32, dated the 16th JlJly 
19Q~ .. recoD)J;llending ~t steps show.d be la~.et.l to ~~t~ y.o.ur 
p'0li.tic,a,I cppt];ol ov.er ~ tribes ~n a limited ",trip of tJ:rritQry a.djoin.i.n.g 
i;hJ: <tast~m. horder .of the N~a_Hil.ls D,ist.rict. To gj~e (:ifec;t to .:thls 
policy, it is proposed that the Deputy Commissioner with an eSCQrt iJ.wl 
sUTVeyOI'~, :;l;lWJ.lp ~e ~ top,r d:uring t,he C9J;Iling soJQ we.Mher ip the 
tribal area in question, it being left to h,is d,iscreti,on, :;.u,bject to g~er~l 
direction, to decide what places to visit. ViUages at a distaQce of 
more than 12 miles from:-the administrative border are not, .as a rule, 
to be included.. and Q.O attempt will be madCil at present to define 
geographically the limits of the proposed area of co.ntrol. The local 
Go.vernment have satis,fied you that the policy you recommend in­
.volves no. political risk, and will cause no increase either of military 
police or of expenditure. The cost of the tour, I understand, would be 
borne by provincial revenues. 

2. The force of the re~o.tl:Il ~h.~t ip Ul781~ Lord Sali$bu.ry (sic], 
in the despatch to which yoq refer, to e~press the v\ew that a geQcral 
~xten~op Qf Briti~h authority over the indep~ent tril),Cs in these 
regions was p.r3cticaIly unavoidable, CaIl{lot be gain:;~i.d. B.w in 18~4 
th,e GOveJnIPwt of Inqia fOUI!cl it necessary to deline J!).ore closely the 
principle of policy to be pursued, and th..ey laid down, fpr tl?-e guidance 
of the ~ocal GovernII\e.nt, that jnt~fer~nce with trip~l q~arrels shc:nlld, 
as ~ rule, be limited to ca$e,9 involving either Qutrflges Olil :British 3lJ.b­
jects, or violation of the Inner Line, or danger to the intere..sts pf dwel­
lers within tile llrit\sh pqr~er by r<i<;\~op of the proxi.qljty of di.sturbance 
out~d.e. 

3. The objections based OR th~~ fund~m~ntal and es~entially sound 
principle of po~cy to the proposals first submitted, when Sir B. Fuller 
was Lieutenant-Governor, for bringing the area of tribal territory in 
question under political confrol, were stated mest convin~ingly in the 
letter of your Government to the Local Government of the 12th Feb­
ruary 1907. The impression produced on me by wha.:t you then wrote 
is that at the ti~e you were of !'pinion that no neces.iity h~d -peen 
established for a departure from the policy of non-i~terferepce. V,Qu, 
however, tho~ght it desirable te refer the matter back for Sir L. Hare's 
consideration, with ~~ecial referenc.e to the question whether, in the 
event of the tract which it w~s proposed to control being brought ufii­
matdy under direct administration, the tax.es to be levied from the in­
habitants would be likely to cover aU expenditure, direct and indirect, 
that w.ould be incurreq for it~ ~dmini,st;ration a,nd prQ(ectiQn. It is 
tru~ tlw-t the Local. Government in tAeir reply spe:ak re~s.u.r.i.ngly on 
):h~ poipt, but they do not conceal-the f~c.t th~t tl;l.e lqgical Qutcome of 
the slight extension of political control now proposed -is the ahsorp,tjQn 
of the entire tract of country, 60 miles in width, bdween the Naga 
Hills Dis.tFict and the territories subject to the Gover.QIIlent .of Burma. 
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4. It is with reference to these wider consequences, and not merely 
to those immediately following on the measures now proposed, that 
the question must be considered and decided. I am not satisfied that 
the action Your Excellency would now take may not produce results 
wider and more serious than are at present anticipated. Nor am I 
satisfied on the facts as reported that it is at the present moment 
necessary, in the interests of the dwellers within the British border, that 
there should be a departure from the principle of non~interference by 
the extension of the area of our responsibilities on thls section of the 
frontier. 

5. I am therefore compelled to withhold my sanction from the 
measure which you submit for my approval." 

The proposal was not to be raised again till six years later. 
A separate proposal as regards coal~bearjng tracts, had in Octo~ 

ber 1907 (our No.4461-J.,- dated the 23rd October 1907) a1ready been 
sent up to the Government of India whereby the village of Kongan 
[Kongnyu] east of the Dikhu river, which then formed the eastern 
boundary of the Mokokchung subdivi"ion, should be included in the 
district. This was a large coal-bearing area and business interests 
desired to ~xploit it. The effect of the proposal was to include the 
whole country lying between the Dikhu and the Safrai river. This 
was followed by a further letter No. 2384-J, t dated the 18th May 1908 
in which the inclusion of an extended area covering the whole of that 
part of the subdivision now lying between the Dikhu and its present 
north-east and south boundaries and including such places as Borjan, 
Wakching, Wanching and Longkhai was recommended. The Gov­
ernment of India had apparently no great difficulty in acceding to this 
proposal and sanctioned it in their letter No. 2292-F. C., dated the 
1st July 1908. 

Further correspondence ended in Notification No. 6S-P., t dated 
the lst February 1910, which added 14 Konyak villages between the 
Yangnyu and the Safrai to the district. The boundaries which it 
describes hold good to this day. The only difference is that there is 
now beyond this boundary a control area which includes the important 
villages of Mon and Chi and which stretches south of them for many 
miles down to the Serna country. It is interesting to observe in the 
light of subsequent events that the then Subdivisional Officer of 
Mokokchung, Mr. Needham, had written on the lst November,t 1909 
and pointed out the influence which these two villagc.s exerted over 
villages within this territory and the necessity of explaining to them 
that they would no longer be allowed to interfere. In the District 
RC'port for 1914-15 it is recorded that the Nazira Coal Company 
worked the Borjan Colliery throughout the year, output being 778 tons. 

Eastern Bengal and Assam Secr\'tariat, Political, A, June 1908, Nos. 32-34. 
Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, Political, A, May 1909, Nos. 21-24. 
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THE NAGA HILLS 143 

In October 1908 Mr. W. C. M. Dundas, I.P., the Subdivisional 
Officer, Mokokchung, reported fresh misconduct by Mozungjami. 
The Pelasi and Chong po khels of Mozungjami had in 1903 
committed certain outrages and were in consequence visited 
in 1905 by the then Deputy Commissioner (see page 141 ante). 
But full punishment was not exacted, and up to 1908 Pelasi were still 
in arrears with their fine and it was Chong po who had committed the 
fresh outrage reported by Mr. Dundas in October. Sir Lancelot Hare 
decided to put an end to the unsatisfactory position and he obtained 
the agreement of the Central Government in their letter No.1041-E.B., 
dated the 23rd June 1909 to sending an expedition. The expedition was 
entirely successful and its doings wel e reported in laudatory terms to 
tht:: Supreme Government in the Eastern Bengal and Assam 
Government's letter No.168-P., dated the 1st March 1910. 
Colonel Woods was inC Political charge as Deputy Commissioner 
with Major Bliss, who was then Commandant of the Naga l{ills 
Military Police, in charge of the escurt of 100 Military Police. 
They left Mokokclmng on the 20th December 1909,' reached 
Mozungjami on the 24th, remained there on the 25th and left on the 
26th. The behaviour of the Nagas was irreproachable, so Colonel 
Woods contented himself with imposing an additional fine -of 5 mithan 
on the Pelasi Khel. In his report the doings of Chongpo are not men­
tioned. The current Mozungjami version of this expedition is 
perhaps worth recording. According to it the first demand of the 
Sirkar was for the men responsible for the outrage. To this Tuensong 
replied" Does a hunter give away h;s hounds?". The next demand 
was for a fine in money. To this the reply was, " We have no coins. 
We heal: the Sirkar makes coins. If they are short, let them make 
some more." The final demand was for mithan. To this no reply 
was given, and the expedition had to toil many weary miles only to 
find them tied up ready outside the gates. 

The Expedition of 1910 against the Aishan Kukis, a tribe who 
had been continually oppressing the local Nagas on our border in the 
most brutal way, originated in the murder at Melomi in 1909 of two 
British subjects of Temimi [Kizare] village. In Major Howell's letter 
No.421.G.,* dated the 8th June 1909, he explained that these trouble­
some people belonged to a wild tract lying between the eastern border 
of Manipur and the Chindwin river, which extended to the north to a 
point beyond the Tizu. There were two. groups of Kukis, the Aishan 
Kukis, who -occupied the area to the north, and the Chasad Kukis, 
who occupied an area to the south, separated from the Lanier Valley 
by a high range of mountains. Between the two groups lay the Somra 
tract inhabited by Tangkhul Nagas. In reporting the matter to the 
Government of India in their letter No.4079, dated the 5th August 
1909, the Local Government referred to the Temimi murder and also 
to two raids which had been made by the same people into Manipur 
territory from Kangzang [Kanjang 1 near Lapvome [Lephori 1 in 
unadministered territory. The expedition was agreed to. It was on a 

Ea~iern Bengal and A'sam Secretariat, Pot, A, July 1910, Nos. 55-96. 
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fairly large scale, the escort consisting of 150 men of the Naga Hills 
Military Pollee, under the command of Major BlIss with two British 
Officers, Captam G. F. Porter of the 17th Infantry and Lif'utenant 
Hardcastle, Assistant Commandant of the Police. Mr. Cosgrave, VIce­
PresIdent of the Manipur State Durbar, joined the expedItion at 
Melomi It reached Kangjang on the 19th February where 
the ChIef was arrested and kept In custody. On the 23rd February 
it reached Yangnoi where sImIlar arrests were made On the 5th 
March It returned to Kohima. There was no opposItion throughout, 
but Colonel Woods reported that local conditIOns were such as to 
require drastic action He proposed-and he started carrying out this 
proposal-that all KuklS should be disarmed (by the 31st May he had 
had surrendered to him 116 guns). Secondly, he considered that all 
Kukts should be ordered to return to their original homes in Manipur. 
Thirdly, he left a substantial guard at Meiomi which was to remain 
there untllllls orders had been carried out. As regards MeLlmi and 
Priml, though the paragraph in Woods' report referring to them were 
left out when his report was forwarded to the Goyernment of IndIa, 
It appears that he quite defimtely took over these villages and told 
them so at the tIme: Woods stated this III a note* re·'orded on the 
6th November 1912, and this was confirmed by the then ChIef Secre­
tary. Next he decided to keep seven prominent mea, as well as the 
Alshan "RaJa", a seml-lmbeClle boy, as hostages untIl the fine was paid 
and the orders carried out. La~tly, he adVised that Komyang and hIS 
Chasad Kukis should be warned that they must restrict themselves to 
thf' territory south of the mountain range previously referred to. This 
Chief and his men dominated the Somra Tract, which is geographi­
cally in Burma and shut off by high mountains from the Lamer Valley. 
The Government of Burma were asked to inform Komyang of these 
orders and they agreed to do so The letter No.3aO-p., from the 
Eastern Bengal and Assam Government reporting the results of the 
expedition to the Government of India, which is dated the 30th May 
1910, is somewhat inconclusive but presumably Government were wait­
ing to see the effect of the orders which it was proposed to issue to the 
Kukis One point which they did make was that Meloml and Primi 
had rendered Government the fullest assistance and that "it would be 
impossIble to abandon them to the revenge of these bloodthirsty 
savages" (paragraph 4 of the letter). 

In 1910-11, the principal event was the expedition in collaboration 
with Burma to Makware a village situated "high up on the great 
divide between A~sam and Burma at an elevation of some 7,000 feet 
in a desolate valley surrounded with mountams covered with snow", 
and overlooked by the great mountain of Sarameti (12,557), in repri­
sal for a raid committed in January 1910 on the frontier vIllage of 
Naungmo in the Upper Chindwin District of Burma (As regard, the 
place-names, Colonel Woods comments as follows m his report: "I 
have not been able to ascertam where the name Sarameti came from. 

*Assam SecretarIat, Pol., A, July 1913, Nos.67-73 
Eastern Bengal and Assam SecretarIat, Pol., A, August 1911, Nos. 13-31. 



THE NAGA HILLS 145 

Among the Eastern Angamis the hill is called Mekriketu, the Thet­
chumi people call it Atso, and Melami, Puchlml, etc., call it Mera, 
nowhere is the name of Sarametl known ! . .. . .. 
The name Makware is not known on this side, and the Makwares 
themselves call their village Dzulechili, and the neighbouring villages 
call it Gufechiri") The Assam Column was under Lieutenant­
Colonel Woods and consisted of Major C. BlIss, Commandant, Lieu­
tenant Hardcastle, Assistant Commandant and 100 rank and file of the 
Naga Hills Military Police, Captain R H. Lee, I M.S., Captain V. R. 
Cotter, LA., of the Survey vf India, Captain Molesworth, Intelligence 
Officer and Mr Pascoe of the Geological Survey of India Colonel 
Woods had arranged that the Burma Column which was under Mr. W. 
Street, Assistant CommissIOner, WIth Captam J. Simpson, Burma 
MIlitary Police, should meet the Assam Force at or near Thetchumi 
on January 15th Street, however, encountered tremendous difficul­
ties on the route and eventually marched into Woods' camp at 
Puchiml on January 20th. They were therefore 10 days behind 
schedule when the combmed force started off on the 25th January 
from Thetchumi on the march to Makware, which they reached on the 
31st January They had to open fire before entering the village, 
kIlhng 5 Nagas, but there was no further opposition. The village was 
burnt and the two Columns returned on 1st February to their respec­
tive bases. Comenting on the ExpeditIOn to the Government of India 
in their letter No.294-P., dated the 6th May 1911, the Eastern Bengal 
and Assam Government wrote-

"Under the most favourable circumstance the march from Tetcha­
nasami to Makware or Dzulechlli, as it would appear to be more 
correctly called, would bf' an arduous one; two ridges over 8,000 feet 
in height having to be crossed before the village is reached. But the 
circumstances unfortunately were far from favourable and the force 
was exposed to great discomfort from the exceedingly inclement wea­
ther. I t speaks well for the physique of the men and coolies employed 
and of the excellent management of the expedition that these hardships 
were attended with so httle actual sicknc3s 

4 On the 31st of January 1911 the expeditIOn reached Makware, 
and as the vIllagers declined to come m or to lay down their arms, 
the Political Officer had no optIOn but to fire upon them, for, as he 
rightly observes, to enter the village with men armed with cross-bows 
concealed on every side, would have entailed serious and absolutely 
unjustifiable loss upon our men. The punishment inflicted upon Mak­
ware was severe, but, in the Lieutenant-Governor's opinion, it was in 
no way excessive. The murderous character of the inhabitants of 
these hills is unfortunately too well known and the kn0wledge by the 
tribesmen that Government is alike able and WilllOg to punish wrong­
doers with a heavy hand is the one thmg which checks the perpetration 
of the most atrocious outrages. HIS Honour regrets that it was not 
possible to recover the captIve boy, but he has little doubt that with 
two hostages in the hands of the Burma Government there will be 
no difficulty in arranging for his surrender. 
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5. The immediate object of the expedition was attained and the 
results are hkely to be far-reaching. The junction of the Burma and 
the Naga Hills forces cannot fail to produce a great effect upon all the 
tribesmen living in this Jocality. The' Political Agent of Manipur has 
already taken the opportunity to point out to Komyang, the Kuki 
Chief~ who, from time to time, has gIVen trouble in the Somra basin 
that this junction has taken place and that Komyang can no longer 
hope to be able to trek to the north and east beyond the reach of the 
British Government and that his only chance is therefore to live quietly 
and peacefulJy with his neighbours and not provoke the wrath of a 
Government from which there can be no escape. All the villages lying 
in the valleys near the Somra range have learnt that their remoteness 
and isolation are no defence if they offend against the paramount 
power and thi~ knowledge crumot fail to have a restraining effect upon 
their murderous propensities." 

In August 1910* Colonel J. Shakespear, the Political Agent in 
Manipur, addressed the Eastern Bengal and Assam Government and 
asked fOf permission to lead an expedition in order to punish the Kuki 
villages of Limkhuthang [Letkuthang] and Papang for certain outrages 
which they had committed against Manipur subjects. He also urged 
very strongly that it was time that the Somra Tract, in which these 
villages lay, should be brought under control. He considered, like 
most others, that Somra should naturally be administered by Burma. 
Sanction was given and Shakespear led an expedition which consisted 
of a company of the 17th Native Infantry under Captain B. J. Fagan 
and SOme men of the Manipur State Military Police to these villages 
iii February' 191rt. The offending villages were duly punished and 
one of them~ Phuntret, was burnt. Colonel Shakespear reported that 
"'the effect of the promenade has been very good ". The proposal as 
regards taking over the Somra Tract was not then accepted by Govern .. 
ment as a feaSible proposition. 

Chinglong 191O-J913.-0n 23rd June 1910 Mr. J. Needham, Sub. 
divisional Officer, Mokokchung (a son of F. J. Needham of Sadiya 
fame) reported a raid by the Konyak village of Chinglong from across 
the Yangnu 011 Chingtang, a village across the Dikhu but inside our 
newly annexed Konyak territory (vldl Notification No.68-P., dated the 
ht February 1910). He proposed to visit the village in the cold 
weather. Later, on the 17th November 1910, he reported a further 
complication, i.I., a raid by Longkai, one of our newly annexed trans­
Dikhu villages, on Mongne across our border. 

In a demi-officialletter No.62-P., dated 28th January 1911, the 
Commissioner's attention was drawn to the Goverrunent of India's 
ortlera contained in their letter No.1046-E., dated the 18th May 1900, 
which laid down restrictions on operations on the border. The Com­
missioner, however, replied that there was little risk likely to arise out 
of a visit to Chinglong. The orders issued to Mr. Needham were that 
he wa~ to vil!it Chinglong only if the Chinglong people refused to 

-Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, Pol., A. January 1911, NOl. 16-38. 
fEastern Ben,aland Aa~am Secretariat, Pol., A. AUgUbt J911, NOB. 2-12. 
Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat; Pol., B, August 1911, NOB.a9.8J. 
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attend an enquiry which he was directed to make ; and :he ,!Was .given 
no authority to lnflict any punishment. It appears Jthat }he took ,aD 
~cort of 80 men oj the Naga Hills .Military 'Police urlder Captain 
Hamilton and held an enquiry at Chingtang. :Four of ,the I Chinglong 
men came in and he took their statements. :Heiaund, that the fault lltoY 
with the Chingtang people and the Longkai people and Ihe ,was inclined 
to treat the doings of Chinglong with considerable leniency. Be that 
as it may, he marched On Chinglong on the 4th February, 1911. T.he 
reasons he gave in his !'eport were that the four men who came to.meet 
him at:Chingtang were not Chiefs, that the, Chinglong Chiefs who had 
had notice to come in had refused and therefore he decided to,.go to 
them. They resisted. He retaliated by firing on them.,and ,he .burnt 
the village. His conduct received the severe condemnation of Govern­
ment, the ChiefSecretary.::temarking' that it ,was most improper and the 
Commissioner also characterised his behaviour as BhowingJa "lament­
able lack of discretion and disobedience of orders". An I explanation 
was called for, but was not accepted as satisfactory. The ,Commia­
sioner commented· that' Mr. Needham's action " ..•..... was, as'"unjusti" 
flable as it was certainly against orders ...... From -the tone lof lthe 
explanation it is clear that Mr. Needham entirely failR -:to: maJise dUs 
position and that he·was determined ,to visit lthe ,village ~nd -rinilict 
punishment -at 'al1 hazards." ,Governmentlagreed" an cxpressjon (bf 
their displeasure was conveyed,to Mr. Needham:and ne Mas ,-transfer'­
red from' the 'subdivision. 

Chinglong again became prominent,in'191Z. lIn Augustt 'Iofltthat 
year, when'Mr. J. E. Webster was 'Deputy _'Commissioner, "CertaiJl 
British subjects of'Wanchingwere murdered by '-6 independent .Nagas 
of Chinglong from across the border'opposite WanchinglandJAD expedi­
tion to punish the offenders was sa:tlctioned. ,Before the I expeditian 
could 'start further raids took place which were attribu.ted rto 
Chinglong and it ,wiis,apparent that the 3 villages of. the Tmok Jgroup 
as well as Ching10ng and Chongwe were in a truculent mood: ,The 
temper also.ofthe villages within our border, recently ,annexed, .was 
uncertain, and there was danger in the'possible. attitude of Man and 
Chi in unadministered territory. 'Ascmm wauhol't of :milit.ary ,poli~e 
owing to the Abor and Mishmi surveys which had absorbed 1,100 men 
for escorts, and h"d recourse to borrowing 150 men of the ,Dacca 
Military Police Battalion under Captain.H. G. Bally, Commandant 
and Lieutenant E. D. Dallas-Smith~ Assistant Commandant. 

--------------------------------~------------~--~----~ 
• Eastern Bengal and Assan:l Secretariat, Pol., B, March 1912, Nos.185"\193. , . 
t Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, Pol., At January 1913, ·Nos.l,-39." 

Mr. J. P. Mills comments as follows on this incident. "C,hinglong'lI conre.sion. 
which I believe to be true, has always been that they handed over the- real culprits, 
but that Wanching persuaded the SubdivisiQnal Officer to believe that they were 
substituted slaves. Chinglong, having dODe their best to carry out orders, then 
decided that all they could do was to fight and the opinion· of their 41~ighbours was 
.tronglyon their side. After their puni$hment in 1911 it was hardly likely that they 
would be wantonly defiant". 
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This force with 40 men of the Naga Hills Military Police under 
Captain J. Hardcastle was under the general command of Lieutenant­
Colonel G. H. Loch, C.I.E., Commandant of the Lushai Hills Battalion. 
The instructions to the expedition given in Government letter 
No.376-P.,* dated the 221ld January 1913 were to demand the surrender 
of the murderers together with such reparation and punishment as was 
suitable, and permission was included to make a friendly visi t to Mon 
and Chi. The force entered and burnt Chinglongt on 5th February 
1913. But as the main force were carrying out the operation, the 
Nagas made a determined attack on and stampeded the baggage train, 
killing' sepoys and 9 coolies, wounding 5 sepoys and 27 coolies and 
tarrying off 3 rifles. The coolies were so demoralised that Colonel 
Loch decided to retire from Chinglong to Chingphoi in British ter­
ritory. In so doing he was actuated by what he considered to be the 
inadequacy of his force ; by the difficulties on account of water j and 
because he thought that the season was too advanced. He proposed 
to wait to resume operations until the cold weather. The Deputy 
Commissioner, Mr. Webster, on the other hand, wanted to undertake 
immediately the punishment of the offending villages and the Chief 
Commissioner agreed with him in holding that the sea~on was not too 
advanced; that the water problem was not insuperable; and, lastly, 
that it was most important that retribl1tion should not be postponed. 
The Government of India was addressed accordingly, on the 15th 
February 1913t urging the immediate necessity of action and asking for 
the assistance of Regular troops in the shape of 200 men of the 1/8th 
Gurkhas. The Central Government sent down Sir James Willcocks, 
the General Officer Commanding, Northern Army, to report. He 
recommended that the expedition should be sanctioned, that Colonel 
Loch should be sent back to the Lushai Hills and that Major Alban 
Wilson, D. S. 0., of the Gurkhas should take command of 
the Expedition. The Government of India agreed to this and 
stated that the officer commanding the Police part of the force 
musl be junior to Major Wilson. This, of course, necessitated the 
dropping of Colonel Loch. An interesting commentary on the whole 
incident is to be found in a demi-offidalletter dated the 26th February 
1913 from Colonel Woods, who was then Inspector-General of Police, 
but had spent many years in the Naga Hills, to Mr. Reid who was 
then Chief Secretary. In that letter it was made quite clear that the 
balance of opinion was against Colonel Loch in his attitude and this 
local opinion was fully supported by the General. Viewing it all at a 
much later date (1921) Mr. Reid expressed the opinion§ that Chinglong 
turned out as it did '"simply because the Commandant in charge, a 
lenior officer with a distinguished record but who had for years had 
nothing to do with our little trans-frontier shows refused to go on wit-h­
out reinforcements though his force was more than strong enough to 
smash the opposition." A punitive expedition was at once organised 

• ADam Secretariat, Pol., A, Jan. 1913, Nos.1-39. 
t Pol •• A, Mar. 1913, NOB.9-?? 
: Po!., A, Auguat, 1913, Nos.16-70. 
f Assam Secrf'tariat, Pol., A, February 1923, No •• l-S~. 
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under Major Wilson's command, the original force being augmented 
by 2 companies of the 1/8th Gurkhas. The Base Camp was located at 
Wakching. The operations were completely successful, the rifles were 
recovered, and the guilty villagers were severely punished. The six 
villages were completely destroyed between 10th and 19th March and 
at least 120 Nagas kiUed, their losses in men, guns and livestock being 
described in the official report as "very heavy". As a consequence a 
post Wall established at Wakching. Captain Hardcastle, I.A., Naga 
Hills Military Police, and Captains Kernahan, Orchard and Giffard 
took part in this expe&tion. 

Webster's comprehensive report· on this "Trans-Dikhu Tour" 
among what are now called the Konyaks, No.2S0-G., dated the 25th 
April 1913. is well worth,reading, especially the paragraphs on their 
relations with the Britisn. 

IV.-The extension oj the control area tifter 1913.-The Chief Com­
missioner (Sir Archdale Earle). in reporting the Chinglong incident of 
1913 to the Government of India in his letter No.2717-P.,t dated the 
5th June 1913, concluded his report with a warning regarding 
a very much wider question, viz" ,hat he would probably have to send 
up further proposals regarding an extension of our area of control. 
He reminded the Central Government of how the Eastern Bengal and 
Assam Government had sent up such proposals in 1906; how they 
had been first questioned and then accepted by the Government of 
India: and how they were finally negatived by Lord Morley, the 
Secretary of State. If they had been accepted, he thought, the events 
at Chinglong might never have happened. 

In September of that year the Chief Commissioner received 
proposals from the Commissioner for the inclusion in a Political Con­
trol Area of villages to the south of the Tizu river, Karami [Laruri], 
Phozami [Yisi] , Putsimi [Purr], Lapvomi [LephoriJ; as well as 
Melomi and Primi on the north. 

O'ur responsi.bilities for Melomi and Primi dated from 1910, when 
at the time of the Aishan Kuki Expedition they had been assured by 
Colonel Woods, the Deputy Commissioner, with the approval of the 
Commissioner, that they had been anneged, an assUIance which the 
Eastern Bengal and Assam Government neither approved nor dis­
avowed. The guard at Melomi was withdrawn in March 1912, but 
Mr. Webster, the Deputy Commissioner, writing in August of that 
year was uneasy about the situation as regards Kuki activity and asked 
how far he might go in assuring Melomi and Primi against Kuki 
aggression. Sir Archdale Earle considered that we could not abandon 
them now, and the Government of India had been addressed in Assam 
letter No.2931-P., dated the 18th June 1913 with the request that they 
might be assured of protection, and taken within the boundary of the 
district. 

• Assam Secretariat, Pol., A. August 1913, Nos.I6-70. 
tAssam Secretariat, Pol., A. July 1913, NOlI.61-13. 

( j 



150 THE NAGA HILLS 

After holding a conference * at Kohima on the 10th November 
1913 Sir Archdale decided to approach the Government of India 
once more. The outcome was a long letter No.1544-P., dated the 3rd 
April 1914 in which that Government were asked if they were pre­
pared again to address the Secretary of State. It referred to the pre­
vious correspondence contained in Eastern Bengal and Assam Jetter 
Nos.6119-J., dated the 7th June 1906, 5204-J., dated the 7th Decem­
ber 1907 and 2450, dated the 18th May 1908. It stated that the 
Chief Commissioner had reached the irresistible conclusion that we 
must extend our control. It recounted the "melancholy record" of 
outrages which had occurred since 1908, the date of the Secretary of 
State's last orders, outrages in which our officers had perforce no 
power to interfere; gave a history of events on the Naga Hills border 
since the Ea~t~rn Bengal and Assam Government had last addressed 
the Central Government and affirmed that if the Secretary of State 
had accepted the previous proposals, none of the expeditions under­
taken since 1909, except perhaps Makware, would have been necessary. 

"9. With no desire to criticise the policy of non-interference the 
Chief Commissioner is forced to the conclusion that, had the pro­
posals of the Government of Eastern Bengal and Assam found ac­
ceptance with His Majesty's Secretary of State, none of these expedi­
tions, save possibly the one against the village of Makware, would 
have been necessary. For reasons which have been fully explained to 
the Government of India the expedition against the village of Ching­
long was on a larger scale than any of the others, and the a!tsistance 
of regular troops ultimately proved to be necessary. The other ex­
peditions were all conducted by the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga 
Hills with the aid of the Military Police. The cost was trifling and 
the results were eminently satisfactory. 

Experience has, however, unfortunately proved that these results 
are only temporary. The inhabitants of a village which has been 
punished are for some time only too ready to obey orders. The Deputy 
Commissioner of the Naga Hills, to take a recent instance, has reported 
that, when he visited the trans-Dikhu British villages in Dec;ember 
last, he received envoys from Chinglong and t'le allied villages that 
were so severely punished in the last expedition, and that their attitude 
was most friendly. There is another unfortunate, but usually unavoid­
able, result of such expeditions. When a villtlge has been reduced to 
a defenceless condition it only too frequently becomes an object of 
attack to its neighbours, and to the punishment meted out by the 
British Government are added the horrors of organised attack by savagt" 
enemies. In March 1913 Chinglong and the other villages that had 
been punished in the expedition suffered severely from raids. and men 
from our own trans-Dikhu villages were sentenced by the Deputy Com­
missioner to long terms of imprisonment for taking part in these. It 
was largely on account of these considerations that Sir Bampfylde 
Fuller in 1906 stated that he had but little faith in casual "prome­
nades" or in isolated punitive expeditions, and that he believed that 
nothing short of.di.rect dec1arat~on of continuous intervention would put 
an end to the raldmg of one villagt' upon another. With these views 
Sir Archdale Earle is in complete accord. 

~--~---------------------·J\s •• m Secre~ariat. Pol., A, May 1914, NOI.1-16, 
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One effect of the abandonment of the earlier system of prome­
nades is that the Deputy Commissioner, whtn he crosses the border with 
an eSC'lrt, now does so only in order to punish some village or other. 
This is fully understood by our independent neighbours, and tlte oppor­
tunity of establishing friendly relations with the various communities 
along our borders no longer presents itself: 

10. lf, then, the Government of India are prepared to support 
him, the Chief Commissioner would venture to urge a new practically 
the same proposals that were made by the Government ot Eastern 
Bengal, and Assam. He would advocate the declaration of an area of 
Political control beyond the existing border of the Naga Hills 
District, and tI.e approximate limits of the country affected by the 
proposals are indicated roughly in the map attached to this letter ...... . 

ll. Subjec~ to the considerations set forth in the preceding para­
graph, I am to describe briefly the proposed outer limit of these pro­
posals so far as. we have any knowledge of this. Beginning at the 
eastern corner of the area added to the District in accordance with the 
sanction conveyed in Foreign Department letter No.1730-E.B., dated 
the 26th October 1909, it would run along the Yangnu river so as to 
include the whole of the Mozung or Chang tribe. It would continue 
in a southernly direction and include the whole of the Sema tribe, the 
greater portion of which is already under British administration, but 
the Chief Commissioner would prefer to await a report from the Deputy 
Commissioner before deciding whether the Yachumi group of villages 
should be included or excluded. Their exclusion was advised by the 
late Mr. A. W. Davis in a note which formed the annexure to Mr. 
Webster's letter No.2450:J., dated the 18th May 1908, but in this view 
Mr. Davis was not and is not supported by any of the other Assam 
Officers with experience of this frontier. Its southern limit would be 
the high range in which' the Kezatulazo Peak is situated, and which 
bounds th~ Somra tract of country. a tract to which reference will 
presently be made, and which undoubtedly falls within the sphere of 
influence of the Burma Government. It would include Melomi and 
Primi, and such other vLllages in the valley of the Lanier as could 
conveniently be controlled. Mr. Webster's letter No.2450-J., dated the 
18th May 1908, stated that Sir Lancelot Hare, as then advised, was not 
prepared to press for the inclusion of these villages. The Chief Com­
missioner has, earlier in the letter, given the reasons which have led 
him to urge the inclusion of Melowi and" Primi, and he is inclined to 
think that. as the Kukis have been expelled from this area, such vil­
lages situated therein as can conveniently be controlled should also 
be included. 

12. The control exerci~ed in the area described would, in the 
firs!: instarce, be of ·the loosest description, interference being limited 
to outrages and serious disputes. In this connection the Chief Com­
missioner desires to associate himself completely with the views ex­
pressed in paragraph 5 of Mr. Webster's letter No.6119-J., dated the 
7th June 1906. The prohibition of raiding in the area of control would un­
doubtedly inVfJlve the protection of its inhabitants from outside aggression, but 
such a contingency would rarely arise, and iff it did, could be dealt with 
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easily and at small expense. To facilitate the touring of the Deputy 
Commissioner, and to open up and civilise the area of control, the 
gradual construction of bridle paths would be necessary, but the work 
would largely be done by the adjoining villages. Ultimately the area 
would become an ordinary portion of the district, and house-tax. would 
be realised. In certain parts this step migh t be taken almost immedi~ 
ately. 

• • * • • 
15. The Chief Commissioner makes to attempt to disguise the fact 

that his proposals, if accepted, are the step towards the inclusion of a 
further area under British administration, and that at some future 
date the procf:SS will have to be repeated until the whole of th, country 
between As.am and Burma has been taken over. The inevitableness 
of his step has been recognised from the beginning by everyone, but 
the Government of India, and his Majesty's Secretary of State have 
expressly d.eclared that they have no desire to hasten the process. 
With this policy the Chief Commissioner venture respectfully to record 
his entire agreement. He feels strongly that our advance should be 
gradual, and he is confident that, if his proposals are accepted, the 
advance will be as gradual as may be desired. He thinks it unneces­
sary to add to all that has bren urged so often on the score of h~ma­
nity, and he trusts that he has lIucceeded in convincing the Government 
of India that the present sacrifice of human life can be stopped and 
peace be established in an extensive area without either difficulty 
or expense. For many years to come the Naga Hills district will not 
pay for the cost of its administration, if indeed it will ever do so, but 
the additional revenue, which will ultimately be realised from each 
fresh area included, will more than counterbalance the additional ex­
penditure involved. In paragraph 17 of Mr. Milne's letter No.5204-J., 
dated the 7th December 1907, it was stated that Sir Lancelot Hare 
believed that, when at last the frontier of this province marched wi th 
that of Burma, it might_be possible to secure the internal peace of the 
whole district with a very much smaller force than is now required. 
Sir Archdale Earle ~hares this belief, and sees no reason wh y ulti­
mately the Naga Hills should require a larger garrison than that of the 
Garo Hills, or why its inhabitants should not become as civilised and 
law-abiding as those of the Khasi and Jaintia Hil1s. This can never 
come about so long as raiding and head-hunting in adjoining areas go 
unchecked". 

For one reason and another, of which the war of 1914-18 was not the 
least important, no orders were passed on these proposals for more than 
7 years. though it need hardly be said that the matter was not lost 
sight of in Assam. Thus in December· 19] 8, Mr. Barnes. Deputy 
Commissioner, Naga Hills, had asked for sanction to assess Melomi and 
Primi to house tax; and the Chief Commissioner (Sir Nicholas 
Beatson-Bell) then addressed the Government of India on the 4th Feb. 
ruary 1919, referred to the recent operations against the Kukis and 

As~ Secretariat, POlitical, A. May 1916, Nos. 1.16. 
·Assam Secretariat, Political, A, February 1923, Noa. 1-53. 
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asked that sanction should be accorded to the proposals contained in 
Sir Archdale Earle's letter No.1544-P., of the 3rd April 1914. Nothing 
happened for various reasons and again a reminder was sent on the 4th 
October 1920, reporting fresh outrages. The Government of India 
were as reluctant as ever to act but made the conces~ion on the 29th 
:March 1921 of leaving the matter for Sir William Marris, who was 
about to take office as ,Governor of Assam, to examine. 

On the 28th April 1921, Mr. Hutton, who had had by now 8 
years experience of these Hills, recorded a valuable note giving the 
history of relations up to then and on the basis of this the Chief 
Secretary addressed an important demi-official letter No. 5550.A.P., 
dated the 3rd September 1921, to the Foreign Secretary of the Govern­
ment -of India to inquire"whether some action m'ight not be hoped for. 
The letter gathers together and reviews the course of policy since 
1884, and the main points are contained in the following excerpts :-

"2. Sir William Marris has now studied the correspondence on 
this long-standing question. The Government of India's letter 
No. 2789-E., dated the 20th October 1884, sanctioned if it did not 
actually initiate the policy of political control areas ireybnd the Naga 
Hills Frontier in preference to promenades and the execution of agree­
ments with tribal chiefs. 'The restriction was imposed that interference 
with inter-tribal quarrels should as a rule be limited to· those cases 
where they involved-

(I) outrages on British subjects, 
(2) violation of ~e Inner Line, 
(3) danger to the interests of people dwelling inside the 

British borders by reason of the proximity of disturbance 
outside. 

A subsequent letter No. 246-E., of the 3rd February 1886, sanc­
tioned a further control area in the case of the Ao tribe and the 
majority of the Serna villages west of the Tizu river. This area except 
for paying no house-tax came to be as obedient to the orders of the 
Deputy Commissioner as any regularly administered pUttion of his 
charge It was absorbed gradually by the advancement of the district 
boundary to the Tizu river, the process being completed in 1904. 
During the whole of this time the po1icy' ·worked well and gradually 
extended the influence of Government over the tribes on the immediate 
frontit:r until the time was -ripe for the extension of the administered 
area. Meanwhile~ however, an unfortunate collision occurred between 
the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills and the village of 
Yachumi beyond the area ofthe political control, and wa~ reported to 
the Government of India in the Assam Administration's letter No.I99-
For.-1366-P., dated the 14th April 1900. Stringent orders were 
then pa!sed prohibiting tours be'Jond the area 'Of political cont!ol 
except with the previous sanction of the Lotal Administration; and 
when the Eastern Bengal and Assam Government in their letters 
No. 6119~J., dated the 7th June 1906, and No. 5204-J.t dated the 7th 
December 1907, proposed the formation of a new area of po1itical 
control, the proposals1 although approved by the Government of India 
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were vetoed by the Secretary of State in hIS Despatch No 128 (Poli­
tical), dated the 13th November 1908. It may be that the unfavour­
able impressIOn created by the Yachumi mCldent was to some extent 
responsible for his decIsion, but that incident occurred far beyond the 

. borders of political control, and would not have happened had not the 
orders of 1884 been entirely disregarded. The restrictions imposed on 
the exercise of influence beyond the frontier were to some extent relax­
ed by the order contained m the Government of India's letter 
No.2561-E.-B, dated the 11th August 1904, wIth reference to the 
village of MazungzamI, admItting the principle that BritIsh subjects 
tradmg beyond the frontier of the Naga HIlls were entitled to protec­
tion as long as they kept within the hmit of a day's march of the 
frontier; and the same pnnciple was recogmsed in the Government 
of India's telegram No 3769-E C., of the 8th October 1905, in 
connection with an outrage commItted by the vIllage of Yachumi. 
During the years following the deciSIOn not to establish a new area of 
political control sundry trans-frontler expedItIons had to be undertaken 
and the question came up again in the early days of the reconstituted 
province of Assam. In the Assam AdIT inistratIOn's letter No.2931-P., 
dated the 18th June 1913, proposals were submItted for special inter­
ventIOn, for the protection and the later absorptIOn mto BritIsh territory 
of the villages of Melomi and Primi , but at the Invitation conveyed in 
Mr. Reynold'~ demI-officialletter of the 17th July 1913, the general 
questIOn of the declaration of an area of polItIcal control beyond the 
existing boundary was again raised in Mr. Reid's letter No. 1544-P., 
dated the 3rd Apnl 1914 Orders have not yet been received on the 
proposals then submItted, but in my demi official letter No 10721·P., 
of the lIth November 1920, SIr Nicholas Beatson Bell's alternative pro­
posal to which your letter more immedIately refers, was put forward. 

3 Since the proposals of 1914 were submitted the position as 
regards this frontier has altered m some Important respects. The 
labour corps which went from the Naga HIlls to France during the war 
was largely recruIted from independent trans-frontier Nagas It follow­
ed that our relations WIth many mdependeflt villages became much 
closer than they had been. 

Further the Somra Tract, which immediately adjoins on the south 
the area now III questIOn, has. since been brought under the admmis­
tration of the Government of Burma, and the first real attempt to 
administer the Kukis aud other hill tnbes in the Mampur State has 
been recently made by the establIshment of the subdIvisions in the 
Manipur HIlls under European Officers Thus the proposed area of 
control whIch was flanked on the north by the admmlstered tract to 
the east of the Dlkhu nver, added to the Naga HIlls district under the 
orders contamed in Mr. Reynold's Jetter No.1730-E.B , dated the 26th 
October 1909, is now also flanked on the south by the areas fully 
admimstered either by the Government of Burma or by the Mampur 
State. In this way also the relatIOns between administered areas and 
the tract III question have become IT.ore intimate. 

* * * ... 
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6. .. . The whole positIOn on the frontier is dominated by the fact 
that the boundary is a purely arbitrary line. Mr. Hutton, the present 
Deputy CommISSIOner of the Naga HIlls, who has a long and intimate 
acquaintance with the area, wntes-"Villagt>s on either side have land, 
cattle, COUSInS and relatlOns-m-law on the other. Feuds, alhances, 
trade, cultivation-all the Interests in lIfe in fact except the payment of 
revenue and the freedom to hunt heads--run counter to the frontier 
line and not parallel to it. Under these CIrcumstances no one could ad­
minister the district wIthout being perpetually brought up against the 
question of mterferenct> beyond the frontier." In these circumstances 
we cannot hope to clviiIse our own half-savag~ p~oples so long as they 
see raiding and hrad-hunting practised by their brothers and cousins 
Just across the border. In order to complete our mission of civilisation 
WIthIn our own borders we must gradually extend thr area which we 
control. The undertaklllg has been given in the past, and can be 
repeated by Sir William Marris, to do this, without asking for our force 
of Assam RIfles to be Increased by a sIngle man, or f6r our ultimate 
expenditure on the Naga HIlls district to become greater than it is at 
present save in ~o far as the clai ms of education and medical facIlities 
render this desireable. This, Sir William Marris thinks, does consti­
tute a real and ImmedIate advantage such as IS referred to III para­
graph 3 of Mr. Cater's letter. Another very real advantage IS that as 
we extend our control the risk that punitive expedItions wIll be neces­
sary steadIly diminishes, masmuch as complIcatIOns on this frontier 
occur not in controlled, but In uncontrolled areas. It is only necessary 
in this connexion to pomt to the fact that throughout the Kukl opera­
tions not only the Lushais who are practIcally of the same race, but 
the KukIs themselves in the Lushal HIlls and Naga Hills districts stood 
firm and gave no trouble, but on the contrary in some cases rendered 
considerable assistance 

7. After studying the past correspondence and dlSCUSSIllg the ques­
tion wIth those of his officers who are best acquamted wIth the condi­
tIons, SIr William Marris therefore desires strongly to support the 
proposal put forward in 1914 He has not the slightest desire to move 
more rapIdly in the dIrection of the extension of control over this 
unadmimstered area than is actually necessary, but he is convinced 
that the admInistration of the Naga HIlls dIstrict and the process of 
civilisation of its inhabitants are being materially Impeded for want of 
the small advance which was proposed in 1914. He does not think 
that the alternative course put forward by Sir Nicholas Beatson-Bell, 
that the Deputy CommiSSIoner of the Naga HIlls should be authorised 
to tour across the frontIer as are the Pohtical Officers of the two 
FrontIer Tracts, would suffice. The existing orders on the subject of 
tours beyond the frontier, whether of the Naga Hills or elsewhere, are 
those laid down in the Government of Intha's letter No.1046-E.B, 
dated the 18th May] 900, and provide that no such tour shall be made 
wIthout prevIOus reference to the Assam Government, and that where 
there is risk of complications such as mIght render a pumtIve expedi­
tIon necessary the tour shall not be sanctioned without the previous 
approval of the Government of IndIa. A good deal could be done in 
the direction of making our influence felt in the area concerned with­
out going beyond these orders, but Sir WilJiam Marris feels, as Sir 
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Lancelot Hare felt, that it would be better to recognise the situation 
frankly, and to exercise gradually the same measure of Joose political 
control which since 1911 we have been permitted to exercise through 
the Political Officer at Sadiya and Balipara and which upto 1904 was 
exercised with good results on the Naga Hills frontier. He can 
definitely undertake to do nothing which will compel him to apply to 
the Government of India for assistance from the regular army, anci h~ 
can undertake also to observe the conditions which govern the uncit-r­
taking of trans-frontier tours. That is to say, without previous !t·fe 
renee to India he will permit no tours which might render the subse­
quent despatch of a punitive expedition necessary. 

8. Whatever orders are passed on the general question of (ht" lor­
mation of an area of political control beyond the borders of the Nag,l 
Hills district,' I am to urge that the area including the villages flf 
Melomi and Primi, which were dealt with in our letter No 2<)31-P" 
dated the 18th June 1913, should be definitely included in Btitish 
territory without delay ...... In its letter No. 2931.P., dated the 18th 
June 1913, the Assam Adrrinistration ...... represented that at the tim!." 
of the Aishan-Kuki expedition in 1910 these villages had been assurf'd 
by the Deputy Commisiioner of the Naga Hills with the approval of 
the Commissioner of the Division, that they had been annf"xed. The 
Jetter continued: 'These orders were neither approved nor disap­
proved by the Government of Eastern Bengal ant! Assam, and the 
Chief Commissioner feels strongly that to follow the latter course aftf'r 
this lapse of time could not but effect most detrimentally the peact' and 
tranqui1Iity of the Naga Hills frontier.' If the disavowal of the annf'xa­
tion would have been detrimental in 1913, it is unthinkable after the 
lapse of a further period of eight years, especially in view of the coune 
which events have meanwhile taken ...... A reversion to the policy of 
non-imerference in this particular part would entail the evacuation of 
an area occupied and administered since 1918, in which every existing 
village has applied for permanent and complete ann!."xation and which 
is already regarded by independent tribes as a part of British territory, 
and the abandonment of villages which have been protectt'd since the 
Aishan-Kuki expedition eleven years ago. It is unnecessary to enlarge 
on the disastrous consequences of such a step among the frontiC"r 
villages on either side of the boundary. It would be a fatal errOl' 
inevitably leading to serious trouble in the near future. It would also 
be unfair to the Burma Government to allow an administered tract 
to relapse into an Alsatia for Kuki head hunters desirous of escaping 
from their control in the Somra Tract or from the Mani pur State. 
Incidentally, though this iE of minor importance, the abandonment of 
this area w,ould entail the relinquishment of 50 miles of complf'tf'd 
bridle paths and bridges and the exchange fOF an irregular frontier of 
eighty miles of a line only 54 miles long most of which is defined by a 
broad and swift river entirely unfordable in the rains and only fordable 
in places for the remaining six months of the year ..... ,The area. which 
it is now proposed to include in the Naga lIills district COVtrs more 
than the two villages which it was proposed to annex in 1913. This, 
however, is owing to the change in the situation caused by the adminis­
tration of the Somra Tract and the enforced occ:upation of this a1 t'd 

during the Kuki rising." 
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Much hesitation and reluctance had, to be, overcome, and it was 
not until the end of 1922 that the Government of Irldia felt that they 
were prepared to recommend the proposals of the As>;am Government. 
Their Despatch No. 11, dated the 2nd NovembPr 1922 was to the 
following effect;-

"It will be seen that the measures advocated by the Assam 
Government are :-

(a) the inclusion in British territory of the villages of Mdomi 
and Pri~ with the area surrounding them, and 

(h) an extension of the area in which political control is exer· 
cised by the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Rins 
District bcyond the present frontier of the district. 

The areas affected by' these two recommendations are shown in 
the map which accompanies this despatch. In effect the Assam 
Government strongly advocate the same measures which were urged 
upon our attention by the Assam Administratio~ in Mr. Reid's letter 
No. 1544.-P., dated the 3rd April 1914, a copy, of which formed the 
second enclosure to the despatch from Lord Chelmsford's Governments 
No. 16-External , dated the 16th February 1917. 

3. These proposals embodying the considered views of the Local 
Government and the local officers,'who have for many years advocated 
the policy which we now support, are substantially the same as those 
advanced by Lord Minto's Government in their despatch No.132-
External, dated the 16th July 1908. They were, however rejected by 
Lord Morley in his political despatch No. 128, dated the 13th Novem­
ber of the same year. 

4. We are now satisfied that that decision might with advantage 
be reconsidered. The step!f proposed are called .for on humanitarian 
grounds and will be justified furthe!' h? the beneficial effect which we 
expect them to have upon our own border villages. They involve no' 
s~rategic danger, and no' movemenr. of 'troops, and, we do not anti-­
Clpate that they will lead to any charge· upon centtal -revenues ot. to 
a~y .appreciable increase of expenditure defrayed from normal PtO~ 
vmclal revenues. 

S. We, therefore, identify ourselves with -th~ views expressed b'Y' 
the Assam Government and as regards th~ Melomi -and Primi tract, 
~ your authority to regula rise the ,existing position b, .definitely 
lru;luding the area shown in yelloW' on 'the< map within British territory. 
With reference to- the second- preposal,it will be.' seen that the outep 
boundary of the area within which political control is to be exe,cise~, 
by the' Deputy Commissioner" Naga !oHills District, has only ,been 
roughly. i.ndicated on th-e map. It is impossible\u~ the C01~ntry has. 
been VISIted and surveyed to give more deful1te boundanes. We 
~u7lt your permission, therefore, to approve the proposed ~tension 
10 prmciple and to authorise the Local Government to dIrect the 
Dep!-lty Commissioner of the distrkt to march through the area with 
a smtable escort and then to submit definite proposals for a boundary 
based on a line beyond which it will not be n«essary, to. extend control 
for several years to come". 
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In their letter No.1327~53i.E-;t., dated the 23rd December 1922, 
the Government of India informed Assam that the Secretary of State 
had agreed (in his telegram No.4901, dated the 19th December 1922) 
to include Melomi and Primi and had accepted in principle the 
proposals regarding a political control area. 

Melomi and Primi* were formally included in the di~lrict ilnd 
assessed to revenll:e in the year 1922-23. 

The final demarcation of the boundaries which had to be mdrle 
in consonance with the decision of the Secretary of State waS Ud~1 d 
on Dr. Hutton's report No' 377-G.,t dated the 9th May 1921 ,titer 
a tour in the area east of Tamlu and between the Yangnyu river <Inri 
Patkoi Range supplemented by a further report No.2168-G., dated 
30th Novem~er 1923. During these tours powerful villages were 
visited which had never even heard of the plains of Assam or had 1;('1'11 

an European. The colour of Europeans was looked at with gl eat 
distaste and they were considered "unripe". Dr. Hutton tried the 
bold experiment of attempting to induce these entirely savage villagt"s 
to carry the loads of the expedition when required. He was suCCt·~~­
ful, though often only after much parley. There Were some critical 
moments, but not a shot was fired by the escort. -

Proposals for demarcation sent up in Assam letter No. 1463-5176-
A.P.,: dated the 17th September 1924 were accepted by the Secretary 
of State in March 1925 and a comprehensive revised notification 
covering all the boundaries of the Naga Hills District was issued un 
the 25th November 1925, No. 3102-R. 

In January 1927§ the Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, for­
warded a proposal from the Subdivisional Officer, Mokokchung, to 
include within the administered area 6 villages on the east and south­
east of Mokokchung. It was to cost nothing, simplify the boundary 
and the viUages wanted it. Government supported the proposal and 
the Secretary of State's sanction was communicated in Government of 
India's No.597-X., dated the 13th October 1927, and the changes were 
published in Notification No. 6492·A.P., dated the 23rd November 
1927. 

Mr. Mills' report on the system for the year 1924-25 was to the 
effect that "It has worked well and has made it easier to deed 
promptly and firmly with trans-frontier villages". 

A description of this system as it eventually 4eve1oped, though it 
should be premissed that it has not worked, and does not work, always 
uaccording to plan", is to be found in a notell recorded by Mr. Mllls 
in 1937 of which the following are extracts :-

"4. .. .... Under this system a strip of territory was placed under 
loose control between the fully administered area and the entirely 
uncontrolled Tribal Area. 

-Assam SecretarUlt, Political, A, June 1926, Nos.22-96. 
tAnnual Administration Report for 1922~23. 
tAasam Secretariat, Political, A,june 1925, No!. 48-126. 
§Aasam Secretariat, Political, A, March 1929, Nos. 219.267. 
IIAlsam Secretariat, Tribal, B, September 1938, No. 1-9, 
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• • • • 
(1) The area selected was not too large, and was confined as far 

as possible to country of which we already had fairly detailed 
knowledge. 

(2) Much of the Konyak area to the north was deliberately 
omitted ; the powerful hereditary chiefs there control groups of 
villages; they are fully capable of managing their own affairs; and if 
control is ever decided upon in the future it may well be that a scheme 
for establishing a number of smalL States may have to be considered. 

(3) Tribal boundaries were as far as possible selected as our 
boundaries, rather than natural features, however geographically 
convenient, which intersectdd tribes. 

5. No taxes are levied in the Control Area, which is not adminis­
tered in any sense of the word and does not form part of the Province 
of Assam. Though under loose control it remains part of the Tribal 
Area. 

On the other hand the Deputy Commissioner is always ready to 
arbitrate in disputes in the Control Area, first obtaining, whenever 
possible a previous assurance that the parties will accept his arbitra­
tion. 

* * * * 
6. . ..... As time goes on the villages bordering the frontier of the 

fully administered ana become so accustomed to bringing their troubles 
and disputes to the Deputy Commissioner that there are now considera­
ble stretches of the Control Area where war is (,bsolete as a means of 
settling differences, 'head.hunting' has died a natural death, and the 
villages are as amenable to orders as ~ny in the fully administered 
area ........ . 

* * * 
8. In the Assam Naga Hills Control Area there is no general 

order prohibiting war with its inevitable concomitant of head-taking. 
AU know that serious and treacherous maSS,lcres meet with retribution, 
and particular wars are sometimes specifically prohibited. For 
instance a war is prohibited if there is a risk of raiders crossing our 
boundary into administered territory in their attempts to outflank each 
other, or of fugitives being followed in hot" pursuit across our border. 
Or again a weak village which is never likely to attack anyone may 
be given protection by specific orders. Or yet again war may break 
out between two villages so near to one another that normal work in 
the fields is hampered and famine threatf'o) both, and then the elders 
of both sides may come in and make it quite clear that their hotheads 
are out of control and- that they would welcome orders which would 
put an end "to the inconvenient feud without loss of honour to either 
side. 

General orders stopping war would be impossible to enforce with­
out constant punitive expeditions, a remedy which might well be worse 
for the villagers than the disease. Even a suggestion that war in 
general is prohibited ha~ been found. to lead to most unfortunate 
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results. A few villages are sure to let their defences faU into disrepair 
and to lose their alertness. Then a sudden raid by a watchful neigh­
bour results in a massacre, no punishment of which can bring the dead 
back to life. On the other hand a properly defended, alert Naga 
village is practically impregnable against Naga weapons, and attacks 
agamst such villages are rarely made and are infinitely more rarely 
successful. This in itself makes for peace. In normal circumstances 
raiders' victims are almost always stragglers and the wariness of the 
Naga makes their number extremely small. 

• • III ... 

10 ....... By far the most important part of the Deputy Commission-
er's staff, on whom the whole efficiency of his administration depends, 
is a picked body of Naga interpreters, drawn from th,. various trib~s in 
such a way that a man is alwa}s dealt with by one of his OWll tribe. 
The functions of the interpreters extend far beyond anything that their 
name impli!'s. They arrest offenders, advise the Deputy Commis­
sioner on intricate questions of custom, and themselves settle a very 
large number of petty disputes. They wear tribal dress and remain 
Nagas in every way. In selecting them, though a few can read and 
write, education is not considered, but family character and infiut'nce 
are regarded as of supreme importance. Their prestige is great. 

The relevance for this note of this description of the method of 
Government through picked interpreters lies in the fact that it extcnJs 
into the Control Area. Some of the interpreters come from villages 
just on our side of the border and have influence across the borJer, 
while other actually have their homes in the Control Area itself. They 
act as liaison officials between the Deputy Commissioner and villages 
in the Control Area. -

11. Apart from the constant stream of information reaching him 
through his interpreters direct knowledge of events in the Con trol 
Area is gained by the Deputy Commissioner in two ways. Firstly he 
makes OCCasIOnal friendly tours (say once in two years) in some portion 
of it. Secondly, he receives frequent visits from the leading men of 
viUag~s in the Control Area ....... A tour, followed by return visits, 
smooths the way for yet another more extended tour, and a thorough 
prior knowledge of politics in the Control Area frustratt's the common 
Naga trick by which a village will receive a column with the utmost 
friendliness and thf'n by false tales egg on their enemies beyond to 
attack it, simply for the pleasure of witnessing the ineVItably bt'avy 
defeat of the said enemies ....... " 

In 1925-26* by letter No. Pol. 1902.5225-A.P., dated the 28th 
Octo~r 1925, the c<?nd.uct of relations with the independent Nag.1s 
~rdermg on that DIStrict was transferred from the Deputy Commis­
StOner of Sibsagar to t.he Su~)(:Hvisional Officer, Mokok('hung, and the 
latter took over relatIOns WIth the area between the Taukok and Dilli 
.rivers. 

-------------------- -----
·Assam Administration-Report (or Naga Hills for 1925-26. 
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In ] 926-27* the question of guns among Konyak villages came 
under scrutiny, owing to the great increase in the numbers of these 
weapons, and in consequence Totok was ordered to use only spears 
and daos in their inter-village wars. This policy has been followed 
since though not without difficulty. It was emphasised in 193~ when 
the Governor held a Durbar at Wakching on January 13th and orrlered 
the surrender, as fines for misbehaviour in thill way, of 300 guns from 
Aopao~ Longmien, Chingha, Lungha, Chi and Totok Chingkho. 
They were all surrend~red within a week. 

In letter No. Pol. 1488-4389-A. P.,t of the 20th July 1931, Sir 
Laurie Hammond reiterated the policy of minimum interference in 
quarrels between controlled and tribal villages. The occasion for this 
was a reference made by __ the Deputy Commissioner, Mr. Mills, in 
which he stated his oWn views a'1 to the policy thus:-

cc ...... Lately our intervention in quarrels in the Control Area has 
become_more and more automatic. It is easy, I admit, to say "stop" 
give a hint about Assam Rifles, and proceed to calculate how many 
mithan ought to be levied for each life lost. But I am convinced that 
such a remedy i:J only a palliative for quarrels, and a bad one in every 
way. People in our Control Area are lulled into a sense of false security 
and villages are unfortified. A surprise raid is easy. A penalty in 
mithan is paid, and things quiet down till there is aQother surprise 
raid. 

Compensation from the fine is practically always' refused by the 
aggrieved village. They do not consider that mithan can pay for the 
lives of their men and frankly settle down to wait till they can get 
head'S in exchange. 

If we let it be distinct1y understood, as we did till very recently, 
that we reserve to ourselves the right to intervene, when we see fit, 
but do not guarantee to prevent all wars, trans-frontier villages would 
live more warily, and lives would rarely be lost, for the Naga depends 
entirely on surprise and never attacks an enemy who is ready for him. 
(I believe in a war which lasted 16 years between the big Konyak 
villages of Tamlu and Namsang the total casualties were 4.) Instead 
therefore of invariably punishing (but not hanging) the culprits I feel 
it is often advisable to let the disputants settle their differences for a 
time. I have usually found that the day soon comes when both sides 
have had enough, not of slaughter, for the number of lives lost is 
negligible, but of living in a state of nervous tension. Settiement is 
then easy." 

The Assam Government's reply was to the effect that-
e< ...... the Governor-in-Council considers tliat the policy suggested 

by the Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, in his letter No. 1074-G., 
dated the 20th June 1931, is in consonance with that suggested by the 

-Assam Administration Report for Naga Hills for 11)26-1927. -
Assam Administration Report for Naga Hills for 192~-1915. 

tGovernor's Secreta.riat, Political, H, March 193~1 NO$.976-984. 
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Chief Commissioner, Mr. Ward and approved by the Government of 
India, viz., that Government should not interfere in disputes between 
tribes residing within and those residing outside the area of control, 
even though murder has resulted. In this connection a reference is 
invited to the correspondence ending with the Assam Administratio~'8 
letter No. 494, dated the 9th March 1886, to the Deputy CommtS­
sioner of the Naga Hills. 

If of course the 'war' cannot be localised then it may be neces­
sary to use the Assam Rifles or for the Deputy Commissioner, Naga 
Hills to tour during the cold weather and administel' communal 
punishment, but the Governor-in-Council considers that it is best as 
far as possible to avoid interfering!' 

V. 1914-1'923-0ther Events- The Great War of 1914-1918.-}n 
January 1917* the Secretary of State enquired of the Assam Adminis­
tration whether they could assist in raising the 50,0()0 men who were 
wanted as labourers in France. Assam said they could produce 8,000 
men and this offer was gladly accepted. The intention was to find 
2,000 men each from the Lushai Hills, Manipur, the Naga Hills and 
the Khasi and Garo Hills combined. A spokesman on behalf of the 
Government of India described Assam's offer as the biggest, most 
definite and most practical one that had reached them. The proposal 
that house tax should be remitted to all who volunteered was accepted 
by the Government of India. 

On 9th March 19] 7 orders were issued to raise Nos.21 (Naga 
Hills) and 22 (Manipur) Corps. All the Lhotas and the majority of 
the Semas made a good response, the latter sending 1,000 men. The 
Aos sent men too, if a little slowly. Angamis, Kacha Nagas and Kukis 
would not volunteer. A remarkable feature was the number of 
volunteers who came in from acrobs the frontier. The Corps was 
composed of;-

Semas 

Lhotas 
Rengmas 
Changs and other Trans-frontier tribes 
Aos ... 

1,000 

400 
200 
200 
200 

2,000 

The Deputy Commissioner, Mr. H. C. Barnes went in command 
with a number of clerks and Dobashis. 

In December 1917 protests were raised agaimt enlistment for the 
duration which had, been 1aid down but the question was finally 
decided by the War Office, who said that men were not wanted un1ess 
they undertook to enlist for the duration, and orders followed in 
January 1918 to the effect that all who would not enrol for the period 
of the war were to be discharged. One result of this was that a draft 
--------------

·Assam Secretariat, Political, A, December 1917, Nos.39-S0. 
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of 817 Naga Hills recruits which was waiting to go to France was 
diverted to the Kuki operations in January 1918. This draft consisted 
of-

()O Lhotas. 
90 Semas. 

120 Aos. 
60 Kukis and Kacha Nagas. 

480 Angamis. 

There Was a Naga Labour Corps numbered 35 and another 
numbered 38 which both arrived home in about June 1918. The 
money they brought home was soon spent. Semas paid their debts. 
Lhotas purchased land. The smiths of Wanching and Wakching and 
the ornament-makers ()f Seromi made fortunes. And prices soared. 
Mr. Hutton says that the men c'ame back greatly impressed with the 
might of the Sarkar. 

The response to the War Loan was, considering the poverty of 
the Hills, remarkable-Rs.26,264 was subscribed to the War Loan 
during 1917-18 and Rs.39,OOO was subscribed to the 2nd Indian War 
Loan in 1918-19. 

The Somra Tract and till" Cross-hatched" Area.-In a letter* dated 
the 11th September 1915, Burma made the proposal that the Somra 
Tract should be brought under administration and included in Burma. 
-In 1908 and again 1911 and 1912 they had considered the matter but 
decided against such action, mainly because the Tract was giving no 
trouble and because the Chief,Komyang kept a good control over his 
Kukis in that area. Komyang, however, was now dead and there 
was no hope of peate. 

This Tract was described by the Commissioner of the Sagaing 
Division as covering an area ofSOO square miles inhabited byKukis and 
Tangkul Nagas. The latter were unarmed and were concentrated in 
,the north-west corner ()f the Tract in 11 villages numbering 1,002 
houses. They were anxious to be administered and to be saved from 
what was described as the tlanger of "wholesale slaughter" by the 
Kukis. The Kukis, who were immigrants of the Manipur 'State, lived 
in the eastern and southern patt of the tract and had numerous guns 
in their possession. . 
. There was agreement -between Assam and BUrma that the Somra 
Tract naturally belonged to Burma and not to Mani pur. The only 
doubtful point was whether a small area hatched on the map, and in 
subsequent proceedings known as the "cross-hatched area" should go 
to Assam or to Manipur State. It was pointed out by Mr. Higgins, 
the Political Agent in Manipur, that the villages in the cross-hatched 
area had paid taxes to Manipur State, for many years and considered 
themselves subjects of that State. Mr. Reid, who w~s now the Commis­
sioner, Surma Valley Division, and the Deputy Commissioner, Mr. -H. 
C. Barnes, however, declared that the cross-hatched area ought to 

-Assam Secretariat, Political, A, May 1916, Nos.l5-n, 
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go to the Naga Hills though it cannot be said that their reasons appear­
ed to be very strong. In the result it was recommended in our Jetter 
No.3270-P., * dated the 27th May 1916 that the Somra Tract should 
be placed under Burma leaving the fate of the cross-hatched area fc;>r 
later consideration, a proposal to which the Government of IndIa 
agreed in their letter No.359-E.B., dated the 23rd November 1917. 

This rather trifling matter, which only affected three small 
villages, cropped up now and again during the next five years, and 
finally in Aprilt 1922 the then Chief Secretary, Mr. A. W. Botham, 
suggested that the area should be recognised as belonging to MaUl pur. 
The Government of India agreed and the area was formally mad~ 
over to Manipur in 1922-23. 

In 1917'a small question arose of compensation to certain 
independent Nagas of Zunyu [BanferaJ and of the Chopnyu 
[BermuthanJ group of villages on the Sibsagar district frontier for 
land which by Governmer.t Notification No.67-P., dated 1st February 
1910, had been included in Sibsagar district. The chiefs had refused 
the amount offered and Mr. H. C. Barnes, the Deputy Commissioner, 
was ordered to enquire in conjunction with Colonel Playfair, Df'puty 
Commissioner of Sibsagar. Mr. Barnes reported the results of the 
expedition in his letter G(T), datl"d 25th January 1917, thus-

"3. From the time we left the Naga Hills district until we reached 
the area under the control ofYansa IJoboka) it was evident that we 
were unwelcome visitors: unwelcome owing to the inability of the 
Chiefs of Hangnyu to believe the assurance that neither punishment 
nor the annexation of their land was contemplated. Their fears were 
natural since for many years the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga 
Hills has not been permitted by Government to cross the border 
except to punish or annex. This tour may, it is to be hoped, lead to 
a revival of those frienJly tours in the unadministered tracts, which 
were in the past productive of so much good. Zunyu and Longhong 
endeavoured without success to accelerate our passage through their 
villages by making difficulties about showing the viJ1age water-supply. 
In Yansa and in the Chopnyu group we were well received. I attri­
bute the absence of resistance to our movements to the careful 
arrangements of Major Arbuthnot, in camp and on the march to 
make a surprise attack impossible or unlikely to succeed, to the siz~ of 
the escort and to the fact that the force had its own coolies. Obstruc­
tion appearing unprofitable to the Nagas, the opportunity of gradually 
getting on better terms with them naturally resulted and was utilized. 
Mr. Hutt~n was in chru:ge of t~e organization and arrangement of the 
Sema coolIes corps and Its rabons, a task demanding an unusual 
amount of forethought and attention to detail. It would be difficult 
tp speak too highly of the manner in which he carried out his duties. 

*Political, A, May 1916, Nos.IS-37. 
tl. Assam Secretariat. Political, A. June 1922, Nos.3-6. 
~, political, A, December 1923. Nos.I-I7. 
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4. The enquiry into the claims to rights over the land transferred 
to Sibsagar began at Longhong and was continued at Zusa, Chopnyu 
and Chepsa and conclu?ed at Nokphang. .C:olonel P.)ayfair and I were 
-in agreement on all pOints. And the deCIsIOns arrIved at represen~ 
our joint decisions. TIlese were accepted by the headmen of the 
villages concerned ............ the whole matter will be settled on a pay-
ment of Rs.l,SOO, all the land included in the Sib~agar district to be 
entirely given up to Government, except that Zusa will have the right 
to jhum on the Tanglam range, though not in the plains to the north 
ofit. The claimants ~re to come to Sonari on January 25th. to 
receive payment from me. It is quite evident that the Chopnyu group 
has not the slightest wisb to quarrel with Government. They natural­
ly looked v.ith apprehension and distrust on the loss of their land­
Any NalZa hates losing hi~ land, even if his claim to it is somewhat 
shadowy." 

In Assam Government letter No.1584-P.,* datt-d- 19th February 
1917, it was stated-

cc ••••••••• The Chief Com missioner, approves of the arrangement 
under which a satisfactory solution has been arrived at on payment 
of a compensation of Rs.l,500 to the Naga Chiefs. All the land 
included in the Sibsagar district will now be entirely at the disposal of 
the Government with the exception that the village of Zusa will have 
the right to jhum on the Tanglam range, though not in the plains. to 
the north of it." 

TIl, Kuki Rebellion oj lY17-19.-Though in the earlier days of 
the Kuki Rebellion of 1917-19 in Manipur there was a great deal of 
alarm and unrest among the Angamis and Kacha Nagas in the Naga 
Hms, the Kukis within the distrIct remained loyal. Dr. Hutton, the 
then Deputy Commissioner, conducted two important and success­
ful expeditions against Kukis who were troubling his border. The 
first was between January and March 1918 in the neighbourhood of 
Henima in the south-west of the Naga Hills District. The Commis­
sioner spoke in the highest terms of the way in which these operations 
were carried out and 8tated that Dr. Hutton had thereby: kept the 
peace in the Naga Hills and taught the Kukis a lesson. In his report 
the Deputy Commissioner expressed himself in uncompromising terms 
on the origin of the trouble, viz" that the Manipur Lambus were solely 
responsible and that the gross corruption at Imphal largely contributed 
to it. This was followed by an expedition in April 1918 to the area 
lying between the Somra.Tracton the south and the Tizu on the north, 
to take action against Kukis who had come in there and were oppress­
ing the local Nagas in their customary way. They were settled near 
Lapvomi and wrre harassing it and neighbouring villages 
such as Phozami and Primi. His operations were entirely successfu) 
and he had only one casualty, a sepoy killed. In his report he ex­
prnsed the hope that tl e effect would be to make ~is "set of robbers" 
clear out of the Naga Hills District and go off into the' "cross-hatched 
area" or into Burma. He proposed-that posts of one Indian Officer 
and 50. ~en each should be placed at Lapvomi and Yangnoi 

, I 

·Assam Secretariat, PO.litical. B, April 1917. NOI.lil-69. 
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to guard against the return of the Kukis. Governmt'nt agreed to his 
proposal, 'subject to any -arrangements which might arise out of the 
large Kuki operations which were to take plaae in the fonowing ~old 
weather of 1918.19. 

These operations of course affected conditions in the Naga Hills 
and posts had to be established on the border of, ~nd in, Manipur to 
check the movements of the hostile Kukis. They W"ere 1"ecognised as 
part of the Great War and the General Service 'MeaaI was given to 
those who took part in them. One or two p()i~ts ar~ worthy of men­
tion. The Kukis not only possessed large ntitnbel's of muzzle loading 
guns, but made leather cannon which were far' from ineffective at short 
range. Of the muzzle loading guns, which intluded many Tower 
Muskets in excellent condition, the most valued were flint-locks since 
the Kukis coulO. make their own gunpower but were ctlt off from all 
supplies of percussion caps. Our columns were continually being 
ambushed, but any attempt to bring the enetl\y to battle and inflict 
losses on them would have been useless. Instead economic tneasUl"eS 
were taken. The rebeHion broke out after the-Kukis had reaped the 
harvest of 1917. Columns operating over a wide area prevented them 
from sowing and reaping a crop in 1918, and .by 1919 resistance 
collapsed owing to lack of food. 

In 1921.orders passed by the Assam Go-.ernment disposed of an 
interesting historical survival from Ahot11 tim€s. Mr. J. P. Mills, the 
then Subdivisional Officer, Mokokchung, had raised the matter in 
1918 and the Commissioner in a letter dated the 24th October 1921 
explained that, in the days of the Ahom Kings, the Nagas who render­
ed services or whose allegiance it was desired to secure were given 
grants of land called CCkhats" in the plains. These were still 'treated 
as valid revenue-free grant~ and as the Nagas could not look after 
them themselves they appointed "Katakis' who realised rent on behalf 
of the owners and were remunerated ,by a -share of the rent. The 
position was an unsatisfactory one as the Katakis, owing to the fact 
that they were treated as intermediaries with the Nagas by British 
Officials, tended to be given a,position to whkh ,they were not really 
entitled. They undoubtedly cheated the Nagas, while their office 
tended to be regarded as hereditary though they were in no sense the 
owner of the grants, but merely agents. It was therefore proposed 
that certain fixed amounts should be paid to the Naga owners as 
"Malikana" and the khats be administered by Government. Full in. 
formation was available about the khats as they had been surveyed 
and dassified. Governlnent agreed in its letter No. 4400-R., dated 
the 5th December ,1921 that annual payments of certain fixed 
amounts should ~e made in perpetuity to Naga owners and that at 
the same time no ,payments should be made to the Katak 
is. The matter was thus disposed of except for a small point regarding 
a particular khat which came to notice in 1935 when Mr. N. L. Dor 
I.F.S., the then Deputy Commissioner, !pointed out that Government 

1 tit t 
. . 

'''01.. n, January'HIl9 and'Matth 1919, 'hrt'III, 1.37, Nos. 5540.646. 
·Pol. A, September 1936, Nos. 14.24. 
tRevenue A, February 1922, Nos. 6-28. 
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under the terms of the orders of,192'1 was making a fixed annual pay­
ment for a village called Bhitar Samsang which actually was outsid~ 
the Inner Lino and WaS in- fact uncultivated and therefore producing no 
revenue. The re1Iledy was to indude the area within British Territory 
so that it might be resettkd aod f<l-cultivated. This was done. 

In Febr~ 1923~ fow men (>f the Konyak village of Yungya 
wounded a man of I\.~ahu, and p1.\rsued him on to and killed him on. 
British soil. Mt-. Hutton the De,puty Commissionert visited Yongya 
in March and burnt the "~ungs." Qf the two hostile clans to whom 
the- gullty men belonged. They did n(>t however, give up the culprits. 
In the mean while in{ormC\t!oll had, been. received that Tangsa right 
on OUf boundary and Ht the- CORtrol ArcC\ had bought from these same 
two clans a slave girl whom they beheaded. The Subdivisional Officer. 
Mr. Mills, then we!).t Were in August and succeeded in securing the 
four wanted men and also fined Tangsa for their delinquency. 

VI. ]af/(1(lang and Gaidiliu 1931·194J.-In 1931 reports. were 
received of a serious IPovement initiated by one jadonang who set 
hiIruielf up in Kambiron in ManipUf as. a C< Messiah-King" of the Kabul 
and Kacha Naga~. Io.repQfting in February ot that y~t tq the 
Government of India on the considerable unrellt which existed among 
the Kabui Nagas ill 146 north-west hills of t\\e Manipur State~ the 
Assam Administratiqn stated : ........ . 

"3. A Kabul Nag~ namedJqdonang, (livipg at a village Kambiron 
on the Cachar-Imphal bridle: path) has plOcJaimed a. Kabqi Naga 
Raj. He is suppo~e.d to have power$ of a sorcerer ~ and the Kacha 
Naga$, beli~ving that he is the "Messtah" for whom. they have been 
waiting, have sent him as trib\lJ~ large nu~bers of mithuns the semi­
domesticated gayals which are a sign of wealth amOD& some of the 
As~am hill tribes and us¢d for IPfl.JTiage gins .. etc. 

Large assemblies of Nagas have been held- at aJ village marked 
Nongkhai wher~ jadonang has. beea tr~4ted as ~ God. The Kukis, 
who during th4; Kuki rebellion ip 1918, Cl.lt up mClny villages of the 
Kabui Nagas are affaid of reprisals all.d s_orne of them have already 
come into Imphal fur safety. According to the Kukis, Jadonang is 
collecting guns with the intt ntiQn· of aUadcing' them. The Deputy 
Co~missiont>r, Naga Hills, also has- received infonra,tion that Jad&­
nang has given outthat revenue may be paid' this yeat' but is to be 
paid to him in 1931 .. 32. 

4. The Political Agent in Manjpur sent out a Stat~ official to 
arrest jadonang, but OJ) nrws, being received that the latter had gone 
to Cachar w~th some followers., he wired to· the Dept:tty Commissioner" 
Cachar, to arTest him and news ha~ now bet"n'received that jadonang 
has been arrested in Cachar under· &ection l.Q8~ Criminal ~rocedure 
Code. He is being ta~en back to, Manipur under al1 extradition 
warrant". 

• 
*Political, B~ MlUch 1923, NQS. 178-l,88,. 
tPolitif;al, 13, DccembeJ: 1923, NOll. 2,16--246, 
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The Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills reported more fully 
on 16th March as follows :-

cc Jadonang's claim was as follows :-His d \y and that of the 
Kabuis and Kacha Nagas had come at last. In three years all would 
be fulfilled. He knew by his miraculous powers that during the Kuki 
rebellion the Kukis captured two N olga girls, and brutally murdered 
one and buried the other alive. Therefore the Kukis wert' to be ex­
terminated within the three years. Nagas were not to strike the first 
blow, but were to be absolutely ready. The first act of aggression by 
any Kuki was to be a signal for a general attack on them, and each 
Naga village was to massacre all Kukis within reach. This was to be 
kept an absolute secret from Government and the Kukis, and anyone 
who revealed it would die. 

Jadonang's claim appears to be connected with the old Naga 
tradition of a Messiah King to which Dr. Hutton refers on page 252 of 
his 'Angami Nagas'. There is no evidence, however, that the 
Angamis are involved in the present trouble. On the contrary, Jado­
nang has expr(.'Ssed his dislike of them, clearly regarding them as 
Oppl essive overlords of the Kacha Nagas and Kabuis. 

His claims as a healer were probably only a bait to attract 
adherents, as invalids who went with the humble offering of a rupee 
were told that not much could be done for them, but that their village 
ought to send in more substantial tribute in the form of a mithun 
He is universally spoken of a 'the King' or 'the spirit King' . 

By his story of the torture of Naga girls Jadonang worked the 
Kacha Nagas of my district into a great state of excitement, and any 
incident between Kukis and Nagas, such as is always liable to occur 
somewhere in such a large area, would certainly have had deplorable 
results. The detachmen t reached Henima in time, however, and 
there was no disturbance". 

On March lst, Mr. Higgins, Political Agent, Manipur, visited 
Kambiron (jadonang had already been arrested on 19th February). 
He describes Jadonang's home and temple as follows :-

"While camp was being made, we went into the village, and 
visited Jadonang's house and temples. The house is of the ordinary 
Kabui type but IS an ahongyum (ornamented house). The front is of 
wooden planks, painted white, with scrolls, patterns, and pictures of 
men, mithun, elephants, tortoises, etc., in black. In front of the house 
were the sacrificial posts of thirty mitltuns-each one an upright post 
stuck in the ground, with two posts in front, in the form of a St. 
Andrew's cross. On eaG,h side of the door were white slabs of wood, 
stuck in the ground, bearing a representation of ~ sepoy with a rifle, 
in red paint. In the back room of the house was a broad clay pedestal, 
supporting a large flat circular stone, about four feet in d!a meter, 
approached by clay steps. We were told that Jadonang used to pray 
on this slab. Next to the house was a. temple, built on high wooden 
piles, and entered by steps cut in a long log. The templt' was a 
building of bamboo mattmg. thatched, with a small verandah in front 
and behind. It consisted of one long room with bamboo branches 
the whole length of each side w~l1. From a cross beam in the middle 
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hung an oil lamp. At the far end was a bamboo platform, with a 
railing round three sides, and a Bight of steps on the fourth side. 
Facing the platform were four wooden chairs, on each of which was a 
white felt hat. We were told that it was Jadonang's custom to preach 
from the platform, while the elders of the village set in the chairs, 
wearing the hats, and the lesser lights occupied the benches. Beside 
the platform was a perambulator, and a zinc bath-tub, for the use of 
Jadonang's son. Higher up the village was a second temple, recendy 
constructed. In design it was similar to the first, except that there 
was a long narrow,room on each side, parallel to the long central 
room. The central room contained benches, similar to those in the 
old temple. In place of the pulpit was a shrine, approached by a 
Hight of steps, ornamented in black and white. '" t the top of the 
steps was a door, behind which was a red curtain, covering the open­
ing of the shrine. InSide the shrine were clay figures of a Naga man 
and woman, dressed in festival clothes, and a clay mith"n. In front 
of them were five black stones, and Re. 1-9-6 in small coins, 
mostly pice. On the top of the shrine was a platform, approached by 
a second Hight of steps, on which was a chair. Just above the chair 
was a python, curled up on the ridge pole of the roof. In front of 
the shrine was a sacrificial block, made out of a log, at which goats 
were sacrificed. The floor round was plentifully sprinkled with blood 
some of which was fresh. I shot the python and told the village 
elders the temples must be demolished. Their demolition, as the 
elders themselves admitted, involves no interference with the animistic 
religion of these people, as it is not their custom to have temples for 
their gods. These temples appear to have originated in the brain of 
Jadonang. and to have been constructed for his personal aggrandise­
ment, not to say profit, for he reaped a rich harvest of offerings, in ani­
mals and money, from dupes who came to worship him and his gods 
therein. 

The two side rooms were his retiring rooms, each fitted with a 
bamboo bed and a hearth. The elders said that he used to sleep in 
them sometimes, always with his first wife (he has two). 

Near Jadonan~'s house were two large buildings called kitchens. 
The elders said they were used as hostels and the smaller roo ms there­
in were used as bath rooms by persons bringing offerings, who were not 
permitted to enter the upper temple until they had bathed". 

~ On March 13th he visited Nungkao where Gaidiliu was estab­
lished. He described her as a "rather surly little unmarried girl of 
17". 

On 16th May 1931, the Assam Government. were able to report 
that-

"3. Normal conditions now prevail again and the idea ora Naga 
raj has been dissipated. Jadonang, the instigator of all the troubles, 
is now under trial in the court of the Political Agent in Manipur, with 
a number of men of Kambiron and neighbouring villages, for the 
murder of four Manipuri traders ~ho disappeared about March 1930. 
It is understood that there is evidence to implicate him as one of the 
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priooipals. Iflh~ is acquitted in the murder case the question of his' 
in-W:rnment,all a·State prisonet undet Regulation III of 1818 wHl· be 
considered ',' • 

JMonatig' 'was -tried· in Manip'ur' on a charge' of n'lttrdt'1' atid, 
strlt~tteed'ito death"oli' 13th June 1931. , 1he murdet had' taken· p}a.<;:er 
ill!. Match· 1930' at Ka'mbiron whe~ 4 Manip-uris' Were' set 'upon by t~­
IMb"'a'tjatlbnahg's'instlgation and with His participation an'd don~ tb l 

ae'atli. j ad6hang's 'disa ppearance 'from the scene' had so'me effett, Dutl 

lil~"dOmpanidn Gaidiliu who was regarded as his spiritual succeA~(jt, if' 
rltJf'ihcariiatioIi; carried on his work. Sh'e was "wal1ted" OIl a charge: 
oPmtitdet,}jttt she was not to be captuted till October 1932, arid M,tb~r 
agitatidn'w~'<!entered in three administrations, the Naga Hills, thl!' 
Ni>ttli Cattiar:HiHs and Maniptlr, with every man and woman id the' 
a1fettM1v'Hlages'alt active' sy1n'pathiseT~ opei"ations Wl"~ made' vtty 
ditlkttlf. Iha'notet'recotdetl'on'9thJune 1932, Mr. Millll, DepUfiyl 
C:drHtn~siont!t', Naga Hills, stated his views th'tW:-

"The-real-danger of-the movement is the spirit of defiance now 
abroad .. Nagas woo are or-djnarily truthful and friendly, have been 
faught,thatrofficials-aFe to be lied to and depri'led of infurmatio-n.­
'Vllese les~ns will not quicklY' be forgotten.-· , 

1'h'e'captitte of.G~idilil'l will not end the agitation. There; is' ar 
w~tt1nt 'fi'r murder oUt agaihSt het arid sht can be' dealt with~ when' 
c'Ntighl. SHe'will be 'succeeded by one or 1l10re'''rnediumsl '. TCi be'a' 
nlii~f(itn~' is not an'offence under any law. Yet they will aontin'l)('!I 
t\'ikeep' tffl:!people in a state of constant excitement, and Nagas' win 
ctinttttli~.' to'be s~t ov~ aga.inst GoverlJ:ment and Kukia. The result 
frbtn' tht! admihisttative point of view will be serious; Oar first-object 
is'the 'captute or<:~aidiliu. Onte she is irl our hands' we ntttsl aim' at' 
gt:l'duMI)rJsnPtitessitlg the-movement by punishment,. persuasiot1 and 
personal in8uence, This will be a long task", 

Ott ZOlHIFebtllary 1932::: the- Assam Government ttported' the 
~vi'vali of' tlle-Utlt~stiamong the" Kabui Nagas. tG'thc ",owrnmel1t- 01 
India in their lettet'N'O;PoL-471/1645-A.P. 

"jatldaatlg. woo daiming to be theil- Messiah' King wal respon­
aibleffor-tbtt U'ouble that occurred last year, was convicted and hanged 
fOl"mttroel', and,if-was thought that the unrest would then cease. VIlA 
fortunately'the'wo'Irtan' GaidiliuJ who was- associated with Jadon.ang aI 

a priestess, .reappeared among these people, apparently with some man 
i~6J1'rerl~ J adonal1g; whd '\VM a'aid to 'have C0b:1e'10 life 'agaiN ....... . 
Tlie' a'tri'Vat" of tlit! D~J:hity 'Commis~ibher with I a1 detachment tof A~~ttl 
Rifles at Henema led to the flight of the woman and her party, but 
1iRe-,had'aueatJy established, the belief. that the ;Messiah([(Jng,wal'again 
among them, and that it was to him the Kabui Nagas owed aUegianc~ 
The- fear of an attack on the Kukis has for the moment been. dispelled 
by pr~ence of, the Assam Rifles, but it will clearly take time to undo 
the mischief· which has been cleverly engineered by the impostor~ 
~d~' __ ~ ___ ~·f _________ '~~~ ___ ~ ____ ~!_, __ ~"_._. ______ ~ ~-~ ____ _ 

·Allam:sec~ariat, Political, B, Septembf'r 1931, Nos.422-447. 
tAssam Se<:retariat. Political, A, June 1933, Nos.S9-3IS, 
;Assam Secretariat, Political, A, June 1933, Nos.S9-aIS. 
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Every .attempt .is being made to_ -captt,lce -.U1e ,wpm an GajdiH,Jl "who PCl~ 
~prtI, appaFeiitly Jwith a Jerge_~a~oft,jn~Or tQe .NQrt'l ~ Cath;l.r ·lJ.il.l~. 
Det~ments of ~,sam(Ritle'i.are "PtUIJWiJitg .ll~r ~d Il;l~r ,pW.W. .One 
seetiQn ~me in _conta.et ,wi.th ·tb~.ro nn·lqel~~tth:.imMP.~htmt tb.<rY 
managed,to escape after €)perU.og !iI:e '01L!he.l!ectmn." 

Soon after. t hi_s .aJ further report -dated· the '2lKi' Macclt 1932..stat~~ 
"2. The cult whicllJGaidiliu·has revived has cleatLy '~6ad fi~ 

a lar$04ii'8a.of the Naga,HiUs, M~ ... r. ii_nd ~qe N»rt,h ,:Cflc~r·lIills, 
and· unless, Gaidiliu . aad b~ Pltrty ~p R~ ~~p\\lri!.cJ,: ~ere:js-,~rav.c; 
danger of a serious outbreak. The Gove.r"I(>r-iD-"oQU~cjll.bf\S f~refQt.e 
~ctio~ .,OJ;g~~d op~ations .to I;Ound JlP Pai!ijlip and her,party: 
:The lPc:Pllty CQ1JlII\i~si.o~er, .Naga lIiU~, l1as b~n!p~ce'd' in.contI;ol 
with a..utb.or~ty, tp .draw .op., the ~r..d !lnp 4th Battalions qf the -Ass~ni 
Rilles .for .$.l!s:h me.p.~ .b.:e ~y .l\eed. ""(~e _Sl,lbdivi~onal Officer, 
Nltr,t,h..Oa.cl1.ar IiilIs, ~,a,nd,,;:l.n offlG(7 ip. M~ipur, pave been ,dir«;c;ted , t-o 
~O:Q~te. ClS, l;Us. ~s~is1:an~s." 
.~ ta,J;l.,d. diflicl,llt Qperatio.p.s Jollow(d ~n lpe ,atte~pt to arrest 

J:hjs.girl. ,J,n l4rs:h 1932 ,a petadul!c:nt of A,ssam-Rifies, when tJose on 
~r h~lh W~J;e flttta,e,k(d .at .lJangz:uQl by aJarge b04y of'Nagas and 
b~lt<>: fi.t;C! on, th~:. and ip. tile same moplh the,;Ka~pa-Naga.village-(1f 
J3.o .. pllDgwQ1J,i in.. t;he Naga Hills Pi strict Jl,.ad to Qe burnt. - 'At last, on 
jb,e-,1,7t,b J)c.t;obc;r .l9.iS2 Qa,idjJiu was captp~ed at 'P1llomi! in the' N~a 
llUl$ -.by Qaptai,n N. N:~~ctopalcJ, ,qon:pn~p.daJ~,t 9f the ~s!\3IIl·,RifIes. 
Mr •. ~~~scrib<;s.,herJW.{ll.,uJ.Q~ep.ts th..1els* :-

cc ......... Gaidiliu was at Pulomi for about ten da.ys..'b.q~.,.sbe 
-w"s,~we.d. _$.he .. w.as ~lQ~ly.d"peI;a.te, for.!lhe was at, t.he .. ~pd of 
the Kacha Naga C.OUA_try anli bad nQwh~re to-·W)' She s~ openly 
~l;t~t in Pte n«;xt two months either she or Government would win: 'All 
,1Ihe could ,do was tQ stage a theatrical last staFl.d. Af>paRlltly she 
~ped.that an '''army'' would collect-f()Und her. 'Meanwhile LBDermaP,e 
-PUloIlli build an amazhlg palisade. It was copiedfmm t;he --palisade 
ofthe post at Hangrum, even down to a fault which-hatt>beeDl(uit.k.ia-

.oed .. by .the -CoIIUD,andant I there. It·tanAl11 tbe ~aY:fPuml,lke.yillage 
except where the ground.is precipimqs, :audl W roe~:it JP~ rW~f.k­
-;~ Jike . Jilav.es • ami ~~oyed f1 great.d~CJ.l of.th~ir .v~hl.~Qle ~ewood 
...f~~JNe -to pJ;oviPe the th.o .. w~anas ~of qee .tr:UJl~S _ r.equired. _ FOJlr 
· tlww;anrl ,JJi~n with. rifl~s bebiqd it wo.q.ld, .hav.e J:>,ee;n . fQpriid~6le; QJ1.t • a 
,fe~ : p\lo4lied. NagCls ixJ~de. it. ~QJ..lld neither have tbmwn p ~~at .Qver ' 
it nor wielded a dao. It had Ilot been quite complete~ wbrn ~~be w,as 
~ptur.ed. aero orders. on what was to be dOI}e when an attatking'fotce 
<;ome were rc;markable. She would str~e-the-Sahibs :dead· witli' magic 
and her suppo.-ters were, then to use daos o~y,:for ~ey weu.-kll.be 
_enough. 'When :Capt~in Macdonald made his ~tta-<;k ·at '~awn .on 
information' brought to 'Kohima ~y .a P.ftlo~i -gaonbura:ftef< Har~'Y" 
roeked away aIiji there \\tas no magIc. P;nIQr;riOhoJ.lted.and ::..brandlsh­
ed 'daos _according to 'her orders, but were c~eful -nQt-to-;goLbeyend 

· 'tl)erp.. ·No. h' ow wa'l struck and the village was :dearly reli~ed When 
sepoyS'ignominously; hauled out cf.a· house the 'biting, -ser~tehing-girl 

· (or whom they had uselessly worked so hard and kiJ..le-d so rnan-y -eattIe 
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though any mistake on the part of the Commandant would probably 
have led to an attack in desperation by her supporters. With her 
were captured her young nephew, the Kambiron boy, a Bopuugwemi 
boy, two Lalongmi men and a Hangrum man. The rest of 4er escort 
escaped but she gave the names of all but four later. The young nep­
hew presents a problem, for he is obviously regarded as important and 
if he is released the mantle of GaicWiu may fali on him." 

Captain Macdonald's dispositions received the commendation of 
the Assam Government in their letter No. Pol.-283-1751-A. P., dated 
the 28th February 1933 thus:-

"Captain Macdonald on receipt of information regarding the 
whereabouts of this Naga woman led a column of the Assam Rifles on 
a long night march through very difficult mountain country. lhe 
Governor-in-Council appreciates very highly his quick decisions and 
splendid effort as well as the good work of the civil officer with the 
coluwn and of the men of the Assam Rifles. If the dispositions made 
by these officers had not been as sound as the marching and the cour­
age of the men were admirable, they could not have won the great 
success they did in such difficult and dangerous circumstances. The 
woman had acquired a great notoriety on account of het' alleged 
supernatural powers and it was probable that her arrest would have 
led to resistance, but Captain Macdonald's excellent handling of the 
situation before and after the capture of the woman resulted in comp­
lete success without any resistance and consequent loss of life or injury 
to anyone." 

With him was associated Mr. Hari Blah, Extra Assistant Commis­
aioner about whom Captain Macdonald wrote:-

"28. Mr. Blah rendered the greatest assistance throughout the 
operation. In thl': confusion after entering the village he remained 
cool and by forcing our guides to hurry on was-largely responsible for 
Gaidiliu's capture." 

Gaidiliu was tried ond convicted at Manipur on a charge of 
murder and sentenced to transportation for life. 

The arrest and conviction of Gaidiliu did not end the matter. 
According to letter ·No. Pol. 1850-6261-A. P., dated the 8th August 
1935, to the Government of India, in which the Assam Government 
asked for the detention of 7 Nagas under Regulation III of 1818 it 
appeared that-

H... ...... certain Kacha Nagas of the Naga HiDs and of the 
neighbouring villages in the Manipur State had obtained access to her 
[Gaidiliu] while in the Manipur State jail on more than one occasion 
by bribing ~he jail staff, and...... she had urged them to keep the 
m.ovement a1!ve. By way of foB,owing out her izyunction to keep the 
xnov~ment abve the. Kuki. ch~ukldar of the Lakema Inspection Bunga­
low lD the Naga Hills 'hstrlct, who was supposed, quite incorrectly 
to have been responsIble for giving the information which had led t~ 
Gaidiliu's arrest, was malked down for murder. A party of Nagas 

·,...am Secretariat, Confidential foIitical, A, September 1936, Not. 1-68, 
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principally from the villages of Leng in Manipur and Bopungwemi in 
the Naga Hills, but also containing a number of individuals from other 
villages concerned in the movement, made a raid by night upon this 
rather isolated bungalow" and finding the (fhaukidar himself absent 
massacred his wife and family (four or five children) and two Kuki 
strangers, who were stopped there for the night. The raiding party 
got back to Bopungwemi either in the dark of by jungle paths away 
from the main road on the foHowing day, and apparently was never 
seen by anyone between the time it left and returned to Bopungwemi 
village. 

This raid took place in December 1932 and during the same 
month reports were received from more than one quarter of dances 
and semi-reIigous ceh·brations held in disaffected Kacha Naga villages 
and of the great nervousness on the part of the Kukis who live mostly 
in small hamlets .scattered about among the much larger Naga villages 
and were, as they have been ever since. in a state of great apprehen­
sion as to what might not happen to them at any time; for although 
the Kukis in the Naga Hills all remained loyal,_ with the exception of 
one individual, throughout the operations of 1917 to 1919, they share 
with the rebel Kukis of the Manipur State the hatred which the Kacha 
Naga now feels for all Kukis on account of certain s~fferings at their 
hands experienced during the ret-ellion in Manipur State. 

This tension on the part of the Kukis was accentuated by the 
discovery in March 1933 of a headless corpse at Makui which was 
rumoured at the time to be a Kuki though it proved in fact to have 
been that of a Manipuri. The head had been carried away by the 
Kacha Nagas who had committed the murder and offered to the pyth­
on god at Leng. In the following May this same village of Leng, which 
was the centre of the movement on the Manipur side as Bopungwemi 
has been on the Naga Hills side, sent out a deputation urging villages 
in the Kacha Naga country not to pay any tax, a movement which 
was accompanied by dances of a ceremonial nature in many villages 
although it was not the correct season for such dances at all. In June 
information was obtained that this propaganda was also directed to 
the abandonment of cultivation partly on the ground that the god 
would provide food, and partly on the ground that Go:vernment was 
about to collapse and by the autumn villages would be at war. This 
rumour of the approalhing collapse of Government was accompanied 
by one that a king called Gandhi was coming to rule instead and it 
was undesirable for anyone to pay any taxes to Government, as they 
might later be in the unfortunate position of having to pay them 
again to this king Gandhi, who was decribed as a son of that Jadon­
ang who had been executed in 1931. The result of this movement has 
been to make the collection of house tax extremely difficult in many 
villages, all hough the Kacha Naga IS actually probably no worse off 
than the Kuki, who pays under similar conditions; but it has also 
accentuated the poverty arising from economic causes that have been 
operating for some years, and it will not be out of place here to point 
out that a great deal of the succes'J ot this movemer.t has been and 
stil) is economic in origin. Many Kacha Nagas have nothing whatever 
to lose and ..are therefore easily seduced by any prospect, how~vef 
wild, of an improved economic <Xmdition, " 



174 THE ~AGA mLLS. 

...... In May, 1934 anQther prophet Was arrestetl in' N charramai 
by the Assam Rifles guard at Henima. He had' b~~ touring the 
disaffected villages in Manipur, the North Cachar' Bills ~I;ld. the 'Naga 
Hills, dairoing as usual divine or magical powers to cure illnesses, and 
holding ceremonies to commemorate Gaidiliu and 'Jadonal;lg. and ,con­
firming his followers in their refusal to pay taxes. The Intlian 
Officer, who happened to be a Kuki, got information of his activities 
and made a clever arrest. This man Haido, of Pabaram-Yout~.in 
Manipur, ultimately made a confession and has turned .an approver 
in the case against Ramjo and others ofBopungwemi for the outrage 
at Lakema. As a result -of information received from him, -and con­
firming previgus information obtained from Leng and elsewhere, ,one 
Ramjo of Bopungwemi was arrested. This was in July 1934. It has 
been satisfactorily substantiated that Ramjo was the principal leader 
of the Bopungwemi party in the butchery at Lakema bungalow ...... the 
Government of Assam is satisfied that it is really dangerous t:> release 
him, but so far it has been impossible to get sufficient evidence to 
come into Court to convict him of crimes. .. ....... Ue is the first of t.he 
men whom this Government now proposes should be dealt with un'der 
Regulation III of 1818. 

Mter the arrest of Ramjo there was for a time quiescence in the 
Kacha Naga country and the Deputy Commissioner toured the greater 
part of it without an escort, and was everywhere recf'ived in a friendly 
manner, but it was clear that in Bopungwemi and in one or two 
other villages the movement continued below the sur.face. In 
November of the same year another of the murderers, one "Dikeo of 
Bopungwemi, was arrested, but managed to escape by night in his 
handcuffs from the fort at Henema. He has since evaded arrest but js 
known to moving about among the disaffected villages in the Naga 
Hills and Manipur, and more particularly in the lells closely adminis­
tered areas in the North Cachar Hi11s, preaching disaffection and 
hiding from justice." 

In addition to these two men, the Assam Government wished ,to 
place under restraint 5 others, viz., Gomhei of Bop .. ,mgwemi and a girl, 
Areliu, associated with him, and 3 men Italakpa of Laloi, Italakpa of 
Insung and I vongtieng of Perenmi. . 

The Government of India agreed in their letter No. F.425~P /3.5, 
dated the 3ht January 1936. As it turned out, Gomhei and 'Areliu 
had by now been convicted, in September 1935, and sentenced to 
terms of imprison ment, while I talakpa of Laloi had died. 

or the remaining 4, the histories of the other ItalC\kpa, of Ivong­
teing and of Ramjo nel'd not be pursued. Dikeo remained abscond­
ing until November 1st 1940, when he was shot QY the Assam' Rifles 
guard at Henima while attempting to escape from a house which they 
had surrQunded. 

Between 1935 when the letter* above referred to was written and 
1941 the agitation never entirely died down and there were periodical 
rumours offresh attempts to revive the Gaidiliu cuh, but the move.r;nent 

• Assam Secretariat, Confiden\iaJ, PoHtical, At September 1936, NOIl.l·6R. 
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fortunately never reached the scale it did in Jadonang's day. It 
remained necessary, however, to maintain the outpost at Henima in 
the Kacha Naga country as a precaution and as a base for the hunt for 
Dik(l(), 

VII. Pangslta and other Expeditions, 1936-39.-ln Apnl 1936 
Mr. Mills, Deputy Commissioner, submitted a report* on the behaviour 
of Pangsha, a Kalo Kenyo village in Tribal territory outside the 
Control Area. They had been responsible for 200 de-aths in the last 
6" mollth's-: they had raided Kt"juk within the- Control Area and taken 
53 "heads : they- had Taided Saochu, also within the Cuntrol Area and 
tueri 1M' heads-; and they had been selling captives as slaves. Though 
Fang81ia- was outside the Control Area, theIr conduct had been such 
that Mi-. Mills advised that an expeditIon be sent against them. 

The- then Gdv~r of Assam, Sir Michael Keane, approved 
of,. th~- proposals and placed it before the Government of India in 
Govennnent' letter No. Pol.-1948/7374-A.P., dated the 21st August 
193'il In'a- previous, letter written in May 1936 he had already 
mentioned Pangsha in connection with the subject of slavery 
and had expressed the view that the best way of dealing with the 
problem was to extend the Control Area so as to cover slave-keeping 
villages. 

Tile' Go-vetnnlent of India's approval to a visit to Pangsha having 
b'eert'a~cordcd, the operations took place between November 13th and 
netember" J3dt, 1936, with Mt: Mills in political charge, Majol W. R. 
B: Wima~ 7th Gurldtas Commandant, in command of the escort 
of'2}-platoom of the 3rd Assam Rifles, and Mr. G. W. J. Smith, I. P-., 
itt charge of the 360' carriers, while Dr. von Fuhrer Haimendorf, 
an Austrian 'scientIst also had permission to accompany the exped­
hiott (it is' dectibed in his book "The Naked Nagas"). The course 
at. the expedition ~,descri bed in the following ex tract ir em the Deputy 
Commissioner's Report No.3814.G.,.dated the 20th December 19'36.-

'C ...... 011 November 20th we reached our advanced base at 
Cbingmei. where< the loyalty, of myoId friend Chingmak was of in­
estimable value. There we found that Pangsha had haRded over to 
him1aU their slaves, but one ; they still defied us to visit them, and I 
fuund I they had terrorised' the whole neighbourhood, threatening to 
destror ~ny village which helped us • 

• • • • 
Soon·after passing the Noklak-Pangsha boundary we saw a small 

unarmed'party of'Pangsh~ me'll in tlie distance. Fout' wert! induced 
( to come and speak to us, and brought with them a goarand a chickien. 

They asked whether 'we' would' Ittake J!eace~ There was not the slight­
est· doubt- as-ttl the "Only possible- answer. To have made peace', turned 
back and abandoned the remaining slave- at the price of a' goat, a-fowl 
and~sGme smooth words would inevitably have been interpreted as a sign 

• ----
"A'18ant-Secn:tarjat~ Tribal, A~ December 193'1, Nos. 1-90. 
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of weakness. Friends who had helped us would have been massacred 
and raids would have continued. I thf"refore told the envoys that I did 
not believe their statement that they could not produce the slave girl 
and that I was going to punish them for their conduct and insults t~ 
Government. 

* * * * 
On November 26th we burnt the main village, nearly losing four 

coolies who straggled against orders. In the afternoon we moved down 
stream to below the separate Wenshoyi 'khel'. Next morning the 
baggagt! with one platoon was sent straight to Noklak, and one platoon 
with a few scouts and dobashis went up to burn the 'khel'. We were 
very heavily -attacked on our way down in a last effort by Pangsha to 
wipe us out. It was only the skill and coolness of Major Williams and 
his force that enabled us to make a safe withdrawal to Noklak, without 
losing a man and after inflicting losses on the enemy, whom ground and 
cover enabled to charge to within 50 yards before they were stopped. 

That evening Chingmei and Noklak made peace, Noklak being no 
longer in any doubt as to the safer side of the fence. I also fined 
Noklak for their previous hostility. Ponyo, who may have sent a 
contingent to help Pangsha, also came to see me. I sent word through 
them to Pangsha that it they would come and talk to me at Chingmei 
their envoys would be safe. This they did two days later, bringing 
with them the leading men of the Burma villages Ponyo and Shiwu. 
They admitted defeat and promised to stop slave-raiding and to return 
the remaining slave. All three villages swore an oath of friendship and 
were sent home with presents of salt. Pangsha kept their word and the 
slave girl was sent for from her purchasers in Burma and brought to our 
camp at Chentang on December 7th and is now safe with her parents." 

The Government of Assam in forwarding Mr. Mills' report on the 
30th January 1937 to the Government of India commented as follows:--

"2. The expedition completely achieved its objects in effecting the 
release of several slaves taken as captives and in inflictmg on Pangsha 
a well merited pumshment not only for its participation in the slave 
trade but for its head-hunting raids on its neighbours. The Deputy 
Comm1ssioner, Naga Hills, has been asked to submit proposals for. the 
constitution of a Control Area to include Pangsha and other villages." 

The slavery aspect of these operations was referred to by the 
Government of India when issuing the report for general information 
in the following terms :-

"India is a party to the Slavery Convention, 1926, and has under­
taken to bring about progressively and as soon as possible the complete 
abolition of slavery in all its forms. It was however found necessary to 
make a reservation in respect of certain outlying and inaccessible areas 
bordering on Assam and Burma where, it was thought, it would be 
difficult to implement our undertaking effectively. Recently the 
Government.of India have agreed to the reservation being withdrawn 
in respect of certain cases including the Naga Hills area in Assam. As 
a first step towards the fulfilment of the requirement under the Slave 



THE NAGA HILL!! 177 

Convention to bring about the abolition of slavery in this area, the 
Government of India, at the request of the Government of Assam, 
agreed to an expedition, headed by the Deputy Commissioner, Naga 
Hills, and composed of a column of Assam Rifle!!.. The object of the 
expedition was to acquaint ,the he-admen of the village,s \yith the 
determination of 90vernment to suppress the practice of slave~¥ a,nc;1" if 
they persisted in ai}. attitude of defiance? to punish them. ,.his, a~tioq 
was rendered imperative by ~e cond~ct of one of the yil1ag~s in th~t 
area, namely, Pangsha, which, with: the assistance of ~er~ain. other 
villages, had been raiding and destroying the weake~ vi11~ge~ \h tp.,e~r 
neighbourhood and . holding their captives as slaves in defiance of warn­
ing from Government." 

The proposals'" re-ferred to in paragraph 2. o£the Assam letter dated 
30th January 1937 were duly submitted, and, with Hie san.diorl of tHe 
Government of India, the Control' Area was extended'so as to ;nclude 
Pangsha, Sanglao, Nokluk at;ld certain oth~r Kalo-Kenguyu yill~ge~ 
with effect from January 1938. In forwardicg his proposals die 
Deputy Commissioner said that "The proposed exte~ion of the q~~ttq! 
Area c('vers the approaches to th,e o~ly known :pass into B1JI~a tlito)lg~ 
which slav.s are taken, and the whole of the country in which we know 
that slave-raiding has survived to the present." 

In November 1937 Mr. Pawsey, Deputy Commi~ioner, accomp­
anied by Mr. Had Blah, Subdivisional Officer, Mokokchpng" 
Major B. C. H. Gerty and 174. officers and men of the 3rd Assam Rifle. 
conducted a successful expedition to Nokhu for the purpose of rel~sing 
slaves, in the follQwing circumstances.-

"After the 1936 expedition to Pangsha, it transpired that the 
village of Sanglao still held on,e slav~ an,4 in spite of constant warnings 
ref wed to release the slave. Tp.e, DeRuty. Rom~ssi9~~r, Nagf! ~ills, 
accordingly asked for permission to warn Sanglao that unless the daves 
were released the village would be visited and punished. Government 
permission was accorded to this action. It subsequently transpired that 
the village of Nokhu had not released their slaves in spite of their 
affirmations to the Deputy Commissioner last year, and that the 
village of Pesu, south-west of Sanglao, the position of which was then 
unknown, held at least one slave. It was not known whether villages 
further south held slaves or not. The sanction to the expedition was 
duly obtained from the Government of India. Throughout the rainy 
season comtant attempts were made to get the villages to release their 
slaves, but although it was reported that Sanglao had obeyed Govern­
ment orders, Nokhu and Pesu remained obstinate." 

The expedition left Mokokchung on the 1st November 1937 and by 
the end of the month all the slaves known to be in the unadministered 
area were set free without any casualty on our side. Nokhu was 
reached on November 12th, 4 slaves were released and a fine was 
exacted : Sanglao was reached on the 15th and was "overwhelmingly 

*90vernor's Secretariat, Tribal, A, September 1938, Nos.1-2~: 
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friendly" : Pesu was reached On the 17th and burnt and staves recover­
ed. Soon after the expedition was ovt:r reports were received that, 
while Pesu was being rebuilt after it was burnt during the expedition, 
Pan so went and took 6 heads from them. 

In 1939* Pangsha and some of its neighbours had again to be 
visited and punished. Early in 1939 Yungkao, Tamkhung and Ukha 
took 12 heads off Agching, and in June of that year Pangsha, Ukha and 
Yungkao destroyed Agcbing, taking 96 he~ds. Guns were provided for 
the endangered village for their protection and the sending of a column 
was agreed to. Mr. Pawsey, Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, was in 
charge and was accompanied by Major A. R. Nye, M. c., and 3 plat­
oons of the Assam Rifles, and Mr. F. P. Adams, I. c. s., Subdivisional 
Officer, Mokokchung. There was no opposition. Pangsha was burnt 
and property flestroyed : Yungkao, which submitted unconditionally, 
was fined only : Tamkhung was fined a small sum: Ukha was burnt. 
Unfortunately Mongu and Mongsen, the Pangsha leaders, were not 
arrested. Pangsha and Yungkao were toM not to raid the small vill­
ages in the Control Area on our side of the river. Ukha were told 
through an intermediary, but not directly as they did not come in, 
that guns must not be used in the Control Area. 

VIII. The Constitutioll Act of 1935.-Throughout the discussions 
previous to the framing of the new Act, the authorities concerned had 
no difficulty in agreeing that the Naga Hills ought to be kept outsirle 
the purview of the New Constitution. They were accordingly declar­
ed to be an 'Excluded Area' under the Government of India (Excluded 
and Partially Excluded Areas) Order, 1936 and have since the 1st of 
April 1937 been adminilltered by the Governor in his discretion. 

Governor's Secretariat, Det"ember 1939, Nos.I.lIB. 
-Governor's Secretariat, Tribal, A, June 1941, Nos.1-126. 
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i.-Introductory.-Mackenzie deals with­
Abors, 
Miris, 
Mishmis, 
Khamtis, 
Singhpos, 

qnder those headings at pag~ 33-72 of his work, and his history of 
those tribes is brought down to the year 1883 or thereabouti. In 
these notes it is proposed to grOllp together the subsequent history of 
these tribes under the one head of "Sadiya Frontier Tract." 

The Sadiya Frontier Tract district was formed in 1912 with head­
quarters at Sadiya. the old Sadiya subdivision of Lakhimpur dis­
trict being its nu~leus. Its fint designation was that of "Central and 
Eastern Sections. No~th-East Frontier". the Western Section being 
what is now known as Balipaca Frontier Tract. 

The administrative changes thus brought about in 1912 are des­
cribed succinctly by Mr. S. N. Mackenize, I.C.S., the officiating Po­
litical Officer, in paragraph 1 of the first annual report (1912-13) for 
"the district of Sadiya". 

"1. As this is the first Annual Report of this district, a few 
generalmtroductory remarks will not be out of place. Formerly 
this district was known as the Dibrugarh Frontier Tract, and 
Was administered by an Assistant Political Officer, with head­
quarte~ at Sadiya, subordinate to the Deputy Commissioner, 
Lakhimpur. ·Subsequent to the Abor Expedition of 1911-12 this 
system of administration was changed. The Dibrugarh Frontier Tract 
ceased to exist, and the district of Sadiya became a separate entity 
controlled by a Political Officer, working directly under the Chief 
Commissioner, with three Assistant Political Officers, of whom one was 
posted to Pasighat, and was, broadly speaking, in charge of the Abor 
Hills. Sanction to this system was conveyed in letter No.2447-E.B., 
dated the 16th October 1912, from the Secretary to the Government 
of India in the Foreign Department, to the address of the Chief 
Secretary to the Chief Commissioner of Assam." 

The title of this district wao; officially altered to "Sadiya Frontier 
Tract" in 1919, on the recommendation of the Chief Commissioner, 
Sir Nicholas Beatson-Bell, by Government of India Notification. 
No. lU-E.B.,· dated the 20th March 1919. 

Before 1912, the Deputy Commissioner, Lakhimpur, was charged 
with the duty of maintaining relations with the frontier tribes, these 
duties being lightened from 1882 by the appointment at Sadiya of an 
Assistant Political Officer for that area. The first such Assistant was 
Mr. Francis Jack Needham ~f the Bengal Police, of whom it is stated 
in the note to the Preface to the Sadi ya Frontier Tract Gazetteer of 
1928,~"By his explorations and discoveries, Mr. Needham acquired 
an International reputation and his work from 1882 to 1905 laid the 
foundations of the modern North-East Frontier of Assam." 

·Assam Secretariat. Political, ~ May 1919, Nos. 8-15. 
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So far as this portion of the Frontier is concerned, the last import­
ant incident which Mackenzie records (page 45) is the occupation· of 
Bomjur and Nizamghat in 1881 by Major G. W. Beresford and a 
force of some 300 officers and men of the 43rd Assam Light Infantry, 
a stockade being constructed and a garrison installed at each place. 

Beresford, besides being in military command, was also Chief 
Political Officer to the Expedition. His mstruction~ were to-

(1) prevent the Abors crossing to the east of the Dibong ; 
(2) construct stockades at Bomjur and Nizamghat ;, 
(3) avoid hostilities with the Abors. 

His AssistaJ}.t Political Officer was Rai Bahadur Lahmon Das, 
Honorary Extra Assistant Commissioner, while Mr. 'G. H. P. Livesay, 
Assistant Superintendent of Police, was in charge of the Police who 
accompained the party. 

Nizamghat and Bomjur were evacuated towards the end of the 
following May, but were re-occupied after the rains, so as to . show the 
Abors that we were determined to prevent them crossin2' the Dibong. 
Bomjur had a Military, and Nizamghat a Police, Garrison, each of 
100 men. 

Though these posts had been occupied vithout difficulty, the 
general attitude of the tribes, especially the Abors, gave anxiety, and 
Mr. Elliott, tht Chief Commissioner, was not satisfied with our arrange­
ments for maintaining relations with them. He wrot.e thus in his 
letter No. 72St dated the 18th May 1882, to the Government of India. 

"9. The only plan that Mr. Elliott can suggest is that a suitable 
officer should be selected to conduct our relations with the Abors in 
particular, and also with all the tribes bordering on Sadiya. Such an 
officer, if intelligent in his instincts, quick in his syma pthies, and a 
good linguist, might in the course of two or three years obtain influence 
on the frontier, and might from that vantage-ground use any oppor­
tunities that may occur of opening friendly communications and 
convincing the Abors not only of our strength to resist and our un­
willingness to attack, but also of the advantages they may gain by the 
markets we can open to their produce. But the Chief Commissioner 
would add that there are not many points of contact between us 
and a hill tribe that lives chiefly by hunting and fishing; and that the 
best consummation would perhaps be that they should let us, and 
we them, alone as much as possible. u . 

A second letter No. 728 of the same date made a formal proposal 
for the creation of the post of Assistant Political Officer at Sadiya, as 
a temporary measure, and described the position in more detail as 
follows-

"2. The only civil official who has any influence at Sadiya or any 
knowledge of the tribes beyond the border, is Rai Lahmon Bahadur, 
a native gentleman of a fine presence and of much natural intelligence 

·Allam Secretariat, 1882. File No. 61-J. 
tAstam Secretariat, For., B, December 1882, Nos. 1-13. 
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who and his brother, the poJitical sheristidar, are heads of the impor­
tant Mattak tribe. He has been employed for many years on the 
border, fir .. t as Inspector of Police, then as Honorary Extra Assistant 
Commissioner, a post which he now holds~ and he is very widely known 
to the Abors, Mishmis, Singphos, and Kamptis, and has great weight 
among them. But he is beginning to grow old and it is dangerous that 
he should be the sole repository of so much experience, lest it should 
die with him, and he is beJieved to be somewhat mixed up in trading, 
and elephant hunting operations, in the debatable land across the 
Inne;r Line ; and he, has a deep distrust and dislike of the Abors­
fedings whicll_ are known to them and which they reciprocate. 

3. For these reasons, some of which were known at the time 
while some have become more evident in the course of subsequent 
events Sir S. C. Bayieyappointed Mr. Livesay, an Inspector and 
officiating Assistant Superintendent of Police to Sadiya, with the 
intention that he should have all the knowledge that Lahmon had 
acquired, and should, gradually become fit to take his place as 
Political Officer on the Frontier. Mr. Livesay, however, has not 
proved equal to the situation ; perhaps, he has been a little wanting in 
tact, temper, and education ; perhaps the Rai Bahadur resented the 
attempt to supplat him and has been too clever for him. But the result 
is that at proent Mr. Livesay does not know an) thing of the Mishmi 
or Abor language ; has no influence, and has made no progress wha~­
ever in becoming acquainted with the notable men of the frontier 
tribes. The Chief Commissioner is satisfied that he is deficient in the 
qualities required for such a post, and has decided to remove him from 
Sadiya." 

In a third letter No. 1587, dated the 28th . September 1882, 
Mr. Elliott reported that he had found a suitable officer in the person 
of Mr. J. F. (sic) Needham of the Bengal Police, whose services the 
Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal had agreed to surrender, and asked for 
approval to his appointment. In a letter No.1731, dated the 23rd 
October 1882, to the Deputy Commissioner, Dibrugarh, the Chief 
Commissioner stated the duties of the new post as follows.-

"2. Mr. Needham is to be chiefly employed on political work in 
subordination to you, but he should also take up all criminal work 
arising within such area about Sadiya as you may think it convenient 
to assign to him, and revenue work in addition if you dcsire it. It 
will probably be convenient to uotify &adiya as a subdivision, and to 
allot to it a certain number of mauzas. On this subject, al)d in 
regard to the magisterial powers with which he is to he invested, and 
the establishment he may require, you should make proposals after 
consulting with him upon his arrival at Dibrugarh. YQ':1 should ordi­
narily issue through him orders upon all matters relating to affairs on 
the Abor, Mishmi, and Singpho-Khampti frontiers, and the arrange­
ments regarding the location of the frontier outposts, their supplies, 
the patrolling between them, etc. .:1.8 well as the political relations 
with the Abors and Mishmis will be carried on through him as soon ac; 
he has acquired sufficient local knowled~e. 
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3. His fir~t duty will be to make himself. thoroughly acquainted 
with the history of our rel{ltions with these tribes and their neighbours 
both by mastering the correspondence in the political department of 
your office (more especially the recent correspondence and Major 
Beresford's note * of 1880), and by gaining all the information he can 
from Rai Lahmon Bahadur and other local authorities. His next 
should be to become personally acquainted with the leading members 
of the tribes, their chiefs, Kotokis, etc., and to est~bli~h, as far as 
possible, friendly and cordial relations with them. He should 
endeavour to learn their languages, more especially that of 
the Abors, with whom it is important that he should establish friendly 
relations and a means of communication independent of the possible 
errors or intentional misinterpretation of the Kotokis. And he should 
regard bordel' politics as his special sphere in which he is to acquire as 
much knowledge as he possibly can, and to endeavour to train his 
judgment to right and sound opinions upon all questions relating to the 
subject." 

The Government of India agreed, and Mr. Needham was 
appointed as the first Assistant Political Officer at Sadiya with effect 
from 8th November 1882. The way in which his position came in 
to be regarded, at any rate by Mr. W. E. Ward, Chief Commissioner 
in ] 894, is explained in the following extract from a letter from the 
Chief Commissioner to the then Deputy Commissioner of Lakhimpur 
No.49-Foreignt-356-P' 1 dated the 15th January 1894. 

cc3. Mr. Needham's position in relation to the Deputy 
Commissioner of Lakhimpur has always hitherto been 
that of a special adviser on all political questions arising 
on your frontier, and, from his intimate knowledge of the 
tribes on the frontier his views are necessarily entitled to con­
siderable weight. At the same time, it is the District Officer who is 
immediately responsible for advising the Chief Commissioner on 
frontier questions, and he is not necessarily bound in every case to 
accept the views of the Political Officer at Sadiya." 

11.-1885-1891 

(a) Needham's visit to Rima.-Between December 
1885 and January 1886, Mr. Needham journeyed up to 
a point very close to Rima and back, he and his 
companion, Captairt E. H. Molesworth:, being, as the Chief Com­
missioner observed, the only Europeans who had ever penetrated into 
Tibet by the route of the Brahmaputra [sic] subsequent to the French 
Missionaries, Messrs. Krick and Boury, who were killed by Mishmls 
in the Zayul ValJey in 1854. His tour is described thus in the Assam 
Administration Report of 1885·1886. 

• "Notcs on the North-Eastern Frontier of AlISam" by Captain O. W. Beresford 
Assam Light Inrantry. Assam S::cretariat Press, 1881. lRrprinted 1906.1 ' 

tAssam Secretariat. For., A, July 1894, Nos.34.371. 
; Assam Sec:retariat, 1886, File No.173S.J. 
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"4 .... This year's record has been marked by an expedition of 
no less interest and boldness, carried out by Mr. Needham, Political 
Officer at Sadiya, up the course of the Brahmaputra into the Zayul 
Valley~ where the river leaving Tibet emerges into the plains of 
Assam. Mr. Needham, who took no armed escort, started on the 
12th December 1885, and was accompanied by Captain Molesworth, 
Commandant of the Lakhimpur Frontier Police Battalion. He 
marched a distance of 187 miles up the course of the river 
from Sadiya by a track presenting great difficulties to an unaccus­
toqted traveller, to within a mile of the Tibetan village of Rima 
where he was turned back by the officials. Rima was reached on the 
4th January 181J6, and by the 20th he was back at Sadiya. The 
geographical interest of his journey rests mainly in the confirma­
tion it affords to the parrative of the Pandit A-K, who made his 
way from the Tibetan side to Rima in 1882, and lived ,in the 
Zayul Valley for some weeks. After the publication' of the Pandit's 
report, a theory was started by those who maintain that the 
Sanpo is idenlical with the Irrawaddy, and not with -the 
Dihong as generally supposed, that the river of Zayu] was an 
affluent of the San po, and that the Sanpo finds its way into Burma 
somewhere between the Frontier of A~sam and the furthest point 
reached by the Pandit in the Zayul Yalley, vi<:. the village of Sam~. 
Mr. Needham, by following up the Brahmaputra along it whole 
COllrse from Sadiya to Rima, hal! conclusively proved its identity with 
the river of Zayul. As from the Pandit's record it is prc.ved that 
the Sanpo does not descend into Burma to the east of this river, 
there apr-ears to remain no other hypothesis than that it finds its way 
into Assam, most probably as the Dihong. . 

[Needham's views on this point are expressed thus in paragraph 
15 of his report*. " ...... I am in the proud position of being able 
satisfactorily to settle a gre~t geographical quest:on. Having followed 
the course of the Brahmaputra from Sadiya to a spot within a mile 
or so of the Tibetan frontier village, or town, of' Rima' I can con­
fidently assert that no river in any degree corresponding to the' Sanpo 
in size joms it between Sadiya and Rima, and consequently the Sanpo 
must pass into the Brahmaputra west of Sadiya, and my opinion is 
that it can be no other than the Dihong. "J Another important result 
of Mr Needham's journey is the evidence it affords of the friendly 
disposition of the Mishmi tribes which separate Assam from the ZayuI 
Valley. These people are divided into two tribes, speaking different 
dialects, the Digarus, who hold the country between Sonpura, 
our outpost on the Brahmaputra east of Sadiya and the Mdaun 
or Du river, within 60 miles of the Tibet border. and the Mijus 
who occupy the tract between that point and Zayul. In 1851 
M. Krick, a French Missionary, entered Tibet by this route, and' 
returned to Assam in safety. In 1854 he, in company with another 
French priest, M Boury, again penetrated to the Zayul Valley, but 
both were murdered there shortly after their arrival by the Mishmi 
chief Kai-i-sha. In February 1855 Lieutenant Eden, with a party 
of the 1st Assam Light Infantry, attacked Kai-i-sha's village, and 

*Assam Secretariat 1886. File No.1735-J. 
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carried the chief off a prisoner to Dibrugarh, where he was subse­
quently hanged. From that date till Mr. Needham's journey, no 
European had succeeded in accomplishing the journey to Rima." 

Mr. Needham's principal native assistant on this journey was 
Chowsa Khamti Gohain, of whom he spoke in the highest terms in his 
report and who was presented with a double barrelled gun as a 
reward, suitably inscribed as from the Governor-General. The Chief 
Commi~sioner's Jetter No. 1194, dated the 21st June ]886, with which 
Mr. Needham's report and diary was forwarded to the Government 
of India describes at great length the previous history of this country; 
the geographical problems which it presented; and the valuable 
contI'jbution which Mr. Needham's journey had furnished to geogra­
phical science.especially in regard to the identity of the Sanpo and 
the Dihong and our knowledge of the Mishmi inhabitants. Para­
graph 28 of the letter suggested that there were great possibilitieJ of 
commercial intercourse by this route bf'tween Tibet and Assam, and 
ask,ed for permission to take steps towards opening it out. 

The Government of India's acknowledgment of the report was 
described by the Chief Commissioner's Secretary, Mr. Stack, in the 
official noting as a " douche of cold water." While giving credit to 
Mr. Needham for a successful enterprise, they said they would be 
glad in future to have their sanction asked for for official expeditions 
beyond the frontier: and they declined to incur expenditure on the 
roads in the "Brahmaputra Valley route into Tibet" without "clear 
evidence of their necessity and utility." This comment did indeed 
cause Mr. Ward, the Chief Commissioner, to admit that it was "a 
dangerous business" and to observe that they did not "want to 
have Mr. Needham murdf'red and a military expedition to punish the 
murderer. " 

(b) Needham's visit to the Hukong Valley, 1888.-ln letter No.2323,. 
dated the 13th October 1887, the Chief Commissioner recommended 
to the Government of India that Needham should be permitted to 
"examine the country between Makum in the Dibrugarh district and 
the Hukong Valley." The Government of India agreed, and th<::y also 
gave sanction to Captain St. J. F. Michell, Assistant Quarter-Master 
General, Oudh Division, accompanying the expedition. An escort of 
50 Frontier Police was taken and a Survey Officer, Mr. M. Ogle, was 
included in the party. 

The Chief Commissioner's instructions as regards the objective 
of the misssion were as follows :-

"3. Mr. Needham's objective will be Main-khwon in the Hukong 
Valley, beyc·rd which he will not go It is believed that the journey 
from Lado [sic] near Makum to this place will take from 21 days to 
a .m<?nth, and that thl' whole expedition may be carried through 
wlth~n two m?nths. The route to ~)e adopted in reaching Mainkhwon, 
and In returmng thence to Assam, is left to Mr. Needham's discretion, -

·Assam Secrrtariat, 1887, Grneral Departmrnt. File N~. 547-J. 
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subject to the condition that he is not to traverse country outside the 
sphere of Singpho influence, which, Mr. Fitzpatrick understands, 
includes the whole of the Naga country east of a line drawn north and 
south through Ledo as far as Hukong. On arrival at Mainkhwon (or 
before, if possible) he should endeavour to enter into communication 
with Captain Adamson, Deputy-Commissioner of Bhamo ....... " 

In a subsequent letter to the Deputy Commissioner, Lakhimpur, 
the Chief Commissioner stated that he had learnt from Captain 
Michdl that "special importance is attached by the military authori­
ties to the explot'ation of the route across the Pad.oi by the Nongyang 
Lake, where the height of the range is least, and where it is believed 
to be practicable to carry a military road. The course to be foJlowcd 
by the expedition in going to Hukong has now been made for laying 
out depot of supplies, and cannot be altered; but in returning the 
Chief Commissioner desires that Mr. Needham will unless there should 
be difficulties now unforeseen against it, select the route by the 
Nongyong Lake, and carefully examine the country he traverses in 
this direction." 

In point offact, Needham did go by the ;ongyong Lake in his 
outward route and this change of plan caused him to fail in his objects 
in some r~spects. The route which he followed and the causes which 
led to the failure to reach the Hukong Valley are briefly described 
thus in the Chief Commissioner's report, * dated the 22nd June 1888. 

"2. Mr. Needham left Margherita on the Dehing river on the 4th 
January 1888. and returned thither on the 28th February; he was 
thus absent for 55 days. He failed to reach the Hukong Valley, 
but has explored to a considerable extent two routes leading to 
it, one of which leaxes the Dehing river at N'dong, crosses 
the Patkoi at an elevation of 4,650 feet, and goes by the 
Nongyang lake and the Loglai river to a Singpho village called 
Numyung, distance eight marches from Dafa Nong's village in the 
Hukong Valley, and the other of which, going through the biUs 
south of Margherita, via Yogli and the Namchik river, crosses the 
Patkoi at an elevati9n of 7,300 feet, and proceeds via Phoong, Morang, 
Shangge, Hashan and Khulluk, to Sumbaya Nong's village in Hukong, 
distant two days' journey from Khulluk, the furthest point reached 
by Mr. Needham. 

3. The expedition failed, primarily, owing to the want of sufficient 
carriage, and dependence upon local porters and supplies; secondly, 
owing to the sudden and' abrupt change of plans. the Yogli route 
having been first adopted and provisions sent out by it in, advance 
which it became necessary to transfer ,to Numyung: this caused much 
loss of time and disappearance of about a quarter of the stores so sen t 
out, while great difficulty was experienced, partly owing to tht want 
of water in the Dehing river, in provisioning the route selected via the 

*1888-Assam Secretariat, General Department. File No. 613-]. 
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Nongyang lake, and delay comequently occurred in making a start in 
that rurection; lhirdly, owing to the late period at which the expedi­
tion was sanctioned by the Govern ment of India, its start beiog rhus 
deferred till well into January, by which time the Nagas had scattered 
on rubber-cutting business, and the weather (though the Chief Com­
missioner belieV('s that the past was an exceptionally dry cold season 
elsewhere in Asam) had broken, and the hardships of the journey 
were thus much increased." 

The expedition had been, however, not without results. It esta­
blished "the possibility of reaching Hukong by either of the two routes 
explored, that by the Nongyang Lake, Numyung, and Dafa Nong's 
village, which is two days' journey from Mainkhwon, and that by 
Yogli, Phoong, Morang, Shangge, etc., to Sumbaya Nang's village, 
which is five stages flom Mainkhwon": and the Survey Officer who 
~ccompanied the party had succe.::ded in mapping about 1,500 square 
miles of new country south-east of the Patkoi, up to which the hi Is 
had been fully mapped bv the survey party of 1873-74 and had linked 
the work of this expedition with that accomplished by Colonel Wood­
thorpe in 1884-85. 

The party suffered great hardships throughout owing to bad 
we'lther and failure of supplies. The ascent of the Patkoi was begun 
on the 19th January, a steep and slippery route, and camp was made 
at an elevation of 3,500 feet. Crossing the top at 4,655 feet on the 
20th, they descended to the Nongyong Lake at 3,429 feet. They reach­
ed Phoong on the 6th February, a Moshang village at 4,300 feet and 
remained thert' 6 days. Needham found this village in a bad way, 
reduced to only 8 houses, though it was the oldest of the Moshang 
villages, and in fact the parent village of the rest. 

On the 16th February they reached camp at Hashan and from 
there on the 17th they visited their furthest point, the village of 
Khulluk. They returned via Phoong, Namchik and Yogli. 

Accounts of conditions in this country which were recorded many 
years later by Mr. Williamson in 1909 and Mr. O'Callaghan in 1924-
25 and 1925-26 may conveniently find a place here. Mr. Williamson 
stated as follows in paragraph* 11 of his report on his visit to that 
country in 1908. 

"11. The Joss of life by raids in these hills is slight, but the people 
make up any deficiency in this respect by the sacrifice of human 
beings. Ordinarilye"ery male is re~ponsible for the death of two 
slaves. Raids amo~g the Naga tribes to the south-west of the Rang­
pang country result tn,the death of women and children, but these 
raids would appear' to be less savage than the slaughter of a helpless 
slave in cold blood". . ~ 

Further comments on this subject are to be found in his diary of 
7th and 9th December. 
---- ---- ---;------------- .-------------

-Eastern B~al and Assam Secretariat, Political, A. May 1910, NOI.13.40. 
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"Human sacrifice appears to be very common- Every householder 
has to offer up at least one victim during his life time to propitiate the 
deity located in his·house. The Gam's father had offered up a victim 
when the Gam had attained manhood. He had himself made a sacri­
fice on his father's death when he became the head of the household, 
and again when his son had arrived at man's estate. Victims consist 
of women and children as well as males. A soothsayer, who lives at 
Chumka in the Numyung valley, decides which sex is necessary for 
proper propitiation. These victims are obtained from the south from 
the Jl.aked Naga trib~s. A victim costs in kind Rs.300-a very high 
t'stiniate. 1 saw one of these people at Rangku. Marriage is <:xogam .. 
ous, and a wife is said to cost three slaves. This, at the Rs.300 rate; 
come to Rs.900, which is of course a very exaggerated estimate ...... " 
And again on the 9th I)ecember he records-"Sacrifices are made for 
the purpose of propitiating the household deity. If this is not done, 
the man falls sick, his crops fail, and his wife will either die in child­
birth, or her children will be still-born. When a household wish to 
sacrifice a human being, a slave is purchased and kept in the village 
for about a month, with his ankles in heavy wooden stocks to prevent 
his running away. Otherwise, he has the use of his limbs. Women 
and even children are sacrificed-any human being in fact who is 
brought for sale, old or young. The slave is'well fed, and on the day 
of sacrifice has his head struck off as he is descending the notched log 
which leads from all these houses to the ground. The owner of the 
victim does not strike the blow. Some man of the village is selected 
for the duty and is paid Rs.IO, a pig, a woman's brass bracelet and a 
fowl. The pig is given in order that after the ceremony the execu­
tioner may use the fat of the animal to cleanse his hands from blood, 
etc. The head is stripped of all flesh by the executidner, and the dry 
skull is hung up in the verandah of the house. The same man has to 
drag the headless corpse to some ravine, where he buries it. The hair 
and flesh off the head is 110t kept but thrown away. The blood which 
falls on the steps of the house is ca.refully coveI:ed over ·with dhan chaff, 
As the victim is beheaded, the owner of the house calls on the neity to 
accept a human being as a sacrifice, and in return to deal kindly with 
him and his household. These people may not go in much for raid­
ing compared to the Naga tribes to the south-west, but they certainly 
take a pretty steady toll of human lives. Every male of this tribe 
accounts for two victims-one on the oc.casion of becoming possessed 
of a home-of his· own, and one on the birth of his first son." 

Mr. O'Callaghan wrote as follows-
(a) in 1924-25*, "The Nagas of the Sadiya Frontier Tract have 

hitherto been known as Rangpang-a. name unknown among them­
selves. They live on the southern slopes and in the broken country 
of the foot hills of the Patkoi Range in basins of the Namphuk, Nam­
chik and (mainly) the Dirap Rivers (South and South-east of Marghe .. 
rita and Ledo). Some of them still have clansmen South and South­
west of the Patkoi in the unadministered area between the Hukong 
Valley and the Naga Hills district from whence they have immigrated 
due North and North-East to the Sadiya Frontier Tract. The clans 

*Appointmeiit and Political, B, June 1925, Nos.1311-1319. 
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are Moklum (6 villages) Yogli (13 small villages), Rongrang (5 
villages), Moshang (3 viHages), Tikak (6 villages), Longri (3 villages) 
and odd ham1ets of Mungrang, Sakeng, Tonglim and Yungkup. 
South of the Patkoi are Morang, Moshang, Longti, Dongai, Shong­
rang, Rinku, etc. Nagas when asked who they are will always name 
their clan and not their village. It may be mentIOned that between 
the Tirap River and the plains of Lakhimpur the foothills are occupied 
by other clans of Nagas-Lungchang, Tikak, Sehan and those known 
to the plainsmen as Namsangias, Jaipurias, etc. These people live in 
'chang' houses and do )hum' cultivation. Those in the Sadiya area 
live in small and scattered hamlets built on spurs, each clan in its 
own area, usually divided into hamlets, owing to their system of culti­
vation. The absence of weapons other than the dao is noticeable. 
They are phy'!>ically medium in build, well proportioned, active and 
hardy. They have the one language varying more or less with each 
clan, some of which state they find it difficult to understand some of the 
other clans. They claim to be endogamous. They are spirit-wor­
shippers, a peaceful people who still keep to themselves, with primitive 
culture and probably representing the front of a wave of one of the 
first foreign invasions (Mon) from the South East towards India, 
pushed fon~ard by economic pressure from the South. One note­
worthy practice has attracted particular attention to them-that of 
human sacrifices. Within the past decade occasional sacrifices have 
undoubtedly been held in the area now administered from Sadiya and 
are probably still carried out south of the Patkoi. It must not be 
inferred that they were or are common, the bar of expense alone being 
a guarantee; once in the lifetime of a leading man in a village being 
an exaggerated estimate. The details they give lead one to think that 
a human sacrifice was a real event in the history of the village it was 
offered to the spirit of the house, an evil Spirit (Mathai or Thangba) 
in the cast' of serious and general sickness. Victims were procured by 
capture or purchase costing to the value of Rs.400, Rs.500 and might 
be of either sex, any age and, in addition to captives, were probably 
slaves, idiots, orphans or useless members of clans. They were slain 
soon after Furchase in front of the house offering the sacrifice in 
presence 0 the village. Previous to the actual killing which was done 
by a relative of the giver, residing in a different house, the victim was 
offered to the Spirit with a prayer to accept and remove the sickness. 
The victim was then slain by the blow of a dao on the neck and the 
body buried at once, unmutilated, in an unmarked grave some 
distance away in the jungle. The authonty for these details are the 
Nagas themselves and are probably correct in the main." 

(b) In 1925.26*, "This custom [human -sacrifice] has been and is a 
norma] practice among all Rangpang its clans which they explain as a 
reaction to felt necessy to appease the spirits. It is primarily a personal 
or communal votive and intercessionary gift and will be vowed in times 
of difficulty, i.8., promised for the future if a victim be not immediately 
available and it is such promises already made to the spirits, which 
many dans in the unadministered area have advanctd as one of their 
main reasons for not immediately abandoning the practice I.e., t~e 
- ----- -~ ----------------

• Appointment and Political, B, September 1926, Nos.155-162. 
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fear of retribution due to the non-fulfil ment of such vows. More than 
cne household may subscribe to purchase a victim; in time of urgency 
a slave victim may be borrowed to be replaced later or may be bougQ.t 
on credit and even buffaloes, etc., stolen to provide part of the price. 
Victims who are generally slaves, captives in war, may pe of either sex 
and any age and cost from Rs.300 to Rs.500. Doubtless, useless 
members of the community are seized and sold ansi also weak, help­
less debtors in a powerful turbulent village. Rangpangs do not supply 
any victims themselves and all admit that the source of supply is away 
to the Soutlt and South-west, i.e., the Dilli (Namphuk) River Ba~in 
and Westwards i.e., west of the Sandri Bum and Magri Bum Ridges 
where the Rangpang area may run with the big raiding head hunting 
Naga villages in the unexplored area east of the Assam-Burma boun­
dary on the extreme ea~ of the unadministered area of the Naga Hills 
district of Assam. The Rangpang not only sacrifice but traffic in 
victIms, the Dtlli Basm people not only buying from the west and 
sacrificing but buying and reselling; in fact, it is probably the custom 
for a victim to pass through more than one hand before meeting his 
or her eni. The slaves are always described as of being of an unknown 
clan, tattooed on the cheeks and forehead and speaking an unknown 
tongue. The Rangpang of the administered area give the Laju clan 
as one of as the sources of supply in tho past. The Laju dwell just 
inside the Sadiya Frontier Tract unadministered area - is the most 
Northerly of the big head hunting village:; and though they deny keep­
ing slaves or trafficking in them, it is extremely probable that some of 
them did in the past. They number some 7,500 people. Whet;l pur­
chased for sacrifice, the victim is kept in the house of the owner, well 
cared for and fed but kept in stocks if there is any suspicion that 
escape may be attempted. Th~ sacrifice is within a month of purchase 
unless bought for resalc. On the appointed day, selected as is the execu­
tioner, by oivination by the 'wise' man, the victim is drugged with 
opium or drink or, failing these, even beaten into insensibility, led to 
the front of the front \erandah of the house and' de,capjtated by a plow 
or blows on the neck from behi-r-d at the top of ~he notched tree 
which serves as a ladder entrance to the verandah. The I?kull when 
clean is divided in two perpendicularly and the front pung suspended 
in the verandah room. As for the body, one account is that the body is 
divided up and bones, flesh and entrails are sold as charms or divided 
among clansmelJ. 1. Another account is that the body is buried in lhe 
jungle and when the bones are cleaned the}' are distributed or sold. 
Others have stated that the body is buried un mutilated. The execu· 
tioner, it may be noted, is never of lhe household of the donor of the 
victim. 

It has- often been alleged that runaway coolies trom A~sam tea 
garden'J, and coal mines, earthworks, ete., have been enticd:l away 
by the Rangpang and others, seized and sold a~ victims but enquiries 
have hitherto failed to elicit any evidence whatsoever to support these 
allegations." 

Assam Secretariat, For., A, February 1893, Nos.17-49. 
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(c) Needham's second visit to Burma :-- In December 1891 Mr. 
Needham, at the instance of the Chief Commissioner of Burma, wa'} sent 
on an expedition to join hands from the Assam side with a Burma 

column which was being sent to Mungkhom (spelt on early maps as 
Mainkhwom) in the Hukong Valley to subdue the tribes lying north 
of Mogaung between the Irrawadi and the Hukong Valley. Starting 
from Margherita on December 14th, 1891, with a force of 100 Lakhim­
pur Military Police, under Captain R. M. Maxwell, their Comman­
dant, he reached the Ticap on the 17th and the Namchik on the 19th. 
The party crossed the Patkoi at an elevation of 7,000 feet and went 
011 down to the Namphuk on the 20th reaching Phung on the 21st. 
Here they had to leave half their force behind owing to shortage of 
transport. On the 4th January they reached Dabop, thereby passing 
the farthest point (KhaJak) that Needham had reached in 1688. On 
14th January they arrived at their destination, Mungkhom, where they 
met Mr. A. Symington, Extra Assistant Com missioner, the Civil 
Officer with the Burma Force and Major the Hon. A. E. Dalzell 
of t};e 52nd Light Infantry, commanding the Force, which consisted of 
50 men of the 2nd Devonshire Regiment, 100 Sikhs of the (Srd Burma 
Battalion) a3rd Madras Infantry, 2 Mountain guns and 12 or more 
British Officers. Shortage of rations compel1ed an early return and on 
the 19th they commenced their return march. Much valuable assist­
ance was rendered to the expedition by the Singpho Chief, Bisa Jauh­
ing, his brother Bisa La and Ningrang Nong, and Needham took whh 
him as weU Chausa, the Tengapani Khamti Chief who had gone with 
him to Rima in 1885. The route entailed great difficul ties and hard­
ships for the coolies, and Needham advocated that for future expedi­
tions the "old Burmese Route" should be explored. This route (para. 
24 of his report) was described as being from Ningben via Numyung and 
the Nongyong Lake, and Chausa Khamti actually traversed it on this 
occasion, reporting subs~quent1y to Needham that it was an easy one. 
It was by this way that the Burmese armies invaded Assam. Needham, 
while stating that most of the great numbers, of slaves in the Hukong 
Valley were Singphos carried olffrom Assam,_ reported that not one of 
them asked him to secure their release and return to their homes, they 
being very well treated where they were. 

Needham in his report, long and detailed as usual, makes $ome 
disparaging remarks about the Burma Column and their arrangements. 
In particular he was much perturbed at the Commanding Officer's 
proposal to hold a ceremonial parade at which he was going to "cele­
brate [to quote Major Dalzell's Garrison Order] the establishment of 
British authority and the lIupremacy of Her Majority the Queen Em­
press of India over this portion of Upper Burma". Needham pointed 
out that, apart from the fact that the Burma Column had orders merely 
UJ tour through the Valley and accf'pt the submission of such Chiefs as 
chose to come in, such action would endanger his own small force on 
their return journe", as the Singpho Chiefs had been told that their 
independence would not be interfered with and would nt)w hold that 
he (Needham) had deceived them and would take revenge upon him. 
Fortunately he managed to persuade the Burma Officers to cnncd 
their plans. 
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III. The Abo, Expedition of 1893-94.-Enq>uraged by the failure 
of previous expeditions, the lenient treatment hitherto meted out to 
them, and the continued annual gra.nt of posa inspite of their mis­
deeds, the Bor Abors or Padams (according to Mr. Bentinck, writing 
on 23rd April 1912, after the close of the Abor Expedition of 1911-
1912, the term 'Bor Abor' should never be used, "Padam" being the 
correct tenn) had become more and more independent and defiant. 
The climax was reached when 3 of our sepoys were ambushed and 
murdered near the Bomjur out-post on the left bank of the Dibong 
river on the 27th Npvember 1893, probably by men ofBomjur assisted 
by Dambuk and Silluk. Writing in his letter No.21-T*., dated the 
10th December 1893, the Chief Commissioner, Mr. W. E. Ward, 
said he was only waiting for a further report from the Deputy Com­
missioner before decidi:ng "that there shall be an expedition" (he 
seems to have held he ha i a freer hand than was later admitted and 
his language is interesting in view of the way in which his actions 
were queried later on) and said that he thought 500 men, half Mili­
tary and half Military Police, would suffice. Before a reply had been 
received, a further outrage occurred on the 23rd December 1893 when 
a sepoy was killed and a rifle carried off. Mr. Needham strongly re­
commended action against the offenders; and on a reference from the 
Chief Commissioner an expedition was sanctioned by the Government 
of India. The Chief Commissioner's instructions are set forth in para­
graph 20 of Mr. Needham's report of the 19th March 1894t and were 
as follows--

"20. The ClUef Commissioner, after informing me that he had 
appoin.ted me Political Officer with the expedition, and left aU d~tai1s 
as to direction and management of the same in my hands, gave me 
the following instructions regarding the object and scope of the expe­
dition: 

Confine yourself to punishing villages you have good reason to 
believe concerned in outrage; insisting on delivery of murderers and 
sepoy's rifles. Don't go further inland than is absolutely necessary 
for purpose, and give all villages clearly to understand that we have 
nQ desire to annex their territory, but only to punish offending villages. 
Old complaints about Miri slaves and claims to territory which we 
have always disputed are on no account to be listened to". 

In a telegram (No.60-T), of the same date to the Deputy Commis­
sioner, however, the Chief Commissioner indicated that any villages 
which mig4t offer resistance to the force were also fo be punished. 

Though a small detachment of regular infantry formed part of ~e 
force, this was not a military expedition, and the Commander-in-Chief 
assumed no responsibility for the plan or the conduct of the opera­
tions, a point which the Chief Commissioner Mr. Ward was carefu~ to 
make when subsequently reporting to the GoverQ.ment of India in 
June. The force consisted of 100 men of the 44th Gurkha Rifles un· 
der LieutenantsJ. A. Wilson and G. L. S. Ward (son of the ,Chief 
Commi~sioner) of that regiment: 300 men of the Lakhimpur Military 

*Assam Secretariat, Foreign, A,JuJy 1894, Nos. 34-371. 
t ~m Secretariat, Foreign, A, July 1895, Nos. 36-95, 
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a miserable night in the wet. Next morning 2 survivors of the mas­
sacre turned up, a Khasi \.'ooly who had escaped owing to his being 
out of the camp when it occurred, and a dhabi of the 44th who had 
managed to escape across the river though severely wounded in the 
arm with a dao cut. No less than 27 dead bodies lay in the camp, 
12 sepoys and 15 followers and coolies, while everywhere stores and 
clothing were strewn in confusion. 8 more persons were later found. 
to have been killed. The Abors got away with 14 rifles'" and many 
hundrec's of rounds of ammunition. On the 6th they resumed their 
march towards Padu: on the 9th they attacked and took Membu. 
Needham had decided to visit and punish these 2 villages for their 
complicity in the massacre at Bordak. Though he had intended to 
return via Silluk and Bomjur, the continuous rain had caused the 
rivers to ris~ and he had to turn back and make for the Dihong 
and sO to Sadiya. On the evening of the 10th they met Major 
Molesworth and his party at Membu Ghatt' By 14th March the 
force was back in Sadiya, Bomjur was evacuated and burnt on the 
20th March. 

Needham claimed that the chief object of the expedition, i.e., 
to p11nish Bomjur, Dambuk and Silluk, had been accomplished. 
He explained, however, how it had become necessary to take steps 
also against other villages, i.e., Membu and Damroh who had joined 
in the defence of the 3 villages previously mentioned. He strongly 
recommended that another expedition should be organised in the 
ensuing cold weather to punish Damroh: and that Bomjur be forbid­
den to rebuild on their old site. 

As regards the massacre at Bordak, Needham's opinion was 
that the Padu and Membu Abors were the culprits, instigated by 
Damroh, that the sepoys were ('ompletely off their guard, having on 
suspicion of foul play: that if the smallest precautions had been 
taken no massacre would have occurred: that it was carefully pre­
meditated, the Abors having seen that no watch was kept in camp. 

Maxwell in his report explains how it was believed by Needham 
and everyone else that there was no sort of danger and that he 
(Maxwell) left the sickly men behind only because they were sickly 
and not as a guard because no guard was considered necessary. If 
a guard had been asked for he would have left 50 men and put 
them in a stockade. Needham told him he did not require a guard 
as the place was perfectly safe. The Chief Commissioner in his 
lctter to the Government of India, No.520, dated the lst June 
1894, reviewed the results of the expedition and the question of 
future policy in the following words-

"59. It is too soon to judge what the results of the 'expedition 
will be in the direction of keeping the Abors quiet in the future. 
It is of course quite possible that Damroh, having be~n left unpunished, 
will try and stir up the villages in the plains and on the lower 
slopes of the hills to fight us again, but the Chief Commissioner 
doubts whether it will succeed in doing so, at any rate, for some 
years to come. The punishment inflicted on these villages has been 

·Ass~m Secretariat. Foreign. A, July 1895. Nos. 36-95. 
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as severe as it is possible for any expeditionary force to inflict on the 
hill tribes on this frontier, and it will take them some time to recover 
from it. We have now proved to the Abors for the first time that 
we can march through their country from one end to the other with 
the greatest ease, and destroy every village they have, their cattle, 
their household goods, and their crops. They are not likely to forget 
this, however much they may boast that they succeeded by treachery 
in preventing the force from reaching Damroh. One important result 
of the expedition is that we now know the way to Damroh, and the 
nature of the opposition we may expect if any future expedition 
is undertaken against that village. 

60. It has, however, to be considered whether, without further 
provocation, there sh9uld be an expedition next year to punish 
Da mroh. The murderers of our sepoys on patrol have not been 
given up. The Chief Commissioner does not attach much impor­
tance to this point. We do not know who the actual murderers 
were, and are, therefore, not in a position to say whether, suppos­
ing anyone was given up, he was or was not really concerned in the 
murders, and experience has shown that, whenever we have insisted 
upon hilt tribes who have raided on British territory and killed, 
Briti<;h subjects delivering up the murderers, they have almost in­
varjably delivered up some unfortunate man or men who took no 
share whatever in the crime committed. Moreover, in such cases, 
the Chief Commissioner does not think that we should try to dis­
tinguish the particular men who commit a murder from the re!>t of 
the inhabitants of the village to which they belong, or from other 
villages which have imti~ated the crime. The punishment, there­
fore, to be inflicted should be on villages and heads of villages, not 
on any particular member of the village community. If this view 
be accepted, then one o{ the primary objects of the expedition has 
hem accomplished, as ev~ry village in the Pad am Apor country, 
except Damroh, has received as severe a punishment as it is pos­
sible for any expeditionary forces however strong, or however com­
posed, to inflict. If there had been more time, and the season had 
not been so far advanced, the Chief Commissioner would have 
been glad if Mr. Needh:un could have remained longer at Padu 
and Membu than he did when on his way back from Damroh. If 
the force had quartered itself for a week on each of these impor­
tant villages it would have made them realise more keenly than 
perhaps they have done what the penalty is of treachery against 
the British Government. Mr. Needham, however, had received the 
Chief Commissioner's orders to return to Sadiya before the 10th 
March, and he had to comply with them, so fat as he was 
able to do SQ. It will be seen, from paragraph 144 of his 
report, that he proposes to inflict further punishment on these 
two villages for their treachery jf another expedition is sanctioned. 
He would alsQ inflict f\ rther punishment on SiUuk and Dambuk. 
There is, however, nothing at present to show that these villages 
had any share in the Bordak massacre, and unless it is proved that 
they had, it seems scarcely necessary to add to the punishment they 
have already received. 
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61. But, although the offending villages have been more or less 
,'dequately punished, apd thus the chief object of the expedition has 
been secured: the rifles stolen from the murdered patrols and at Bordak 
have not yet been given up. It was not to be expected that they would 
be given up at once. In paragraph 140 of his report Mr. Needham 
glves the number of rifles and the amount of ammunition stolen and 
recovered to date, and he believes that he will recover the remainder. 
If his expectations are realised, we may be assured tha t the Padam 
Abors, including the village of Damroh, have submitted and do not 
wish to fight us again; but, if they are not recovered, the Chief Com­
missioner has no hesitation in recommending that another expedition 
be sanctioned next cold weather, which will include in its programme 
the punishment ofDamroh, and a march through all the villages ",hich 
have been visited by the present expedition, these same villages to be 
again punished if they resist the progress of the force in any way, but 
not otherwise. 

62. There i ~ still the further question to b~ considered, whether, 
supposing all the stolen rifles and ammunition are recovered, there 
shall be another expedition for the express purpose of punishing 
Damroh. The Chief Commissioner has no desire to recommend the 
Government of India to take any step which, in the present state of 
the finances, would involve a large expenditure of money, unless he 
felt that such a step was absolutely necessary. Mr. Ward has already, 
in paragraph 28 above, indicated his opinion that, so long as Damroh 
remaim unpunished for the share it has taken in fighting against us 
during this expedition, and for ordering and inciting the villages of 
Membu and Padu to commit the gross act of treachery they did at 
Bordak, we shall never succeed in bringing the Abors who live in the 
territory immediately contiguous to our own to a state of submission. 
They may, after the lesson they have now learnt, keep quiet for five 
yrars or ~o,-possibly for ten years; but, after that, the Chief Com­
missioner has little doubt that the lesson of the past will have been 
forgotten, impudent demands and insolent behaviour will be repeated 
and wilJ go on increasing year after year, until another overt act of 
hostility is committed, followed by another expedition, and possibly 
annexation, resulting in per.manent additional expenditure for the 
purpose of administering a country which will bring us in no revenue 
in return. Anyone who is acquainted with the history of our past 
relations with the hill tribes on this frontier knows that this is no 
fanciful prophesy. If we are going to strike at all, therefore, and to 
show Damroh that we will not tolerate the support which it is now 
proved that village gives to the villages in the plains to murder British 
subjects in British territory, the Chief Commissioner thinks it is better 
that we should strike at once. By doing so the Government of India, 
may, by the immediate expenditure of a lakh and a half of rupees 
save many lakhs of annually recurring expenditure hereafter." 

His conclusions as regards the responsibility for the massacre at 
Bordak are stated in paragraph 68 of his report a~ follows. 

"68. On the whole, the conclusion which the Chief Commissioner 
has come to on this unfortunate affair is that Mr. Needham committed 
a grave error of judgment in acting as he did in allowing himself to 
put implicit belief in the statements and promises of the Abors of 
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Merobu ~nd Padu, and that he would have acted morl:' wisely if 
he had borne in mind the habitual treachery of the hill tribes on this 
frontier, and had asked Captain Maxwell for the guard which that 
officer says he would have had no difficulty in supplying, ifit had 
been asked for. Mr. Ward also thinks that the consequences of this 
mistake were aggravated by carelessness on the part of the guard in 
not standing by their arms when the coolies appeared, if not by actual 
provocation given to the coolies. In regard to Captain Maxwell, the 
Chief Commissioner thinks that he should have insisted on a guard 
being placed at Bordak without waiting to be asked for one by the 
Political Officer. He says he trusted entirely to Mr. Needham's 
opinion in the matter, and there is no doubt, Mr. Ward thinks, that 
the chief responsibility for the massacre must lie with the Political 
Officer. At the same time the Chief Commissioner believes he is 
correct in stating that the Officer Commanding an expedition is not 
always bound to follow the Political Officer's opinion in a matter of 
this kind, and that it was quite open to Captain Maxwell to refuse to 
leave the men at Bordak in the middle of an enemy's ClOuntry without 
a proper guard, and in an exposed position, on the genera) ground that 
it is opposed to all military rules to leave the base of an advancing 
force unplOtected, or insufficiently ptotected. The fact that, at that 
time the Abo! s had tendered their submission, and that their submis­
sion was generally believed to be complete and sincere, was not, 
Mr. Ward thinks, a sufficient reason for departing from the ordinary 
rule in this respect.!' 

He concluded his report with the following remarks on the same 
point-

"Mr. Ward, however, trusts that whatever degree of blame or 
responsibility it may be decided attaches to Mr. Needham and Cap­
tain Maxwell for tte massacre at Bordak, His Excellency the Governor 
General in Council will agree with him m thinking that the services 
rendered by these officers in connection with the expedition and in 
accomplishing what they have done, are such as deserve high praise 
and the acknowledgment;; of the Govern ment of India." 

By way of immediate action against the tribes the Chief Com­
missioner proposed to blockade all tribes North of Sadiya and on the 
left bank of the Dihong; to stop all further payment ·of pOJa to Abor 
villages on the left bank of the Dibong ; to impose a fine of Rs.5 ,000 
on Damroh, the Padam Abors to be blockaded in case ofnon-pay­
ment; Membu and Padu to be fined Rs.2,000 each; Bomjur not.to be 
rebuilt on the old site; and that the gams of Dambuk and Silluk 
whom Needham had arrested on the 8th February and sent to Sadiya 
should be kept in custody at Tezpur or Calcutta as hostages until ,the 
stolen rifles were given up and the fines of Damroh, Membu and 
Padu paid. 

In their letter No. 1509-E., dated the 31st August 1894, the Gov­
ernment of India who had already expressed their dissatisfaction with 
the conduct of affflirs in telegrams sent while the expedition was still 
in the field, conveyed a severe reprimand to the Chief Commissioner, 
for permitting the advance to Damroh and on Mr. Needham 
and Captain Maxwell for their share of respons'bili!y for the Bordak 
massacre as follows. 



200 SADIYA FRONTIER TRACT 

"3. The advance on Damroh was, however, as Mr. Ward him­
self says, 'another matter'. It was not only altogether beyond what 
the Chief Commissioner admits he had orh;inally contemplated ; but 
it was entirely unprovided for by the orders of the Government of 
India, and it seriously enlarged the field of operations of a force 
organised for action within much more restricted limits. The move­
ment should certainly not havt" been undertaken without the previous 
sanction of the Government of India; Mr. Ward, in authorising it, 
incurred a grave responsibility; and it has been observed with surprise 
that he did not even consult the General Officer Commanding in 
Assam before issuing orders on Mr. Needham's proposals. It is to be 
regretted that an officer of Mr. Needham's experience should have been 
misled, as he apparently was, by entirely untrustworthy information, 
but in the opinion of the Governor General in Council, no force should 
have been sent so far iuto the Abor country unless strong enough to 
overcome all opposition, and with its communications thoroughly 
assured and at the proper season of the year. The available strength 
with which Oaptain Maxwell made the final attempt to reach Damroh 
from his camp on the Vamne was only 250 men and one gun, though 
his original force was 500 men and two guns. In fact by that time the 
expedition had failed; to havf' proceeded further would have been to 
run :.erious risk-the necessity of retiring without effecting anything, 
when our troops had advanced to within sight of Darnroh, in all pro­
bability encouraged the opposition afterwards encountered, and must 
in any event have left a bad impression behind. but it was the almost 
inevitable result of the rashness with which the operations were under· 
taken. After a careful consideration of all the circumstances, the 
GO\ernorGeneral in Council is constrained to record the opinion 
that Mr. Ward, in sanctioning the advance on Damroh without the 
knowledge or approval of the Government of India, altogether 
exceeded his authority, and committed a grave error of judgment. 

4. The Government of India consider that the main responsibility 
for the Bordak massacre attaches to Mr. Needham, who appears, in 
this instance, to have shown want of judgment and political foresight. 
At the same time it is impossible to excuse Captain Maxwell for 
neglecting necessary military precautions. It was Captain Mrunvell's 
duty to secure his base and the followers and supplies left there; the 
small detachment of weakly men, unprotected by any entrenchment or 
stockade, and apparently without any orders as to precautions against 
surprise, was obviously insufficient for these purposes, and the sub­
sequent massacre can only be attributed to over-confidence and to 
failure to appreciate the military situation. The responsible officers, 
however, anticipated no risk; Captain Maxwell reports, 'when 
Mr. Needham told me the place was perfectly safe and a guard was not 
necessary, I implicitly believed him, and I believed, equaUy of course, 
that the unfortunate men left behind were perfectly safe.' Under these 
circumstances the Government of India do not accept the suggestion 
that the men who lost their lives can be in any way considered to have 
brought their late upon themselves, and they regret that it should have 
been made." 
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They declined to -sanction any further action against Damroh, 
including the imposition of a fine. which, as they pointed out, "would 
r~der the d,espa~ch ~f an expedition almost obligatory if the fines 
were not paid". 

They agreed, however, to the blockade, to the withdrawal of fJosa, 
and to the prohibition of the rebuilding of Bomjur. They would not 
agree to the deportation of the Dambuk and Silluk gams. 

Mr. Ward's rejoinder to the expressions of the Government of 
India's displeasure an; contained in his letter No.6851-P., dated the 
25th October 1894. He explained that he had no idea that he was 
exceeding his powers when he sanction the advance on Damroh: that 
in any case a decision had to be given at once and the lateness of the 
season made a referenc~ to the Government of India out of the ques­
tion: and that he gave the matter "very fun and earnest considera­
tion. ,. On the general question, he stated as follows." 

"Putting the matter shortly, Mr. Ward has always understood 
and assumed that, after a Military Police expedition across the Frontier 
has been sanctioned by the Government of India, the main responsibi­
lity for its organisation and proper direction rests entirely with the 
Chief Commissioner, subject, of course, to the general control of the 
Government of India, who, in order to enable them to exercise such 
control effectively, should be kept regularly informed by the Chief 
Commissioner from time to time of all action taken, and also of the 
progress and main hiddents connected with the advance of the expedi­
tionary force. In the terms "organisation" and "direction" Mr. Ward 
includes such matters as the power to determine what shall be the 
strength and composition of the expeditionary force, and also of its 
transport, as well as the power to direct generally the plan of cam­
paign, and to limit and extend or reduce from time to time, as occasion 
may require, the field of operations. The Chief Commissioner is also 
further solely responsible for seeing that the force is provided with the 
necessary transport and supplies so far as it lies in his power to procure, 
what, after consultation with the Political Officer, he considers to be 
necessary. In all the matters above indicated it has been always 
assumed that the Military authorities have no concern and incur no 
responsibilities whatever, the expedilion being entirely under the direc­
tion of the Civil authorities acting under the control of the Foreign 
Department ofthe Government ofIndia. In all cases where the Chief 
Commissioner is in doubt upon any question of a military nature, he is 
expected to consult the Ueneral Officer Commanding, who will give 
him such advice as he is able, upon the information supplied to him by 
the Chief Commissioner as to the character of the country in which 
the operations are to be conducted, the probable strength of the 
enemy, their weapons, the field of operations con~emplated by the 
Chief Commissioner. and other similar matters. In advising the Chief 
Commissioner, the General Officer Commanding takes -upon himsdf no 
responsibility for the direction and control of the operations of the 
expeditionary force after it has once started. The Chief Commissioner 
is also not bound a1wa}s to accept the advice tendered to him. In all 
cases, and more especially in cases of urgency ~ he ~ at lib~tyl and is 
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expected, to take action on his own view of the situation, provided 
always that the Government of India are kept informed of the action 
taken and of the Chief Commissioner's reasons for not adopting the 
views of the General Officer Commanding. 

4.,1t was in accordance with what has been briefly described above 
as tho past practice and procedure of ~his administration in direct. 

ing Military Police expeditions across the frontier that Mr. Ward acted 
throughout his proceedings in the recent expedition against the Abo~s, 
with the exception that he omitted to keep the Government of IndIa 
regularly informed of the progress of events and of the action taken by 
him from time to time. Mr. Ward has already expressed his regret for 
this oversight, and in paragraph S5 of my letter of the lst June has 
explained how it happened." 

The paragraph referred to shows that the Chief Commissioner sent 
no intimation of the progress of the operations to the Government of 
India between 31st December 1893 and 4th March 1894 when he wired 
reporting the Bordak massacre and stating that he had "some cause 
for anxiety about the safety of the Abor Expedition". (In the mean .. 
time the Government· of India themselves had had intimation from 
lome other source of the massacre and wired on Srd March asking for 
particulars). The reason given was that the Chief Commissioner was 
011 tour, away from his Secretar}', and had himsdf to carry on the 
whole correspondence regarding the expedition with the General 
Officer Commanding, the Deputy Commissioner, Mr. Needham and 
Captains Maxwell and Molesworth. 

He then enquired what was to be the procedure for the future~ 
urging however that previous practice should be adhered to, i.,., that 
once the Government of India had sanctioned an expedition and agreed 
-it should be carried out by the Military Police, all further details 
should be left to the Chief Commissioner. "Mr. Ward feels", the 
letter said (paragraph 7), "that he has some justification for pressing 
upon the attention of the Government of India his view that nothing 
has occurred in the recent expedition against the Abors to render it 
either expedient or desirable to depart from the existing practice of 
allowing the Chief Commissioner full power to organise and direct such 
expeditions, without requiring him to obtain the previous sanction of 
the Government of India to a11 his proceedings, and without requiring 
him to consult the General Officer Commanding the Assam District 
unless there appear to him to be very special grounds for doing 80. n 

The Government of India replied on the 25th January 1895 (letter 
No.214.E.) to the following effect-

"3 ............. the expedition for which you asked sanction was 
distinctly limited to the punishment of certain named villages.' The 
Governor~general in Councll accorded sanction to the undertaking of 
an expedItIon for that purpose j and though he recognises al you have 
,already ,been informed, th~~ reasonable latitud~ must be 'permitted in 
conducting.such an expedttion, he cannot admlt thatsanction to under­
take l\ speclal trans-frontier expedition implies indefinite sanction to 
extend its field of operations. You have yourself rrcorded that, 

• " .. a~ Stcretariat, Foreign, A, July 189', Nos.U-371, 
, &E p s; w. 
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although the first visit to Membu and Padu was within the scope' of 
Mr. Needham's orders, the proposal to attack Damroh went altogethef 
beyond what you had originally contemplated. The original Qbject 
was the punishment of three or four frontier villages The change of 
1>cheme .involved an advance, through unknown country and late in 
the season, far aGross the. frontier against the headquart~rs of the ·tribe 
which, according to the information* before yourself and the Govern­
ment of India, consists of a duster of.ten villages said to be able to 
turn out 6,000 fighting men. 

4. The Government of India must adhere to the view which 
they .took of this case, 'that the approval given to the Abor expedition 
did not extend to the advance on Damroh ; and for the future the same 
principle will obtain. When the Government of India sanction an 
expedition for a defini\e and limited object, it is not open to the Chief 
Commissioner to extend the operations without authority from the 
Government. The Government of India however readily accept,the 
assurance tha~ .exept in your omission to keep them informed of the 
progress of event$, for which you frankly express your regret, you 
believed yourself to be following previous practice and had no inten­
tion or desire to go beyond the orders of the Government of India, 
as you understood them; while your willingness to accept. their orders 
now shows that it can be safeJy anticipated that no similar difficulty 
will. arise in future . 

.. * * 
<7. Punit\lry upeditiGns fall inro ... ,two main classes according as 

th.ey-are condm:ted in.what'may'be styldd interior and exterior tracts. 
In the case 'Of intener'tracts, it should generally be possible to foresee 
with,tolerable certainty what the limits of possible disturbance may 
be. When an expedition in an exterior tract is under consideration, 
the Local Government or Administration should report, in applying 
for sanction to the, expedition, not only the approximate Iimits pro­
posed for active operations but also the e:xtent of the area within which 
those,operations are ~ikely to 'have l1n immediately disturbing effect. 
If, after .sanction has been accorded, it is anticipated that the opera­
tions cannot-be-confined to the area indicated: or, if there is reason to 
believe that the disturbil'lg 'e'ft'ect was originally under-rated, immediate 
report should be made and unless local circumstances rended delay 
impossihle,'the orders bf the'Govemment of India must' be awaited· ... 

The lsequaJ , however, was more satisfactory to the AssamAdmini­
stration,-rOl"in letter No.37-E.,* dated the 6th January 1896 the 
Govemmertt of India ~forwarded despatches "showing ,that in, .the 
opinion of Her Majesty's present Secretary of State and of his prede­
cessor, the censure passed upon Mr. Ward by the Government of India 
went beyond what the occasion caned for". In the first of ,these ,des­
patches the Secretary of State, Mr. I<'owler, took the view- that, ,while 
Mr. Ward was justly censurable for not keeping the Government of 
India informed of events, he was not justly censurable fol' .sanctiQnin,g 
the advance'to Damroh. Damroh was implicated.and if ,the..ad'lZallCe 

• Assam Secretariat, Foreign, A, August 1896, Nos.l-s. 
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had been successful, probably the question of responsibility would 
n~ver pave been raised. The Secretary of State also feared that if 
the censure were maintained, it would tend to make officer!! shirk 
responsibility in the future, He also disagreed as to the responsibility 
for the Bordak massacres, holding that Captain Maxwell, not Mr. 
Needham, should be blamed. To a further letter from the Govern­
ment of India Mr. Fowler's mccessor, Lord George HClmilton, said 
he adhered to his predecessor's view. He did, however, exprrss his 
agreement with the principles laid down in the last paragraph of the 
Government of India's letter of the 25th January 1895 to the Chief 
Commissioner for the future regulation of frontier expeditions (see 
page 207 ante). 

IV. The Bebejiya Mishmi Expedition of 1899-1900.-0n the 6th May 
1899, Mr. Needham sent in his first report of an outrage committed 
by Mishmis on the inhabitants of a Khamti hamlet containing only 1 
inhabited house known as Mitaigaon some 16 miles n6rth-east from 
Sadiya, in which 3 Khamtis were killed and 3 carried off. He des:" 
cribed the Mishmis, including the Chulikattas (who, he at first 
thought, had committed the crime) as "bloodthirsty wretches of the 
first water who take a life for the mere devilry of it." On 9th June 
he reported that he had no doubt the crime was committed by 
Bebejiyas, and recommended that the tribe, not the individual, should 
be punished and mentioned that these Bebejiyas had never been 
punished for the murder of our sepoys on the Bomjur road in 1893. In 
letter No.357-For". dated the 11th July 1899 the Chief Commissioner 
recommended a punitive expedition. In recounting the past misdeeds 
of this tribe, he explained how the murder, in November 1893, of 
three Military Police sepoys near Bomjur outpost, then attributed to 
Abors, was really committed by the Bebejiyas and it was from a 
Bebejiya village that the sepoys' rifles were recovered. For this 
reason it was that Mr. Needham asked permission in February 1895 
to visit and punish the Bebejiyas. This was not sanctioned, but a block­
ade of the whole of the Chulikatta Mishmis was ordered, to be with­
drawn in 1897-98, on Mr. Needham's representation that the Chuli­
kattas were not badly behaved and that a blockade of the Bebejiyas 
was ,not effective. For this reason the Chief Commissioner advised 
an expedition rather than a blockade. The object of the expedition 
should be to "arrest and punish the perpetrators of the Mithaigaon 
massacre, and recover the guns and children: arrest the gams of Aiyu 
Mimi's village who were guilty of the 1893 outrage: and acquire in­
formation about this unknown country." Explaining that Hthe 
Mishmis ...... are not warriors and they are extremely few in numbet", 
he advised that the military authorities ,hould take charge of the 
expedition: that the difficulties would be those of transport and of 
moving bodies of men in jungly and hilly country: that 
open fighting was not probable: and that the force should be 
reduced to the lowelt possible limits. Lieutenant Eden in 1855 had 
stormed Kaisha's village with 20 Assam Light Infantry and 40 Khamtis 
and brought back Kaisha to Dibrugarh to be hanged. Mr. Needhan\ .. ,. 

-Assam Secretariat, Foreign, A. July 1899, NOI.S2.49. 
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4 years bef.:>re had proposed to visit these hills with only 60 Military 
Police, but Mr. Cotton thought that on this occasion, to be on the 
safe side, there should be provided a force of <100 men and half a com­
pany of Maddras Sappers. (This was what Curzon called "Force A"). 
The Government of India intimated their sanction to the expeditlOn, 
following it with the Commander-in-Chief's recommendation that the 
torce should consist of some 900· Infantry, Police and Sappers: that 
guns were undesirable but bluejackets with rockets would be useful. 
(This wa'l what Curzon calIS Force '3). The Chief Commissioner con­
curred in these numbers, but demurred.to the'bluejackets. He nomi­
nated Lieutenant-Colonel E. H. Molesworth 43rd Gurkha Rifles, to' 
command. Mr. Needham was attached to the expedition as Political 
Officer. Two guns were added later on and the strength of the 
Sappers brought up to 90 and the Police increased by 95. (This is 
called Force C by the Viceroy). ) 

Needham joined the force on the 20th December 1899t at a point 
21 miles south-west of the high pass which led into the Bebejiya 
country, known as the Maiyu Pass. (Names are confusing, but this 
seems to be the point marked on the 2 inch map as Mayodia at 10,008. 
feet). On the 28th December Needham w,ith a party of 290 men 
under Colonel Molesworth crossed the pass. Needham gives tho 
height, as 8,900 feet. On 1st January they arrived at Hunli,. at 3,88n 
fe~t. From there bad weather with much snow set in ; and Molesworth) 
decided to send back the greater part of his force and the guns, 
proceeding with only a small party. To this Needham readily agreed, 
for as he says in his report, he was "convinced from the very 
first that our force was more than double as large as Was required for 
the work we had to perform." During the halt both the taptive 
children and 1 of the guns were recovered: and Pika and 2 other 
villages were burnt. Leaving HunIi on the 22nd January, they 
marched first north-west on the left bank of the Ithun -via Abrangon, 
Elanpu (Elapoin ?) Ethoma and other villages and then south down 
the left bank of the Dibong, reaching Nizamghat on 5th Frbruary: 
They destroyed Aiyu MimI's village on lst February. It was the 
son of Aiyu who with others killed our 3 sepoys near Bomjul" in 1893. 

Needham summed up the results of the expedition .~ folh)ws :­
"40. I think it may fairly be said that the expedition has success­

fully accomplished the major portion of the task which was set it; 
and we have demonstrated, in a forcible manner" to both tribes that, 
difficult as their country is, We can penetrate it" with ease whenever it· 
suits us to do so, either by using the Maiyu pass, or by entering thel 
hills via Nizamghat. We failed to arrest any of the murderers" and· 
this is not to be wondered at, considering the facility Wlthl which, any, 
one knowing the country can move about from one jungfy and inac­
cessible fastness to another if any attempt is made to 'search for him, 
and the, fact that no Mishmi will act as aspy, even against a mem­
ber of a: hostile clani l.est he should incur the displeasure of that dan, 

• As'Jam Secretariat~ Foreign, A, June 1900, Nos.I-26. 
t Assam Secretariat. Foreign, A, August 1900, Nos.46-60. 
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for once a blood-feud has been started, it is carried on from generation 
to generation with relentless severity; but we nevertheless punished them 
and their clansmen severely by destroyiJlg their houses and property, 
and loitering about in their country at a time when fresh lands have to 
be cleared, and prepared for next season's crops, etc., and there can 
be no doubt that these men will, now that we have left the country, 
still further suffer, and that some of them may even lose their lives 
at the hands of certain members of their own clan, for Arati Mison, 
one of the headmen of Hunili, told me distinctly that he did not 
blame us for having shot one and wounded another of his clansmen, 
or for damaging his village, and, by occupying it, compelling him and 
his fellow clansmen, with their wives and children, to reside for weeks 
in the jungles at the most inclement time of the year, but that he and 
his people would call Ahonlon (the leader of the Mitaigaon outrage) 
and his crew °to account for these misfortunes; while Sondon Mega 
(the Bebejiya we arrested on suspicion in May 1899, and kept in the 
quarter~guard at Sadiya for weeks) told me he and his clan had de­
termined to avenge themselves on Ahonlon and his crew for aU the hu­
miliation and trouble he (Sondon) had suffered on their account. In 
addition, too, to punishing the guilt y and impressing both tribes with 
our power, we have mapped in a large tract of hitherto unknown 
country, and, had the weather been more propitious, we should have 
mapped in a good deal more, and the Political Officer has learnt a good 
deal about both tribes which he did not know before, and the infor­
mation which he has ~athered will not only be most useful to himself 
now, but likewise to hIS successor". 

Needham also freely admitted that the Bebejiyas were far from 
deserving the description of a blood-thirsty and dangerous race which 
he had previously given them. Nor were they anything like as numer­
ous as he thought. He put them now at 3,000 to 4,000 souls, of 
whom 1,500 would be fighting men. 

Mr. Cotton's comments, in his letter No. 231-For., dated the 17th 
April 1900, were as follows :-

"3. ,It was decided that the Military authorities should be entirely 
responsible for the conduct of the operations, and it does not fall 
within the Chief Commissioner's province to say anything regarding 
the expedition from a military point of view. There was no fighting, 
and practically no opposition; but the natural difficulties of the coun­
try were immense, and steep passes rising to 8,000 feet in elevation, 
dense forests, cold, snow, sleet and rain were obstacles which pre­
vent the advance of the troops' and circumscribed the extent of the 
operations. Mr. Cotton may, however, be permitted to say that he 
had hoped that the force would have been able to stay for a somewhat 
longer period in the heart of the Bebejiya country, and that ampler 
opportunities would have presented themselves of improving our geo­
gra.phical and topographical knowledge. So far as he is aware, it 
has not been found possible to add very largely to our scientific know­
ledge of the North-Eastern Frontiet'. Despite the energy of the offi­
~ers a~d admirable spitrit of the men, too much time was taken up 
In setting to the enemy s country. The expedition was hampered by 
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its transport, and very little attempt was made to pierce the hill. by 
flying columns. which are practically independent of transport. The 
Chief Commissioner deeply regrets the heavy losses attributed to cold 
and exposure among the members of the Khasia 'Coolie corps. 

4. At the same time Mr. Cotton entertains no doubt, that the 
objects with which 'the expedition was undertaken have been substan­
tially accomplished. It was not possible to capture the murderers, 
who fled into the forest-clad hills on the approach of our troop$. But 
the captives and guns have been recovered, and the principal offen 
ders have been severely punished by the occupation and destruction 
of their villages. Our previous ignorance of the Bebejiya country 
and of the people who inhabit it was profound. This ignorance has 
now been dispellf'd, and Mr. Needham, with a candour which does, 
him credit, is not ashaII\,ed to confess that his information was at fault, 
and that his views have undergone considerable modification. The 
darkness which layover the Mishmi country has been dissipated. The 
home of the Bebejiyas is no longer a terra imognita, which had never 
been visited by a European. The Bebejiyas, who had hitherto been 
described as a fierce race of cannibals, a very savage, blood-thirsty, 
and dangerous race, are noW known to be no better nor worse than 
their neighbours. They are undoubtedly responsible for the outrages., 
with which they have been charged, but these outrages do not appear 
to have been perpetrated from mere wantonness or devilry as was sup­
posed, but to be due to the ordinalY blood fcuds which always prevail 
among these frontier tribes. They have now learnt the strength of the 
British power ; they know that if they commit murder and plunder 
within the area of British political control, they will be punished, and 
the Chief Commissioner does not hf'sitate to 'expre~s his belief that 
there will now be peace on a frontier where there has hitherto been 
continual raiding. It may bl'; confidently expected that for a generation 
at least quiet will be restored". 

This Expedition came in for severe criticism by the Viceroy 
Lord Curzon, and he reco"ded a minute on the 14th May 1900, in 
which he expressed his views in uncompromising terms. "So far" , he 
said, "from regarding this expedition as having been sati~factory, either 
in its inception or in its results, I hold it to have been marked by seri­
ous miscalculation from the start, by a sacrifice of life which ought, 
with reasonable precautions, to have. been avoided, by an e'{penditure 
of money for which there has been rio prop(,rtionate return and by 
political and scientific results that are all but worthless." He then 
proceeded to-show how the size of the force which was, according to 
the original proposal made by Assam, to be only of 400 fighting 
men, was gradually developed by the Army Department into a force 
which reached a tota] of more then 1,200. As Lord Curzon put it, 
C<27 British Officers, 7 British non-commissioned offi~ers, 31 Native 
Officers and 1,126 rank and file Were considered neces:c;ary to discharge 
a task, for which the Chief Commissioner had only originally asked 
for 400 men, and which the Political Officer had avowed his willing­
ness to undertake wi th 60 Police." He then proceeded to examine 
what became of "this miniature army", and discovered that, " ...... the 
small army that had assembled at Sadiya for the red'\lction of the 
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rebellious Mishniis a few. weeks before w~o; finally. reduced to 120 se-
poys and such coolies as were required ...... To such paltry dimensions, 
just double the force which Mr. Needham had originally considered as 
sufficient to march through the country, but only one-tenth of the total 
force equipped. had fallen, in less than 3 weeks, the army of 1,200 
men who had been assembled on the frontier fOl the subjugation of 
the Bebejiya Mishmis. It was this insignificant body of 120 men who' 
carried through the whole of the expedition. The various numerical 
phases through which this ill-fated expedition has passed, and which 
I have designated from A to F were in fact as follows: 60, 450, 1,210, 
600, 300 and 127." As to the results of the expedition, he said 
"When the expedition was originally proposed, it had a number of 
objects. These are classified by Mr. Cotton in his final letter of April 
17th, 1900, as primary and secondary. The primary objects were the 
arrest and pUnishment of the perpetrators of the Mitaigaon massacre 
of May 1899 (i.e. the murder of three unoffending Khamtis); the 
recovery of the three children and three guns then carried off; the 
punishment of the guilty Bebejiya gams (headmen) who ha i murdered 
three Military Police in 1893; and retribution for other raids and 
murders. The secondary object was the acquisition, by exploration, 
of an accurate and scientific knowledge of a hitherto almost unknown 
country and people. 

Let us see to what extent these results were attained. Not one of 
the Mitaigaon murderers was captured. The three children were 
recovered. Mr. Cotton says that the guns were rec()vered also. But 
this is not the case; since it is clear from Mr. Needham's paragraph 17 
that only one gun was recovered. So far as is known not one of the 
guilty gams of 1893 Was punished. The expedition finally came away 
with two solitary captives who were seized (Needham's paragraph 30) 
under circumstances into which it is not desirable to enquire too 
closely, since it appears that they had received us in their village with­
out resistance, and were seized after a sort of palaver-and both of 
whom Mr. Cotton has since thought it prudent unconditionally to 
release. Finally a large number of villages were burnt or destroyed. 

As regards the scientific results of the expedition, I take 
Mr. Cotton's opinion. He points out that the force stared too short 
a time in the Bebejiya country to enable us greatly to improve our 
geographical and topographical knowledge, that too much time was 
taken in getting to the enemy's country, that the expedition was. ham­
pered by its transport, that very little attempt was made to pierce the 
hills by flying columns, and that "it has not been found possible to 
add very largely to our scientific knowledge of the North-Eastern 
Frontier" . 

Finally, to cap the whole story, the Bebejiyas, who were the 
objects of the whole expedition, who "had hitherto been described as a 
fierce race of cannibals, a very savage, blood-thirsty and dangerous 
race", and whose homes and villages, acting upon this hypothesis, the 
expedition unsparingly dtstroyed and burned, were discovered by the 
Political Officer to be a petty community of only 3,000 to 4,000 souls 
(including not more than 1,500 adult men), who are described by him 
as "on the whole a well behaved and inoffensive tribe, very desirous of 
being Oil fri~ndly terOl$ with us". II 
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His final conclusion is as follows. "These being the facts of the 
case, when 1 read the conclusion of the Political Officer (paragraph 40) 
that "it may fairly be sa:'d that the expedition successfully accomplished 
the major portion of the task which was set it"; of the Chief Commis­
sioner that "the objects with which the expedition was undertaken 
have been substan~ial1y accomplished;" and of the Military Offi~er 
Commanding that "the spirit of the scheme was thoroughly carried 
out"~ 1 am inclined to wonder whether euphemism can further go. 
The actual results of the expedition were the recovery of 3 children, 
the capture of 1 gun, the seizure of 2 Mishmis (who have since been 
released), the slaughter of a few tribesmen, and the destruction of a 
number of villages. For these returns we have sacrificed the lives of 
34 unhappy coolies; have expended a total sum of about £16,000 ; 
and have gained the cheap honour of having marched with a force of 
130 men, out of an army of 1,200, through a dIfficult and almost 
impassable country. The conclusions which I draw from the whole 
affair are these. I hold-

(1) that a serious miscalculation of the strepgth required for the 
expedition in the first place was made by the military 
advisers of the Government. of India; 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

that, when the expedition had been sanctioned, the force 
was increased, more especially in respect of officers and 
staff, to wholly unreasonable and unnecessary dim~n­
sions; 

that the successive stages of subsequent contraction, and the 
relative failure of the entire expedition, have been imper­
fectly brought out in the reports, and notably in the 
military report, which represent the whole affair as 
having been, in the words of Commander~in-Chief and 
the Military Member, of a satisfactory nature; 

that much greater care will require to be ex.ercised in the 
future, both in the authorisation and in the composition 
and equipment of these petty frontier expeditions, which 
are much too readily converted from police excursions, 
into military campaigns." 

It is satisfactory, however to observe that he concluded his minute. 
by adding, "In these criticisms I have not one word to say against the 
conduct either of tne Political Officer or of the Military Officers and 
troops who actually took part in the expedition. Mr. Needham seems 
to have played his part with ability and discretion-it is a pity that 
his views as to the strength of the force required were not fo1lowed 
earlier in the day-and to have frankly admitted the misconception 
under which he had previously laboured as to the character of the 
Bebejiya Mishmis. The small minorIty of the assembled force, who 
penetrated into the country, appear to have faced considerable diffi­
culties and hardships courageously and welJ, and to have performed 
such limiten wQrk, as was open to them, with credit.", 
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In a lette! to the Secretary of State, dated tHe. 22nd February 
1900, he referred to the Expedition as "an absolutely bootless though. 
costly excursion, with no result whatsoever but tHe capture of two 
inoffensive and worthIes!! prisoners". 
. In a further leUert to the Secretary of State dated the 11th March 
1900 after he had himself travelled in Assam' as far as DibIVgarh, he 
d~cribed the incident as follows. 

c', Lockh¥t turned h into a military expeditiQn. I managed to 
prevent him sending a naval detachment with rockets. But the 
soldiers, once they got hold of the matter, turned it into a military 
expedition on a large scale--oyer 600 men, 27 officers, 6 doctors, 86 
sappers and miners with dynamite, gun cotton and wire rope, and 
2,000 c«;>olies. When they got into the pass enterin& the Mishmi 
country, it was found to be quite impossible to get thiS great force 
over, and all but 120 soldiers, 8 officers and 300 coolies \\'ere sent 
back, to remain hanging about on the border in receipt of campaign 
pay, until the expedition was over ...... you may be sure that there 
will be some very, plain speaking on my part when the final reports 
are submitted and when the bilJ-estimated at- several lakhs of rupees 
--comes in". 

V. 1900-1911.-The next few years were uneventful, until in July 
1905: a murderous outrage was committed in British territory on two 
Chulikattas Certain Bebejiya Mishmis, Pongon and Taji, were held 
to be r~ponsible and it seems that the murder was done in revenge 
for their punishment during the Bebejiya expediticn of 1899-1900. 
but as no arrest was effected, a blockade both of the Chulikattas 
and the Bebejiyas was proclaimed in 1905. Mr. Needham advised 
that the Chulikattas·be exempted, but that was not agreed to. 

Mr. Needham left Sadiya for good in Decemb~r 1905, after 
23 years service there, and was succeeded by Mr. Noel Williamson, 
who, until hi!l death in 1911, was to do much to establish good 
relations with the frontier tribes and to explore hitherto unknown 
regions. 

In December 1907-January 1908, Mr. Williamson, made a 
valuable tour up the Lohit towards Rima, his object being to make 
himself "acquainted with the people and thei~ country and to collect 
information regarding the practicability of a trade route towards 
south-eastern Tibet". (His letter No. 233-G., dated the 27th February 
1908). He had no escort. his party consisting, besides himself, only 
of Chowna Khamti Gohain, two other Khamtis and on~ servant. 
Travelling by the right ban~ of the Lohit, he reached Sati, 3S miles 
south of Rima, hU furthest point, on 27th Decem.ber. He had Olden 
not to- enter Tibet and therefore did not go beyond that village. 
He mentions that the next village, Walung, paid tribute to the 
Governor Qf Rima. His account of the coun try and the people was 
most favourable. 

-------------------------------------------------------.Ronaldshay's Life of Curzon, Vol. II, Page 113. 
tRooaldshay's Life of Curzon, Vol. II, Page 114. 

lEa.tern Bengal and Assam 8«retariat, Political, A, January 1907 N08 13.70 
Ealtern-Bengal and Assam 8ecrttariat, Political, B, October 1908, 'No~. '87-110: 
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. c~5. I frl'lmd ,the inhabitants .respectful and obliging. In fact, 
I might have ,been travelling in an administered tract. There is 
nothing to stand,in the way of a .trade route. The people through 
whose country it would pass are peaceable and quiet. British prestige 
is high in the land, the result possibly of Kaisha's capture by Eden 
in 1855, and subsequent punishment. The country itself presents no 
difficulties j it is in fact a strikingly easy one for a mountainous 
~act. The; highest altitude is met with when crossing the first range, 
where : the axis of the mountain system is transverse to the course of 
the river. Even here We only have to face a rise ~f 4,600 feet, after 
which no high altitudes {)bstruct the way. The banks of the nver 
would appear to be formed especially for a road. Large flat tiers 
running parallel to the Lohit, with easily-surmounted spurs extending 
-to the rivet itself, the whole ,rising gradually from 1,200 feet at the 
Tidding to 3,100 feet at-8ati, an ascent of 1,900 feet in 70 miles. It is 
a natural highway into Tibet, an.d only requires the hand of man 
to render it easy and expeditious. From the Tidding to Rima, with 
the path properly cleared and aligned, the journey for mule or coolie 
transport would not occupy more than seven days; and from Sadiya 
the whole distance could be accomplished in 11 or 12 days. 

6. Before embarking on any project connected with a trade route, 
the first point for consideration is whether the result would justify the 
expenditure. At present trade is infinitesimal, I admit: The imports 
which pass up ,from Assam to Tibet amount to little and of Tibetan 
exports there are none. But would these conditions continue if an 
easy ·and expeditious route existed? I vel'}' much doubt it. At 
present south-east Tibet has no industries, because she has no incentive 
for the development of her resources. To the north she has no 
market; to the south, the, country is mountainous and inhabited by 
savages; to,the east her nearest market is Batang, where however 
the demand for her industries has not been sufficiently great to create 
a supply: and to the west at I>resent she has to encounter a wild 
and tedious route inhabited by a people of whom the Tibet~ns stand 
in some dread. South-eastern Tibet is absolutely isolated, and she 
has no industries and consequently no exports, because she has no 
outlet for them The attainment of affluence is one of the principal 
objects of man, be he yellow or black or white, Pagan, Christian, or 
Buddhist. Given facilities for export, industries must arise. Improve 
communications along the natural outlet and the line of least 
resistance, vi<;. the Lohit 'Valley, and facilities for export are plaeed 
within the reach of all. Once the Tibetan learns 'that every hide 
and every pound of wool has a marketable value in Assam, which can 
be reached • quickly, comfortably, and safely, and where in return 
he can purchase tea, clothing, etc., commercial interchanges ar~ 
assured ~nd the expenditure on the route justified. Trade intercourse 
just now is impo&sible, as Tibet is a forbidden land to the tradet~ 
But there can be no objection to attracting the Tibetan to trade with 
us by -constructing a' good bridle-path from the border of Tibet to 
Sadiya, a place which in a short time will be in clrse . proximity -to the 
terminus of the Dibru-Sadiya Railway. 
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7. At present this is all that can be done. This will, however, 
only create a trade with south-east Tibet, for a bridle path from the 
Tibetan boundary is not likely to draw traders from beyond Tibet, 
from Western China. A railway can alone produce this result; 
a railway running towards Sechuan. Until, however, commercial 
necessities become sufficiently pressing to overcome political objections, 
no connection by rail can be hoped for. But as far as Rima a railroad 
is practicable. From there the country is difficult. Between Rima 
and Batang, which would probably be 300 miles by rail, the Tila La 
has to be crossed at an altitude of 16,000 feet. This altitude, however, 
is 110t that above the surrounding country, for Rima we know to be 
about 5,000 feet above sea level, which substantially reduces the 
height to be encountered. Batang is on the main route from China 
to Lhassa, and from Batang to Litang and on to Ta Chien Lu a regular 
post road exists. Two high passes would have to be surmounted and 
the Salween and the Mekong crossed. To judge by the Lohit, 
however, the bridging of these rivers at the points. where they will 
be met should not prove difficult. They are not the enorn:ous rivers 
we know them to be further south, but are confined within narrow 
limits with a rock formation suitable for bridge foundations. But, 
however costly, were there facilities for quick communication between 
India and Western China the possibilities would appear to be 
boundless. Given a railway, every ton of our exports for Sechuan 
would be captured for this route instead of being carried a long sea 
voyage from Calcutta, only then to commence the difficult journey 
up the Yangtse. With such improved communications, the resourceIJ 
of Sechuan, one of the wealthiest provinces of China, would develop 
enormously; with an easy and expeditious route there is no reason 
why the Chinese coolie should not seek for employment on the tea­
gardens of Assam, and so possibly solve some of the present labour 
difficulties. . I trust I may be pardoned for writing at such length on 
a route which at present is politically impossible, and the cost of which 
may be considered prohibitive. My excuse is that I have been 
singularly impressed by the comparative ease with which it would be 
possible to forge the next link in a chain connecting India with China. 
From Chiltagong to Rima is about 620 miles, and on to Batang would 
probably total 900 miles by rail: of this we already have 400 miles of 
railroad, a 400 miles which have proved very costly, and which lead 
nowhere." 

In December 1906 the management of the Sissi Saw Mills and the 
MedIa Nuddee Saw Mills Company, who were working timber at the 
western end of the tract, had romplained to the Chief Commissioner 
of exactions by the Pasi Minyong Abors on threat of stopping timber 
,supplies by contractors working between the Inner Line and the foot of 
the hills. This question of blackmail was an old one, having been first 
brought to notice by Mr. Needham in 1902. In connection with this, 
among other matters, the Government of Eastern Bengal and Assam 
made certain proposals embodying a polic)' of a 'forward' nature to 
the Government of India in their letter No.3923-J.,* dated the 9th 

Eastern Bengal and Assam, Political, A, November 1901. NOI.l-'O. 



SADIYA FRONTmR TRACT :l13 

September 1907. These, and the Government of India's decision 
thereon are summarised in the latter's reply No..l77-EC.J • dated the 
16thJanuary 1908 as follows-

"2. The Lieutenant-Governor considers, after consulting with 
several officers of frontier experience,-

(a) that Government should no longer tolerate the extortion 
by the Abors of blackmail from timber-cutters and traders in 
British territory ; 

(b) that a policy of aloofness is foredoomed to failure, and that, 
apart from the urgent need of preventing interference 
with the development of trade, the fact that over half a 
century of proximity to civilization has failed in any way 
to redeem the tribes from their native savagery is in itself 
a condemnation of the policy of non-interference. 

3. With these views in mind, His Honour recommends a modi­
fication of policy in dealing with the Abors and other tribes inhabiting 
the hills to the north of the Dibrugarh Frontier TractJ and in regard 
to the territory between the Dihong and Dibong he proposes-

(a) to prohibit and prevent by force, if necessary, the recovery 
of dues by the Abors from traders, etc., within the 
"outer" boundary ; 

(b) to impose a poll-tax or house-tax on all settlers in British 
territory ; 

(e) to impose' a tax on cultivation within the "inner" line; 
(d) to substitute a system of presents for the fixed Ciposa" ; 
(e) to encourage the tribesmen to visit Sadiya and settle in 

British territory; 
(f) to require them to receive in theit villages the Political or 

other officers of Government who may have- dealings with 
them; 

(g) to take some measures through the Political Officer for the 
purpose of preserving the valuable stock -of simul timber 
in the forests north of the Brahmaputra, from being ruined 
by ignorant and' improvident felling,. simple rules being 
drawn up for this purpose. -

The Lieutenant-Governor does not propose to put back the 
"Inner" Line or to relax the restrictions on crossing it, ~or does His 
Honour agree with Mr. Williamson's recommendation that the line of 
police posts should be advanced to t4e foot of the hills, j.e., to the 
"outer" border. 

4. To attain his objects, the Lieutenant-Governor considers that 
it will be sufficient if the Assistant Political Officer visits "the principal 
villages" with a strong escort and informs them of the 'orders and 
intentions of Government. His Honour also thinks that during the 
tour the Political Officer. should settle details of the assessment or 
villages within the border, and warn the villagers that failure to pay 
will entail the destruction of both- crops and villages. . 

*Eastern BeDgal and Assam, Political, A, April 1908, Nos.'l-19. 
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:5,- Toe Govt'rnmellt ,of India regret that they :ar~';Un~ble to sane­
-tiun His' Honbur'S 'proposals in their entirety. Th~y have not at 
present before them sufficient information regarding'the:temper of the 
peop)e~ to justify the-assi.lmption that the poll.tax, hou$e tax al}d ta.x 
o~ 'cultivation propose<l could be collected without resorting to' puru· 
tive measures, which are undesirable; and, while agreeing that some­
tliing.should be done towards the conservation of the forests, they con­
sider it dodbtful whether the steps proposed by the 'Lieutenant-Gover­
nor would be f'fi'ective, without further knowledge regarding the forests. 
It-is- also desirable: that the ,country. should be surveyeQ as far as 
possible'before a definite scheme for its future administration is adopt­
ed., 1n these circumstances, the utmost to which the Government of 
India can agree is that Mr. Williamson should undertake a tour in 
the tract between the "inner" and "outer" lines in order to ascertain 
the actual po~tion or affairs now existing there, if thid can be accom­
plished without any risk of a serious collision with the tribes. Mr. 
,Willia,mson sh~uld be accompllnied by a forest officer and a surveyor, 
and,his instructions should be as follows-

(a) to inform the villagers that. the collection of blackmail with-
in out'border must cease; 

(6) to collect information as to the forellts ; 

(e) to survey the country as far as possible; 

(d) 'te ~est the feelings of the people in regard to the proposed 
taxation on settlers within the outer line and generally. 

Nothing Mould at ptesent be said tij the villagers about the impo­
sition of any new taxes, and I am to request that His Honour will take 
no actiot1.in this direction until, (he 'Government of I ndia have been 
furnished with the further information above indicated, which will be 
obtained by Mr. Williamson. As "pora" has not been paid since 1894, 
itlhould 110t be 'revived, but in lieu thereof presents may be given as 
ncommended in paragraph, 12 o(the letter unqer reply. 

6. T}:lere remains the question of possibJe visits to the parent Abor 
villages ofKebang, Padu [Dukku] Membo [Mebo], Silluk and Dambuk. 
which are mentioned in Paragraph 11 of your lettet. and which appear 
frdm"-the' accompanying m.ap to be (with the e-xception of Padu) 
beyond'the "outer" line. The Government of India recognise that 
it' ill'desirable to -get i~to closer touch and to ,establish bettel' relations 
'With the 'Abors, 'and that it will be difficult to protect the tract 
between the inner and outer lines effectively unless this is done, but 
they arc not ,prepared to 'contemplate the possibility of an expedition. 
If, therefore, t1)e Lieutenant .. Governor is sati,llfied that Mr. Williamson 
ta.n safely extend his tout to these villages -without the u:!e of force or 
the danger of subsequent complications, they agree to this being done. 
Otherwise, the visits to these villages must stand over for the present. 

7: tn conclusion, I am to request that no action be taked in 
re.g~r(Uo. t.h~,t P$?t:ti.on, of th<borde~ J !nJ~~bite4' by Mishmis, east oflthe 
Dlbong rlver~ wlth~ut fUJ:ther ,~rders from,J~e 9s:werq.ment of Indiar" 
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-In March 1908*, Williamson made a: tour frOIn Pa$igh~t through 
the foot hills south-west to Ledurrtand:then on<tbrough the J.lasj MiQ.1., 

yong and Galong country to the Sinyeng Riv~, at Dijm~: lie. retu~n7' 
ed along the Inner Line, which th~n ran a litde distanc~ a~~y from 
the right bank of the Brahmaputra by way of Lai makuri Saw -}-Mills, 
to Sadiya. He had' no .escort. Most of these places" had:,neve.l'"' feen a 
Europe!,-n before, and he was able to establish friendly mla-tio~_ w-itp., 
them. One point to which the- Government" of Easte.rn .. Bengal: ·an" 
Assam referred in forwarding Mr. Williamson's diary-to: the ,GQ~f1l.­
ment of ' India with theil" latter No. ' 3873-J of the 25th. Au~st, 1.91>& 
was as regards the'levying of blackmail, discussed before.in.19.Q1 
on the import of timber to the saw mills. Though Mr~ ,William~1\ 
made it clear to the people of Depi, one of the princi~al. offending 
villages, that they were within British territory and that this practice 
must stop, a turther incident had occurred in May 1908 .. ' The Assist­
ant PoIitic~1 Officer re~ommended the impositidn of a Polf..tax on's\lch 
villages as a mea.ns of making them realise they were 'within British 
territory: - :" . . . 

1;n No~ember-December 1908, Mr. Wil!amson' visited, the: Rang­
pung Naga country, in order to fi.nd out and. punish -those, re,spon.sihle 
(or a raid on Wakpang in British· territory in October-,1907., when· 1. 
British subjects were killed. He had an. esCort of 154 office(s and roen 
of the LakhilXlpur Military ~oI.ice Battalion under 2 British '01ij.cers, 
Captain Bliss, 8th Gurkha Rifles, their Commandan~l and; Subadru.:­
Major Dorward. Mr.' Driv~l" of the Assam Oil Com.pany went V>!ith 
him as Geologist. Leaving Mushong on tj:J.e 17th November 1908 
they crossed the Patkoi at 5,90'0 feet and camped at Manpang. 'From 
iher<; they went south west to the DiIli and 'orr tl).e 29th November 
reached Rashi, their destination. There was no oPpoliition, and being 
satisfied that its men were guilty of the raid, Wi1liamson had Jthe 
village burnt. On lst December they started on the return journey: 
When they' reached' Phung on the 1 Oi:h DCi:c~moel" the)' turned Jeft and 
returned by the old and normal-rolAte instead ,0£' m~pg, the ~deto~1f 
(of double the distance) of their o~tward jourq.ey. WiUiamsons~ reportt 
~~. . 

"8. The tour has been a.satisfactor one. The If.'st visit paid to this 
part of the country ·was in 1891, [by Needham] and since then 
many chang(;'s have taken pla.ce. It has bee~ a great disappoln.tfnent 
to. me that I was unable to return by 'anOther route, which Would 'have 
extended our knowledge of the country still· further. But circ4ms­
tances, I cOIlSidered, did not permit of my doing so.· Our being able 
to take a column, consisting at its lowest of 334 persons so far from our 
base without" any 'previous preparatiQns in" the· ,s,hape of:adr.apced 
store-godowns,.and the rapidity with whicruwe sQowe~ we could' move 
on occasion,. has: consider.ably opeMd the eyes of these savages. The 
tQur has further pro,ved of grea~ benefit. tQ. the· men of the ..('$cqrt in 
~~ sbape of a very practical £a~p',()f e,x~~cise.: .', - - - J 

- T Eastern BerigaT and ASSaix:\ :S'e~ewiaf, Political, 'A; ¥arcJi 1909;' "NOS.~-39. 
t.~ern Bergi'l~and ~ssam Se<:retanat~ Political, A, May 19Ui. Nos_ 1'3-40, 
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9; As regards the guilt of Rashi, one of the objects of my tour, 
there is no doubt that this village was concerned in the raid on 
Wakpang in October 1907." 

He added, as regards the Sjngphos and the Rangpangs that­
"10. The story that the Singpho Chiefs of the Hukawng Valley 

exercise great influence over the Rangpangs is a myth. I made 
enquiries during my retumjoumey, and was informed that, beyond 
an occasional visit from Singpho traders, the two tribes have no in ... 
tercourse. The idea probably originated in the fact that, when hill 
people go down in the Hukawng Valley to cut rubber or to search for 
amber at the mines, they have to pay a tax to the local Sillgpho 
headman for permission to do so." 

The ex.pect~tion entailed considerable hardships and aU the British 
Officers were incapacitated at one time or other from fever or colds, 
while their men and followers suffered pretty severely. Both Captain 
Bliss and Mr. Williamson commented unfavourably on the want of 
efficiency and discipline of the escort. 

In February 1909, Mr. Williamson penetrated to Kebang. In 
hOI· two Gurkha surveyors of the Survey c,f India had got as far this 
village in an endeavour to reach Gyala Sindong, only to be turned 
back by the Pasi Minyongs Who would let them go no further, but no 
Europeans had visited it before, the expedition of 18S8 having re· 
turned before reaching it. Mr. Williamson went across the hills. 
leaving the river well to his right, via Balek. He was accompanied by 
Messrs. Jackman (an American missionary) and Lumsden. 

In commenting on the r~sults of this trip, the Lieutenant-Gover­
nor, Sir Lancelot Hare, observed as follows in his letter No.3390-Gt 
dated the 22ndJune 1909, to the Commissioner, Assam Valley Divi­
vision. 

"2. The conclusions at which H. H. has arrived, after a 
perusal of the papers, are as follows:-

(i) that there is no Tibetan influence in the tract; 
(ii) that Kebang controls several of the villages with which we 

shall have to deal during the impending Abor settlement 
and is therefore an important place for negotiation ; 

(iii) that the attitude of hillmen is generally friendly ; 
(;0) that they recognise that all the country up to the foot of the 

hills is British territory,- an important factor in coming 
to a settlement with them ; 

(o) that they are very amenable to the influence of money and 
that they are likely therefore to faU in with a settlement 
which will probably carry with it pecuniary benefits. 

3. H. H. congratulates Mr. Williamson on the pronounced suc­
cess of his tour and regrets that the hardships which he underwent dur­
ing the journey should have resulted in a severe illness." . 

-Assam Annual Administration Report. 1900.1901. 
fE.ltem Bengal and AsSam Secretariat, Political, B,July 1910, Nos 89.58. 
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In 1909-10 Mr. WIlliamson repeated his Lohit tour of 1907-8, and 
this time went beyond Sati, his previous furthest point, ,almost l as far 
as Rima.. His purpose was partly to construct the Diga~u-Miju, brid~ 
path~',a\l,d partIy tQ make further ~ontacts in that area" As regards 
the fonner. a tl'a<;k was cleared from the Tiju' River to Sati, 92 miles: 
Leaving Sad i) a on the 11th December 1909 with Mr. Ward, Superin.; 
tendent of th~ Margberita Company's collieries, he was back in S~diya 
on t~ 26th February 1910 .. He reached Walung 2_ days march­
beyond Sati on- the 31st January, which ,he found to consist, of "ori~ 
~ovel with five inhabitants" . Finding no tracC? of Tibetan influence' 
there, he pushed on, until on February 2nd, fjnding the 'first signs of 
Tibetan authority, he halted at the stream called Tatap Ti and. went 
no further. The Governor of Rima visited him at his camp on 
F~bruary 4th. and presents were exchanged in a cordial atmosphere. 
Williamson formed· the~ opinion that the authority either of Tibet and 
Chi~", was very slight in Rima and <;ould ,find no trace of 'coIlision~ 
between Chinese and Tibe,tans. 

But signs of Chinese penetration became manifest later in the year, 
whe~ the Government of Eastern Bengal and'Assam reported.(o the 

Government of India in their letter No. 23l-P,t dated 26th May' 1910 
to the effect that a large body of Chinese had occupied Rima, had 
demanded taxes and had issued orders for the cutting of a' road to 
Assam by the Mishmis. :fhe Mishmi chief, Tungno, who brought the 
news, claimed to be a British .subject and the Lieutenant-Governor 
asked for instructions' as to how the situation should be dealt- with "in 
the event of further information being received confirming the report 
that Rima has been efiectively occupied by the Chinese" . A later 
letter dated 4th July 1910, reported that the Chinese Were in firm 
control of Rima, and had planted aa" s at the river Yepuk, two miles 
west of Walung or 30 miles west of Rima. 

~. Williamso~ again penetrated! into the Mishmi, Hills in, 
January, anq February 1911 and,went as far as Walong. He obser~~d 
then tha~ the Chinese ~ad ~et up Bags, outside Tibetan territory. 
While agr~eing that Walong might be considered to be in Squth-East 
Tibet, he. said they had no claim to going as far south as ;M:enekrai or 
Menilkrai where the Bags were planted., The Chin~se were then in 
full possession of Rima, a fact which Mr. Williamson thoug~t did ~o~ 
arouse any resentment o~ the-part of the, Tibetans. In forwarding his, 
diary to the,.Goverpment of India~ the ~ster:q., Be!lgal ar,tq A~sam 
90vernment expressed their concern at the. way the Chinese 'were 
penetrating to the south 'in this area, and'said that His Honour con­
sidered, it essential that' th~y should not be permitted to extend thei~ 
influence up to the Outer Line.; as he feared they would overawe 
the hill tribes of our border 'and "dominate all the ,tea gardens north 
ofthe Brahmaputra". They recommende4 that ,the Mishmis shouk! 
be ,brought definitely under oui control. 

, 
'*Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, Political, A. September 19~o-, Nos. 7-10. 

tEalitern Eengal and Assam Secretariat, Political, A, ,AUgu5t 1910, Nos. 1-6. 

;Eastc;rn ~ngal and. AS~1Jl ~ecrl;tar~t. Politital. A. June ~911. Nos.8~ .. 88 •. 
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A few months later Captain F. M. Bailey· of the Political De~ 
partment arrived at Sadiya, having travelled from China via Batang 

and Rima. He mentioned large forces of Chinese troops in that direc ... 
tion and evidence of their increasing influence. He found in the 
Taroan country evident signs of friendliness especially among the Miju. 

VI. Th, murder of Mr. Williamson and Dr. Gregorson in 1911.-0 ... 
30~ March 1911 Dr. J. D. Gregorson, a lea garden doctor from 
Tinsukia who was accompanying Mr. Williamson on a tour in the 
Abor country was murdered at Pangi, and on the 31st March 1911 
Mr. Williamson was murdered at Komsing. 44 followers belonging 
to their party were massacred at the same time. 

The details of this outrage are best desc ribed in the words of 
Mr. Bentinck who visited the spot when with the Abor Expedition of 
1912, in his letter dated the 23rd April 1912t" ...... The party con­
sisted of Mr. Noel Williamson, Assistant Political Officer at Sadiya, 
Dr. J. D. Gregorson, a doctor with_a large practice on the tea gardens 
round Tinsukia in Lakhimpur district and a man much interested in 
the frontier tribes, their three servants, two orderlies, ten Miris, 
and 34 Gurkhali coolies from Shillong; assembling at Passighat they 
started thence on March 8th and reached Rotung on the 20th. The 
object of -the journey was to ascertain, if possible, the extent of Tibetan 
influence in the Abor country and was expected to extend over about 
six weeks. At Rotung some rations and a case of liquor were found 
to have been stolen by the Abor carriers who supplemented the Gur .. 
khalis, and Mr. Williamson told the villagers that he would require 
satisfaction on his return journey ; this seems to have ca used some 
anxiety in Rotung, and the advisability of murdering Mr. Williamson, 
was discussed at a council that night; the matter was reported to 
Mr. Williamson, but he, knowing the Abor to be stronger in council 
than in action, considered that nothing serious was intended and on 
the next day continued his journey. Carefully avoiding the territory 
and village of Kebang which was not only of doubtful friendliness, 
but infected with small-pox, the party crossed the river and marched 
up the left bank to a place below Pangi village where a camp was 
made and the return of the coolies sent back to bring up the remaining 
stores awaited. On the Z8th one of the Mitis, by name Manpur, was 
sent back with tllree sick coolies and some letters. In Rotung 
Manpur boasted that the letters contained orders to send up s~poys 
and guns to punish Rotung and Kebang ; this of course was untrue, 
but coming on the top of the previous alarm, which had otherwise 
died down, so excited the Rotung men that on the following day they 
followed the four men, and when they halted for their mid-day meal 
fdl upon them and killed them all. The murderers at once returned 
strengthened in numbers, hurried on to Kebang, picking up on the 
way men from the small village of Babuk, and in number about 100 
crossed the Dihong, and fi'lding in the Pangi camp only Dr. Gregor­
son, the Miri Kotoki (or interpreter) Moria, and three or four sick 
----- ---------~--

• Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, Political, A, March 1912, NOI. 3-46. 
tNsam.5ecret!U'iat, Political, A, Septembe.r 1912, NOl. 1.;;, 
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coolies, killed them all on the spot Dr. Gregorson was resting in his 
tent and was instantly cut down: this was at about 1 P.M., on March 
30th. That same morning Me. Williamson had marched on with the 
rest of the party and had camped on tht" large stream the Ribung, 
which runs at the foot of the hill on which Komsing stands. There 
were still a few Abor coolies in his camp and news reached these from 
below of what had happened that afternoon; the facts, however, 
were deliberately kept from Mr. Williamson. The following mornmg 
the party moved up to Komsing and encamped in the village, t\t 
about 10 A.M., while the coolies were cooking their food Mr. William­
son started to go tt) the house of the Gam, Lomben,' who had come 
with him the previous day. Three men--Llinung Gam of Pangi, 
Manmur of Yagrung, and Tamu ()f Bosing-went with him on ,the 

'pretence of showing him the house; taking him down a side path out 
of sight of the lest of his party, they suddenly set on him and cut him 
down. The rest of the Abors who had crossed from Rotung and 
Kebang attacked the coolies at the same time; only five or six were 
killed in the, villages the remainder mostly reaching the river bank in 
small parties ; there after exhausting the little ammunition that the few 
men with guns had with them~ they were all killed except five coolies, 
who managed ufter great hardships to make their way back to the 
plains; a servant of Mr. Williamson, who reached the Pangl village:: of 
Pongging and was there Icindly 1 eceived ; and the principal Miri kotoki 
Mullina, who swam the river, was taken by Babuk men up to' their 
village and killed there. Three of the survivors reached an Abor 
village near the .mouth oCthe Dihoxlg, and from there news ,~fthe 
disaster was sent in to Sadiya and thence to Dihrugarh, where it 
arrived at about 9 A. M., on April'Sth. Being then Deputy Commis­
sioner and Political Officer, I at once corrimurocated with the Mili­
tary Police and arranged to have their station duties taken' over by 
the 114th Maharattas, and the same afternoon left by train with a 
detaclunent of Military Police under Captain Dunbar, fully equipped 
and rationed for three weeks. Captain Hutchins, Assistant COmman­
dant, Lakbimpur Military Police, met us at Saikhowa with ~l the boats 
and boatmen lhat could be secured, and within 100 hours of the 
receipt of the news in Dibrugarh a defensive post was being cons­
tructed at Passighat. The journey up the rivul as nlQst of the boats 
we.te far too large, was most arduous, and the advance party under 
Captain Hutc:hinB, which had the largest boats, rested hardly day' or 
night; it bore"however, excellent t~timony to the organisation and 
training introduced by Captai.n Dunlar that the movement was per­
formed in as many day&as_no~ many yean ago it would have required 
weeks. On thd .way up Mr. 1\. J. Harrison of the Laimekuri Saw­
mills overtook us in his steam launch on-which .he had picked up the 
three survivors already mentioned; he also did us great ,service in 
securing extra boatmen. At Passighat Captain Hutchinll 'received 
from the Passi Gams the remaining two survivors whom they Lad 
found, fed and cared for; one of these two,. Dat Bahadur -!tai. 
remained with Captain Hutchins until the expedition'started andJ'Was 
of the greatest service during the three months that followed on 
account of his accurate knowledge of the country he h.ad been 
through; the other 'was later on enlisted in the Military Police'" 
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It was sufficiently established that Kebang and Rotung com­
mitted the murders and that Babuk, Sissin and Pangi had accounted 
for some of the fugitives. 

Government apparently had no idea that the Assistant Political 
Officer had any intention of going so far, or at aU, beyond the Outer 
Line. He had previously been as rar as Kebang before without a 
guard, had been received in a friendly manner and had heen given a 
cordial invitation to visit Komsing and Riu. As the Government of 
Eastern Bengal and 4ssam's report No.197-C.G.,* dated the 22ild 
April 1911 observes, there is no doubt that Mr. Williamson acted 
contrary to standing orders in crossing the:: Outer Line: he was no 
doubt actuated by zeal to obtain information. The Government of 
India accepted this conclusion in their letter No. 850-E.B. t dated the 
8th May 1911 in the following terms. 

"2. The Governor General in Council desires in the first place, 
'to record his deep "egret at the untimely end of this zealous and gallant 
officer, whose almost unique experience of the tribes on the North. 
Eastern Frontier rendered his services at the present moment of the 
greatest value to the Government of Eastern Bengal and Assam and 
'to the Government of India. The Governor General in Council feels, 
however, that it is impossible to ignore the fact that this sad incident 
could not hav<" occurred but for Mr. Williamson's breach of wellknown 
standing orders, prohibiting the cros:oing of the Outer Line without 
permission. The Governor General in Council accepts Sir Lancelot 
Hare's view that, in thus acting, Mr. Williamson's fault was that of 
a zealous officer anxious to obtain infor mation which he believed 
would be valuable, and willing to run a certain amount of risk in 
getting it. In the circumstancse, it is undesirable to record a formal 
expression of disapproval of the late Officer's proceedings, but the 
Governor General in Council directs that such steps should at once 
be taken as shall ensure the enforcement of the standing order regard­
ing the crossing of the frontier and relations with the frontier 
tribes." 

Owing to the advanced season, effective punitive operations were 
out of the question, and the Lieutenant-Governor decided to wait till 
the cold weather. In the meanwhile a stockade was erected at Balek, 
dose to the present subdivisional headquarters of Passighat, and the 
principal village of the Passi Group, to ensure their safety against 
reprisals and to check possible raids by the hostile elements, and when 
the rest of the force withdrew in May, a garrison of 150 rifles remained 
there under Captain Hutchins. 

VII. The ,A,6or Expedition f!! 1911-1912. (a). Preliminaries.-The 
political background in the light of which the Abor Expedition and 
its ancillary expeditions on the North-East Frontier, were undertaken 
requires to be described. 

·Eastem Bengal & Assam Secretariat, Political, A,June 1911, Nos. l-u. 
tEaatetn Bengal & Assam Secretariat, Political, A,J~e 1911, Nos. 89-141. 
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The general question of Chinese encroachments had been the 
subject (jf discussion between the Lieutenant-Goverpor, the Govern­
ment of India and the Secretary of State since 1910. As early as July 
of that yeat the Lieutenant-Governo~ had inquired of the Government 
of India as to "the degree of recognition to be extended to the Mishmi 
Tribe and the attitude to be adopted b, this Government with refer­
ence to the Chinese occupation of Rima", and eventually, in a tele­
gram dated the 23rd October 1910* the Viceroy 'Lord Minto) lepor­
ted to the Secretary of State (Morley) that "In consequence of procee­
dings ,pf Chinese in,Rima and vicinity of tribal tracts on the North­
East frtmtier, the question of our 'future relations with these tribes 
is causing anxiety." Pending the obtaining of further information and 
a decision on the general question, he wished to have authority to 
inform the Mishmis that:".they Were under our protection and would 
be supported if they refused to have relations with any other foreign 
power. The Secretary of State definitely refused to agree to the giving 
of these assurances, and said that the main question of policy must 
be leff to Lord Hardinge, who was to join very .. hortly as Viceroy. 
The matter was further reviewed in Despatch No. 1.82, dated the 22nd· 
December 1910" written after Hardinge had assumed office and also 
had had a discussion with Sir Lancelot Hal e in Calcutta on the 22nd 
November 1910. The despatch quotes a demi-officiaI lettert w,h'ich 
Sir Lancelot addressed to the Viceroy on the 24th November 1910, 
which ~,ummed ~p the position as weU as his own views-

','I think I hardly ,brought ouJ with sufficient distinctness one 
\ mportant consideration which should induce us to press forward 
beyond the limits by which under a seU:'denying ordinance our frontier 
is at pre~ent limited. We only now claim suzerainty up to the foot 
of the hills, We have an inner line and an outer line Up to the 
inner line we administer in the ordinary way. Between the inner 
and'the outer lines we only administer politically. That is, ow' Poli­
'tical Officer exercises a very loose jurisdiction, and to prevent troubles 
with frontier tribes passes are required for our subjects 'who want to 
cross the 'inner line. The country between the two lines is very 
sparsely inhabited and Is mostly dense jungle. 

Now should the Chinese establish themselves in ,tr~ngth or obtain 
complete control up to our outer linet they could attack us whenever 
they pleased, and the defence ,would be extremely difficult. We J:>,aye 
a chain of frontier outposts directed to ~controUing the main routes 
used by the neighbouring hill tribes when they come' down to: trade 
in t;h~ cold weather. Th,?se. are not ,on the outer lines) bec~us«r su~h 
posltlons at the foot of the hIlls would be too, unhealthy to occupy I as 
they would be in the worst part 'of what is called the Terai. It is 
accepted ~hat. irthe outpostll were pushed forward so far as the ~uter 
line, than iD. each case 'it, would be necessary tOe place. them on the 
~spurs of the hills and above ~a1aria height. This we could only, do 
if we establish our suzerainty or could claim the cpnsent of the_ hill 
people who are in occupation, as being under our protection. I~ seems 

• 'I ' , 

I ' ! " 

*Eastern Bengal & Assam, Political, A, December 1910, Nos. 1.11. 
tEastern Bengal & Assam Secretariat. Political, A, March 1911, Nos. 45·46. 
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to me, in view of the possibility of the Chinese pushing forward, that 
it would be a mistake not to put ourselves in a position to take up 
suitable strategic points of defence. It is tr~e in anv trial of strength 
between England and China the contest would not probably be deci­
ded.on this frontier, but we should be bound to defend our valuable 
tea gardens, and unless we had suitable positions, this would be 
exceedingly difficult, and we could very easily be greatly harassed 
and put to great expense and have to maintain an unduly large force 
on this frontier. 

I am therefore of opinion that we sho Jld take a more active line 
and should (6) tour in the hills bordering our frontier, (6) improve 
the trade routes to the principal villages so far as they lie within our 
recognised borders and further, if not opposed, and (c) give presents 
to our neighbours tor friendly services and information. 

Where' we have already established ourselves by friendly rela­
tions, as in the country on extreme east up to Sati on the road from 
Sadiya to Rima, we should maintain our present standing and should 
forbid China stepping in. After all, if China presses forward, we 
must forbid further progress some day, and at this point of our frontier 
I do not think we can safely allow the Chinese to advance beyond 
Sati. I think it would be a pity to give away any advantage we now 
possess here, and as far as I can see, this is the only point where any 
immediate measure is likely to be required. We should be well 
advised to take our stand here ; to allow the Chinese to intrude here 
would make the defence of the Lakhimpur district difficult, and would 
not be in agreement with the accepted Burma frontier line. I have 
already advocated this view in my official representation, and I wish 
to make it clear that I do not recede from that position." 

The Government of India, however, were not convinced and 
their views are summarised in paragraph 9 of the despatch as follows. 

u •••••••••••• we do not see our way at present to reco mmend the 
more active policy which the Lieutenant-Governor advocates. We 
recognise that the action of the Chinese may ultimately compel us to 
fix a line beyond which no further advance can be permitted: but we 
see no necessity at present for incurring the rish and responsibilities 
entailed by a forward movement into the tribal territory now berond 
our control: and we propose, with Your Lordship'& approva, to 
request the Lieutenant-Governor to instruct his frontier officen. that 
they should confine themselves, as hitherto, to cultivating friendly rela­
tions with the tribes be}ond the "outer line" and punishing them for 
acts of hostility within our limits. Should it be possible to obtain 
further information about the country beyond the "outer line" 
without risk of complications, we should be prepared to authorise 
explorations for the purpose, but we would not permit any general 
increase of activity in this direction, nor can we recommend that any 
sort of promise should be given to the tribes that they may rely on our 
support or protection in the evcI?t of Tibetan or Chinese aygression." 

Discussions had reached this stage when the events of March 1911 
occurred, and. the 0I?por.tunity was taken, while seeing to the 'punish­
ment of the guilty PaSl Mmyongs. to clear up also the frontier Situation 
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in respect of the Chinese both on the Abor and the Mishmi border. 
The Government of Eastern Bengal and Assam recommended the 
despatch of an expedition to exact punishment for the murders in 
their letter No. 294-C. G., dated 16th May 1911 in the following 
terms!-

".~ .... 3. Since 1858, no expedition has gone into the Meyong 
[Minyong] Hills, and the first British Officer to penetrate into them 
was Mr. Williamson when he visited Kebang in February 1909. 

Mr. Needham, Assistant Political Officer of Sadiya, visited in 
1884., some of the outlying villages. including Balek, where the Military 
Police have erected a stockade since Mr. Williamson's murder; he 
reCeived a hospitable though somewhat rude and boiste-rolls reception, 
but it is recorded that the demands of the Abors were for the most 
part unreasonable: Mr.~ Williamson, himself, made a tour in 1908 
from Pasighat through Ledum and Dijmur to Laimekuri, but did not 
cross the Outer Line on that occasion. 

4. The Pasi Meyong have repeatedl), given trouble; in 1888, 
the villages of Yemsing and Ledum combined and murdered 4 
Miris whom they had induced to go beyond the InnAr Line. They 
levied blackmail on contractors cutting timber for the saw-mill and 
in 1904-1905 a new Military Police post had to be placed at Laimekuri 
to protect the Meckla Nudi Saw Mills. Subsequent years show little 
improvement in their conduct. In 19(16-1907, they interfered with 
the Sissi Saw Mills, robbed an employee of all his property and con­
stantly oppre!sed the Miris who were usually too frightened to 
complain. In 1907-1908, they again attempted to blackmail the 
Manager of the Me kla Nudi Saw Mills. 

5. The attack on Mr. Williamson's party, for so it must be 
considered since the Pasi Meyongs sought for the quanel by asking 
him into their country with the deliberate intention of killing 
him, was probably due to sheer bravado and devilment due to 
want of appreciation of our power arising from the fact that the only 
force which had penetrated into fheir hills was driven back and 
compelled to retreat, fighting hard for existence. The challenge can­
not be refused and due reparation must be exacted. Otherwise our 
position on the frontier is impossible and our villages and tea gardens 
will not be safe. It is as much a d:!liberate attack upon us as if the 
Abors had come into our country, for Mr. Williamson's was a wholly 
unarmed and peaceful entry solicited by them. Certain villages are 
principally concerned and Madu, the Gam of Rill, seems to have 
taken a leading part, but the blow was, as all the evidence goes to 
show, .a deliberate blow given by the whole community in council 
and every village of the Pasi Meyongs is concerned and must share in 
the reparation. This, subject to further information from enquiries 
in the country, must, if they submit, principally take the form of 
fines in cash and supplies and in labour in carrying, and on roads so 
far as these may be required. It will also be for the Government of 
India to consider whether the opportunity should be taken to enter 
into any treaty with these people on the lines on which it is under­
stood that treaties- have been framed with Sikkim and Bhutan. In 

r Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, Pol., A, June 1911, Nos. 89-141. 
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this connection I am to refer to Government of India's telegram No. 
560.P., dated the 30th September 1910, on the subject of the policy to 
be adopted on this frontier and to this Government letter No. 468-G .• 
dated the 26th October 1910, in reply. Every village of the clan will 
have to be visited, as only by this means can it be ascertained what 
punishment would be suitable, as the number of houses and the wealth 
of each village must be considered in apportioning the nnes. At the 
same time the opportunity must be taken of obtaining all possible in~ 
formation of the country and to survey and map it as far as possible. 
Much information of great value and interest will, it is expected, be 
secured, and on this aspect of the question I am to invite attention to 
my letter No. 204-C. G., dated the 25th April 1911, with which was 
forwarded Mr. Williamson's diary of his tour to Walong. It is as 
important to prevent the ChiJ?ese from establishing their influence 
over the Abors as over the Mishmis, and this expedition should furnish 
an excellent opportunity of ascertaining their movements in the 
neighbourhood of Gayala-Sindong." 

The Government of India agreed, and recommended to the 
Secretary of State that aD: expedition should be despatched. It was 
to be "a Military one conducted by the Government of India and 
under the immediate command of the General Officer Commanding 
Assam Brigade, who will also be in supreme political control, and will 
have attached to him Political Officers to be nominated by His Honour. 
A "friendly political mission was to b.e despatched simultan­
eously to the Mishmi country under the orders of the Lieutenan t­
Governor" (lettf'r No. 1382-E. B. • dated the 28th July 1911.) 

Telegram P. dated the 29th June 1911 which the Government of 
India addressed to the Secretary of State shows that they intended to 
take advantage 01 this punitive expedition to clear up the obscure 
boundary situation as against China both on the Abor and the Mishmi 
border, which had been discussed in 1910. They said :-

"The primary objects of the expedition are the exaction of 
reparation for the murder of Mr. Noel Williamson and his party, and 
the establishment of our military superiority in the estimation of the 
Abor tribe. The principal villages in the country will be visited, and 
it is hoped that the Pasi Meyong Abors will be compelled to surrender 
the chief imtigators and perpetrators of the massacre ; thereafter such 
terms for past offences, and such security for futwe good conduct of 
the tribe will be exacted as may seem advisable. 

It is of prime importance that we should take advantage of the 
opportunity afforded by the expedition to tarry out such surveys and 
exploration as may be possible, in order that we may obtain the 
knowledge requisite for the determination of a suitable boundary 
between India and China in this locality, as to which at present we 
know practically nothing. Recent events on the frontier of Burma 
have shown the urgent necessity of coming to an understanding with 
China about our mutual frontier, of preventing Chinese intrigue 
within our limits, and of keeping her as far as possible removed from 
our present administered area. We accordingly propose to depute 
a staff of Survey officers with the punitive force. 

• Eastern Bengal and Assam ~cr~tariatt Pol •• A. March 1912, NOli. U-H8. 
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Simultaneously with the despatch of the punitive expedition, we 
propose'to send a friendly mission under escort from 13omjur, through 
the Mishmi country, with the double objeCt of checking any tendency 
on the part of the Mishmis to help the Abors, and of obtaining in­
formation for boundary purposes. This step is rendered especially 
desirable by the advance of China to Rima. There is no reason to 
anticipate opposition on the part of the Mishmis, whose headmen, 
indeed, on the occasion of Mr. Williamson's recentjournf'Y to Walong, 
asked that they should be recognised as British subjects. Our object 
would be a friendly one, and no trouble should arise, provided that 
previous notice of our intentions is given, and the people are tactfully 
treated. The escort for this Mishmi MiSSIOn would be furnished from 
the Assam Military Police. We do not propose that the Mishmis 
should be given a guarantee of protection, but we would leave them, 
as wel] as the Abors, in 1'10 mannex: of doubt as to their being under us, 
or as to their having to look to us for future reward or punishment 
according to their conduct. We should see no objection to the erec­
tion by this party of cairns and boundary stones on what may be con­
sidered a suitable frontier line, since this would greatly strengthen our 
position in the event of future negotiations with China for frontier 
demarcation. It is not proposed to advance our administrative fron­
tier; our future policy would be to cultivate friendly relations with 
the Mishmis, and, in the event of our demarcating our externalli mit, 
we should explain that we regard it as the line within which Chinese 
officials should come [sic. should be "should not come"?] and that we 
should periodicaUy send a small police column to visit their country". 

The Secretary of State (Lord Crewe) agreed in his telegram· P. 
dated 24th July 1911 to punitive measures against the Abors as well 
as surveys and explorations in their country: to the despatch of a 
friendly mission to the Mishmis: and to the proposal not to advance 
the administration frontier in that direction and at the same time not 
to give the Mishmis a formal guarantee of protection. 

The objects of the Abor portion of the operations were laid down 
by the Government of India in the intructions to General Bower, 
contaim:d in letter No. 1773-E.B.t dated the 25th September 19]1. 

"2. The Governor General in Council is pleased to vest you with 
full political control during the progress of military operations and 
Messrs. Bentinck and Dundas have been appointed as Assistant 
Political Officers to accompany the expedition, and as such will give 
you every possible assistance in political matters. Your authority and 
rt"sponsibility will, however, be complete. 

3. The objects of the expedition are-
(1) to exact severe punishment and reparation for the murder of 

Mr. Williamson, Dr. Gregorson, and their party in March last; and, 
by establishing our military superi.:>rity in the estimation of the tribe, 
to endeavour to compel the Minyongs to surrender the chief instigators 
and perpetrators of the massacre; 

*Eastern Bengal & Assam Secretariat, Political, A, March 1912, Nos. 4.7-148. 
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(2) to visit as many of the Minyong villages as possible, and to 
make the tribe clearly understand that, in future, they will be under 
oUr control, which, subject to good behaviour on their part, will for 
the present be of a loose political nature: 

(3) to visit the Bor Abor or Padam village of Damroh, which the 
expedition of 18)3-94 failed to reach. Provided that the Padam 
Abors behave themo;elves, the visit to their country will not be of a 
punitive nature .......... .. 

(4) if during the course of the expedition Chinese officials or troops 
are met, endeavour should be made to maintain amicable relations. 
If, however, such officials or troops be met within the territory of 
tribes on this side of recognised Tibetan-Chinese limits, they should be 
invited to withdraw into recognised Tibetan-Chinese limits, and, if 
necessary, should be compelled to do so ; 

(S) to explore and survey as' much of the country as possible, 
visiting, if practicable, the Pemakoi falls and incidentally settling the 
question of the identity of the Tsangpo and Brahmaputra rivers; and 

(6) to submit proposals for a suitable frontier line between India 
and Tibet in general conformity with the line indicated in paragraph 6 
[quoted below] of the despatch enclosed. No boundary must, how­
ever, be settled on the ground without the orders of Government except 
in cases where the recognised limits of Tibetan-Chinese territory are 
found to conform approximately to the line indicated above, and to 
follow such promine-nt physical features as are essential for a sati.fact-
oty strategic and well-defined boundary line ........... . 

4. I am to add that instructions will be issued to the Officer in 
charge of the Mishmi Mission, which will explore and survey the 
country to the ~ast of the scene of your operations, to endeavour to get 
into touch with the expedition, and to connect his results with yours; 
and, in the event of the sanction of His Majesty's Government to the 
despatch of a mission to the Miri and Dafla country being received, 
similar instructions will be issued to the Officer in charge of that 
Mission." 

About this ti.me also the Government of India had addressed the 
Secretary of State in their despatch No. 105*, dated the 21st September 
1911 on the "policy to be followed in future on the north-east frontierH 

of which parasraphs 6, and 10-12 ran as follows. 
"6. Lord Minto's Government were of the opinion, subject to 

further information being obtained in regard to the nature and extent 
of the territory of the tribes and their position vis a vis China and 
Tibet, etc., that the external boundary should run, approximately, 
from the east of the we9geshaped portion of Tibetan territory known 
as the Tawang district, which runs down to the British lrontier north 
of Odalguri in a north-easterly direction to latitude 29°, longitude 94° 
t~enc~ along latitude 29° to longitude 96° ; thence in a ~outh-easterly 
dlfecuon to the Zayul Chu as far east and as near as pOSSIble to Rima; 
thence across the Zayul Chu valley to the Zayul Chu-Irrawaddy water­
shed; and then along that watershed until it joins the Irrawaddy­
Salween watershed. At the same tim(', in view of the near approach 
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to, and aggression of, the Chinese on the Mishmi border, they ro­
comrpended, at the urgent request of -the Local Government, that the 
Misnmis should definitely be informed that they were und~ British 
protection, and that we would support then;!. in refusing to have any 
in.teocourse or relations with any Foreign Pow,er. His Majesty's 
GovenlII\ent ~ere hQwever, opposed to any such communication being 
made to the Mishqlis and desired that this, as well as tl;le ,general 
question of policy, soould be held over for Lord Hardiqge's consider .. 
atioa. 

• • .. .. 
JO. Durir,lg the past few months, there have been further develop­

ments ~n the Chinese policy of expansion which it is impossible to 
ignore. For example, Mr. Hertz's expedition on tl;te Burma-China 
fron1;ier had no sooner been withdrawn than the Chinese attempted 
to a~ert t.\leir influence in the country we claim by the d,espatch of a 
party with the llsual appointment orders and tokens for issue to 
·village headmen; in April last a party of Chinese appeared in the 
Aka country close to the administrative frontier of Assam; the Chinese 
officials at Rima have sent a summons to the Mishmi tribal head­
men to appear before them with a view to the annexation of the 
Mishmi.country ; find Sir John Jordan has recently reported that~ in 
connection with the disturbances in the Poyul and POOled country in 
south~eastern Tibet, the Chinese Govern:t;nent have approved of the 
dellpatch of a fot:ce down the Dihong river towards the AboI' country, 
a meAsure whi,ch~ if carriec;l out, may possibly lead to claims to trib'al 
territory which do not at present exist, if not to more serious compl\ca­
tions. Circumstances have thus ,forced us to revert practically to the 
original proposal of Lord Minto's Government that endeavour IIhould 
be made to secure, as soon ~s possible, a sound strategical boundary 
between China cum Tibet and the tribal territory from Bhutan up to 
and including the Mishmi country, and this should, we consider, 
now be the main object of our policy. As long as suc~ tribal territory 
lay between us and our peacefully dormant neighbour Tibet, an unde­
fined mutual frontier eresented neither inconvenience nor danger. 
With the recent change In conditions, the question of a boundary w~l 
defined and at a safer distance from our administrative border has 
become one of imperative importance and fidmits of no delay, for we 
have on the ac4ninistrative border of Assam some of the wealthiest 
districts of British India, districts where large sums of private EUTopean 
capital have been invested and where the European 'po:pulation out­
number that of almost any other district in Ipdia. The mternal con­
ditions moreover of our Eastern Bengal and As:;am Province are not 
such as to permit us to contemplate without gr~ve anxiety the Glose 
advent of a new aggr~ssive and intrigu~ng neighbour. 

11. As Jo the actual frontier line to be aimed !;It, we ~:p.ow little 
..more of the Area than we did last year, and-can, ~t tb~ Alome!l~, only 
indicat~ approximate]y the course of a line which proroi!!Cs to.sl\it Ql.\r 
purposes. Such a line is the,one defined in Lord Minto'.s telegram of 
the ,2.3rd October 1910, which represents roughly th~ )intit:; lqf tribal 
territory on the Assam frontier, which we desire to keep out of 
Chinese ~ntrol ; and, subject -to -such modifications as may .be found 
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.flecessary as a result of the explorations which will be made during the 
ensuing cold weather, we conSIder that that line should be our approxI­
mate objective up to which the exIsting Assam "Outer Line" should 
be advanced. We do not propose to have a third or intermediate line 
between the existing "Inner Lme" and the new external boundary; 
neither do you think it necessary for the latter to b.! regularly demar­
cated at present, but it will probably be necessary, durmg the course 
of the contemplated operations in tnbal terntory, to erect cairns at 
suitable points, such as trade routes leading into Tibet, to imlicate the 
limits of our control, and to explain to the tribesmen the object ot 
such marks. One such cairn will be required in the neighbourhood 
of Menilkrai on the Lohit river, opposite the flags erected by the 
Chinese from Rima to mark the h.rruts of their territory, but the SItes 
of other cairns can only be determined after enquiry on lhe spot; 
and, provided that the sites selected conform approximately to the 
position of the line defined in the above cited telegram, and correctly 
represent the limits of locally recognised Tibetan terrltory, we see no 
objection to the erection ot such marks by officers during the course of 
their enquiries. 

12. The question of future arrangements for controllmg and sale­
guardmg the area between the admmlstrative boundary and the new 
external frontier remains to be considered. We consider that our 
future policy should be one of loose politIcal control, having as its 
object the minimum of interference compatIble with the necessity of 
protecting the tribesmen trom unprovoked aggression, the responsIlJih. 
ty for whtch we cannot avoid, and of preventmg them from violating 
either our own or Chinese terntory ; and, while endeavouring to 
leave the tribes as much as possible to themselves, to abstain from any 
Ime of action, or inaction as the case may be, which may tend to 
inculcate in their minds any undue sense of independence likely to 
produce results of the nature obtaming under somewhat analogous 
conditions on the North-West Frontier of India. We admit that, as 
a natural and inevitable consequence of the settlement of the external 
boundary, whether the settlement be by mutual agreement or, a. in 
this case, for the tune being at any rate, of an ex parte nature, it will 
be necessary to take effective steps to prevent the viola­
tion of the new external boundary by the Chinese after the 
expedition and missions have been withdrawn. The nature of the 
measures to be adopted, however, cannot be determined until we 
know more of the country. In one part they may take the iorm of 
outposts, while in another only tribal agreements and arrangements 
may be necessary; but in addition to such local measures as may 
eventually be decided upon, 1t is essen:tial in our opinion that, as soon 
as the boundary has been roughly deClded, a formal intimation should 
be made to China of the 1imlts of the country under our control." 

The next reference to pohcy 1S contamed in telegram No.458-S.
J 

dated the 8th August 1911, trom the Government of India to the 
Local Government in which they stated thea policy as follows :_ 

"Reference my No.1382-E.H. of 28th ultImo. Policy on North­
Eastern Frontier. Government ot India, in consequence of changed 

Eaatetn Bengal & Assam SeQ'ctariat Pol., A, March 1912, N~.47:J4a. - ---
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conditions during last eight months, propost" to recommend to His 
Majesty's Government the following general line of policy :-

1. That, subject to such correction as may be found necessary as 
result of Abor e.xpedition, and connected exploring parties, the 
boundary to be secured should be that indicated in my wire of 29th 
September, 560·S , up to which existing outer line should be advanced . 

. 2. That administrative frontier should not be advanced and no 
intermediate line wiJl be necessary. 

3,. That our future policy with regard to tribes between lines will 
be one of loose political control, having, as its object, minimum inter­
ference compatible with necessit. of protecting them from unprovoked 
acts of oppression, responsibility for which must be admitted, and of 
preventing them from violating either Chinese territory or our own, 
and while endeavouring ~to leave tribes as much as possible to them­
selves, to abstain from any line of action, as case may be, which may 
tend to inculcate in their mind any overdue sense of independence. 

4. That we admit necessity to take effective steps to prevent 
Chinese viol~ting new boundary, after expeditkn and missions retire, 
but nature of measures cannot be decided until we know more of 
country. They may take the form of outposts in one place, and only 
tribal agreements and arrangements in another. 

5. That it is not proposed to regularly demarcate new bOl.mdary 
at present, but it may be dedrable to erect "cairns" at suitable places 
such as loutes It''ading into Tibet to indicate limits of our co.ltrol and 
to explain to tribes object of such marks. Sanction of His Majesty's 
Government would, however be required before any cairns are 
erected." 

The Lieutenant-Governor accepted this policy. 
(b) The Exptdzlion.-The Expedition was composed of both 

military and police units. The latter consisted of 725 ofiicers and men 
drawn from the Naga Hills, Lushai Hills, Lakhimpur and Dacca 
Military Police Battalions, under the command of Major C. Bliss. 
Commandant of the Naga Hills Battalion. The former included the 
1/8th Gurkhas, the 32nd Sikh Pioneers, a company pf the lst King 
George's Own Bengal Sappers and Miners, and a detachment of 1/2nd 
Gurkha Rifles. They were accompanied also by two 7-pounder guns 
which "proved to be a useless encumbrance". 

Messrs. A. H. W. Bentinck, I.C.S., who had been Deputy Commis~ 
sioner, Lakhimpur, and W. C. M. Dundas of the Police, were appoint~ 
ted Assistant Political Officers. Major-General H. Bower was in 
command and was also Chief Political Officer, and he assumed his 
duties at the Base Camp of Kobo, 6 miles above the junction of the 
Poba river with the Brahmaputra on the 6th October 1911. 

The days spent in October at Kobo before the Expedition actually 
started, were utilised in making contact with the Padam Abor gams 
not excluding those of Damro, the Chief Padam village which had 
caused so much trouble in 1894. The local gams of the Passis and 
Minyongs proved of value, particularly Mullem of Balck, a Passi, 
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who died at an advanced age only in 1939. The main column com­
menced their advance on 28th October, no very serious opposition was 
encountered anywhere, and with the fall of Kebang* on 9th Decem­
ber 1911, the active opposition of the tribes came to an end. The 
general effect of the military operations is those described at pages 
49t and 69 of the" Official Account". 

"With the faU of Kebang the active opposition of the tribes came 
to an end. The operations had been uniformly successful and had 
avoided the regrettable incidents of former campaigns, and, alt~ough 
the actual loss inflicted on the tribesmen was small, the moral effect of 
the compaign must have been very great. The Abors had been driven 
out of their selected and carefully prepared positions without difficulty; 
they had been shown that an armed force could visit with ease any 
part of their country; their crops and villages had been df"stroyed 
wherever resistance had been offered; and a road had been made 
through the heart of their country. The force employed by us must 
have seemed very large to them, for the Naga carriers, of whom there 
were several thousand, from their numbers, their bearing and their 
fierce aspect, no doubt appeared very formidable. Again, the rapid 
fire to which they were subjected for a brief period at Kekar Mony­
ing, although its actual effect was small, must have been VelY terrifying 
to savages unaccustomed to the report of firearms. Had it been 
possible to intercept their retreat and harass their scattered parties 
in the depths of the jungle the effect of the campaign must have been 
greatly increased. 

Prcviou~ to the expedition, the power of the Abors was greatly 
overrated owing to the reverses suffered by former expeditions. It 
was not realised that the tribe were quite incapable of combination, 
and that the failure of these enterprises was due, not so much to the 
strength of the enemy, as to lack of organisation on our part. For this 
reason, the strength of our force on this occasion was unnecessarily 
great, and whenever the enemy made a stand, they found themselves 
so greatly outnumbered that they reaJi'led that resistance would be 
useless and they fled before heavy lo'ls could be inflicted on them . 

• • * * 
"The expedition resulted in the punishment of all the hostile 

villages and the exaction of punishment for Mr. Williams n's murder. 
All the men who had taken a leading part in this were tried and 
punished and practically all the looted property was restored. The 
Minyon tribe was crushed and its villages brought to submission 
while the power of Kebang, which for years had terrorised it: 
neighbours, was finally broken. This village lost a large number of its 
fighting men, and its reputation was so shattered that it will probably 
take years to recover . 

• * * • 
*Assam Secretariat, Politic"I, A, June 1912, Nos. 140-200. 

tOfficial Account of the Abor Eltpedition. 1911-1912. General Staff. India. 1913. 
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''The disgrace and memory of our former defeat Was wiped out 
and the tribes were shown that, while resistance to- the British was 
useless, we could with ease visit any part of their country. The tribes 
who had not prove themselves openly hostile, were visited by friendly 
missions, which behaved with great jud/!ttlent and tatt, proving to the 
people that, while the hand of the British was- heavy in dealing With 
aggression or aYenging insult, nothing was to be feared by the well­
behaved. 

('Many of the weaker tribes had been quite debarred from visiting 
the plains in order to.trade; and had, in general, been tyrannised ovet 
by their moral powerful neighbours. The advent of the BrItish and 
the meSsages they conveyed made clear to all that weak and strong 
alike would be allowed to visit the plains and that no tribe was in 
future to be pr~"ented ~ doing so by another, while Qur ability to 
enforce this could no longer be questioned. 

.. 
"The geographical results of the expedition, although not as full as 

had been expected, owing to the climate and physicar difficulties of 
the country, were still of great value. PracticaJ1y the whole of the 
country was surveyed accuratdy as fa as latitute 28° 40':N. The whole 
of the valley of the Vamne was surveyed up to the snow ranges, the 
Shimang river was mapped throughout its entire length; the course 
of the Siyom was roughly traced; and the valley of the Dihang was 
followed as far north as- Singging, Latitude 28° 52' (approximate), a 
point within 25 or 30 miles of the most northern Abor village. The 
identity of the Dihang with the Tsangpo, though not absolutely proved 
was at any rate practically t'stabIished, and there is little doubt that 
part of the district traversed by Kinthup in his famous exploration 
from the north, was visited. -

'"AlthOUgh it was not possible to determine atcurately -the natural 
frontier between the Abor country and Tibet, a rough idea of its nature 
and position was obtained. Points on the great snow range to the 
north were definitely fixed and a way was paved for an accurate deter­
mination of the boundary in the future while the chances of Chine~e 
aggression in this region were greatly reduced . 

• , Although there was little actual figl)ting, the successful conclusion 
of the military operations was no small achievemt'nt. The popular 
imagination likes to be fed with accounts of battles and daring, but 
it is not in these that the whole test of an army lies. The continual 
struggle with natural difficuItit's and with hardship and privation 
without the loss of a cheerful discipline, and the self-control required 
when dealing with ignorant and arrogant savages, represent a very 
high standard of military efficiency.". 

The total causaIties were 1 officer wounded, 2 other ranks killed 
and 2 wounded, and 3 followers killed and 3 wounded. Severe orders 
were issued to all the offending vi11ages. Kebang had among other 
things, to rt'stor~ all stolen property, to pay a fine of mithan and war 
equipment, and _cc In future to obey all orders of GovernpleM find not 
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prevent people from trading iq the plains". , This last point r~fers to 
a perennial source of grievance which previous political officers had 
commented on unfavourably, often before and' which persists to the 
present day in the shape of "trade blocks" further North. Similar 
orders of varying degrees of severity were issued to Rotung, Babuk, 
Pangi, Sissin, Yemsing and Rengging. 

As regards those guilty of the actual crime, two of the 3 mur­
derers of Mr. Williamson were captured and tried as well as 3 other 
persons who killed members of his party. The two men, Manmur of 
Yagrung and Tamu (or Namu) of Bosing who were accused of :Mr. 
Williamson's murder, were tried on 2nd April 1912, by a "Military 
Court~', presided over by Mr. Bentinck, with Captains J.F .D. Coleridge 
and L. S. Smithers as Assessors. Both were found guilty. Manmur 
was sentenced to transportation for life, since, though he was held to 
have acted with premeditation, it was also held that he was origi­
nally unwilling to consent to the murder but did so under compul­
sion. (Judging from the contents of the Court's Order, he was ex­
ceedingly lucky to escape the death penalty). The other man was 
given 10 years, on the ground that he was younger, of a weaker cha­
racter and acted under Manmur's influence. Three other men, 
Buissong of Bosing, and Lutiang and Popiom, both of Yagrung, who 
Were found guilty of killing Williamson's coolies were sentenced to 
terms of imprisonment. It was not until the expedition was over 
that the 2 men of Kebang, Lamlaw and Bapuk, who murdered Gre­
gorson were surrendered to Mr. Dundas. They Were found guilty of 
murder on 18th May 1912: by the Deputy Commissioner of Lakhim­
pur, Colonel Herbert, and sentenced to death, sentences which, in 
view of the sentences referred to above, gave the Chief Commissioner 
considerable embarrassment when they came before him for confir­
mation. "After prolonged and anxious consideration" he decided to 
commute them to transportation for life. It is sufficiently clear from 
paragraph 5 of the Chief Commissioner's letter No.69-P.T., of the 7th 
July 1912, that all these culprits were decidedly fortunate. 

An echo of these proceedings was heard in 1922 when by chance 
it came to the District Officers' notice that one Tarung Tamuk, a gam 
of Panggi village, was identical with the man Lunnung who was 
mentioned in Bentinck's judgment as one of the actual murderers 
but who was not placed on his trial then. This fact was confirmed 
by Namu (or Tamu) who had recently returned from the Andamans 
after serving his sentence, as well as by Manmur who made a statement 
while still serving his sentence there. When the Political Officer, Mr. 
O'Callaghan, report this, it was pointed out to him by Govemment 
that this Lunnung, though one of Williamson's foremost assailants 
w~s, accordin.g to Be~tinck's own rep?rts used a~ an intermediary t~ 
~rLnl? Ol?er tnbe~m~n to ~d had rec~1ved J?romlses of p~otection by 
Imphcatton. ThIS 1S a pomt that Bentinck hImself made In reporting 
the result of t~e trial in his Jetter from Kobo, dated the 5th April 1912. 
No further actlon could therefore be taken against the man, gUilty 
though he was. 
'-- ~--- - --------------------

Assam Secretariat, IJolitical, A, September 1912, Nos. 1-22 
Assam Secretariat, Political, B, July 1922, Nos. 203-212. • 
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At the end of December, Mr. Ben tinck , with 5 British Officers 
and a party nrarly 300 strong set out to visit as many Minyong villages 
as could be reached in 26 days. No part of the country they were to 
visit, except Pangi and Komsing, had ever before been penetrated. 
The Column was received in friendly fashion. Only a few small 
Minyong villages '-\ere not visited. In Komsing they found Some of 
Mr. Williamson's remains which the people of Komsing had buried. 
These were re-interred on 13th April 1912 at Dibrugarh*. In Kom­
sing and below Pangi were later erected cairns in memory of Williamson 
and Gregorson. Thereafter they vis~ted the important viJIages of Riu, 
Geku (the chief village of the Pangis-a small tribe wedged in between 
more powerful tribes, which inhabits the Riu bank of the Yarone and 
extends into the Dihong Valley at Geku), Riga (the m~tropolis ofthe 
Minyong and the biggest village of all that the column met with, con­
taining from 250 to 300" houses), and Simong, opposite Kar kG.) of about 
220 houses, a village whose people are akin to the Panggis 'whom 
they protect. From Sinaong they continued Northwards, towards 
Tibet. Their furthest point wasSingging, which they reached on 
inst January. From there they turned back and reached Simong 
once more, where they stayed till the 23rd February, enjoying 
excellent relations with the local people all the time. Bentinck took 
the opportunity to hold a representative gathering of gams at Komkar 
which was attended by men from Simong, Damro. Riu (Madu and 
Konying), Panggi and Komkar. At this he explained to them the 
necesslty of behaving properly as subjects of the Queen, and that all 
were enti tIed to trade where they liked. 

Meanwhile, a party under Colonel D. C. F. McIntyre had been 
up the Yamne between December and February and had visited many 
Padam villages including the redoubtable Damro, being received in 
friendly fashion throughout: another headed by Captain Molesworth, 
1/8th Gurkha Rifles, and Mr. Needham visited the Minyong villages 
on the right bank as far as Parong: a Survey Party under the same 
t""o officers went up the Shimang Valley visiting Dosing, Pareng, 
Yingku (or Yuying), their object being to work from a 10,900 feet 
hill at the head of the valley: and Captain Dunbar toured to Kom­
bong, the principal Gallong village and one held. in respect as far 
north as Riga. 

Mr. Bentinck's "Political Report" on the expedition dated the 
23rd April 1912, recounts not only the· details of Messrs. Williamson's 
and Gregorson's murder, "and the COurse of the Expedition from the 
political point of view, but also furnishes proposals as to the future of 
these tracts. 

He sums up the "results and conclusions" of his 3 months tour 
in this hitherto unknown country as follows. cc ...... , •• our [previous] 
knowledge of them was confined to those nearer villages which, so far 
from forming the door opening on those beyond, have acted a8 the 
curtain shutting off us from them and them from us, so that trade 
was forced into rircuitous routes, or in toost cases in the opposite and 

• Assam Secretariat, Pol., B. June 1912. Nos. 46-60. 
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unnatural direction, and the thoughts of men turned rather to the 
country acruss the great snowy range than to the plains towards which 
they faced. The worst side of the Abor character was also emphasiz­
ed by 0iJS" previous failures in the Minyong country and by the two 
unfortunate incidents-the massacre at Bodak (Bordak) and the stopp­
ing short of Damro, which have tended to overshadow the otherwise 
IXlarked success of the 1894 expedition. What Mr. Willamson might 
have done single-handed in opening this country had his "life been 
$pared, can be estimated from the brillant success of his five years at 
Sadiya, which opened a new era in our relations with the hills, work to 
which I cannot help thinking that sufficient justice has not yet been 
done. He had at least shown that the Abor is not the truculent, in­
tractable savage, which previous accounts generally made him, but 
there had not been time for this view to gain general acceptance. 
~te recently the Abo_r has been characterized by those who know 
him least as dirty, sullen, lazy and treacherous. It may be taken that 
those who visit a new tribe expecting to find an unpleasant savage wile 
not be disappointed wherever they may go, but it does not follow that 
they are corred. In the case of the Abors, I concede the dirt, as far as thr 
men are concerned; our friend the Riga Gam spoken to on the matte I 
nplied to the effect that dirt was the poor man's blanket; I grant also 
a certain surliness, but only when theIr fears or suspicions are aroused; 
it must be remembered that to the vast bulk of the people whom we 
visited we were utter and mysterious strangers, and that our appearan­
ce, our habits, our methods, and our designs were alike new and unin­
telligible to them. The strong force which accompanied all parties might 
have produced a more or less reluctant acquiescence, but not the 
genial welcome, the ready and often generous hospitality, the tolerance 
of our strange ways, and the interest in our doings and belongings 
which we found at almost every village we entered ; of the fearless 
confidence with which they approached us, I have already spoken. To 
their indolence their vast and laboriously prepared jhums are an em­
p)1atic contradiction; in this work men, women, and children all 
share, and in a country where vegetation runs riot few sights are more 
remarkable than many hun4red acres of steep hillside cleared not only 
of jungle, but at sowing time of every weed and blade of grass, and 
this by means of a dao and a pointed bamboo. Treachery has for so 
long been branded on the Abor that to refute the charge fully would 
need an examination of every occasion on which the charge has been 
made; I do not propose to reproduce my conclusions after such 
examination beyond pointing out that w.aat has been attributed to 
Abor treachery has always been the outcODl-e of an assumption on our 
part of a friendliness or a fear or an unwillingness to take action on 
theirs which the circumstances did not justify. I do not mean to hold 
up the Abon as Bayards, but they have a code and recognise the 
obligations which-it imposes • 

• • • • • 
"The Abors have reached a period of their history at which they 

must either adopt new methlJds, such as we are able to teach them or 
must risk· their whole existence. Their methods of warfare ~nd 
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defence have been proved to be puerile except against one anothet, and 
their methods of agriculture have brought them to such a pass that 
unless they are superseded by better every child that grows up brings 
them nearer starvation ; already hill-sides so steep that it is surprising 
that even a plant can maintain its hold have been brought under 
cultivation, and there are many clearings on whose fresh lap the swart 
star can look very sparely indeed. Fields are cropped for three years 
in succession, and the jungle is then allowed to grow up again for as 
long as possible, varying from about six years where the pressure oq. 
th,e s9il is greatest, a~ at Riga, to as much as 10-l2 years in a few morc;: 
fOrtunate villages. For many miles together there is no virgin soit left? 
and my impression fro 01 seeing many score of jhums in all stag~ was 
that the soil, partly from too rapid rotation and pardy from the ten­
dency of grass jungle (khagri and ikra) to replace and ·check the 
saplings, is steadily deteriorating, while some of the oldest lands, on 
account of repeated jhuming, steep hill-sides, and heavy rain.'!, are 
suffering from denudation. The position, though seTious, is one that 
can be met by improved methods, as, for instance, terracing like that 
practised in the Naga Hills, and improved implementl1, which will 
enable more to be done than a mere scratching of the surface." , 

As regards slavery he states as follows: "The Abors generally 
obtain their slaves from one another by purchase, but prisoners of 
war also become slaves; they feed with the family and are not in 
ordinary 'life distinguishable by any mark from free men. A master 
has full powers over his slaves, but attempts to escape are rare because 
if a slave has been sold, he will not better himself by returning home, 
where he is likely to starve, and if he has \>een captured, his own 
village is not likely to welcome him back, because he provides one of 
those causes of friction which as I have said above, the Abor is anxi­
ous to avoid. The only place of refuge is the plains, and under the 
existing rule the slave has to work out his ransom; this i,n .the case 
of men (for women readily find a protector who 'is' willing to pay 
the amount fixed) generally means that either a Government officer 
has to find him work until his wages amount to the required sum" or 
else he borrows the amount and becomes- a bondman of his: creditor. 
The owner in any case has to wait some time for his money and in 
the interval to replace the labour which he cannot do without. I~ 
is probable that in the future such runaways will be ,more frequent. 
and the only alternatives at present open are either to refuse to. re­
cognise slavery at all or to make prompt restitution of the value tq 
the owner. I have explained why the former course will cause grave 
inj ustice and hardship to the owners ; the latter can only be effected 
if officers who have to -deal with such matters have at thek disposal 
a fund from which they can pay the claimants and treat the amount ,as, 
a loan to the runaway, for the recovery of which certain powers will 
be required. The case for abolition here is not on a footing with 
abolition elsewhere, and it should therefore be our endeavour to intro~ 
duce a. currency ~ as SOon as possible and to foster the growth. of a 
labounng class, ~laves, it may be a.dded, arC? ~enerfllly kindly, 
~eated:" , . 
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His remarks regardin~ the' Menbas, who -have come to figure pro­
minently in the political history of recent years are as follows. 

"47. The three last villages on the right bank-Kopu, Jeling, 
and Shirang-are occupied mainly by the Menba, though Abors also 
inhabit them. The Menba appear to be emigrants from the country 
on the other side of the snows and therefore originally Tibetans in 
the geographical sense. They are, however, in no way under Tibetan 
authority nor is the tract that they inhabit regarded as in any way 
different from the rest of the area occupied by Abor tribes. A Tibetan 
sardar of coolies that we had with us denied that either they or the 
tribes beyond the range are Tibetans, and this is borne out by the 
fact that the Abors speak of the people in the area under Tibetan 
control by another name. I have described how we met two Shirang 
men at Getie; though different in feature from the Abors' they were 
not much like the usual Tibetan and wore neither boots nor hats." 

For the future administration of the country his views were these-­
c, Even before the expedition the area under the control of the 

officer at Sadiya had become too large for one man, and for the western 
part of it Sadiya was distant, inaccessible, and probahly the Assistant 
Political Officer was away. The importance of the Mishmi area has 
now greatly increased, and cannot be separated from the Khamti 
country. These tribes and the Singphos will afford ample work for 
the Assistant Political Officer at Sadiya, and he should, in my opinion, 
become an officer corresponding directly with the Local Administra­
tion, and not through the Deputy Commissioner at Dibrugarh, The 
last named should in my opinion be relieved of his responsibility for 
matters beyond the line of administered cruntry; his ordinary dis­
trict work is heavy and increasing as the district is markedly progres­
sive, and he had either to neglect frontier matters or to sacrifice his 
other work to them. Frontier work has now become so extensive and 
important that a whole time officer, who should, in my opinion, have 
the status of a District Officer, appears to me an imperative necessity. 
While therefore the Sarkari Nagas, who are in easy reach of Dibrugarh 
by rail and visit the district in large number for work, must remain 
under the Deputy Commissioner he will not have other political duties. 
This will leave the whole of the Abor country, both the eastern and 
western sections, the Daflas (including the "Hill Miris to) and the 
various tribes westwards to the Bhutan border, together with the 
plains area from the Dijmur-Sengajan path to the Dibong, to form the 
new charge of which I have spoken, and this will be too large for the 
efficient control of one officer, even with assistants. The plains area I 
had proposed should fall under Lakhimpur district, but it is likely to be 
so intimately connected with the hills on account of migration to it 
from above that to put it under a different authority would tend to 
cause delay, friction, and divergencies of procedure. It should form a 
subordinate charge and may include the villages in the hills contained 
rou~hly in a line following the Simen, Sipu, and Siyom and thence 
with the Dihong as its northern boundary ; the headquarters I would 
suggest, should be at Pasighat, where the site is much bettt"r 'than had 
been at first supposed. The inner country cannot be controlled from 
a point ne~ef the plains than Geku~ and it should not be necl'ss<lI'Y to 
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go further. Geku possesses an admirable site foJ" ~ post, which being 
under grass will nbt diminish the area of cultivation and it is remark­
ably central, being 2 days' journy from Damro, 1 day from Riu, Riga, 
or Komkar, 2 days from Simong, and if the Dihong can be crossed 
below Rengging only 5 days at most from Passighat : ther~ is no other 
place within easy reach <?f, and 'so acc~ssible to, ~o many different 
tribes. Another subordmate charge WIll be requIred for the area 
between the Siyom and the main stream of the Subansiri and at least 
one more for the country west of the Subansiri. H 

General Bower, Who commanded the Abor Expeditionary 'Force 
held much the same views, and recommended in his latter,No.147-A.,*' 
dated the 16th January 1912 that the Frontier should be divided into 3 
sections (1) Central, for the Abors, under 2 Political Officers, one of 
whom would be in charge "Of all 3 sections, with headquarters at 
Rotung; 

(2} Eastern for Mishmis, and Khamtis, with an Assistant Political 
Officer· at Sadiya; (3) Western. with an Assi~tant Political Officer for 
the whole country from the Subansiri. to Bhutan. 

He proposed Military Police Garrisons at Rotung, Pasighat and" 
Kobo. 

Both he and Mr. Bentinck were' agreed that the ti me had come 
to separate these areas from the centrol of the Deputy ,Commissioner, 
Lakhimpur. 

(c) The Mishmi Mission -As i~ stated on a ptevious page, the Secre­
tary of State agreed to-a Mission visiting the Mishmi country at the same 
time as the Abot Expedition. The proposals of the Lieutenant-Gover­
nor of East Bengal and Assam are contained in his letter No.72-C.P.T., t 
dated the 21st August 19U. The Mission Was on a large scale as 
regards officers-Mr. 'Dundas was in chief Political control: Major 
C. Bliss commanded ,the Escort of 150 MiJitary Police, assisted _by 
Captain J. Hardcastle: Captain W. H. Jeffrey 73rd Carnatics was 
Intelligence Officer: Captain F. M. Bailey was Assistant Political 
Officer: Captain ,E. P. Le Breton, R,E., commanded No.5 Company, 
Sappers and Miners, assistf'd by Lieutenant J. F. Gray, R.E.,: Captain 
E. J. C. McDonald, I.M s., was Medical Officer: Captains H. G. 
Bally, Commandant and L. A. Bethell, 10th Gurkha Rifles were with 
the Dacca Military Police: Captain C. P. Gunter, R E., and Lieu­
tenant Morshead> R.. E., were with the Survey Party ~ Captain 
R. A. H. Robertson, 30th Punjabis, Commanded the Lines of Commu­
nication. It was intended that Mr. Dundas should go towards Rima 
as far as the pJace where the Chinese planted flags between Menilkrai 
and Walong:. In letter No.488·C.G.,t dated the 5th October 19U 
Mr. Dundas was instructec;l that -- ' 

" 8. If during the <;ourse of the mission Chinese officials< or troops 
are met endeavour should be made to maintain amicabJe relations. 
If. however. such officials or troops be met wi thin the tettitory of tribes 

*Assam Secretariat PoL A, June 1912, Nos. 140-200. 
tEastern Bengal & Assam, Pol., A, March 1912, Nos. 47-148. 
tEastern Bengal ~ AssaD', Pol. A, March 1912, Nos. 147-197. 
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on this side of recognised Tibetan-Chinese limits, they should be invit­
ed to withdraw into recognised Tibetan-Chinese limits and, if neces­
sary, compelled to do so. " 

A little earlier· the Secretary of State had inquired whether it was 
cc possible or advisable to take any steps to at once make clear to the 
Mishmis " the fact that they were under us and must look to us for 
future rewards or punishment, the proposal which Lord Morley 10 

firmly turned down in October 1910 when made to him by the pre­
vious Viceroy, Lord Minto. The Lieutenant-Governor thought it was 
very desirable and in a telegram* dated the 4th September 1911 he was 
desired by the Government of India to make the communication. 

The Mission eventually was directed along two lines (i) the Sisscri 
and Dibang Valleys. (ii) the Lohit Valley. • 

(Q The Dibang or Niz;amghat Column.-This was under command of 
Captaln Bally and had attached to it as Political Officer Captain 
F. M. Bailey. Captain Bethell of the Lakhimpur Military Police and 
Lieutenant A. de R Martin, R.E., accompanied it, with ISO officers 
and men of the Dacca Military Police, and 10 men of the Ist 
(K.G.O)Bengal Sappers and Miners. The objects of the column 
were-

" (a) to enter into friendly relations with the Mishmis ; 
(b) to inform the Mishmis that for the future they will be under 

British control exclusively and must accept no orders except 
for the present from the Poli tical Officer, Mishmi Mission 
and thereafter from the Assistant Political Officer, Sadiya' • • (c) to further inform them that, in return for the protection 
afforded, they must unhesitatingly obey orders and provide 
coolies for work on the track, which is about to be improv­
ed, between Nizamghat and Amili and to carry such loads 
for the column as they may be ordered ; 

(d) to inform the people that all the land up to the foot of the 
hills is British, and that all cultivation on it makes the 
village to which such belongs liable for poll tax and that 
this tax must in future be paid; 

(e) to order the people that all raiding in the plain must cease, 
as must all inter-tribal feuds and raiding, which should be 
always referred to the Assistant Political Officer at Sadiya 
for settlement and orders; 

(I) to inform the people that all prohibition against visiting 
Sadiya and trading will be withdrawn as long as orders are 
obeyed; , 

(g) to select a line for a fu~ure "bridle track" from Nizamghat 
onwards to the north, and if time permi ts, to cut a trace 
as far as Amili, and in any case, to improve the existing 
paths." 
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They toured up the Sisseri between 4th and 19th December 1911~ 
and found the Mishmis ofthe Sisseri Valley, who constitute the Mi 
Hi section of the Chulikatas, very friendly ~ they were evidently in great 

-fear of the Padam Abors of Damroh and Dambuk. A friendly message 
was even received from Dambuk, to the effect that they were British 
subjects as much as the Mishmis. 

At the end of January a move was made northwards to the Ithun 
river, and they got as far as Ichigu on the right bank of river of that 
name which runs in to the Dibang. In all 30 Mishmi villages were 
visited. 

(i') The 1.ol,il Valley Column. - This, under Mr. Dund~ himself, 
went as far as the Yepak river, i mile north of the Bags set up by the 
Chinese at Menilkrai. Survey Parties went up as far as Sama on the 
right bank and to the sourCe of the Sa'al Ti on the left bank, and they 
collected sufficient'material on which to base a good strategical frontier 
line on either side of the Lohit. The people in the Lohit Valley were 
every where friendly. Mr. Dundas considered that their general tend­
ency was to favour British protection, though the Chinese had been 
making great efforts to win their friendship. Out of the whole number 
engaged 5 British Officers, 86 officers and men of the Sappers and 
Miners and 31 officers and men of Military Police arJivcd at the fur­
thest point, Menilkrai (on 4th January 1912). 

The physical difficulties they encountered were very great, as 
the following extract from Major Bliss' report· indicates. 

"The communications in the Mishrri Country are by far the 
worst that in a considerable experience I have ever met with. Before 
the cart road was cut by the Sappers and Miners, the path from 
Sanpura to Temeimukh was narrow track. over which jungle hung 
so low that it was seldom that one could move In an upright attitude. 
It crosses a large number of rivers of varying sizes and was in parts 
infested with leeches as late as the middle of November. The road 
opened by the force has greatly simplified movements over this portion 
of the country, but even the Mishmi country is entirely cut off from 
the plains throughout the rains, owing to the rhoers rising and the 
country around Sadiya becoming a huge swamp. U nill a road paral­
lel to the rivers has been constructed from Sadiya to the hills, cOILmuni­
cation must remain only possible by boat. Some line should be found 
from Sadiya which will lead to the hills without crossing any large 
river. I do not think this should be difficult when the results of the 
Survey operations are available. 

After leaving Temeimukh, the path enter!! the hills and the difficul­
ties are at once enormously enhanced. The slopes are so great that 
large portions of the hills are on the move. At one point the path will 
be following a knife edge with 1,500 feet drops on either side. At 
another there is a precipice on one side and a cliff on the other with 
the path between little broader than one's boot to walk on. Again, 

Assam Secretariat, Political, A, September 1912,Nos. 1-22. 
• Brief Narrative of the Miahmi Mission, submitted by Major C. Bliss, I. A. 

1911-12. 
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the path will lead over rocks tumbled aimlessly one on the other with 
hollows under and between them. Ladders were built in many cases 
to enable the force to climb steep faces of rock. Sometimes the soil 
is a slippery clay and at others a crumbling san ... with boulders, and 
these latter are the cause of constant land-slides. Rivers and streams 
occur at frequent intervnls. All these are torrents and must be 
bridged, as the few that are fordable would nevertheless be dangerous 
owing to the current. The Mishmis have cane suspension bridges tJver 
the larger rivers." 

The Sappers and Miners assisted by the Military police cut 37 
miles of cart road and built 1843 feet of bridges in 37 days. 

VIII. Administrative changes subsequent to the Abor Expedition.-
The proposals of the Lieutenant-Governor (Sir C. S. Baylt·y) for 
the future auministration of the North-Eastern Frontier, after the troops 
of the Abor Expedition had been WIthdrawn, based on the recom­
mendations contained in General Bower's letter No.147-A,* dated 16th 
January 1912, are summarised a~ follows in paragraph 9 of his letter 
No. 53-C. G.,* dated the 22nd February 1912. 

"9. Summary.-In conclusion, I am to sum up the Lieutenant-Go­
vernor's proposals with regard to the North-East Frontier. 

(1) The tribal country should be divided into three sections:-
(a) The Central, or Abor, Section, with headquarteI's at 

Rotung ; 
(b) The Eastern Section consisting of the Mishmi Hill. and 

the Bor Hkamti country with headquarters at Sadiya, the 
Dibrugarh Frontier Tract continuing to be administered 
from Sadiya as at pr~sent; 

(c) The Western Section comprising the country between 
Tawang and the Subansiri river and including the eastern 
watershed of that river. 

For (a) there will be two officers at Rotung, with garrisons at that 
place, Pasighat, and Kobo, and for (b) two officers at Sadiya working 
under the supervision of the Political Officer at Rotung. A post will 
be established near Menilkrai on the site chosen by Mr. Dundas and 
Major Bliss with subsidiary posts connecting it with Sadiya. 

To maintain communications a company of Sappers and Miners 
should be employed further to improve the Rima road and to build 
bridges over the Delei.and the Du rivers, materials for which should be 
collected at Sadiya during the rains. Any further survey required in 
the Mishmi or the Hkampti country should also be undertaken next 
cold weather. For (c) three small missions should be employed to 
.survey and explore the Aka, the Dafla, and the Mid Hills, connecting 
their work with that done by the Miri Mission under Mr. Kerwood. 

(2) In order to provide for the permanent posts in the Abot and 
the Mishmi country together with their reliefs, a second Lakhimpur 
battalion with a strength of about 750 men should be formed. 

(3) The Dacca BattCllion should be transferred to Assam, the por. 
tion not required for Tura or Silchar forming the nucleus of the new 
Lakhimpur Battalion. 

• Assam Secretariat, Political, A, June 1912,Nos. 140-200. 
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(4) As the Assam ,Military Police, ewen when re-inforc.ed by the 
Dacca Battalion, ,will not be able to provide sufficient men for all the 
,work~which, ,will have to be done on the frontier next cold season, ,at 
,leas~ tbe ~prts for the .missions in the Western Section should be 
~awn from a Gurkl\a regiplf1lt. 

(5) Mr" Dundas should be selected for the post of Political Officer 
,at Rotung, exe~ipg at the same time general supervision over the 
Eastern Section, also. The Political Officers on the North East Frontier 
shQuld, be u~der dire~t control of the Chief C~)InIl\~ssioner of Assam." 

!.As regards the Central or Abor section he wrote as f'QUows:­

"3. Central, or Ahor ,SectiQn.-The Abors have always ~ been the 
.,most troublesome :tribe on t4is frontier, and past experience pas 
proved ,t4e .impossibility of exercising effective control over them 
;UQtn .a ,post 1n ~the plains. This experience.is not ,uniqu~, 
,for .,the Nagas and the ,VJshais were only bro~ght ,under 
~ontrol when their country was permanently occupied. ~ The policy 
hitherto fldopted of sending expeditions into the Abor ,c:;ountry, 
l~nBicting -punishment, and withdrawing the force has invat:;iably 
been,misunderstood ,by the tribes concerned. The.teIpporary o~cupa­
tion .has -been s • .on forgptten and ,fresh trouble has ensued It 

..mould now be definitely abandoned both on_the ground of its .want 
< ,of success and .because the presence of an a~mressive _and intrigui:Qg 
~ghQour, whom it is absolutely nect;ssary. to debar .from ,obtqining 
influence over the hill tribes on our ,border, necessitates. a reconsi­
deration of the whole position npt in regard to the Abor tract alone, 
but .in respect of the whole frontier, from Bhutfln to 'the ,Hkampti 
country and the unadministerpd r~gions north ,of Burma. In the 
Lieutenant-Governor's opinion, it IS essential to establish a pqst 
within the Abor country, prefet;al?ly among the- Minyopgs>'tpe section 
of the tribe against whom the present expedition has been specially 
directed. .Rotung is described by Mr .• Bentinck in .his.1etter dated 
the ·22nd December, 1912 as an admirabJe site for the purpose. It 

,promises.to be healthy throughout the l'ains, which ,seem to be less 
I Mavy there ~than on the southern face of, the l1iJIs ,and good ,building 
. sites are available ,in the vicinity rRotung is only lwodays'.joumey 
. from Pasighat, where a connecting post would he stationed, ,and it 
is -near enough to .Kebang to -prevent that village from .givingSurther 
trouble. ,It commands many .of the more important paths..and,would 
ensure an 'outlet to t.,he ,Pangi clan,. who are .now cut JOft'from the 
plains by :the· Minyongs. ,It.is in all. respects,_we)l adapted ta.play 
the useful part -played -by Samaguting, in the .early days of. Blitish 

, cODI;Iectipn with th~ Naga Hills. Sis Honour desirC1s, ther.efore" to sup­
port -the recommendation of ,the Geperal, Officer ,Commanding tq,e 
Expedition that a- post garrisoned by ~OO .liflcs should be eSlflbJished 
,at Rotung with a connecting po~t held by 'J(\O rifles at, Pa~igbat aod,a 
small guard .of, say, 50 men at Kobo. The rpad !x"tween,.KobQ. apd 
PasJghat is being improved by the Public Works Department, and 
it is hoped that it will be passable throughout the rains except in the 
case of a very severe flood." , 
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These proposals were recommended by the Government of India 
to the Secretary of State in their Telegram No. P, dated the 7th 
March 1912, but the reply they got in his telegram dated the 14th 
March 1912* was that he was "most unwilling on grounds of general 
policy to sanctIOn the establishment of the permanent polIce posts 
in the Abor country as this would arouse strong Parhamentary 
opposition in view of what has been stated by us as to the objects 
of the expedition." The Secretary of State added that he would 
"prefer even not to keep a permanent post beyond the Inner Line" 
The Government of IndIa protested against thIs m their reply of 
the 21st March as follows "It IS impossible, we consider, to brmg 
into arcord with existmg conditIOm our relations with the tribes as 
contemplated in our secret despatch dated the 21st September 1911 
without the establishment cf the proposed posts. It i~ not proposed 
to advance admimstrative boundary, but results of present expeditIOn 
WIll speedily vanish and fresh trouble may arise necessitating further 
operations unless posts are established m tribal territory beyond. 
Further, complete withdrawal is to be deprecated, in justice to the 
friendly tnbes-see paragraphs 7 and 8 of Bentinck's letter of the 
22nd December, a copy of which was forwarded with the Foreign 
Secretary's weekly letter No.3-M., dated the 18th January ] 912. 
Again, the eventual demarcation of the boundary with Chma wIth­
out the proposed posts would necessitate a considerable mIlitary 
force. The posts proposed m the Abor country are, we consider, 
quite as necessary as the post suggested near Menilkrai by His 
Majesty's Government, where at least the intermediate boundary 
appears to be respected and known." 

Apparently these protests were heeded and the Chief Commis­
sioner of Assam who had in the meanwhile replaced the now defunct 
Government of Eastern Bengal and Assam was able to send up 
his proposals for the admillIstration of this frontier. in his letter 
No. 69-P.T.,* dated the 7th July 1912 

In this letter Sir Archdale EarIe revi 'wed in a comprehensive 
fashion the results of the Abor Expedition and the Miri and Mishmi 
MIssions and made hIS recommendatlOns as follows. As regards 
Chinese influence, he observed that neIther the Abor ExpedItion 
nor the MIri MIssion found any trace of the Chmese In the country 
which they explored. Only m the extn'me north of the Abor 
country was there some signs of Tibetan influence The position 
in the Mbhmi country was dtfferent and was such as, in the opIIllon 
of the Chief Commissioner, urgently to call for further survey and 
exploratIon. The Chief Commissioner quoted with approval a note 
recorded by the general staff, whIch recommended as follows. 

"(1) A matter of the £1r5t importarce is the construction of a 
road up the Lohit Valley a~ far as Walong. ThIS should be a cart 
road in the plains sectioI). (constructed by the PublIc Worb Depart­
ment) and in the hill section a good bndle path, wIth permanent 
bridges above flood level over the Tidding, Delei and Dou rivers. 

*Assam Secretanat, PolitIcal, A, September 1912, Nos 1-22. 
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For this work the employment of two Companies, Sappers and 
Miners, and two dOllble Compame'l, PIOneers, is recommended, the 
whole under an Engmeer Major of experience m such work. The 
question of the economical strength of the party resolves itself into 
one of supply and transport. The above party is the mimmum 
that could hope to complet~ the WOlk m one ~eason, and the maxi­
mum for which supplies, together with the bridging material, etc., 
could be forwarded. Half the strength of the above party with a 
road survey party, should advance from ~adlya on the 15th Septem­
ber to commence preliminary work from the terminus of the Public 
Works Department cart tract, in order to faclhtate supply matters. 
The remainder of the party should leave Sadlya on l;;t November, and 
at once commence work on the bridges 

* * * * * 
(2) The construction of Mlhtary PolIce posts at Walong, Min-

zang and near the mouth of the Delel river." 
As regardg the necessity of posts m the MIshml country, their 

arguments were these-
"It is necessarv to establish posts in the Mishmi country for 

the following reason~ .-
(1) The Mlshml mountains Impose a screen behmd which the 

progress of the policy and movement of the Chmese near our vulner­
able north-east salient cannot be observed from withm our adml­
nistratlve border, and it is ImperatIve that we should be in a posi­
tIOn to watch this progress. Native Information, necessarily unreli­
able, would often arrive too late to be of value. 

(2) A wrong constructIOn Will be placed, both by the Mlsh mis 
and the Chmese, upon our fallure to establish posts after the 
withdrawal of the Mission The fact that the Mission started on 
Its return Journey just at a time when a consIderable concentration 
of Chinese troops was takmg place at Rima, wIll be gIven undue 
slgmficance, and the Chmese are skilful in turning such matters to 
acCOUnt. 

(3) The Taroans of the Delei Valley, who were induced to 
surrender theIr Chinese passports to us, wIll find themselves III a 
false position if the Chinese- demand an explanation, were we not 
in a positIOn to support them 

(4) The difficulty of future negotiatIOns with Chma will be much 
enhanced by an apparent renunCIation of tern tory by us, and our 
faIlure to set up boundary marks or occupy any position WJll be 
construed to mean that we are not justIfied in regarding the 
country as under our control, and acqUIesce m the Chinese demar­
cation. 

(5) Mishmis of all clans are anxious to obtam firearms. They 
have been mformed that they cannot expect them from IndIa. The 
establIshment of posts i:l their country""ill minimise the danger of 
their obtaming them from the Chmese 

(6) Advantage should be taken of the present fnendly attitude 
and primitive armament of the Mishmls to consohdate our posi­
tion. " 

Assam SecretarIat, PohtIcaI, A, September 191'2, Nos 1-22. 
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The.Chief Commissioner agreed that Walong' was the bcsfsite. 
As regal ds general control of the tribal country, the Chief Com­

missioner 'proposed a staff on a pretty generous scale. 
Hesaid~ 

"The Chief Commissioner would now propose that, so far as 
political control is to be exercised" the entire, tribal area east of the 
Subansiri-Siyom, divide should be in political charge of Mr. Dund~ 
who' should have the status of a Deputy Commissioner and work 
immediately under the Chief Commis:.ioner. He would require four 
assistants. One of these would devote his attention particularly to the 
Lohit Valley; the second would look after tke Bebejtya afid Chulikata 
Mishmis ; the third would deal especially with the Abor Hills; while 
the fourth would, in the first instance, assist the Political Officer at 
headquarters in the administration of the plains area, and would 
ultimately be concerned with Hkamti Long. tt is essential that the 
Political Officer should be left free to tour as circumstances necessitated 
in any portion of his extensive charge, and it is almo'it certain that 
before long he will require yet further assistance. For the present, 
however, the Chief CommisJioner desires to keep his propos<lls within 
as moderate limits as possible. Sir Archdale Earle fully endorses the 
view expressed in paragraph 7 of. Mr. Gruning's letter No. 53-G. G., 
dated the 22nd February 1912, that recruits foc appointments on this 
fmontier· should be drawn mainly from the officers of the Civil and 
Military Police .................. " 

As Mr. Dundas' assistants, Sir Archdale Earle proposed 1\b. 
T. E. Furze of the Indian Police for the Abors; Mr. T. P. M. 
0' Callaghan, also an Assistapt Superintendent of Police, for the 
Lobit Valley: and, fol' Assistant at headquarters and the Hkamti 
Long, Mr. W. J. H. Ballantine, an E1ttra Assistant Commissioner. 

Rotung, which had been recommended in February by Sir 
Charles Bayley as the headquarters of the Abor section of the frontier, 
had by now been abandoned under orders of the Secretary of State, 
and garrisons in the Abor section were maintained at Kobo (25 Mili­
tary Police) Pasighat (75 Military Police) and Balek (100). It was 
yet to be decided which' of the last two was to be retained as a per­
manent post. 

The important point of trading facUities so often refetred to 
in the past and which is of particular interest in view of later 
developments in connection with the situation around Karko and other 
places of recent years, is dealt with in paragraph. 16 of the letter, 
which runs as ronows. 

"16; This question of trading the Chief Commissioner regards all 
of paramount importance. Many of our past difficulties and 
misunderstandings with, the various Abor tribes have arisen from the 
fact that the privilege of trading with the plains was monopolised by 
a few sections of the community, to whose interest it was to misinter­
pret our t motives and actions. In the CO!lfse of the Abor Expedition 
both General Bower and Mr. Bentinck impressed upon all the tribes 

Assam Secretariat, Pbl., A, September 1912, Nos. 1-22. 
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visited, ' that" tr.ade with tht plains would, in~ future be. open' a.nd nn­
restricted, and the powerful'villages which htld ,hitherto prevented their 
weaker neighbours ftom· approaching us were solemnly warned that 
such conduct1mustl cease. The· chief sufferers from the.highl-handed 
attitude of Kebang and other powerful villages were the Panggis a.nd 
the tribes lying to the north of them. These people importuned both 
General Bower and Mr. Bentinck fol'> ac: ess to the plains, and have 
since approached Mr. Dundas with similar requests. If effect is to be 
givert to this policy, and if our relations with the Abor tribe~ are to 
improve, the Chief Commi-;sioner considers it essential that a tradihg 
post should be established within the Abor countty. Kebang have 
promised obedience' to the orders issued by General Bower. and have 
accepted, rui one of the conditions on which1peace was made; the 
stipulation that they will not prevent people from trading in-the plains>. 
The promise was made when Kebang were overawed by superior force 
and suffered {tom the ~ presence of a hody of troops. A b)-t'ach of the 
pronUse could not be overlooked, and, with a view both to obviate the 
necessity of future hostIle operations against Kebang, and in the in;;. 
terests of the other tribes concerned, the Chief Commissioner must urge 
most strongly th'at, for at least several months in the year, a trading 
post, temporarily cccupied by a guard of 100 rifles, should be estab­
lished. As to the precise, location of this ,trading) post, Sir Archdale 
Earle would prefer to resenre his- final decision. A post has actually 
been built at Rotung, but against this it must be remembered that a 
bridle track has been constructed for ten miles beyond as far as 
Yambul!g, and that the villages concerned have been ordered to keep 
this track in repair. Yambung is situated immediately below the 
village·of Kebantrt 'in the middle of the viUages wh1ch,formerlylnter­
fered with trade and have now undertaken to refrain 
from so doinm and the, occasional, presence of. a gar.rison 
there would tend more than anything else to ensure that the 
promises given were kept. There is another consideration. As already 
stated~ a bridle track has been constructed as fat as Yambung, and 
orders 'have iSsued! for its maintenance. Both: General BOWel' and Mr. 
Bentinck'h'ave laid the greatest stres~on the educative-and civIlising 
effect' ohoads in tMs country, and from this pomt of view as well as 
in the interests of'trade, it is- essentiat that this road should be k~pt 
open, and, as opportunity affords continued further. In pal'agraph-n 
of this letter the- Chief Commissioner has held that if -survey and ex­
p~orat.ion by,small parties is to be rendered possible, it ,will be,necessary 
for the Political Officer, t(J< bec{)me acquainted with-all thc:~important 
villages in his charge and to establish friendly re1ations with them. > and 
Sir Mchaale Earle holds that the best .. and'indeed 'the only means, of 
doing;this will bet in the first instance, tlirough the-medium oBrade 
and by the establiShment {)f a trading centre in the Abor couG.try. He 
considers in fact that the entire success of the policy outlined -for 'the 
control of this area depends on the suggestiOn, now-made Mr. 
Bentinck has described, the- scarcit)!', of culturable, land when cultivation 
is carried on by the wasteful method of Jhuming, and Mr. Dundas has 
actually carried out on a small scale a demonstration of the advantages 
of permanent - terrace culuvation suclr as is effected with- the utinost 
success by the· Angami tribe in' the Naga Hills. It' i&-by the Abors 
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thus coming in contact with civilisation and seeing for themselves its 
benefits that Sir Archdale Earle counts on converting these hitherto 
troublesome tribes into peaceful neighbours. On this subject Major­
General Bower, extracts from whose note are appended to this letters, 
is in complete sympathy." 

The following are extracts from the note referred to (it forms 
Annexure H to the Government letter):-

"The chief points to notice in our relations with the variom ALor 
tribes is the manner in which certain sections have denied access to 
the plains to all those living bt'hind them. These sections an. tIle 
people who have been responsible for many raids and for the massaLre 
of Mr. Williamson's party. Their power has been broken, condign 
punishment inflicted, and the purdah lifted The villages in the hinter­
land have expn;ssed a wish to be allowed to trade, and we have 
explained to the border villages that no hindrance will be tolerated. 
Common humanity indicates that the Panggi tribe should be allowed 
access to a trading station. Their condition owing to their inability 
to obtain salt is pitiable. They will do almost anything to obtain it. 
They are aho anxious to obtain cloth, cooking pots, etc. 

The villages to the norlh, such as Simong, trade with Tibet, but 
this trade is carried on under considerable difficulties, and the people 
state that they would much prefer to trade with India if allowed to do 
so. 

* * * * * 
To keep touch with the people and at the same time pursue a 

policy that will tend to their material prosperity should, I consider 
be the lines on which our future dealings should be directed. 

The first step required towards both objects is the establishment 
of a trade mart, and Rotung is the nearest suitable point. It has the 
great advantage of being easily accessible to both the Minyongs and 
the Panggis, and can be reached by both the Padams and the Gallongs. 
It has the further advantage of heing placedjust inside the line ac/ ass 
which hitherto the trade barrier existed. It is suitably placed for the 
maintenance of the mule road recently constructed". 

Finally, in paragraph 21, t4e Chief Commissioner proposed the 
formation of a permanent Coolie Corps at Sac1iya, of a strength of not 
less than 600, as a permanent nucleus of transport. 

The Government of India's orders, approved by the Secretary of 
State, on these proposals were contained in their letter No.2447-E.B., * 
dated the 16th October 1912, and were to the following effect as 
regards the policy to be followed on the North-East Frontier. 

"Cen tra1 section-

(1) The retention of the posts establisheu. at Balek (100 rifif's), 
Pasighat (75 rifles) and Kobo (25 rifles). 

'Assam Secretariat, polftical, A, December 1912, Nos.172-173. 
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(2) Establishment of a trading post near Kebang to be held for 
several months in the year by a guard of 100 rifles. 
This post is sanctioned on the clear understanding that 
the guard only remains there as long as the trading post 
is open and that its scope is confined to keeping the road 
open and undisturbed. The Chief Commissioner's pro­
posals for the precise location of the post should be sub­
mitted as soon as possible. 

(3) Despatch of exploring and survey parties, with sufficient 
escorts to overcome any possible opposition, to the 
Doshu~g pass and the head-waters of the Siyom and 
Sigon rivers. 

Eastern section-
(1) Construction of a properly bridged cart and bridle road 

from Sadiya to the frontier near Menilkrai. ....... . 
t2) Establishment of a Military Police post in the vicinity of 

Menilkrai. The actual strength and site of the post must 
be decided later and will require careful consideration. 
An intermediate post of lGO rifles at Buruphu with a 
track up the Ddei river to the G'lei Dakhru pass; and 
a third post of 25 rifles on the Digaru river with a track 
up to the Painlon pass. The sites of these intermediate 
posts not to be finally settled uutil the road is Cons­
tructed. 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

Employment of two companies of Sappers and Miners and 
two do~ble-companies of Pioneers, with complete trans­
port under a Major of Royal Engineers, for the construc­
tion of the above posts and roads. 

Construction of a light telegraph line from Sadiya to the 
advanced post with offices at the intermediate posts. 

Construction of a bridle track up the left bank of the Dibong 
river up to the Dri-Dibong confluence, and the employ­
ment of an additional company of Sappers and Miners 
and an additional double-company of Pioneers, with full 
transport, for the construction of this track. 

Surveys to be made of the Dibong valley in continuation of 
the wOlk done last season; of the Dei river to its source; 
of all the inhabited valleys leading inte} either the Dri 
or Dibong rivers; and of the Sisseri valley to connect 
with the Mishmi and Abor surveys of last season. Escorts 
and _coolie transport to be provided by the Loc al 
Government. 

Western section--
The next season in this section no surveyor exploration on any 

extensive scale be undertaken, but west of the Subansiri­
Si yom divide the Political Officer in charge should in­
crease our knowledge of the tribes and establish relations 
with them by means of promenades as a preliminary to 
subsequent survey and exploration. 
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General-
(1) Appointment of officers and pay.~The entire tribal area, east of 

the- Subansiri-Siyom I divide, td be ,in 'political charge of 
Mr. Dundas, with headquarters at Saoiya. Mr. Dundas 
.to have ,he .status ()f.a Deputy CQmmissioner and work 
directly under the Chief Corruni,ssioI).er. 

Mr. Dundas, who should,be left free.to , tour, .. to: have for the 
present four assistants. -One-Mr. T. P. M. O'CalJa­
ghan, Assistant Superintendent of Police, l lst grade-for 
the Lohit vaHey; another, to' be nominated by the 
Chief Commissioner, ta look afterlth~IBebejjya and Chuli­
kata Mishmis; the third-Mr. T.' E. Furze, Assistant 
Superintendent of Police, 1st grade-to Jdeal especially 
,with.the Abor hills; while the fpurth-Mr. W. J. H. 
:Ballantine, ,Extra Assistant, Commissipner, 6th grade­
.in the fint instance to assist Mr. Dundas at headquarters 
in the administration of the plains portion of the charge. 
The portion of 'the frontier, west pf the Subansiri­
Siyom divide, to be in political ch~rge .of Captain G. A. 
Ne~l1, Superintendent of Police. 'Captain'Nevill to have 
no fixed headquarters, b4t, after a period of training 
under Mr. Dundas, to tour about w,ith the object of for­
mulating definite proposals for the control of his charge. 
Captain Nevi1l to also work directly under the Chief 
Commissioner. 

• • • )* • 
"(2) lPolice.~(i) Removalof the present Lakhimpur battalion 

of Milita.-y Police from Dibrugarh to Sadiya, where it will 
. be accommodated in temporary qljlarters, until ,i ts final 
location ,is decid~d. 

(ii) T.ho immediate recruitment at Dibrugarh.of a second ba tta­
.lion of Lakhimpur·Military Police, 750,strong, to occupy 
the_,quarters vacated. by the first ,battalion ....•....... 

(ill) The maintenance of a permant'nt coolie corps of 600 men, 
with sardars, etc., at ·Sadiya". 

In -letter No.1394-P.',* dated the 24th March 1914, Assam 
addressed the Government of India On the question of defining the 
inner boundary of the North .-East Frontier Tract, the 
object being "to enable the . Political Officers to exercise in 
a regular manner the measure ,of political control which has been sanc­
tioned". The Chief Commissioner'proposed .Uto constitute a new 
North-East Frontier Tract, which will comprise two political chargt''1 
and at the same time to define a new Frontier Tract in which the 
Deputy Commissioner of Lakhimpur wilJ exer<rise jurisdiction". The 
three llew charges would be known.as the' 'Cent al and Eastern Sec­
tions, North-East Frontier Tract, the Lakhimpur Frontier Tract and 
the Western Section, North-Ea$t Frontier tract". ' 

·Assam Secretariat, PQlitical, A, ..April 1914, Nos.1-2. 
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The proposals were agreed to and by Notifications* Nos. 977-E.B., 
978-E.B., and 979-E. B., all of the 25th September 19]4, 
the new charges were constituted and their boundaries defined. by 
Notification No.6709-P, t dated the 16th November 1914, the Chief 
Commissioner prescribed "rules for the administration of justice in the 
Central and Eastern Sections North-East Frontier", adding that "these 
rules will only be enforced in the area under loose political control to 
the extent which may from time to time appear expedient". 

IX. Minor evetzts, 1912-1923-(a) The Dibong Survf:Y and Explora­
tion Expedition qf 1912-1~13.t-This was organised with the sanction of 
tl-e Government of India, in pursuance of the policy outlined in their 
letter No 2447-E.B.,t dated the 16th October 1912, and its purpose was 
to (a) discover the course of the D;bong river and (b) fix the main 
range of the Himalayas north of the Dibong river basin. Its objects 
were survey and exploration, safety was to be kept in view but the 
officer in charge was to "visit as many as possible of the villages in the 
areas over which loose political control will now be exercised.". 

It was a big force, including 315 Military Police, 52 Survey person~ 
nel, over 1,000 coolies and 10 British Officers. Captain G. A. Nevill, 
S. P. was appointed to be in charge of the party: Major C. Bliss com­
manded the Military Police escort: Captain F. M. Bailey was Intelli­
gence Officer: Captain C. P. Gunter, R E., was in charge of the 
Survey Party. 

The expedition were in the field from 30th November 1912 to 5th 
June 1913, and Captain Nevill claimed that they had accomplished 
the whole of the task set before them. The entire country had been 
surveyed, and excellent relations were established with the inhabitants. 
The Sissen Valley, the Matun Valley, the ElOra Valley, the Upper 
Dri Valley, the Upper Tanong Valley and the Ahui Valley were sur­
veyed. When in the Matun region, interesting jnfor mation was 
obtained about the incursion of Tibetans which had occW'red some ten 
years previously with disastrous results to the invaders. A few were 
sti1lleft, however, a colony of about 900 souls, in the Matun Valley. 
Nevill observed dlat there were constant comp1aintl', as in the Abor 
country, of "trade.blocks", which he gave orders must be removed. 
He found no trace of Chinese penetration. In May towards the end 
of the expedition, Nevill made an attempt to arrest Pongon of Elapoin 
who had been concerned in a murder and evaded capture ever since. 
He failed to arrest him, but burnt his village. 

(b) The Rima Road.-The progress made in carrying out the six 
schemes enumerated under "Eastern section" in the cold weather of 
1912-- 3 was disappointing. Tn his letter No.2958-P., dated the 19th 
June 1913, with which he ,sent up his proposals for the ensuing season's 

*Assam Secretariat, Political, A, Decembl"r 1914, Nos.19-54. 
tAssam Secretariat, Political, A, December 1914, Nos,B-lS. 
tAssam Secretariat, Political, B, February 1914, No~. 153-162. (Capt. Nevill's 

Report). 
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work, the Chief Commissioner explained how the Public Works De­
partment constructed a cart road 22 miles long from Sanpura to Paya, 
and a mule road of 52 miles from Paya to Pareliang. Beyond the 
Tidding Sappers and Miners and Pioneers, under the command of 
Colonel C W. Somerset, 48th Pioneers, were employed. It soon be­
came clear that no more than the Lohit Valley road could be altrmpt­
ed, and item (3) of the programme was postponed, whil~ the n:Cll we.re 
also withdrawn from the work on item (5). Great physical dIfficult It'S 

were encountered, and finally work had to be abandoned owinf:{ to 
heavy and continuous rain from April to May A mule track 
had been constructed to a point 8 miles from Minzang, at which 
instead of going on to Walong, they had to decide to stop, the with· 
drawal from Minzang entailing severe hardships and difficulties. 

(c) The '! Walong Promenade" of Januarv-March 1914.-The Secretary 
of State's sanction was conveyed in the Government of India's telegram 
No.2657-E.B.* dated the 19th November 1913. The expeditiont was 
in the charge of Mr. T. P. M. O'Callaghan, Assistant Political 
Officer, Sadiya, accompanied by Major C. Stansfeld and Lieutcnant 
H. R. Harington of the 1/8th Gurkha Rifles and an escort provided by 
that regiment. Captain McDonald, I.M.S, was Medical Officer. 
Rima was visited at the invitation of the Tibetan authorities, and cor· 
dial relations established. Sir Archdale Earle's views as to what 
should be done as regards the frontier were given in letter No.2025-P., 
dated the 6th May 1914 as follows. 

"3. Mr. O'Cal1aghan's report confirms the information in the 
possession of the Chief Commissioner that there are at present no 
Chinese troops anywhere in the neighbourhood of Rima. It urges 
nevertheless the importance of carrying the Lohit Valley road to our 
frontier, and of establishing a post as near the frontier as is practicable 
at the earliest possible date. This view is shared by the Chief Com­
missioner, but he realises that, for reasons which will presently be 
stated, it will probably be found advisable to move slowly in the com­
ing cold weather. He thinks, however, and he tlUsts that the 
Government oflndia will agree in this view, that the impossibility of 
recognising a Chinese boundary in the neighbourhood of Menilkrai 
hal been finaJ]y established, and he regards Mr. O'Callaghan's action 
in removing the boundarv posts as thoroughly justified. He has all 
along held that our boundary should begin at the junction of the Tho 
Chu stream with the tohit, and that 'he road should be continued up 
to this point. In your telegram No.127-C., dated the 2nd March 1913, 
tl}e Government of India found themselves unable to accept this 
proposal, holding that the Tho Chu stream was clearly within Tibetan 
limits. The Chief Commissioner was compelled to ask for a reconsi. 
deration of this decision, and did 80 in Major Kennedy's lettcr 
No.358-C:, dated the 17th Septtmber 1913, to which no reply has yet 
been receIved. 

As~am 8ecretariat, Political, A, May] 914, Nos. 17-64. 
·Assam Secretriat, Political, A, September 1914 Nos 1-86 
tAssam Se<'f("tariat, Political, A, June 1914, No;. 5.13. • 
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4. Another matter, as regards which Sir Archdale Earle eonsiders 
that there can no longer be two opinions, is the location of the ulti­
mate post on the road. Mr. O'Callaghan supports aU the offic~rs 
who have visited the locality in selecting Walong, and the Chef Com· 
missioner has little to add to what was stated in my letter No.22-T.C. 
dated the 23rd January 1913. 'J he position is materially altered by 
the undoubted possibility that, in a few years. the garrison of the post 
could be rationed locally, while the experience of the promenade 
shows that Mishmi transport will be available in increasing volume 
for the carriage of the stores and rations, which must be sent up from 
Sadiya, and for reliefs. Sir Archdale Earle is not at present prepared 
to put forward definite proposals for the establishment of a post at 
Walong in the coming cold weather, but, if the Government of India 
are prepared to accept the necessity of this post, the case will be further 
examined, and the knowledge gained in the triHing operations which it 
is proposed to undertake, .and which will be presently described, will 
be utilised. The possibility that the Tibetan authorities will improve 
communications between Walong and Rima, and that thereby a 
valuable trade route will be opened, is an attractive one, and it must 
be remembered that this road, if constructed, could readily be rendered 
impassable by the Walong garrison should signs of Chinese aggression 
render this course advisable at any time. It is also possible that, with 
the completion of the road and with local supplies and transport 
available to a large extent, it may not be necessary to have a chain of 
connecting posts between Sadiya and Walong as was at first proposed. 

The party started on January lst, 1914 from Sadiya: they 
reached Mmzang on the 29th: and Tilam on the 8th February, pa'lS­
ing on the way at MenUkrai the Chinese boundary post: and on Fe­
bruary 11th rode into Rima, the party consisting of O'Callaghan, 
Stansfe1d, Macdonald, Harington, Sergeant Howard, Supply and 
Transport Corps, and 3 Gurkha Officers and 36 Rifles of the 1/8th. 
They exchanged visits with the Tibetan officials the attitude of whom 
was most cordial. C On the 13th February they left Rima. While at 
Menilkrai on this occasion, O'Callaghan took the oPPQrtuntty Jo 
remove both the boundary pillars which the Chinese had put up 3 
miles south of WaJong and which Dundas found there in- 1911; as well 
as a fresh one which had been put up on June 9th, 1912. 

O'Callaghan's views as to the establishment of a post at Walong 
were expresljed as follows. 

" ...... 1 am more than ever- convinced of the nec~ssity of the 
finishing of the road to our frontier and the opening of a post as near 
our frontier as soon as possible. From Walong to Rima, there is no 
difficulty in road making and the Lohit Valley road-already con­
structed and open up to' Mankum-only required continuation to 
Manglor Hat, a distance ofless than 30 miles, to make the opening and 
rati?ning of t.he post a practicabl~ scheme. 1 trust it will be clearly 
realIsed that a small force, operatIng from Walong, could occupy Rima 
and hold the Rong Tho and Zayul Valleys in 24-30 hours -and, 
llice versa, a force moving from Rima can unopposed be in position 
on Menilkrai flat within 36 hours and effectually prevent any advance 
up the Lobit Valley. Should delay be made,. it is not impossible ~h<!:t 
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in the Yf'ars to come it may take much more than the resources which 
the Local Administration will have at its Immediate command, to 
assert our legitimate rights and claims, which the ready completion of 
the already sanctioned but uncompleted scheme for the Lohit Valley 
will confirm. 

Another important point in connection with the establishment ,ot a 
post at Walong is that of the immense cost rationing the post trom 
Sadiya would entail. I made enquiries locally and am satisfied that 
within a few years the majority of the rice and other items required for 
the supplies can be procured locally, either grown or purchased. 
Large quantities of grain are raised locally and at or near Rima and 
up the Rong Tho Chu and much of the grain trade could, I think, be 
diverted southwards. 

With the construction of the properly graded mule road to the 
frontier, it i~ to be hoped that a trade route, capable of progressive 
development, will be created and a high road secured to Tibet and 
perhaps beyond, in no way inferior to the present route from Bengal 
through Gyantse in point of distance and in a few years of economic 
and strategic importance. The eastern and south-eastern Tibetans wi1l 
quickly realise the advantages of their proximity to the markets of 
India." 

The cautious policy adopted in the new Frontier Tract for the 
first few years after its formation is described in Mr. Dundas, report for 
the year 1917·18 as follows. 

"During the year the remaining few Abor and Singpho villages 
and aU Khamtis were brought under administration and assessed to 
poll-tax. The district is now completely formed as far as the Si men 
river. \\est of that stream and as far as the Subansiri the country is 
comparatively unknown and the first point to be decided on is a definite 
boundary with the Lakhimpur district, which cannot be done until the 
area is properly surveyed. Parties were at work on it during the year, 
but the result of their survey has not yet been communicated. 

The plains as far as the foot of the hills have always been claimed 
as British territory. It was not however expedient to enforce this 
claim until recent years, and several Abor villages, all the Khamtis 
and half the Singphos enjoyed immunity from taxation. I began with 
the most powerful villages in which strong opposition to any impo~t 
was to be expected, and in 1915-16 brought the large Padam Abur 
villages Bomjur, Dambuk, SiUuk, Mimasipo, Mebo and Aiycng under 
administratic)O not without critical moments when trouble was barely 
averted. The example influenced the smaller Mishmi villages between 
the Dibang and Dihong who offered no opposition and began to ply 
poll-tax the same year. Next year the process was extended to the 
Pasi-Minyong and Minyong villages near Pa3ighat and to those Sing­
phos and Nagas living to the south and west of the Noa Dihing. During 
the year under report the remaining Abors as far as- the Simen rivt'r, 
the rest of the Singphos and all the Khamtis have been as~essed to 
poll-tax and are now British subjects. Once the difficulties With the 
~ada?l ~bors 'Yere surmounted,. t~e re~t was simple. The test applied 
10 b~1OglOf?! a V1l1~g(' ~nd~r admlms~atlon was the fact of having any 
portIon of Its cultlvatlOn 10 the plams. None of the Padam vill.lges 
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now British are exactly in the plains, but the greater part of the culti­
vation of each is. The same test was not found practicable in the case 
of the Pasi~Minyongs, Minyongs, and the Galongs in the Pasighat sub­
division. There between the Dihong and Simen I made the Bapur 
Torne ridge the boundary and taxerI every village on its slopes and 
spurs running down to the plains. They are easy of access to Pasi­
ghat. The people have since the Abor Expedition and the establish­
ment of a post at Pasighat b"en very friendly, bringing all their 
disputes to us for decision. The transition in their case was not 
abrupt, and they had the example of villages infinitely more powerful 
submitting to taxation. They are contented now under close adminis­
tration, hardly realising that conditions were ever different. Pasighat 
has been happy in the quality of the officers posted there." 

On the 24th November· 1918, a sepoy was murd~red at Nizam­
ghat by three man ofElapoin (Mideren Mishmis) 6 days march trom 
Nizamghat. In sending lIP proposals for an expedition to punish the 
perpetrators of this outrage, the Chief Commissioner, Sir Nicholas 
D. Beatson-Bell gave a history of the case as follows. 

"2. The murder of the rifleman appears to have been but another 
step in a long series of blood feuds. In the month of July 1905, as 
reported in paragraph 13 of the Report on the Frontier Tribes of 
Eastern Bengal and Assam for the year 1905-1906, three British 
subjects were murtiered by Bebejiyas near the Dikrang block~house. 
This outrage seems to have been committed in retaliation for. the 
detention injail ofa man named Pongon, during the Mishmi Expedi­
tion of 1900. The chief CUlprits in the murder of 1905 were found to 
be the same Pongon and one Taji Mideren of Elapoin village in the 
Ithun Valley. In consequence of the murder a blockade was declared 
against both the Bebejiya Mishmis and the Chulikata'l through whose 
territories the mUl derers had passed. This blockade was maintained 
down to the time of the Mishmi exploration of 1912, subject only to 
some relaxation in the case of friendly villages. In 1913 Captain 
Nevill, while engaged in the Mishmi exploration, visited Elapoin and 
tried to arrest Pongon and his confederates, but found the vlllage 
deserted. Pongon refused to come in, so Captain Nevill burnt the 
houses of Pongon and of his relations and also those of Taji and Tali 
who were concerned in the 1905 murder. Nothing more happened 
until December 1917, When Taji Mideren came down to Sadiya, ap­
parently thinking that the outrage of 1905 has been forgotten. He was 
arrested, tried, and sentenced to death, and his appeal for mercy 
having been rejected by the Governor General in Council he was 
hanged at Tezpur Jail on the 29th January t918. In his Report on 
the Frontier Tribes for the year 1917-18 Mr. Dundas, Political Officer 
of the Sadiya Frontier Tract, wrote as follows :-

"The villagers of Elapoin have now sworn to revenge his death. 
This is not idle talk. Some innocent person wi1l certainly be ambus­
caded and done to death. It may not be this year, but it will 
happen." The murder of the rifleman in November 1918, a few 

*Political. B, December 1919, Nos.I-28. 
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months after Mr. Dundas wrote that report, is striking evidence of the 
accuracy of Mr. Dundas' knowledge. In his letter of the 30th Novem­
ber 1918, of which a copy was submitted to the Government of In1ia 
with my letter No.96S2-P., dated the 6th December 1918, Mr. Dundas 
reported that he had received information that the persons responsible 
for the murder of the rifleman at Nizamghat were Ekhrome Mideren, 
Bapo Mideren and Kosa Mideren of Elapoin, and it seems certain that 
the murder of the rifleman at Nizamghat was the work of Pongon and 
his confederates in retaliation for the hanging of Taji Mideren." 

lhe Government of India wele, however, averse to any sort of 
"military commitments" and they asked that the operations should be 
deferred. 

In December 1919*, the Chief Commissioner reopened the matter, 
pointed out how we were supposed to be exercising "loose political 
control" in these areas a::. approved in Despatch No.lOS, dated the 
21st September 1911 and Secretary of State's orders dated the 8th 
November 1911), and undertook that the operations would entail no 
risk of any situation arising which could not be controlled Ly local 
forces. 

The Government of India agreed on the 31st December 1919, but 
owing to the lateness of the season the expedition had to be postponed. 
It took place under Mr. O'Callaghan who had succeeded Mr. Dundas, 
ir. December 1920. They reached Elapoin on the 9th December. An 
ambush was laid for our troops and one Mishmi was shot who vel Y 
fortunately turned out to be rongon Mideren himself, the leader and 
instigator of the whole previous trouble and a constant nuisance tor 
some 25 years. There was no further difficulty and the troops return­
ed to Sadiya by 27th January 1921. Punishment was inflicted where 
required: and many outstanding disputes settled. The Chief Commis­
sioner was satisfied that the result ot the expedition had "gone far to 
re-establIsh the authority of Government after the enforced non· inter­
vention of the last few years." (Government letter No.1094-P .,t 
dated the 11th February 1921). 

In his Administration Report for 1921-1922 Mr. O'C!allaghan. 
Political Officer, stated as follows-

" ...... The Minyong of the Dihong Valley rendered what assis-
tance was required of them without open murmur in helping the 
Survey Party who were working in the foot hills and on the second 
range, also in the construction of the new memorials to the late Messrs. 
Williamson and Gregorson on the scenes of their murders in 1911 at 
Komsing and near Panggi villages. ~ir Archdale Earle when Chief 
Commissioner on his tour in the A bor country in 19) 3 ordered the 
construction of memorials suitable to the memory of the murdered 
officers. These memorials-massive cairns-IS feet high on a IS.foot 
base were constructed this year, the villages giving, without question 
or delay, every help demanded of them, and the memorials were pJaced 
in charge of the villages concerned with solemn ceremony-some of 
those present at the ceremonies being undoubtedly the actual 

* Political, B, J'!Inuary, No~.775-781. 
tP"l1itkal, B, April 1921, Nos.243.268. 

As~am Secretariat Appointment & Political, B, Progs., June 1922, Nos. 37·39. 
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murderers. It would not be correct tn say that the Minyong has 
forgotten the Abor Expedition of 191I.12 that was despatched to 
exact punishment and retribution for the treacherous murder of 
Messrs. Williamson and Gregorson and party but the earnestness of our 
occupation of the Dihong Valley must never be allowed to openly 
diminish. More than with most primitive peoples, the Abor responds 
to signs of thoroughness and strict fairness in our adlIl.inistration." 

Railway route 
between Assam and 
Burma. 

The Hukong Valley route for a railway 
connection between Assam and Burma from Ledo 
to Sahmaw was surveyed by' Mr. F. W. Allum, 
C B~E •• Engineer-in-Chief in 1920 and 1921. Bis 

report is dated the 30th April 1922, and the following extracts give 
the main facts. 

"3. Early in the nine,.ttes of the last century the desire for a' 
railway connection between India and Burma was so strong that the 
Government ofIndia appointed Mr. R. A. Way, a very experienced 
and capable Engineer, to investigate the problem, and he examined 
three routes in this order ;-

(1) From Chittagong on the Assam-Bengal Railway along the 
Arakan coast and over the An Pass to the Chindwin 
river in Burma; the coast route. 

(2) From the neighbourhood of Lumding on the AssaIIl-Bengal 
Railway, by way cf Manipur, into the Kubaw valley at 
Tammu, and thence, crossing the Chindwin river near 
Yuwa, to a junction with the Mu Valley Railway in 
Burma near Wuntho ; the Manipur route 

(3) From Ledo on the Dibrugarh-Sadiya ~ailway in the north­
east corner of Assam, via the Hukong Valley, to a june,. 
tion with the Mu Valley Railway in the, neighbo1,l.rhood 
of Mogaung ; the Hukong Valley route. 

• * * .. • 
6. In the cold weather of ] 895-96 he reconnoitred the ,third cQ\lte 

and estimated its length at 284 miles and the cost at 383 lakhs of 
rupees." 

* * * * * 
9. In the winter of 1917-]8 Mr. Stevenson, Executive Engineer 

of the Assam-Bengal Railway, explored the Patkai ridge for a distance­
of 20 miles west of Way's pass ,and 25 miles east thereof and discovered 
the lowest point on the ridge within this distance, the Sympana 
Saddle. He established the impracticability of any route west. of 
Way's pass and east of the Sympana Saddle. 

10. Early in 1919 the Government of India decided to make a 
preliminary s1,I.rvey of the Hukong Valley Route ..... . 

• * * * * 
24. The Hill Sec/ion dividing the Assam plains from the Hukong 

Valley, of which the principal feature is the Patkai range, the watershed 
between Assam and Burma. In the vicinity of the route the range 
varies in altitude from 6,800 at the Maium Bum to 3,080 at the 
SympaI!a Saddle,. where the railway will cross it. Extensive spurs 
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nearly as high as the main range are thrown off in directions indicat«:d 
by the main rivers, roughly, after a quick tUI n, parallel to the mam 
range and these spurs throw off subsid~ary spurs t.o ri.ght and left, for~­
ing a tangled mass of hills through whIch the mam nvers, the Namchlk 
and the Namphuk on the Arsam side of the watershed and the Loglai 
and Turong on the Burma side, present the only practicable route for a 
railway: the hill sides, especially in the upper portions of the main 
ridge, are very steep and crimped to an extr~ordlOary extent, like the 
teeth. of a bevil wheel and the soil conSIsts of sandstone or shale 
covered with a shallow layer of earth in which clay predominates 
supporting an exuberant growth of tree and bamboo jungle 

25. A part of the hill section, from the crossing of the Namphuk 
to the summit of the Patkai range, lies in the Sadiya Frontier Tract, 
and the remainder is not under British rule. 

* * • * * 
43. The length of line, as surveyed, from Ledo in A~sam to 

Sahmaw in Burma is 278' 71 miles, of which 17 miles are in the 
Lakhimpur Frontier Tract, 46 mile!! in the Sadlya Frontier Tract, both 
under the Assam Government, 151 miles in unadministered territory 
(ftom the Patkai range to the eastern boundary of the Hukong Valley), 
and 64 71 miles in the Myitkyina district of Burma. The route I 
recommc-nd, see paragraph 173, will be about 268'36 miles in length." 

* * * * • 
"70. The proposed route via the Namphuk Valley. The extreme 

costliness of a railway over the Patkais compeUed us to look for the 
shortest practicablt" route over these mountains and from the Assam 
plains to Digum JuP this appear to be the line I have shown in dotted 
red on the map, i.e., Ningrangnong to Nambong JuP on a ruling glade 
of 0'7 per cent. and Nambong JuP to Digum JuP via the Symp,llIa 
tunnel ..... ." 

The cost was estimated (paragraph 173 of Allum's report) at 
Rs.6,98,66,OOO. 

The potentialities of the Nongyong Lake as a source of power ill 
connection with what was known as the "Huk"ng Valley PIOject" 
were investigated in the course of the Hydro-Electric Survey of ind:a. 
The report of Mr. B. A. Blenkinsop, officer in charge of the H ydru­
Electric ~l!rveys, Assam, dated 1923,* states that "the Hukong Valley 
power statlOn ...... should form an excellent commercial undertaling". 
Mr. Blenkinsop's succeeding remarks are interesting in view of the 
long-drawn controversy, as yet unsettled, regarding the Assam-Burma 
b')Undary in this area. He observes" ...... though situated in the Naga 
counlry 40 miles from Namchik, the finished pJOducts turnf'd out by 
the Electro-~hemical factories in c')nnection with this power station 
wo~Jld practIcally be at t~e present rail hea? of the Assam-llclIgal 
Railway, for the rough estlfll.ate of cost provIdes for constructing a 
line from Ledo to the Power House site of the scheme at the foot of 
the Patkai Range. I understand that the boundary between AS~<lm 
and Burmah has not yet been finally decided on If the PIf's('1I1 

---------------- --------_. 
*Report on Hydro-Electric Surveys, Assam, 1923. 
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territorial boundary as at present shown on the older maps, some 20 
miles I to the south-east 'of 'the Patkai Range, be adopted, then the 
whole of this project lies in 'Assam, but if for 'geographical reasons the 
Patkai Range is taken as the dividing line, then the Power House and 
pressure pipe lind would' be in' Assam; while'the reservoir would be in 
Burma. This project, it will be'realized~ is 'of' intense. impol1ance to 
Assam, for if taken up -commercially, it would certainly be a big, if 
not the decisive factor in the construction of the Indo-Burma connec­
tion railway along this route and consequently all that this railway 
would mean to the further prosperity of Assam . ., 

X. 1928-1941-ln. December 1928*, Mr. Furze Jthe Pol­
itical Officer, reported the arrival at Sadiya of Tebu 
Dendun, the Raja of' Po, who had 'Bed before 'invading 
Tibetans to sanctuary in British territory. The unrest in Po had 
started, according to, --the Political Officer in 'Sikkim, 
in the previous year, when the inhabitants refused to pay taxes to 
the Tibetan Government. Troops were sent by the latter to enforce 
their orders, and their action resulted in the Bight of the Raja to 
British territory. At the suggestion of the Political Officer, Sikkim, 
permission was accorded by the Government ofIndia in March 1929 
to the Raja to reside in Darjeeling or Kalimpong, it being held 
undesirable that he should remain so close to Po as 
Sadiya. In February 1930, however, the Pohtical Officer advised that 
the Raja should be allowed to remain in Sadiya, advice with which 
the Governor of Assam concu~red, and which the Government of 
India accepted. A yeart later, however, the Raja expressed a wish 
to return to his own country. While the matter was under reference 
to the Government of India, I he absconded'from Sadiya on the 25th 
April1931. He was arrested' and kept in confinement, but again fled 
on the 20th July. Information Was subsequently obtained to the 
effect that he had fallen ill and died at the village of Aokan some time 
in September 1931. 

The flight f.com Sadiya and subsequent death "of -the Po Raja 
gave rise to conditions in the northern vil'ages of the Abor country, 
which caused concern to the authorities, as the following extract from 
the Political Officer's Report for the year 1931-32 indicates. 

"The flight of the Po Raja from Sadiya, Which bad 
been organized by one of his following Kemi Tsiring, and his subse­
quent death from exposure brought about consequent reactions in the 
Abor Hills. Alleging that the Padam tribe had -been responsibl~ for 
,his leader's death and fot tpe imprisonment at Sadiya of two Membas 
who had assisted in the escape, Kemi Tsiring succeeded in persuading 
the Shimong group of villages to attach Kom.Jcar, which is allied to 
the Padam tribe, and in this unprovoked' attack Kemi I Tsiring and a 
small party' of Memhas also joined. I t would appear however, that 
these warlike operations were organised without the knowledge' of 'the 

"Assam Secretariat, Political; A, September 1930, Nos.I-S8. 

tAssam Secretariat; Politlcal, A, Dectmber 1931j'Nos.1-49. 
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Tibetan force which still occupies the Memba country or alternative­
ly had been sanctioned by them only on account of Kemi Tsiring's 
misr.epresentations. The Tibetans, obviously, would not view with 
displeasure the death of the Po princeling, whose refusal to remit 
tribute to Tibet and whose action in slaughtering the first Tibetan 
force which came to extract the outstandings was the direct cause of 
all the trouble. Possibly wtth the idea of righting the wrong done by 
the unprovoked attack on Komkar village, two parties of Membas, 
led by Tibetans, subsequently visited Shimong alld Karko villages, the 
first mentioned force sending a Memba delegation to DamlO. It is 
reported, but. this report is not yet confirmed, that the Tibetans have 
taKen over Shimong and are realizing taxes from that village. What­
ever the intentions of these Tibetan-led parties of Membas may have 
been, such activity in areas under our loose political control, parti­
cularly in view of the fa"t that no official communications on the 
subject have been received from Tibet, cannot but cause concern. 

About the beginning of March, in retaliation for the attack on 
Komkar earlier in the year, a combined attack on Geku village Was 
made by the viIJages of Komkar, Riga, Pangkang and Karko. The 
attacking force found the village undefended and are reported to have 
killed a number of women and children, but on their return journey 
they were trapped by the Geku .fighting force and in the fighting which 
ensued they suffered consIderably, 11 men being killed and a large 
number wounded, Komkar being the chief sufferers. The Geku 
casualties are not known but are also supposed to have been consider­
able." 

Anual Report for 1933-34 relates that in this year "The 
British Museum Expedition (Captain Kingdon Ward, the explorer 
botanist, Mr. Kaulback and Mr. Brooks Carrington) passed up the 
I,ohit Valley but separated not far beyond Rima. Captain Kingdon 
Ward took a route which was approximately the line of the Rongthong 
Chu North by west, till he could look into the basin of the Dibang, 
and thence back down the Delei south by west to the Lohit and 
Sadiya. He was away 9! months. The other two turned east and 
then south coming out to Fort Hertz in Burma. 

Nothing much was achieved in the way of exploration but the 
scanty news that got through and subsequent confirmation by If''tters, 
revealed c·.)nditions which show that the influence of Government is 
felt far up amongst the Lohit Mishmi tribes who are definitely friendly. 
The Tibetan Official at Rima was extrt;mely kind and helpful and 
seems most anxious to establish close relations and trade with 
~ adiya. . 

The Cinematograph, which Mr. Brooks Carrington operated, 
seemed to have aroused neither superstitious fears nor unfavourable 
comment-which is rather unusual. 

The tribesmen were very willing to earn the several thousands of 
rupees which the exl?edition brought in to the country. Sirtce all 
relationships were frIendly-the expedition may be considered to havl" 
been beneficial. 
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* * * * 
"That the British Museum Expedition could wander about so 

vagudy and yet return in complete safety without difficulties augurs 
well for the progress of racific conditions since the march of 
Colonel F. M. Bailey some 20 odd years age, when he 'found the 
Mishmis there a disagreeable and hostile 10C' 

The Political Officer referred again to the aggre,slon of Membas 
on behalf of Shimong and their interference in Abor quarrels. 

In November J 933 an outrage was committed by unadministered 
Chulikatta Mishmis on a village in British Territory within one maf('h 
of Nizamghat, four children being killed and others injured. The 
Political Officer (Mr. Crace) was authorised to make a "promenade" 
in the Sisseri Valle)-. Mr..:: Crace carried* this out between 14th 
February and 5th March 193' accompanied by Captain Glenn and one 
platoon of the Assam Rifles. The expedition was successful, many 
cases were settled by the Political Officer and friendly rdations were 
maintained throughout. 

This was followed in October 1934 by a 'limilar promenade up 
the Dibang by Mr. Crace who was accompanied by Captain Sherman 
and 6 sections of the Assam Rifles. The object was to exact retribu­
tion for certain murders and to settle cases between .taxpaying and 
non-taxpaying villages. The expedition was successful and penetrated 
above the !thun by way of Aprunye as far as Ibyni and Aurnli (or Eru­
Rli) on the Emra. Immense physical difficulties were encountered and 
successfully overcome. -

In his report for 1936-37, Mr. W. H. Calvert, I.P., the Political 
Officer, wrote--"With an escort of one British Officer and 25 rifles, the 
Political Officer carried out a three weeks' tour in Unadministered 
territory of the Abor Hil1s. The column crossed the Dihang River at 
Yembung, inspected the Memorial to Dr. Gregorson at Pangi and 
that to Mr. Williamson at Komsing, and proceeded north' to Riu 
and Beging, crossing the river again to Dosing and returning down the 
right bank of the Dihang River through Yeksing, Pangin, Yembung 
and Rotung to Pasighat. This is the first occasion villages north of 
Komsing and Pangin have been visited since the Abor Survey in 1913. 
The Column was well received everywht"re and friendly contact was 
renewed with the Minyong Abors of the Dihang, Shimang and SiyoII1 
valleys. Large representative gatherings of Minyongs took the oppor..: 
tunityof discussing disputes, mostly concerning land, mythun and 
other property (and actually setting some!) which have been hanging 
fire for years. I was repeatedly urged to extend my tour further 
north and was assured of a warm welcome if I would do so." 

* * * 

*Assam Secretariat, Political, B, June 1934, Nos.1300-1329. 
Governor's Secretariat, B, Progs. December 1937, No.222.. 

* 
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During March an armed party of Membas came down the 
Dihang Valley as far as Karko. They brought presents of salt and 
endeavoured to collect tribute. At Riga~ the Minyong parent village, 
they met with a blank refusal. This village also refused to accept the 
saIt and would ~ot allow the party .to pass through or camp in the 
village, declining to supply coolies.' 

The annual report for 1937-38 states that-

"Mr. Calvert carried out a tour in the Mishmi Hills so far as the 
Dou Valley (Unadministered). The object was to renew contan ""Ith 
the Taroan and Miju L"Iish~J 'rho ha9 not been visited for hlt("{~n 
yeafll, to inspect the suspension bridges over the Delri and DOli Rivers 
and to investigate the possil?iIity of re-opening the Lohit Valley Rllcld 
beyond Theroli;,tng . 

• * * • 
Aaother tour was undertaken in th~ Unadminislered flrea of the 

Abor Hills as far as the Shimang River. Mr. Calvert was escorted 
by an Indian Officer and 25 rifles of the 2nd Battalion, Assam Ritles, 
Friendly contact was renewed with the Minyong Abors of the uppl'r 
reaches of the Siang and of the Shimang and Siyom Valleys. Tht' 
tour was a success and he was well received everywhere, large numbers 
of tribesmen coming in to renew acquaintance and to have tht'ir 
disputes settled by an unbiassed ' arbitrator. Dosing, who resented his 
visit last year and non-eo-operated as much as they dared, received 
him most cordially, an indication that we are gaining their confi­
dence. It is hoped in a few years those living in and close to the 
Control Area will be as amenable to orders as those in the fully admini!l­
itered area. Mr. Calvert is confident that -this tour did a great deal 
in that direction." ' 

In this year the formation of a "Cuntro} Area" to the north of 
Pasighat was sanctioned in the Government of India's letter No.F.-45-
X/37, dated the 13th January 1938. This was the outcome of a COIl­

ference held in 1936, the immediate purpose of which was to take 
measures for the abolition of, slavery in unadministered areas, and 
final proposals. were submitted to the Government of India in the 
Assam Governor'a letter No.2762-G.S.,* dated the 11th Novemprf 
1937. It was this ControLArea which, was subsequently extended in 
1941 by. virtue of the Government pf India'S. letter No.121-X/4l, 
dated the 20th May 1941. (Se, page below). , 

In 1'938 'the Political Officer, Mr. Godfrey, reported, to Govern~ 
ment on the subject of the annual incursion by Tibetan officials into 
the \7i11ages aJong the Tsangpo as far as Karko which had been going 
on for the-last 20'-years, and which was stated. to be getting yearly 
more of a burden. These officials levied taxes and took forced Jabour 
from both Memba and Abor villages south of the McMahon line, 
treated the villagers with great cruelty, and told them thry were 
Tibetan subjects. Subsequent information showed that Karko had 

• C : I -
• Governor's Secfetariat, Tribal, A, March 1941, NOB.42·98. 
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instituted a tr~de block prevenqng trade up or downJo .go, pa~t, t~em. 
It was then recommended to the Government of India in Assam 
letter No.5474-G.S., dated the 31st December 1938 that the Political 
Officer should himself pay a visit to this area, and this was agreed to. 
Mr. Godfrey left· Sadiya . with Mr. J. H. F, Williams, Assistant 
P-olitical Officer, Pasighat, and'an escort of 45 Assam Rifles on the ?6th 
February 1939, and was back there on the 31st March 1939. The 
objects which he set befofe him were-

"I. To as('.ertain the position ~ reg~rds Tibetan' ·infi.ur~ti<5n and 
oppression south of the McMahon Line. 

II. To attempt to remov~ "trade blocks"'imposed by certain of 
the Abor clans on the 'main trade routes to Tibet and the plams Q~ 
either side ofthe Siang -Valley. 

III. '1;0 s~tle inter-tribal d,isplltes,betweeIt the main AQorl clans 
the Padam, Pangi, Minyong and Karko, whicl} of recent ,years h~v~ 
become aggravated and which in the a,bse~ce of an t"arly p~a~efut 
settlement it was feared would again lead to bloodshed. 

In,addition the opportllIlity was to be taken to carry out a rough 
survey of this area, which had not been visited since 1913, with -a view' 
to ascertain, the prevalence or- otherwise 'of tuberculosis and' O'tnet 
deseases. " 

His 32 days' tour covered a total distance of over 2~O lI1iles, 
took him through the heart of the ,Minyong country up' the Siang., or 
Tsangpo Valley from Pasighat and brought him into contact ',Witll 
villages. north 'of Dosing which had not been visited since the Abor 
Survey Expedition of 1913. He found trade blocks at (1) Riga' 'OIl 

the right bank, who prevented trade fr~m going past them eithe(rlott~ 
or south: '(2) at Karko, abo on the TIght bank who prevented any 
trade going from south to no!,th: (3) at Komkar and Daniroh, 
(Padam) on the left bank who prevented. trade coming down .tc? '.t~e 
south': and (4) at Shimpngon the left bank. who prevented .. ~~avel 
from south to north, He ordered the3e blocks to be rcmov'ed·. lIis 
reception in general was friendly, except from Shimong, w~o;:w~!,e 
inclined to be hostile, but l}e was' convinced that any escort :of less 
than a platoo?- w!'uld be unwise beyond Dosing .. Komsing, or 'D3plr04 

~t ~a~ aPJ>areI;l~ _ from this e,x:p~di~on th~t Tibetan infIuenC;<t 
extended-some 70 mlles south of,the M~:Mahon)line and l th~t, th~ ,pig 
villages. of Sh~ong and, Karko haer recen~ly be~1\ pay~ng, tribute. to 
Tibetan officlals. It wa$, recpIpmepd~d that the whole pqsippn 
neede(rr~view; while as regar~s trade blocks it was pointed qu~ that 
to. enforce their removal~ a c:old ,wql.ther outpost would, j~e requil',ed. 
, . In letter No.3729-G.s .. ,.~ dated:, the 24th October 1939, ) th~ 
Gov.efnrq~t; of Ass~ proposed on the basis of th~ Political 01pc~'s 
repot;t tAat.Qutposts.shoul<~ be c::st4blished at Karko a,n<;i Riga in ,tpe. 
Upper.Siang, Valley, at, the, ,beginning of the; cold, we~ther, o( '19~O$ 
being withd.r.a.W.ll. .the 'following, April, a proposal with which the 
Political Officer in Sikim,. ':agreed .. ·T.he GovernmentIof In<:tia 

Governor's Secretariat. Tribal, A, June 1940;Nos.199-330. 
• Governor's Secretariat, File No.G.S.-768 of 1940. 
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agreed in their letter of the 30th August 1940.* The outposts were 
put out under the direction of Mr. J H. F. Williams I.P. the 
Assistant Political Officer, Pasighat in March 1941. 

In April 1940t Mr. Godfrey made an extensive tour up the 
Siyom Valley on the south, or right, bank of the Siyom 
through the north-east unadministered Gallong country which had 
not been visited since the Survey operation of 1912-13. The main 
purpose of the tour was to settle a serious land ;lispute between the 
Minyong and Gallong Ab ors \\;ho were on the verge of hostilitirs A 
boundary was fixed and peace assured. 

In reviewing the effects of the action taken in the season 19 to-41 
in the upper reaches of the Siang, the Governor of Assam explc&sl'd 
the opinion (letter No.1439-G.S.,* d~ted the 22nd March 1941) after 
discussion with the Polit1cal Officers, both of Sikim and of Sadiya, 
that progress had been made towards the pacification of this area, tb,tt 
feuds had been checked, trade routes opened, and our abhorrence of 
slavery impressed on the inhabitants. Success in preven ting the 
illegal exactions by the Tempo officials had not been so great, inas­
much as the Memba tax-collecting parties came down as before imme­
diately after Mr. Williams' departure and exacted tribute from Gette 
and Simong. His recommendations as to the next step were as 
follows. 

"5. In His Excellency's opinion matters cannot be allowed to rest 
in this condition, and he considers that the time has come to follow lip 
the partial success of this year by extending our protection up hoth 
banks of the river. From Karko northwards to Tuting inclusive on the 
West Bank and similarly from Simong northwards to Jido inclusive nn 
the East Bank the villages are Abor and owe allegiance to the powelful 
parent villages of Karko and Simong. North of Tuting and Jido 
there are a few small villages of Bhutanese origin akin to the viUages 
in the valley on the Tibet side of the frontier. Two alternatives 
appear to be possible. We can either consider the Abor villages only 
and leave the Bhutanese villages further North to their fate, or we can 
consolidate our position right up to the Tibetan frontier on the 
McMahon Line. His Excellency favours the latter alternative, seeing 
that to stop short of the Bhutanese villages might appear to imply 
relinquishment of our claim to the territory they occupy. This alter­
native, as the Political Officer in Sikkim has pointed out in discussiun, 
has the following definite advahtages ; the Tibetan Government would 
soon thus realise that we intend to exercise control up to the McMahon 
Line and no further; the pre~ence of people of the same race on either 
side of the frontier is likely to prove as advantageous as at other places 
on the North-East and North-West Frontier; and the relationship of 
Bhutanese on our side of the frontier to Bhutanese on Tibet side would 
tend to facilitate intelligence wOFk. His Excellency further consiJel S 

that the best method of establishing .our counter-influence over these 

• Governor's Secretariat File No.G.S-1l59 of 1940 
t General Administration Report of the Sadiya Frontit"r Tract for the redl 

1940·41. 
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villages would by extending to include them the control area approved 
in your letter No-. F.45-XJ37, dated the ]3th January .1938. The 
Political Officer, Sadiya Frontier Tract, is satisfied that if this be done 
he will be able gradually to stiffen their resistance to illegal e~actions. 

6. 1 am to. request the approval of the Government of India to 
the proposals to re·establish the outpo~ts in the Upper Siang valley 
next cold weather and to extend the control area as indicated above, 
the Political Officer being permitted to tour with an escort up to the 
Tibetan frontier for the purpose of ensuring that his orders of this cold 
weather to the Abors have been duly carried out. of investigating 
suitable boundaries for the extension of the control area and of in­
forming the villagers that they are under no obligation to comply with 
the demands of tax-gatherers coming down from the North." 

The Government of In<\ia sanctioned the "proposed ~xtension of 
the ('.ontrol Area of the Poll tical Officer, Sadiya Frontier Tract, up to 
the McMahon Line in the Siang Valley" as suggested in the above 
extract, on the understanding that no additional expenditure was incur­
red, in their letter No. F.121-Xf41, * dated the 20th May 1941. 

:Further correspondence ensued in order to elucidate certain points, 
and the Government of India were again addressed in Assam letter 
No.5360-G.S.,· dated the 9th September 1941 as follows. 

" .........•.. the Political Officer, Sadiya Frontier Tract, will, in the 
Upper Siang Valley, come in contact with the following :-

(a) A large number of Abor villages, who are not Buddhist and to 
whom the revenues of the Sera Monastery are of no concern. 

(b) A small group Of .Bhutia villages inhabited by Buddhists at the 
farther end of the new Control Area. These Bhutias ..trade in Tibet 
and have probably always contributed to monastic revenues. 

(e) The Tempo officials on their tax-collecting tour. 
The attitude which His Excellency considers the Political Officer 

should adopt toward'i the persons in each of these categories is sligh~y 
different. 

(a) To the Abor villagers he considers that the Political Officer 
should say that they are under no obligation to pay anything to the 
Tempo officials) aqd that they may tell the Tempo officials so; if the 
Tempo officials after this warning pelSist in their demands the Abor 
villages should send word down ~o the Political Officer. ' 

(b) To the Bhutias His Excellency considers that the Political 
Officer should be authorised to give the same assurance, adding that 
we have no intention of interfering .f they wish to subscribe to purely 
monastic funds in Tibet. 

(e) If the Political Officer meets the Tempo officials His Excellency 
considers that he should inform them that they are within a British 
control area, where no exactions of taxes other than such as may be 
imposed by the British Government are permissible; but if they 
claim any rights to exact monastic dues he will report that claim to his 
Government for orders, pending which none should be collected. 

*Governor's Secretariat FIle No. G.S.-lIS9 of 1940. 
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These"proposals have'the cO'ncurtehce' of 'the Political Officer in 
Sikkim. The orders of 'the Govetnment or India on 'them are 
solicited. 

2. His Excellency considers that the Political Officer should be 
careful to say nothing to the villages in the Control Area which 
might be taken to imply thaeimmediate and' effective protection will 
be forthcoming. Protection, His Excellency considers, must certainly 
come about at some time or other, either by the exercise of their autho­
rity by the Tibetan Governmeht or by the establishment of post q , but, 
taking into consideration the delays in coirespondence and the distance 
involved, that protection cannot immediately be effective. 

3 If these incursions from north of the McMahon Line do nut 
cease it may be necessary at some future date to establish one or more 
additional outposts further up the Valley, but the expenditure involved 
is not likely to be large." 

The Government of India concurred in these views in their letter 
No. F.121.X/41, dated the the 2nd Octobel'l 1941. 

The post at Riga and Karko were put out afresh by Mr. Williams, 
accompanied by C~ptain G. A. E. Keene and an escort of Assam 
Rifles. They had difficulty with Riga at first, that village having 
apparently thought that our people had come to take sides with them 
in their old quarrel wi.h Karko and being correspondingly dissatisfied 
when they found they were mistaken. A firm attitude and the 
exercise of &ome judicious pressure, however, made them change their 
attitude. 

The Governot of Assam paid a visit to this region in December 
1941. His tou!' had unfortunately to be cut short as tpe outbreak of 
war with Japan neces.~itated his return to headquarters, but he went up 
as far as Pangin, 4 marches up the Siang Valley from Pasighat. He 
met 370 representing 75 villages, both Padam, Gallong, Minyong and 
Pang~i. and including such important ones as Karko, Riga, Pangin, 
Dosing, Rotung, Kembang, Komsing and Damro. Their attitude W,IS 

throughout friendly, and His Excellency impressed upon them the 
necessity of refraining from the practice ot slavery, from milllan-raiding, 
arid from maintaining tradeblocks: as aisl. the fact that they were 
under no necessity to accede to the demands of the Mombas. 

XI. The Rima Road again.-The nature and quality of our s}stcm 
of intelligence on the North-East Frontier was reopened in 1936, at the 
instance of the then Governor-General and, as regards this side of the 
Frontier, the Governor of Assam in his letter No. 1704-G.S., dated the 
1st September 1937 to the Government of India ret'Ommended that 
the Lohit Valley Road up to the International Boundary near Rima 
should be reopened, as the best means-of improving our system of in-
telligence. He thought that ..... . 

"3. The advantages likely to accrue from the reopening of the 
road are great. His Excellency is advised that were a road passable 
for ponies to be maintained as far as the International Boundary the 
Tibetan Government would undoubtedly keep the road between Rima 
and the Boundary open. By this means the great wool-producing 
areas of Eastern Tibet would be taI;>ped and the trade fwm them 
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brought down to Sadiya and thence to the Assam·Bengal Railway or 
the Brahmaputra steamer service. With the Assam end of the road 
emerging in the tea-growing districts there win be every inducement 
for planters to produce leaf and brick tea suitable to Tibetan taste, 
anq a valuable return trade could be expected to develop. It would 
not indeed be unduly optimistic to anticipate that the road might 
wen become one of the greatest trade routes across the Indian Frontier, 
and with the trade a constant stream of information can be expected 
to reach us. 

4. A subsidiary, but not unimportant, result of the reopening of 
the road would be a tightening of our hold on the tribes through which 
it passes; with increased opportunities for the gradual suppression of 
slavery to which the Government of India is committed." 

The project was, however~ for the time being dropped, the Govern­
ment of India stating that t!ley had come to the conclusion that there 
was "Httle probability that any material advantages were to be expect­
{d either from the the commercial or strategical point of view in case 
he road v. ere reopened up to Rima." 

The matter however was not lost sight of, and our information of 
conditions in these regions was greatly increased by the visit which 
Mr. Godfrey, the Political Officer, made there in 1940. As he wrote 
in his annual report for 1939-40. 

"For the first time m twenty-six years a visit was paid by the 
Political Officer to Rima. I spent a week at Rima in January and 
established friendly relations with local officials and residents. I was 
received with great hospitaJity. Both the people at Rima and also 
traders from Kham and the country bordering ·on China are all very 
anxious that we complete the mule track as far as Rima. They point 
out that a gre,at deal of the trade now diverted to Sikkim would come 
straight down the Lohit to Sadiya, ajoumey eight times shorter and 
far more safe." . 
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I. Int,oductory.-Mackenzie deals with the Dumas and Akas under 
those headings at pages 21-32 of his work. The last incident which he 
mentions as regards the former is the sending of a military force into 

the Hills in 1874-75, after which, up to the date at which his narra­
tive leaves oft they had given no trouble. 

As.regards the Akas, the last entry in Mackenzie is a. reference to 
the DufHa "the first Aka raid since our early connection with the tribe 
and our first expedition into their hills". This was in 1883-4. 

2. The district known since 1919 as the Balipara Frontier Tract 
was formed in 1913, under the title of 'Western Section of the NortQ­
East Frontier" with Captain G. A. Nevill, of the Indian Police, who 
was to remain there for some 17 years, as its first Political Officer. 
Previous to that the Deputy Commissioner of Darrang had been 
charged with the duty of maintaining relations with the hill trihes on 
this border. The change came about at the same time as the "Cen­
tral and Eastern Sections of the North-East Frontier", the present 
Sadiya Frontier Tract, were placed under a separate officer as a 
consequence of the events of 1911-1912 and the review of our arrange­
ments on the North-East Frontier to which they led. 

II. The Aka Expedition of 1883-1884.-On 10th November 1881 
occurred the raid on Balipara referred to in the concluding sentence 
at page 26 of Mackenzie, when a party of about 100 Akas headed by 
Charidi, brother of Medhi Raja, carried off as captives the clerk of 
the forest office, the fore_.t ranger, and 2 guns. 

This incident was connected with events which occurred in the 
previous October and the -causes which led the Akas to act as they 
did are set forth in paragraphs 7-9 of Captain H St. P. Maxwell's 
·report on the Expedition There was an old grievance as regards 
the boundary between us and them, going back to 1873. As Max­
well says-

c'The demarcation of the boundary, and the gazetting of the 
forests as forest reserves, at once precluded them from following their 
usual pursuits as regards this tract of country; and for the purposes 
of hunting the most valuable preserves lie at the foot of the hills. 
Whatever th«$ grievance may be worth, it is certain, I think, that in 
the savage mind a grievance did exist, and an experience of hill tribes 
teaches me that a "land" grievance is the most deeply rooted of all 
grievances and is next to impossible to smooth. 

S. The tract of country included in the boundary lies in the BaIi­
para mauza, of which the mauzadar or head revenue official was 
Babu Lakhidhar Kolita This officer had held charge for nearly 
fourteen years, and when the boundary was surveyed, and later on 
when the demarcation followed, he accompanied the Government 
officers. True to his salt he naturally would include in his fiscal 
charge as much land as possible and thus throw back the boundary as 
near the hiIIs as feasible. 

·Assam Secretariat, Judicial Department, File No.1I6.J. of 1884, NIlS.I-26. 
Military Report on Assam-1908. 
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The Akas would' of course conclude the fountain .. head of their 
grievance to be Lakhidhar, and'it is well ioo'Wn at Balipara that the 
tribe has for many years showed much ilt-feeling- towards him and has 
frequently threatened him with reprisals. 

This ill-feeling has also extended to the Forest Department, on 
which has fallen the duty to strictly enforce the: forest rules in the 
reserves. 

When the District Officer of Darrang was asked- to' collect some 
exhibits for the Calcutta Exhibition, Lakhidha con&-ented to visit the 
Aka changs for the purpose. By persons most intimate with his rela­
tions with the tribe he was strongly advised Dot to undertake the duty. 

This ~ounsel he overruled, and as. mentioned- in paragra.ph 12 
of this report, .he in due course started fot' the bills. 

On his arrival at the Kapaschor vilfages, the meetings of the 
Akas and their after-conduct clearly shows that the opportunity to 
punish Lakhidhar was at once seized. 

* * • 
"The true reason for seizing Lakhidhar mUllt be that the Akas 

were of opinion that he materially assisted hr' ottstiTlg them from the 
land to which they considered the'Illselves' entftled." 

Thus it was that when in October Lakhi€l~r reached Medhi's 
village, he and his party were detained.. Eventually all except Lakhi­
dar himself and his servant were sent back witli a message from Medhi 
to say he would see the sahibs after a certain interval. This party 
arrived ba€k OR the 15th November, 5 d-ays after the outrage at 
Balipara. 

Mr. Elliott, the Chief Commissioner, recommended to the Govern­
ment of India in his letter No.38-T 0, * dated the 26th November 1883, 
that a small military expedition should be sent to punish the offenders, 
unless the captives were restored, His letter rec01mts the previous his­
tory of our dealings with these people since 182'9, and explains how 
Medhi was a powerful chief of the Kapaschors and had been in cons­
tant and generally friendly touch with the Deputy Commissioner for 
many years~ though there had been a long. standing dispute about 
boundaries. Since 1848 the Kapaschors hl:td been in receipt of an 
annual posa of Rs.520. They were a smalf clan, numbering according 
to Maxwell; only about 510' souls, of whom only 100 would be fighting 
men. 

Early in December information wes received, that Lakhidhar had 
died in captivity. This information came in a letter wri tten by one 
of. the Bengali captives accompanied by a number of preposterous 
demands for restoration of territory. It was proved subsequently that 
no violence was used on him, though no doubt his end was hastened 
by the circumstances of his captivity. 

-Assam Secretariat, Judicial Department File No.lS4.-J of 1883, No,. J-IO. 
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011 27th November the Viceroy approved of the proposed expedi­
tiop. Brigadier-General Sale Hill, p. n., was in charge of the 
operations from his base at Dijumukh. Captain H. St. P. Maxwell, 
Dep\lty _COQlmi~sjo.ner Df the Garo Hilb (who was later to .be cons­
picuous in Manipur) was Political Officer with the force. llis instruc­
tions were to rescue the captives: punish the leaders of the raid: and 
generally to redlI(::e the Akas to submission. The force included both 
military and police. The bter consisted of 290 Frontier Police drawn 
from Dibrugarh, the Garo Hills, Sibsagar and Darrang, under the 
command Qf 'Mr. W. B. Savi, and Lieutenant E. H. Molesworth. 
The fonner included S71_officers and men of ,the 43rcl N. I. from 
ShilLong. 210 of :the 12th Khelaw-Ghilzais from ·Cachar, 2 mountain 
guns And a party of Sappers. 

On 17th December' a flying column of 150 rifles of the 43rd Assa m 
Light blfantry and 50 of the Dibrugarh Corps of the Assam Frontier 
Police under Major Beresford of the 43rd started for Medhi's "mage. 

Negotiations were attempted fr:.om the 19th December when the 
force reac:;hed the Maj Bhareli, but without success, and on the 23rd 
night th~ Akas who were a.ss~ted by many Mijis. who live to the 
.North of the ~paschoJ:S, carried out a surprise attack.on the 'British 
camp which was drivcl1 off with a loss of 32 m~ to them, and 2 dead 
and 6 wounded and 2 rifles lost on OlIr side. On the 27th they met 
with re~istance in attempting to cross the Tenga which lay between 
them ~nd Mec;lhi's village and had to faU back on their previous 
camp. One sepoy* was shot and one died from a wound from a 
poisoned ~rrow: Reinforcements now beg-an to. arrive and the 
General himself and his staff reached the camp en 5th January. 'On 
the 8th January 1884 the advance began; the Akas were easily dis­
persed ; Medhi's village -was occupied: and -the enemy disappeared 
from view. The Chiefs, however, did not come in. GeneralHiIl ,was 
anxious to evacuate the country, and this took plat:e on 21st to. 23rd 
January witho.ut 'Contact having been made 'with fhe Chiefs. Maxwell, 
judging from paragraph 22 ofms report, seems ,to have been satisiied 
with this decision. He says. 

"The country h~d be~n well J;urveyed by the survey officers, and a 
further il1duc~:r;nent to le~ve tht: hills lloon was contained in the fact 
~t *lm~s among t~ trPQ,PS bad broken oqt at an alarming rate. 

* * * * 
"23. As regards the objects of the expedition, the results were­
The surrender oLthe captives; 
The restoration of fill JiTe~rlPs take.n by .the Akas ; 
A fine of 10 mithan, 'Valued between Rs. 100 and Rs. 1,900 ; 
A great loss to the enelPY in live-stock, c~msisting of pigs, goats 

and fowls; _ 
Destruclion of much grain. 

• Asaaui Sea«tariat~ Judicial Dep~ment. File No. U6-j. of 1884. Nos. 1-26. 
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And to show the displeasure of the Government towards the ring­
leaders of the BaIipara raid, the houses of Chandi, Naloo and Kota 
were burnt to the ground. These houses were substantially cons­
tructed of planked sides and flooring about 120 feet long and valued 
at Rs. 400 each." 

Reviewing these results, however, the Chief Comm.issioner was 
not so well satisfied and wrote as follows in his letter No. 167-T.,. dated 
the 7th February 1884. 

"3. The Chief Commissioner considers that the expedition has, 
on the whole, been decidedly successful from a military point of view, 
the repulse of the midnight attack on the Maj Bhoroli ca mp on the 
23rd DeceI9-ber (where, as Captain Maxwell was afterwards 
informed by the Hazarikhoas, the assailants lost 32 men) and the cross­
ing of the Tengapani (In the 8th January were creditable, and even 
brilliant feats of arms, and showed a spirit, dash, and di'3cipline 
among the troops, which are highly praiseworthy. From the politi­
cal point of view, tht> punishment of the Akas has been severe. They 
have lost largely in grain and small live-stock, and ten of their mithan, 
valued at Rs. 1,000, have been killed. They have shown how 
thoroughly they feel their defeat by giving up the captives, the guns, 
rifles, and bayonets, without any conditions whatever, and by not 
venturing to attack the force during its return. 

4. At the same time, the Chief Commissioner is hound to say 
that the political success would have been more complete if the' force 
had remained longer in the hills and if more time had been allowed 
for the chiefs to come in. In the instructions given to the Political 
Officer, the terms of which were discussed by the Chief Commi~sioner 
with Genel al Hill and agreed to by him, great stress was laid on the 
importance of inducing them to do so. It was part of the programme 
settled on between the Chief Commissioner and the General Officer 
in command that the troops should not retire hastily ...... the surrender 
and appearance of the chiefs was an object of the highest importance, 
and, inasmuch as the Political Officer considered that in all proba­
bility they would come in as soon as they had mastered their fear, 
in the space of a week or ten days, the Chief Commissioner would 
have wished that the force, or a part of it, should have remained 
longer on the spot. As long as they were there, and could hold out 
the threat of destroying their houses if submission was withheld, the 
chiefs had an i~centive for coming in, which is now removed 

5. Mr. E11iott has the more regret in recording his disappointment 
regarding this one point, because in every other respect he considers 
General HiJPs management of the expedition to have been highly 
praiseworthy and successful; and he ventures to think that the Gov­
ernment of India may be congratulated on the proof which the Aka 
Hills Expedition has given of the efficiency with which the mHitary 
force on tht" North Eastern Frontier is able to overcome the hostility 
of a savage tribe and the difficulties of a mountainous country". 

----- ------ - - - - -- ---- - - ----- ---

·As~am Secretariat, Judicial Department, File No. 116-J. of 1884, N08.1.26. 
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He proposed the folloWing steps for the "further reduction of the 
Akas. 

"I. Unless Medhi and the other Aka Chiefs come down and make 
submission, no Kapaschor Akas win be admitted into British teuitory, 
a~d, if found anywnere, they will be arrested. 

* * * * 
III. They will be required-

(a) to bring in the prismatic compass stolen from the Forest 
Office, which they are known still to possess ; 

(b) to restore the money taken from Lakhidar, from the forester, 
and the opium shop at Balipara. 

(e) to make a written submission, acknowledging their error ill 
raiding on Balipara and in detaimng Lakhidar, and with~ 
drawing all~claim to any land south of the boundary 
pillars set up in 1873~75. 

IV. On their doing this, their submission will be accepted, and 
the order forbidding any Akas to enter Or trade in British territory 
will be withdrawn. 

* * • • 
VI. The po!a will not be given them till the year after next, i.,., 

January 1886, and only then if the conduct of the trIbe has been per:­
feetly peaceful. \'\llen it is restored it will b~ distributed by name ~o 
the respective chiefs, and will in future only be given into the han.ds 
of those chiefs, his own ·share to each, on their appearing and present-
ing an article of tribute ..... . 

VII. It will be a further condition that the road which has this 
yeal'" been cut from Balukpung via Dijumukh shall be kept open by the 
Forest Department to the Balipara stockade, and that the Kapaschor 
Akas shall u~e that road alone when they come down for posa or any 
other purpose, and shall present themselves at the stockade, give up their 
weapons and receive a pass which they shall give in again when they 
return to the hills. A date will be fixed, corresponding to the 1st 
December, as the earliest date on which they are alJowed to come 
down, and a Kotoki win. ordinarily be sent to accompany them 
down". 

To these proposals the Oovernment of India agreed. The princi­
pal action taken to bring about the submission of these Akas was a 
blockade which was instituted. immediately after the Expedition re~ 
tired. This was not lifted until January 1888, when Medhi and 
Chandi appearfd before Colonel Campbell, the Deputy Commissioner 
of Darr3:ng, ~nd made thei! Imbmissiol). As the AnI;lu:;t1 AdmiJ?istra­
tion Report for 1887-88 states. "The compass taken has been res~ 
tored, the value of the prope~ty looted paid, and written agreements 
in the terms prescribed py Sir .Charles Elliot,t ~ecl!te<;l) by which tl),~ 
chiefs have sworn to abide. The blockade against the tribes has beeJ,1 
raised, but they will not get pasa for two years, and OJ;aly then if they 
have condu<'ted themselves well". 

It is noticeable that the author of this Report refers in paragraph 
2 of the General Summary to "the abortive expedition of 1883" 

Assam Admini~tratioD Report for 1887-88 
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III. The Apa Tanang Expedition of 1897.-0n the ?th November 
1896, a Tarbotia Miri, Podu by name, and his step son, Tapak, were 
murdered near Mr. H. M. Crowe's tea garden at Kodom, within the 
Inner Line, and four of his hou,>ehold taken captive. The Deputy Com­
missioner (Mr. F. C. Henniker, I.e.s.,) was satisfied on circumstantial 
grounds that the offenders were Apa Tanangs, or "Anka Mids" as, 
according to the report, some people termed them, and he recom­
mended the immediate obtaining of san(~tion to a punitive expedition 
The Chief Commissioner supported this proposal in writing to the 
Government of India in his letter No. 32-T, dated the 6th January 
1897 and said that a force of 200 Military Police would suffice, tlw Apa 
Tanangs being CCa small and not very warlike tribe". (This \\aq 

raised to 300 subsequently on the advice of General R. M. Jennings, 
General Offi.cer Commanding, Assam). It was proposed to scnd Mr. 
R. B. McCabe, I.e.s., by now Inspector-General 01 Police, as the 
Political Officer to the Expedition in view of his great expel knce in 
such campaigns. The Government of India agreed. 

The force consisted of 300 men of the Lakhimpur MilitalY 
Police B~ttalion, under Captain G. R. Row, their Commandant, and 
Ueutenant H. F. Norie, of the 42nd Gurkha Rifles while Surge on­
Lieutenant A. Leventon, I.M.S., was the Medical Officer, and Mr. E. 
Muspratt, Superintendent of Police, was Transport Officer. Actually 
only 120 men completed the march to Hong. Transport problems 
compelled the reduction of the force to a minimum, nor were more 
indeed necessary. A start was made on the 3rd February 1897, when 
the force moved to Camp No.1 on the Ranga River. On the lIth 
Febl uary they crossed a high range called Lui at 8,000 fef"t and dt's­
cended to camp at 4,000 feet near Silli, a Duma village. On the 14th 
they crossed the Pobo range at 6,800 feet and that afternoon reached 
the southern extremity of the Apa Tanang country. Mr. McCabe 
wrote, "The sight is one I shall never forget, as we suddenly emerged 
on a magnificent plateau some ten miles in length, laid out in highly 
cultivated and artificially irrigated terraces wel1 watered by the Kali 
rh.·er, a sluggish stream some 4S to 60 feet in breadth, with low alluvial 
banks. The valley was dotted with isolated,hillocks, and low pine-dad 
spun ran here and there into the valley from the Eastern ranges. No 
crops were on the ground, but the stalks gave ample evidence of the 
beautiful character of the recent paddy harvest. Our hearts w,umed 
at the sight of primroses, violets, wild currants, strawberries and 
raspberries, and I felt disposed to almost believe some of the wonderful 
stories we had heard of the fabulous wealth of this country." 

They marched into Hong that day, being threatened with opposi­
tion all the time, in which however there was not much real sting. 
McCabe explained it thus-"Unless lhe Hong men had shown by 
every possible means that our presence was unwelcome, their neighhoUl S 

would have turned on them afterwards and accused them of ha\ ing 
invited us into the country." Next day after much discussion the Apa 
Tanangs were induced to hand over the three captives as well as 
Mr. Crowe's gun which had been taken in the raid fiom Podu's hO\lsf' . 

Assam Secretariat, Foreign, A, November 1897, Nos. 15-104. 
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.. 
McCabe was satisfied that the Apa Tanangs had had a well-founded 
grievance against Podu on many scores. The punishment he decided 
on was a somewhat oblique one. He considered that the only form of 
fine, one of 11lithatl, was unsuitable on a number of grounds, and there­
fore he took the following course. The Apa Tanangs had in the pre­
vious October raided a Duma village, Tara's and carried off' six cap­
tives and a gun, all of which were in Hong. He ordl'!r-::c these to be 
restored, thereby, as he succinctly put it, discovering "a means at 
hand by which I could do him [Tara] a good turn, assist the cause of 
humanity, and at the same time inflict a punishment on the Apa 
Tanangs which would touch both their pockets and their amout propre." 
On the 17th February the force started on its homeward journey, and 
McCabe was back at North Lakhimpur on the 21st, the whole expedi­
tion having occupied o.nly 18 days. 

Mr. McCabe's observations on tbe Apa Tanang country deserve 
reproduction. 

"19 .......... 1 take the opportunity of recording my impressions of 
the Apa Tanangs and comparing them with the information previously 
recorded. fhe first mention I find made of the Apa Tanangs is in 
Major Graham's report on the DaBa Expedition of 1874-75. In 
describing the survey operations undertaken by Lieutenant Harman, 
he writes:-

'To the north, far up the Ranga, could be seen the plains of the Apa 
Tanang Abor country, a race held in much dread by the Dallas of the 
Ranga valley. These Abors seldom or never visit the plains, and from 
the fact of their trading in rock salt and swords, such as are made by 
the Tibetans, are evidently in communication with Tibet. The peop Ie 
of the Ranga valley state that the Apa Tanang Abol1S have bullocks 
and ploughs, that they have made roads about 4 feet wide, and that 
they had at least one stone building in which they place the skulls of 
their enemies. They do not intermarry with the Abor Daflas of the 
Ranga Valley, <..nd are evidently quite independent of the plains either 
as regards food, clothing, iron or salt ......... 1 think it will be found 
sooner or later that the Apa Tanang Abors, if not actually subordinate 
to Tibet at least are in a measure under its influence. As regards 
their strength, all that can be said is that the Ranga valley people fear 
them and describe them as a very powerful people ........ I have often 
been asked-what is an Abor, and what is a DaBa? The Abor Daflas 
ex.press themselves as q'.lite unable to understand the language of the 
Apa Tanang Abors ......... The Abors proper I take to be Apa Tanang 
Abors, while Abor Dafla would appear to be the fitting nomenclature 
for the tribes residing North of the Dikrang and in the Ranga \ alley. 

In the report on the North-East Frontier of India, 1883, I find the 
following remarks :-

'It appears probable that a force marching straight for the villages 
of the North~ We'lt comer of the Ranga valley would find abundant 
supplies in the Apa Tanang villages; for we are told. on rdiable 
evidence, that they possess large stone-built granaries, and we know 
from actual observation that their country is pighly cultivated.' 
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Again, in the revised Dafla report it is not(':d :-
C A group of villages in the North-West corner of the Ranga valley, 

called Apa Tanang, consists of Takav's village called Cheng Hong, 60 
houses; Rikom's 60, Apa Tanang' 150, and two or three other very 
small villages. Their total population is about 3,000 souls. 

'Comparing them with Daflas the Apa Tanang are smaller and 
rather darker men. Some of them are tatooed like naflas, and they 
wear cane helmets of the same shape. 

The revised Miri report gives a condensed account of Mr. Crowe's 
and Captain Dunne's description of this tribe. I fully agree with 
much tbat they have said, but have to dissent on one or two impOl tclnt 
points, viz., the names and location of the villages Hnd tht" tribe to 
which the Apa Tanangs bear the closest affinity. 

20. My impressions have been derived from personal observation 
and from information received from the Apa Tanangs themselves and 
from Daflas who had resided for a long time in the Apa Tanang 
country. The first point to which I would call attention is that the 
name "Apa Tanang" 1S a complete misnomer. Thrvughout the 
Expedition I never onCe heard this name used by a single Miri or 
DaBa; the tribe W(1.S referred to only by the names of Ankas, Apas 
and Akas, the first name being that in most common use. Captain 
Dunne agrees with me that these people are best described under the 
name of" Ankas", but goes on to state that they are more allied to the 
Miris than to the Daflas. I totally dingree with this last dictum. I 
had the opportunity of seeing plains Daflas, Abor DaBa,> and Mitis, 
side by side with the Apa Tanangs, and while the latLer differed most 
markedly from the Miris they bore a most striking resemblance to thl" 
Daflas. The principal points of difference are :-

1st-They wear no cane helmets. 
2nd-They carry no bows and quiver. 
3rd-They wear a tail. 
4th-Their cloths are of distinct patterns. 
5th-They tatoo their faces differently. 

The Miris did not seem to be able to make themselves understood 
by the Apa Tanangs, while I noticed that my Dafla coolies chatted 
away with them without hesitating for a word, and as far as I could 
judge thl!Y appeared to be speaking one and the same language. I 
have no hesitation in concluding that the Apa Tanangs are merely a 
tribe of Abor Daflas who have developed a few distinguishing charac­
teristicsli'om thelr'isolation and from the special ppysical features of 
the country they inhabit. They are somewhat smaller and of less 
robust build than the DaHas, but this is easily accounted for by the fact 
that while the latter have to cultivate steep, sterile mountain sides, the 
former are favoured w<th a fertile, level, well-watered plateau yidding 
a maximum Qutturn for a minimum of labour. The male Apa 
Tanang only tattoos below the mouth; a horizontal line is drawn 
across the under lip, and ~traight Hnes are drawn downwards from it to 
the poin~ of the chin. The WOlPen are tattooed with bro~d Llu~ lilies 
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from the top of the forehead to the tip of the nose, and from the lower 
lip to the base of the chin. To add to their original ugliness thf'y wear 
wooden ph,lgs inserted in the sides of the nostrils, expanding the nose 
right aCross the face. Both the Daflas and the Apa Tanangs wear 
strips of cane around the waist, but the latter specially distinguish 
themselves by the addition of a tail. This tail i$ made of loosely plait. 
ed strips of cane dyed red, and gives the wearer a most ludicrous 
appearance. In reply to my enquiries as to the meaning of this 
appen4age I recdved nothing but the stereotyped answer-"Our 
fathers wore it, and so do we". It must be left to some scienti~t to 
determine whether it is used as a portable cane chair, or for the sake 
of decency, or again perhaps with the idea of inspiring awe in their 
enemies. I would d~cribe the Apa Tanangs generally as a "timid, 
good-natured, jndustr~ous and loquaciou'l people far inferior in pluck 
ard physique to the Hill Miris". It would be interesting to ascertain 
the sources of information from which previous reports on this tribe, 
were derived. There are no four-feet wide rOClds, no stone granaries, 
and no bullocks and ploughs. The Apa Tanangs only possess a few 
hoes which they obtained through the Daflas, most of the work of tiU­
ing the land being done with sharpened bamboos. Each village has 
its granaries built outside the circuit of houses. These granaries 
consist of small bamboo sheds with roofs, either of thatch or of pine 
shingles, and are usually half hidden in clumps of bamboos. 

21. • * • 
Hong, contaiJ1'J 800 houses. 
Krachi and Kotjp1,l ~e ~mall overflow }l~mlets frop:l HOQg. 
Hari, 2 miles north of Hong, hu 400 houses. 
Hut, 2 mile, north of Hari, has over 1,000 houses. 
Nichebamin, Ii miles-north-:west of JIong, hc:aS 150 Qouses. 
Modut'\fi, 200 hou~es. 
Hija. about 900 to 1,000 houses. 

* 

The houses are very large and commodious I would rdughly 
estimate the total population of this tribe at 15,000. As all the 
villages are within ha.lf a day's journey of one another, .the Apa 
Tanangs can in a few hours concentrate a large 'force ,to repel nay 
invasion, and it is due entirely to this fact that they ~ave been care­
fully let alone by the neighbouring Mins and DaHas. On the other 
hand, their inferiority in arms and physique reduce them to a c~m­
paratively low level as an aggressive power. It is quite po,5sible, any 
even probabl~, t4at thi'J tribe was at pne time in regular communica­
tion with Tibet, and even at the present moment ~ticles of 1 ibetCJn 
manufacture find their way into the country; but from the ~videncl: 
I have collected I feel justified in s~ating that the i~tercourse is' very 
limited, and that Tibet exercises absolutely no autqority in Apa 
Tanang land. The present tendency is to seek trade relations with the 
plains of Assam, and instead of bartering Tibetan rock-salt and 
swords, the Apa Tanangs shows a strong leaning towards salt? hoes and 
daos imported frqm our dis trict of Lakhimpur." 
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The Chief r.ommissioner's opinion was that the Expedition might 
be described as "a complete success." 

IV. The Miri MissiQn.-As part of the general plan of th~ 
Government of India in connection with the North-East Frontier, 
they asked in their telegram No.458-S. of the Pth August 1911 fur the 
views of the Eastern Bengal and Assam Government on a plllposal 
that a mis,>ion similar to the proposed Mishmi Mission should f'xplOl e 
the tribal country between Bhutan and the Dihong river, or the "Hill 
Mid country", as it is referred to in the correspondence. To thl8 the 
Lieutenant-Governor agreed and hi'> proposals were as fuUO\\s (his 
letter No.72-C.P.T.t, dated the 21st August 1911, paragraph 4) 

"4. I am now to discuss what can be done to explore the coulltry 
between the Dihong river and Bhutan. which will not be touched by the 
Abor expedition. The area to be covered is very large and c.lnnot he 
traversed in one cold season. His Honour considers that the best that 
can be done is to despatch a small party with a Surveyor, who should 
be deputed by the Surveyor General, up tbe Subansiri river. lIe 
proposes to place this mission in charge of Mr. Kerwood, Sub­
divisional Officer of North Lakhimpur, who has- some acquaintdnce 
with the Hill Miris. Mr. Kerwood will be given an escort of 75 
men under an experienced Assistant Commandant. Twenty-five r;Oes 
will remain at Dulongmukh, where a depot will be established, while 
Mr. Kerwood with 50 rilles will advance up the Subanshi to the 
Kamala and then turn westward, choosing whatever route seems to be 
most practicable and penetrating as far as possible. The Hi II 1\111 is 
are friendly......... This Mission will probably take two months, a till 
it is hoped that the friendly relations with the Hill Miris will be 
strengthened by it, and that Mr. Kerwood will be able to get into 
touch with the tribes further to the west." 

The Secretary of State agreed to this on condition that the 
Mission could be sent without risk. In their letter No.490-C.C. to 
the Commissioner dated the 5th October 1911* the Eastern Bengal 
and Assam Goverment explained the object of the Mission as follows. 

"2. It is believed that the Hill Miris, whose country immcd ia tely 
borders Indian territory, are friendly, and that there will be no diffi­
culty with these people. No information is, however, available to show 
what the attitude of the more remote villagers will be; and in vit'w 
of the Secretary of State's' orders, th~ Lieutenant-Governor desites to 
impress on Mr. Kerwood the! necessity of advancing with caution. 
He should not hesitate to retire if he finds the country into which he is 
penetrating to be hostile. 

3. The main object of the mission will be to establish frielldly 
relat ons with the tribes and to survey and explore the country in 
order to obtain information which will enable a satisfactory frontier to 
be demarcated between India and Tibetan-Chinese territory. l\.fr. 
Kerwood's route will be up the Subansiri river to the Kamla river 

• Eastern Bengal and Assam Secretariat, PoLitical, A., March 1912, N'IM HII-I'17 
t Eastern Beogal and Assam Secretariat, Political, A., March 1912) Nll~ I. - I III 
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and then northwards or westwards as he may deem most desir.ble. 
It is, however, very important that he should endeavour to get into 
touch with the General Officer Commanding the Abor Expedition 
which will explore and survey the country to the east of that in which 
he will work, so that the results obtained by the two parties may 
he connected. 

4. A copy of a map on which is marked the approximate line of 
frontier proposed by the Government of India will be forwarded in a 
few days' time. It is extremely improbable that Mr. Kerwood will 
succeed in penetrating as far as this line unless he joins hands with the 
General Officer Commanding the Abor Expedition and he should run 
no risks in trying to go so far, but, should he succeed, he should submit 
proposals for a suitable frontier line between India and Tibet. No 
bounda:-y must, however J- be settled on the ground except in cases 
where the recognised limits of the Tibetan-Chinese territory are found 
to conform approximately to the line indicated in the map and to 
follow sucb prominent physical features as are essential for the strategic 
and well-defined frontier line. A Memorandum by the General Staff 
on the subject is annexed and I am to invite special attention to the 
importance of ascertainir.g, as far as possible, the course of the Kamla 
river." 

Besides Mr. Kerwood, the other members of the Mission were-­

Captain A. M. Graham, 5th Gurkha Rifles, Assistant Com-
mandant Military Police, in charge of the Escort ; 

Captain G. A. Nevill, I.P., Transport Officer; 

Lieutenant C. G. Lewis, RoE., in charge of the Survey Party; 

Lieutenant R. S. Wah~b, I.A., Surveys; 

Captain B. O. Duff, Intelligence Officer ; 

Captain A. S. Kirkewood, Supply and Transport. 

The escort numbered some ISO officers and men. The Base 
Camp was formed at Dulangmukh and from there the" party made a 
start on November lIth, 1911. Mr. Kerwood's account is difficult to 
follow, but it seems that unforeseen difficultie sforced them to retrace 
their steps. A fresh start was made early in De ember and on the 6th 
they reached camp at thejunction of the Persen and the Kamla at 
Gocham. Here they encamped for the rest of December and a great 
deal of useful surveying was carrif'd out in hi therto unknown country. 
A party under Captain Duff and Lieutenant Wahab was 
out from 27th December to 9th January and did some useful 
survey work in the Subansiri valley and neighbour hood, their furthest 
point being Muki. At this place they had considerable difficulty in 
avoiding a dash with the ignorant and suspicious villagers, but fortu. 
nately no incident occurred. 

There was a high proportion of sickness, 66 men bei~g at one time 
in hospital at Dulangmukh, mostly cases of dysentery, while the 
damdims gave much trouble. 
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On 13th January 1912 the party reached Chemir advanced camp 
with a view to exploration in the Kamla valley, and here for the first 
time all the British Officers of the Mission met. From here Captain 
Duff and Mr. Wahab explored the Khru valley, the furthest point 
being Takum. The main party went on and reached Sartam on 28th 
January where they halted till 8th February. They then made a 
move northwards. On the 9th they reached the neighbourhood of 
Rugi where they halted for some days. On the 14th February their 
camp at Tali was attached. 3 Miris were shot by Captain Graham 
and the rest soon melted away, between 10 and 20 of the attackers 
being killed. Rugi and Tali were judged guilty of this attack and both 
villages were burnt. 

The return journey commenced early in .\farch, all trans-Kamld 
posts being evacuated on 20th March. The route lay through the 
Apa Tanang and Duma country. The former was reached first and 
Kerwood was evidently as impressed with the beauty of the 
country and the friendliness of its inhabitants as Was McCabe, whose 
report of 1897 he quotes and comments on. Kerwood did not agree 
with McCabe as regards the name of the tribe. He says he found 
the name Apa Tanang frequently used, and held that it or Tanae, a 
variant used by Mids and Dumas, was correct, with Anka a'l a sort 
of nickname. The Janguage he held was distinct from Miri and Duma, 
and he thought this people were distinct in origin from their neigh­
bours. 

On the 16th Marc.h 191~, the party reached Diju Tea Estate and 
by the 16th the whole force had been evacuated. Nearly 1,400 square 
miles of unkn }wn country had been mapped, though it proved im­
p03sible to obtain any definite material for the delimitation of a fron­
tier: the courses of the Khru and the Subansiri had been determined I 
the sites of more than 100 villages had been located and over 70 visi­
ted: the population of the area mapped was estimated at between 
15,000 and 30,000; but fighting strength was held to be very low . 
there was no tribal consciousness, each community or clan living in 
isolation. As regards nomenclature, Mr. Kerwood points out that 
Miri is an Assamese term, and he found it impossible to discover any 
general Tribal name. They themselves referred to themselves as 
"Nyisi" and to the Dumas as "Bodo", While the latter called them­
selves "Nyisi" and the Miris ccChimir." Again 3 clans of these Miris 
who had long been in the habit of visiting the plains called them­
selves Chikam, Peren and Pai, while the Assamese referred to them 
as Tarbotia (users of the land paths), Panibotia (users of the river 
routes) and Sarak. 

As regards Tibetan influence, Tibetan swords, bells and beads 
were to be found in every village. There was no tra~e of Chinese 
influence. 

A note by the Chief of the General Staff which was compiled 
about this time is worth quoting on the subject of Tawang and our 
boundary ther.e in. view of subseq~ent .developments. It says:­

"The. dlre~tlon of the frontler lme about Tawang requires 
careful conslderatlon. The present bounc'ary (demarcated) is south of 
Tawang. running westwards along the foothills from near Udalgud 
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to' the southern Bhutan border, and thus a dangerous wedge of ter­
ritory is thrust in between the Miri country and Bhutan. A compara­
tively easy and much used trade route traverses this wedge from north 
to south, by which the Chinese would be able to exert influence or 
pressure on Bhutan. while we have no approach to this salient from 
a .flank, as we have in the case of the Chumbi salient. rectifica­
tion of the boundary here is therefore imperative, and an ideal line 
would appear to be one from the knot of mountains near Longitude 93°, 
Latitude/28°20, to the Bhutan border north of Chona Dzong in a direct 
east and west line with the northern frontier of Bhutan. There ap­
pears to be a convenient watershed for it to follow/' 

V. Formation of the "Western Section of the North East Frontier" 
as an independent charge.-This process was, owing to our scanty know­
ledge of the country, begun on very tentative lines. In Eastern Ben .. 
gal and Assam letter No.69-P.T I., of the 7th July ]912, the Chief 
Commissioner reviewed the results of the Miri Mission and made 
proposals for future dealings with this tract. As regards the Mission, 
he observed as follows. 

"6. The Miri. Mission, which was sent forth with the est­
ablishment of friendly relations as one of its objects, was in this res­
pect successful, with one notable exception. The Government of 
India have already had full particulars of the attick on the camp 
at Tali, but the effect of this, so far as can be judged, has been 
to show that armed opposition to our forces only leads to severe 
punishm~t, while those who received us in friendly fashion have no­
thing to fear. One ~nfortunate result o( the incident at Tali was, as 
Mr. Kerwood points out, to debar the party from obtaining any 
definite data on the question of the frontier. A ~onsiderable amount 
of survey work was done, but this will be discussed in more detail' 
later on. The Chief Commissioner, while fully appreciating the tact 
and forbearance displayed by all members of the Mission, as shown 
by the manner in which so large an area was visited, with only 'one 
instance of active opposition, caunot but feel that the force employed 
was too small, particularly in view of the fact that such long lines of 
communication had to be established, and so comparativ61y large a· 
number of connecting posts maintained. Sir Archdale Earle considers 
that any further exploration in what is still a largely unknown country. 
should be done in greater force, so that not ooly may any opposition 
encountered be met, but the odds against the possibility of'offering a 
successful resistance may be appareot' to the tribesmen concern-
ed." . 

. As regards the future of the Western Section of the Frontier, he 
wrote as follows-

'.'12. ~he note of the General Staff recommend'i, as regards the 
Miri section, that an exploring and Survey party with an escort should 
proceed to Mara in the Subansiri Valley and explore the pass and 
the upper waters of the vaU,.y, and that a similar party should pro­
ceed through the Dafla country to the upper waters of the Khru river . 

.... __ ~ts 
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The advisability of an adjustment of the Frontier Line in the neigh­
bourhood of Tawang is also mentioned, but on this subject the Chief 
COJIlmissioner, while fully realising its importance, is in possession of 
Jess information than are the Government of India. The programme 
already outlined for survey and exploration work in the coming cold 
weather is so extensive that the Chief Commissioner hesitates to add 
to it. The Chief Commissioner would suggest that, instead of under­
taking extensive survey operations, an attempt should be made to 
increase and consolidate our knowledge of the frontier west of the 
Subansiri, and proposals to give effect to this are stated later in this 
letter. 

• • * • 
"14. In a previous paragraph the Chief Commissioner under­

took to make. suggestions not so much for the control of the western 
section of the tribal area as for some means by which our knowledge 
of the tribes west of the Subansiri-Siyoms divide could be increased 
and consolidated, and relations established with them as a preliminary 
to subsequent survey and exploration operations on an extensive 
scale, and the ultimate settlement of a suitable boundary. For this 
work the Chief Commissioner considers that the most suitable officer 
would be Captain "G. A. Nevill, a Superintendent of Police on the 
Assam List. If the suggestion is approved, Sir Archdale EarIe, with­
out for the present locating him at any permanent headquarters, 
would leave him to make promenades, extending in no case to any 
great distance from the Inner Line. He wouJd travel with a suitable 
escort and have, throughout the cold weather at all events, a regularly 
organised coolie corps. He would begin by spending some time at 
Sadiya to receive instructi6ns from Mr. Dundas, and would work 
directly under the Chief Commissioner. Mter an experimental season 
of this naturf', it should be possible to formulate definite proposals for 
the control of this troublesome area." 

These proposals were approved by the Government of India in 
their letter No. ,2447-E.B., dated the 16th October 1912. 

Captain Nevil took charge in July 1913 and in Assam letter 
No.S197-P.,· dated the 23rd September 1913, the Chief Commis­
sioner reported that he had received Nevill's recommendations and was 
able to formulate his own proposals. These were as follows-
, (a) the boundary between the Western Section and the Central 

Section should be the main channel of the Suban­
sirl ; 

(h) Captain Nevill's charge should be demarcated off from the 
regularly administered charges of Darrang District and 
North Lakhimpur Subdivision ; 

(t:) his headquarters should be at a site chosen by him about 
5 miles from the terminus of the Tezpur-BaJipara railway 
and buildings should be erected there ; 

(d) he should be provided with an escort of 200 military Police 
for his tours; 

."aaalD Secretariat, Politi~l, A, Septem~r 191~~ Nos, 300·32\. 
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(8) a permanent coolie corps should be constituted, 400 strong. 
For the ensuing cold whether extensive touring was recommended 

to the Aka country, up the Subansiri to the Dafla country, and to 
Tawang. As regards Tawang, it is noticeable that the Chief Com­
missioner refer to this as being a "wedge of Tibet which abuts on the 
Assam Valley", while his Chief Secretary in noting on the subject 
observed "Towang is of course in Tibet". This was to be a friendly 
vi~it and made without 'any escort. 

VI. The Aka Prommade and the visit to Tawang, 1914.*-Captain 
Nevill was authorised to visit the Aka country in the cold weather of 
1913-14, the object being to establish friendly relations with the inha­
bitants: to visit also the Mijis and the people living north of the Akas, 
if time allowed ; and to survey as much of the country as possible. 
The expedition, known as the" Aka Promenade" was on a consider­
able scalt:", comprising a total of l,032 of all ranks. There were 6 
British Officers besides Captain Nevill~ viz" Captain A. L. M. Moles­
worth,. 8th Gurkha Rifles, Assistant Political Officer: Captains A. M. 
Graham and G. D. Mathew, Commandant and Assistant Commandant 
respectively, of the Naga Hills Military Police; Captain W. B. Dunlop, 
Supply and Transport Corps: Captain R. S. Kennedy, I.M.S., and 
Lieutenant P. G. Huddleston, R.E .. Surveys. One hundred and eighty­
eight officers and men of the Naga Hills Military Police formed the 
esrort. 

They started from their base camp at PeiI\iulie on the Borelli 
river on 31st December 1913, and reached the neighbourhood of 
Jamiri on.the 5th January 1914, where they .had good reception. On 
the 12th January they visited Rupa. On t~e 27th January, Nevill, 
Graham, Kennedy and Huddleston left for the Bichom Valley, mainly 
inhabited by Miji Akas. They had a friendly reception at Kelong and 
other Miji villages and stayed until February ,17th. Ori 4th Febr~ary 
they visited the Monba villages of But and Konia, the people of which 
Nevill describes as " a Iniserable lot ... '00 entirely under the thumb of 
the Mijis who make them cultivate for them ...... very poor and ...... 
the dirtiest and most craven people I have ever seen. " 

They then returned and rejoined the rest of the party in the Miri 
Aka country. The one untoward incident of the expedition occurred 
on 8th March in the Duma country at the village of Riang. I t is best 
described in Nevill's own words. 

'0 

" The following day we left camp at 7 a.m. As our advance 
guard reached Riang, a large number of Daflas were seen streaming up 
the khud on both sides of the village. The village itself was full 0 

armed men, who as we came were endeavouring to ~rect a barricade. 
At this moment Captain Graham, who was with the rear guard, opened 
fire at the men advancing up the khud side. He ~id.so just at the right 
time, as immediately afterwards a thick fog, descended and nothing 
could be seen more than 20 yards off. It was an unpleasant PC?sition, 
as the kkud side was lined with Daflas, whom we could hear- but could 

-Assam Secretariat, Political, A, December 1914, N~. 1-37. 
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not see. The coolies behaved excellently. Our advance, flank, and 
rear guard opened a slow fire, and we managed to get our whole party 
clear of the village. Fortunately the fog lifted shortly after the main 
column had cleared the village, and a steady advance was continued 
to the Pachuk, the rear guard was considerably harassed, but their 
steadiness and succ-cssfully improvised ambuscades soon made the 
DaBas keep at a respectful distance. On arrival at the river we found 
the bridge had been cut down on the far hank, presumably by the 
Yefan people. The whole scheme had been well thought out, they 
evidently thought they had us in a trap and could dispose of us with· 
out much difficulty. We had to return up the path again and cut a 
track down to the river, about 400 yards up stream, where there was 
some open cultivation, and it seemed a likely place for building a 
bridge. Here the coolies were put on to make a bridge, covered by 
sepoys. The rear guard picquet under Captain Mathew remained 
above guarding the main path. Our coolies worked exceedingly well 
and in about two hours got a good bridge over. Whilst building the 
bridge we saw a party of Daflas trying to outflank us, we opened fire and 
dispersed them, at the same·time a very large number tried to encircle 
our rear guard. Captain Mathew opened fire on them and drove 
them off. As soon as the bridge was completed, the advance guard 
was thrown over and we got all the coolies across, Captain Graham and 
Captain Mathew guarding our rear. I was very relIeved to get our 
Whole force over without any casualties. It is not pleasant going 
through very enclosed country where hundreds of bowmen can hide 
without being seen. It was made worse by a thick fog encircling us 
most of the time. Mter crossing the bridge we destroyed it ; as it was 
late, we had to camp close to the river. 

The DaBa casualties were to-day, I fancy, about 16 or 17. Their 
attack was most treacherous, as they had professed friendliness, taken 
our presents, and had been very well treated by us. 

We had no casualties. 
Early next morning we left camp at 7'30. We went along very 

carefully, but saw no signs of Daflas. We continued our march till 
we got to the village ofYefan. There we saw a few men who waved 
green branches to signify peace. I met them and spoke to them. 
They acknowledged that some of their men had been at Riang. I 
told them I should fine them 20 pigs and 10 swords, and that they 
must produce the goonhura j they then said they would go and collect 
the fine, but instead of doing so, they left the village. I waited a 
while for them. As we left the village, the men shouted at us from 
the hill side, but they did not come on. I burnt &11 their grain houses, 
which is a very severe punishment ............... . 

On March 15th Captain Nevill arrived back at Jamiri and the 
Aka portion of the "promenade" was over. Salient portions of Nevill's 
report are as follows. 

"The Daflas as a .tribe have not yet recognised British authority 
8S was shown by their treacherous attack on us this year and also by 
numerous petty acts of aggression on our Assam frontier. l'or the 
sake of peace on our frontier it will be necessary for us to impl es5 011 
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them a sense of our power. We shall probably in the near future be 
compelled to exercise some kind of control over the Dafla and Abors 
living near the head waters of the Borelli, Subansiri and Khru rivers. 

* * • • * 
"The Akas are divided into two tribes the Kavatsun and the 

Kutsun ; each of these tribes is under its Chief or Raja, who is the 
nominal head; it greatly depends on the personality of the Raja as to 
the amount of power he enjoys. The post is an elected one and is 
not hereditary. 

Each village has its own council for its own local affairs and an 
elected headman, ev.ery man has the right of free speech and a vote. 
The Raja has his central council and they control the foreign policy 
of the tribe and affairs of inter-village interest. Disputes are settled 
and offenders punished by the village elders, dissatisfied persons can 
always appeal to the Raja and his council. 

Both the present Rajas have a good deal of control over their 
people. Tagi is gifted with a good deal of intelligence, perhaps 
slimness would be a better term, he has been much spoiled when 
visiting Assam and is now somewhat puffed up with the sense of his 
own importance. Kalor, Raja of the Kavatsun, is a pleasanter man, 
though not nearly so shrewd, he is too much given to religious 
meditation and pondering of affairs other than of this world. I think 
all the Akas thoroughly realise our power and recognise the advan­
ta.ges to be gained by standing well with us. There should be no 
difficulty in controlling them in the future, it is our best policy to 
strengthen the power of the two Chiefs, who will then obtain a firmer 
grip over their people. 

The M~iis are very like the Akas in most things, but have no 
Chiefs; each vIllage is the-unit having each its own councIl and head­
man, who settle all the external and infernal affairs of the village. 
There is, however, a good deal of tribal spirit amongst the Mijis ; 
there are pra:tically no inter village quarrellings, and in affairs con­
cerning the whole . community, the different village representatives 
me~t together and talk the matter over. Against a common enemy, I 
think there would be a solid combination. 

* * • • * 
"I would strongly advocate the establishment of a trading post and 

dispensary at Kolabruh in the Kavatsun. Aka country with a guard 'of 
50 rifles. Now is the favourable' time. The Akas know us and are 
friendly, and there would be lIttle difficulties in establishing this post, 
and by doing so we should get the loose political control which it is 
our policy to exercise over the frontier tribes, also the deVelopment 
likely to occur in the Tawang area of the Bhutia country would render 
the immediate establishment of. the post aesirable. If we leave the 
establishment of a post till later on, the effects of our, visit will be 
lessened and difficulties will very likely arise. The post would have' a 
great effect in controlling the Mijis, and the policy of checking these 
people from raiding the Tawang area, which will be necessary, will 
probably for a time make them very restive. Of course before a post 
can be_ established, ~ommunications must be improved., I think 
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there will not be much difficulty in making a mule road. 
In the past the Akas have been, like most of the other tribes, 

somewhat a thorn in the nesh of the Assam Administration due to our 
lack of control over them. With a little supervision and the intro­
duction of improved methods of cultivation and the proper treatment 
of the sicknesses prevalent amongst them, their material prosperity 
would very rapidly improve, and a great step towards the control of 
the frontier would be achieved. 

* * • • • 
"Over 4,000 square miles of country wall surveyed. 
The most excellent relations were established with the Akas. I 

believe this friendliness will be permanent. The hitherto unknown 
coun tries of the Mijis and Miri Akas were surveyed, and we 
received from both people a very good reception. 

The DaHas living on the Upper Borelli were visited; unfortu­
nately we were not well received, we made every endeavour to make 
friends, but without success, and in the end they treacherously 
attacked us. We were able to teach them a needed lesson that they 
are not so powerful as they think, and also that they cannot interfere 
with us with impunity." 

On March 18th, Captain Nevill and Captain Kennedy, I.M.S., 
left Jamiri on the first stage of their journey to Tawang. The object 
of this journey as stated in Captain Nevill's memorandum dated 
23rd May 1914, was "(1) to actually see the trade route in order to 
know what was required to improve the communications and to find out 
the be lit means of fostering and increasing the present trade; (2) to 
gather information about the inhabitants of this part of the frontier 
and to make myself thoroughly acquainted with the local conditions; 
(3) to enquire to what extent the Lobas harass the villagers; (4) to 
ascertain exactly how far Tibetan rule and influence affected the 
country." 

They reached Dirana Dzong on the 23rd, the principal Monba 
village south of the Sela Range: and on the 30th March they cro'lst"d 
the Sela pass at 14,450 feet over deep snow frozen hard. On the 
Ist April they reached Tawang where they received what Nevill 
describes as (fa most overwhelming welcome." Nevill describes the 
country thU8--

cc ......... At Tawang there is a large monastery containing 500 
monks: it is built in a fine position on a gently sloping ridge. 
The Monastery buildings are enclosed by a fortified wall. Bel"w the 
monastery is the village of Tawang consisting of a coUection of wooden 
huts. 'The inhabitants are largely composed of Tsona people, who 
come here to escape the severe cold ofTsona during the winter months. 
North of the Sela range is th~ magnificent open yaUey of the Tawang­
chu. The. ge~tle slopes on. el.the.r bank ~f . the flver. are almost entire1) 
under cultIvation. The soIl IS nch and It IS exceptIonally well tilled. 
The principal crop is b&.rley, but large quantities of wheat rice beans 
peas, maize, onions, chillies, dal and garlic are grown. Aiso I' believ; 
below Tawang cotton is planted, although I did not see any. The 
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country between Tawang and Jang is thickly populated, numerous 
villages are dotted over the valley and the inhabi tants appeared pros­
perous. South of the Sela is the valley of the Dirangchu, a fine open 
valley and well populated. There is a very large area of land under 
cultivation and the fields are well kept, also up some of" the small 
tributarY streams, such as the Dugamchu and the Sangtichu, there 
is a good deal of .cultivation, also a great deal of land that could be 
brought under the plough and hoe. I noticed in the Dirangchu 
valley a very considerable area of land under irrigation. This area 
might easily be increased. Although this valley is naturally a very 
rich ond and although a very large area is brought under cultivation, 
the inhabitants did not strike me as being nearly so prosperous as 
their neighbours north of the Sela. This is. due to the fact tha~ the 
country south of the Sda as far as tl)e Assam border is controlled 
entirely by the monks of TawaIlg, with the exception of the village of 
Sengedzong, which is under the jurisdiction of the Tsona Jongpens. 
The people are ground down by excessive taxation they are only left 
barely enough to live upon, also they are greatly harassed by the 
Lobas, who levy blackmail in. the most oppressive manner." 

Leaving again on April 9th, they were back at Udalguri In the 
23rd. 

The reception they got throughout is described thus-
"We were made very welcome on the trade route, and all our 

wants as to provi~jons and coolies were at once supplied. Mter cross­
ing the Sela we found that the Tawang officials' had sent instructions 
to all headmen that they were to do their utmost to make us comfort~ 
able, and from, this point on our advance was a triumph. At each 
village the people had made houses ready, both for us and our coolies. 
We were invariably met outside the villages, the headmen carrying 
huge quantities of beer, blocking our way and insisting on us 
partaking befote they allowed us to advance. We Were officially 
met and entertained at about five miles from Tawang by the two 
Tsona Jongpens, who annually winter at Tawang and who adI;D.inister 
the Tawang country north of the Sela, and also by ~wo representp.tives 
of the Tawang monastery. On our arrival at Tawang good quarters 
were found for us and for our party ........................ During our stay 
the officials and the people did their utmos.t to entertain us and to 
make us welcome." 

Captain Nevill wrote thus as regards Tibetan influence-

"The chief Tibetan influence is the mQnastery it! which 500 
monks live, this monastery is an off-shoot of the Drepung nio~astery in 
Lhasa. Its abbot and the principal officials are also appointed from 
Lhasa. . .. .. .. .. 

CCThe country south of the Sela is, with the exception of the 
village of Sengedzong, administered only by the monks of Tawang. 
There are two Jongpens at Dirangdzong and two Jopgpens at. Kalak­
tang," 
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His recommendations for the future, which bear a close resem­
blances to thoo;e of Captain Lightfoot 24 years later, were as follows-

"In order to bring about a state of prosperity in this region and 
to promote the growth of trade, it will be necessary to establish a 
simple form of Government ................ The present state uf the 
Tawang Monbas, more especially of those south of the Sela, is one 
of extreme poverty. They are greatly harassed by the Lobas, who 
run over the country. demanding whatever is their fancy, robbing and 
stealing if their demands are not complied with. They are also 
ground down by excessive and unjust taxation of the monastery, being 
left barely sufficient for a livelih')od. These taxes are collected en­
tirely in kind. Thus a people who are naturally industrious and who 
are good farmers have no incentive to better themselves and are 
gradually being starved. The people are crying for a just adminis· 
tration and would greatly welcome our rule under which they would 
be infinitely better off. They are simple, hardworking, timid folks 
and very easy to deal with. The two difficulties we should have to 
deal with are--(l) the Tawang monks, who for a century have had a 
complete control over the Tawang area. South of the Sela is monastic 
property and is the endowment on which the monastery has to depend 
for its sustenance. The monks, without a doubt, would take up a 
policy of obstruction which, if backed by the great local influence of 
Guru Rimpoche, as is probable, would be most difficult to overcome. 
Also this obstructive policy might perhaps be backed by the weight of 
the Drepung monastery, the largest of the three great religious hous{'~ 
in Lhasa, and from which the Tawang monastery has sprung. I can 
see very great difficulties in administering the Tawang country north 
of the Sela. South of the range the difficulties would exist, but not 
in nearly so large a degree. 

I would suggest that the best method of overcoming these difficul­
ties would be to carefully assess the value of the supplies drawn by the 
monastery from the district and then to subsi.dise the monastery on the 
basis of this assessment. It would then be necessary to fix a standard 
rate, only to be altered by the Political Officer, at which all supplies 
should be bought. If this was not done, the monks would cheat the 
people and get their supplies for little or nothing. Also I would 
suggest that arrangemen.ts be made so that the five thousand rupees we 
annually pay should be used for the monastery and not sent to Lhasa. 
The second difficulty is the Lobas. I have shown how they harass the 
people. Their blackmailing raids have been going on for many years. 
They look on the Monbas as their lawful prey and talk of their visits 
as collecting taxes. These things must be stopped at once, and there 
should be no great difficulty about it. The Lobas must be clearly 
told that this state of things cannot continue. Police posts mmt be 
established at Dirang and Rupa, and possibly in ,the Aka country to 
enforce our orders. There would be friction at first~ but it would not 
continue long. This need not involve a great expense, as military 
police at present stationed in the plains would be used. 

There is no doubt that given protection from raiding It iLes 
and relief fro~ monastic oppression by establishing a fair S),stclU of 
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t3.fCation, this valley would soon become most prosperous and, I think, 
far more than self-supporting. An increased prosperity would extend 
to' the Lobas, who, both by circumstances and ('xample, would be 
forced to work and might in time become useful members cf society 
instead of a set of idle blustering freebooters. 

A very great want in all parts of the Tawang country and even 
throughout the whole ofthe North-East Frontier is treatment for the 
sick. Everywhere I went a great cry was for the doctor and medicine. 
Whilst among Monbas, Captain Kennedy was constantly surrounded by 
people suffering from real and often imaginary diseases and clamouring 
for medicines. I am very sure the establishment of dispensaries will 
form a very large factor in gaining the confidence of the people and a 
peaceful settlement of the country. 

I think that, in view 'of the coming changes in the conditions, 
loose administration of the country and settlement of the affairs with 
the monastery and the Tibetans should be taken in hand at once. 
Now is the psychological moment. We are popular with the Monbas, 
we are fresh in the mind of the Akas and the Mijis, and we could more 
easily introduce changes now, with less friction, than later on. A 
delay} I am throughly convinced, will be to increase our diflic~'lties. 
A European Officer should be stationed, at least for a time, at Tawang. 
He wlIl have no easy task and will have to take up a very firm 
_attitude. He must be able to speak Tibetan well. If he can combine 
this work with doctoring, I am sure he would get a great hold on all 
the people and this w~uld make his work the easier." 

Affairs on the North-East Frontier were overshadowed by the 
Great War of 1914-18, and the Chief Commissioner in forwarding the 
report in letter No. 6466-P..., dated the 7th November 1914, to the 
Government of lI'dia observed as follows. 

"3. Captain Nevill has submitted various interesting suggestions 
for the extension of our control over the country- visited by him, but 
the Chief Commissioner does not propose to submit his recommenda­
tions on these proposals-now, as he understands that the Governm~nt 
of India are averse from anything' in the shape of a forward move 
upon the frontier at the present moment. Sir Archdale Earle observes 
with much gratification that th~ majority of the people are well-dis­
posed towards the British GoveJnment, -and that the country possesses 
considerable natural resources, which only await a more advanced 
form of Government for their proper development." 

VII. 1918-1937.-ln May 1918 the Miripathar Daflas raided tht< 
plains Dafla villages of Gaigaon and Boranipathar and carrier:{ off 59 
captives. 14 escaped, 20 were released by the Political Officer who 
started immediately for the offending village, Pigerong, and all tht' rest 
were subsequently sent back. Owing to the lateness of the season 
Captain Nevill was not able to exact full satisfaction. He completed 
the business, however, in January 1921, when he visited Pigerong and 
imposed a suitable fine. 



290 BALIPARA FRONTIER TRACT 

In Government letter No. 100-T., * dated the 4th February 1919, it 
was ordered that no settlement "Should be permitted within a strip of 
country north of the Inner Line 5 miles wide. This revived an order 
of 1888. 

By Notification No. 1534-P., dated the 13th February 1919 the 
Political Officer Western Section was appointed a Special Mdgistrate 
in Danang and the North Lakhimpur Subdivisions for the trial of 
cases in which Daflas only were concerned. This was at the requcs~ 
of the Political Officer who had pointed out how difficult it was for 
Courts with no experience of their ways to adjudicate in Daflas' 
cases. 

The title:' of the Western Section of the North-East Frontier ..... as 
changed to that of "Balipara Frontier Tract" in 1919, on the recom­
mendation of the then Chief Commissioner, Sir Nicholas Beatson-Bell, 
by Government of India Notification No. 142-E.B., dated the 20th 
March 1919. 

In letter No. 395-T., t dated the 7th August 1919 the Chief Com­
missioner of Assam reported that anxiety 'was being felt as to the 
inadequacy of the garrisons maintained in Darrang and North Lakhim­
pur and that since 1914 neither the PoHcal Officer, Sadiya, nor the 
Political Officer, Balipara, had been able to make proper tours. He 
accordingly recommended to the Government of India the raising of a 
5th Battalion of the Assam Rifles 'for the protection of the 
Western St'ction of the North East Frontier, now known 
as "Balipara Frontier Tract". The Government of India 
supported the proposal and the Seaetary of State sanctioned 
it in his telegram of the 14th Ap-il 1920. One consequence of the 
raising of this new battalion was that the Civil station was shifted from 
Lokra, where the new batt lion was quartered, to its present site at 
Charduar (sanctioned in G. O. No.3702-P.,! dated the 12th May 
19~1.) The battalion was, as a measure of economy, amalgamated in 
1931-32, with the 2nd Battalion, to be revived again as a separate unit 
in 1941-42. 

Captain Nevill visited the Akas in 1925 and in his Administration 
Report for the year 1924-25 he rf'cords some interesting remarks about 
these people. He says-

"I visited the Aka country in February at their request. I was 
made very welcome. Since Kalao and Tagi the two old 
chiefs died there has been no one to take their place, all the older 
men of standing have died and only young men with no experience 
remain. The most important people in the count£} are Kelime, 
widow of Tal?;i, and Dibru, the present head of the Kovatsun. These 
two and all the principal people early in the season put in a petition 
to Government that we should station a guard in their country and 
establish a aispensary. 

• Assam Secretariat, Pol, A, June 1919, No~. 21-30. 
tAssam Secretariat, Pol., A, Deceml er 1920, Nos. 42-66. 
AssAIll Stcretariat, Pol. A, May 1919, Nos. 8-15. + Auam Secretariat, Pol., B, February 1923, Nos. 298·386. 
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The reaso~for this. js that for the past three years they have been 
much worried by the Mijis, a neighbouring tribe closely related to them 
who finding they are weak and leaderless have taken to bullying them. 

They also have b~come painfully aware that for sometime their 
death rate is larger than their birth rate, and that their numbers are 
seriously decreasing. This is why they are so anxious for a dispensary, 
this is not a new idea, but they have continually spoken about it for the 
past ten years. 

I strongly re<;ommeng that a gardson should be statio..n~ in the 
Aka Hills and that a dispensary with. a good competent Sub-As,sistant 
Surgeon be established. 

These A)cas are an excdlent and most interesting people, they 
are. Qluch more civil.i.&ed than the Dufflas and they are capable of great 
improvement. I do not think it would cost a great deal. The main 
expense would be the constructiQn of a road, which would present no 
ver)' fopnidable difficultie~. 

It would mean the salvation of these people, who, if we do not 
comply wi~ their request, will gradually die out. Another advantage 
is. the excellent strategic position of the Aka Hills. A garrison station­
ed theJ:e WOl1ld protect the Monbas of :Rupa and Shergaon. It would 
guard the Udalguri-Lhassa trade route alld would dominate thl': Mijis, 
Miri Akas. and Dufflas on the North and the Bhorelli and Miripath,ar 
Dufflas «;)n the East." 

In 1926-21 the Runganuddi* Expedition (East Dumas), was 
undertaken in conseqqence of a raid by DufJias of the village of Jorum 
in February 1926 in which 5 DufHas $ettl~ in the plains were killed 
and 3 carried off. Captain Nevill with 68 m~ll of the Assam Rifles 
and Captain Abbott left his headquarters on 23rd December 1926, 
reached Jorum in January and inflicted suitable punishment. lle 

visited th~ Apa Tanang country in the course of this expedi tion and 
was much struck by its fertility. On his return jourlley the party 
encountered snow and suffered considerable hardship~ there being 9 
cases; Qf frostbite. . 

Captain Nevill's Annual Administration rf'port for 1921-28 con­
tains valuable suggestions on the question of placing posts in the Hills 
with which he had relations. He wrote- -

"As years have passed by, the Akas... Dumas and th~ other tribes 
have gained confidellce and learnt to appr~ate the benefits of the new 
order. The pople are increasingly bringing their disputes for settle­
ment and they fully appreciate the fact that th~ir grievances are 
sympathetically listened to and dealt with when possible. 

This growing friendliness has brought about the desire for a still 
closer rdationship. Nowadays the constant request from all sections 
of the hills is to establish a garrison in their country. Wherever 
I go. I am asked to plant a boundary post so that others may know 
this portion is under my immediate control. This request is not made 

*Appointment and Polttical. B, June 1926, Nos.587-603 and June 1927, 
Ncs 582-586. 
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by the small villager frightened of his stronger n~ighbours. but invari­
ably by the wealthiest and most Important men m the villages. ':fhe 
reason being that in DufHa land a most terrible state of unrest prevalls ; 
amongst the tribes there is no cohesion or combination. Every village 
is an independent unit, and even in the village there may be several 
factions. Every man's hand i .. against his neighbour. Raids, arson 
and murder are the order of the day. If a man goes on a journey 
alone, he is likelv to be seized, and carried off into slavery. Even 
women working in the fields are sometimes seized and carried off. 
There is no- certainty of life and no peace. All Dumas realise the 
benefit of peace, but owing to their entire lack of combination they 
are unable to make a united effort to stop this anarchy. I have 
constantly been asked to help one faction against another. Of course 
such action is out of the question. I have many times called a 
meeting of h'eadmen and explained the benefits of a miniature League 
of Nations. Such meetings always end with the request that I should 
come and administer affairs for them I have constantly arbitrated 
between two villages and have been able to patch up quarrels and 
effect peace which in some cases has been lasting. 

However with the headquarters sited in the plains cut off from 
the hills from June to October the Political Officer cannot in any way 
administer the HiJI Tracts nor can he exercise very much control in 
inter-vil1age or inter-tribal affairs. I am ql'ite convinced that the 
only way to effectively deal with the tribes of this Frontier is to make 
roads and establish outposts at different points in the Hills. 

A small garrison with a British Officer, a dispensary and a 
Sub-Assistant Surgeon should be attached to every post, as a hospital 
for treatment of sicknf'ss is appreciated by the savage more than 
anything else. The British Officer would be the eyes and ears of the 
Political Officer who should spf'nd at least three quarters of the year 
at the different POlltS. In time as the posts thoroughly settled down, 
the strength of the posts could be reduced. 

Jamiri, Miripathar, the Dikrang valley, and the Apa Tanang 
country should be the sites for posts. Jamiri in the Aka country 
should be the first post established. The Akas have petitioned for a 
post to be e~tablished and the petition was sent to the Government 
with my letter No. 53,· dated the 5th January 1925, to the Chief 
Secretary. 

Jamiri is so situated that it controls a very large area of country. 
It dominates the Duffla villages on the North and East of the Aka!!. 
it would control the Mijis. It is ne"!.r to the Mombas of Rupa and 
~hergaon, w~o LOnsider themst'lves under the .. British protection, 
mdeed the!' hve for five months of the year on BrItish soil at Doimara . 

. Good roads exist from Jamiri to Rupa and Shergaon, easy for 
pomes. 

It is also close to the Tawaug area and near the Tibetan Trade 
route from Udalguri to Lhassa. There is no doubt that as soon as 
China set~les down. dl~s Tibetan F~ ontier will become of great impor­
tance. Chma has stl111tS eyes on Tibet and on Lhassa, the pro-Chinese 

·Assam Secretar;at, Political, A. December 1927, Nos. 21,57. 
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party is growing in influence and should China gain control of Tibet 
the Tawang country is particularly adapted for a secret and easy 
entrance into India. Russia is also trying to establish her influence 
in Tibet, and, if successful, CQuld safely and secretly send her emis­
sarie$ into India by this route. 

Tho road to Jamiri is now under construction. 
I would advocate that after Jamiri, the Apa Tanang country be 

opened up. The' road would not present any extraordinary diffi­
culties. A post situated there would control the' large and turbulent 
population of the Runganuddi Valley. It would not be an expensive 
post to maintain as I believe a very large proportion of the sepoys' 
rations could be bought locally as the whole Apa Tanang countly 
is under irrigated rice and is very fertile. 

Miri Pathar controls-ihe DafHas East of the Bhorelli and west of the 
Poma Pani. It is a very large open valley containing thousands of 
acres admirably suited for wet rice cultivation. 

The Dikrang is a very large Bat-bottomed valley capable of support­
jng a very large population It is very sp~rs~ly populated at present 
owing to the state of anarchy that has exIsted there for many 
years past. 

Discussing this Frontier I have often heard it e~pressed that the 
country is worth nothing and is not worth the expenses of Adminis­
tration. This is not altogether true for there are very large areas 
of extlemely rich country, the only thing wanting to develop it is 
settled conditions and. a just administration. 

There are two other strong arguments for the establishment 
of posts in the hills. These are that it would put an end to the 
most undesirable settlement of Duma villages in the plains. Also 
if slavery is ever to be abolished, it can only be done by Officers 
living in the hills...... ......... . 
.•..••...... The question of slaves has got to be taken in hand befote 
long, indeed Burma has already given us a lead ........... . 
............... Amongst the Duffias the system is one of serfdom rather 
than slavery in the sense usually accepted in Europe. The sl.ave ,is 
a son of the soil and in no case an alien different in tongue and habiti. 
The slave lives on his master's land, or in his house, his marriage is 
arranged and paid for by his master. He is provided with clothing 
and feeds with the family and he i~ even permitted to acquire pro­
perty. In many cases he is the confidential adviser Of his master. 
Every well-to-do householder has his slave or slaves, he could net 
do without them. A man is accounted rich by the size of his 
cultivation, and the number of his cattle, and it is necessary for hIm 
to have labour to help in his work. Hired lal:our is impossible as 
there is no currency and each free n: an has his own cultivafion to 
look after. 

Sudden emancipation of slaves would cause a complete disloca­
. tion of the existing social conditions. It 'would bring ruin to the 
owners and in many Cases would prove disastrou!l to the interest of 
the so-called slaves them-selves. 
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Nevertheless the question has to, be faced' ill! the neal' future: and 
I am confident it can only be tackled by an officer living amongst the 
people. 

Finally 1 do not advocate the establi~hment of the posts simul­
taneously, but the policy must be roads and posts. API soon as one 
has been established a start, should be made on the Rext, post in order 
of importance. When this is done, the safety of the Frontier is assu­
red, and the benefits of civilization, will be introduced among a 
people who at present are amongst the most miser~ble of any race 
on earth." 

Eventually, in 1928-29, a new post was opened fOf 2 months. at 
Jamiri. It was generally regarded as a good move bq.t the troops 
stationed there suffered severely from the damdims. It was given up 
temporarUy in 1930-31. 

In 1931-32 Mr. N. L. Bor, the Political Officer, made 3 small 
punitive expeditions into the Duffia country, to punish ChemglJng 
for complicity in ill-treati~g and imprisoning a British subject: to 
burn Sengmara for being set up within the tnner Line against 
Government orders: and t,p punish Midpu for raiding Laluk, a plains 
village. 

VIII. The Constitution Act oj 1935.-Neither the Local Govern­
ment nor any other authority which had to deal with the matter had 
any difficulty in deciding that Balipara Frontier Tract should be an 
"Excluded Area" It accordingly was entered as such in the Govern­
mtnt of India (Excluded and Partially Excluded AJ ellS) Order, 
]936, and came under the direct administration of the Governor 
from the lst April J.937. 

IX. Tawang,1936-1941.-Questions connected with Chinese 
and Tibetan influence and regarding our system of intelligence-or lack 
of it --on the North-East Frontier became prominent again in 1936. 
The position as it then appeared to be is described in a letter dated 
the *17th September 1936, from the Assa~ Chief Secretary to the 
Political Officer, Balipara Frontier Tract. 

" 2 .... " The Tibet Conference of 191' resulted in the delimita­
tion of the Indo-Tibetan frontier from the eastern frontier of Bhutan 
to the Isu Razi pass on the Irrawaddy-Salween water parting The 
line, which was accepted hy the Government of Tibet, wall demarcated 
on maps then specially prepared, and is known as the Macmahon 
Line. Sir Heory Macmahon recommended In his memorandum that 
while great care should be taken to avolcl friction with the Tibetan 
Government and the vested interests of the Tawang monastery, an 
experienced British officer should proceed to the western part of the 
area south of the Line to settle its future; a<;lministration. 

The 19140 Convention was never published, mainly because the 
Chinese Government failed to ratify it, and nothing was done to givt 
effect to Sir H. Macmahon's recommendation for extension of ad minis­
tration in the Tawang area. Another consequence is that many 
published maps still show the frontier of Ind~a along the administered 
border of Assam . 

• Governor'. Secretariat, Tribal, A, Detember 1937, Nos .1-19. 
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The information you collected ,has been reported to the Secretary 
of State. An important point to notice is that the latest Chinese 
atlases show almost the whole (If the tribal area south of the Macma­
hon Line lllp1;C!)·the administered border of lAs sam as included ,in China. 
It 'amounts to 'this, 'that'whiJe the Chinese already claim a large stretch 
of Indian territory East of Tawang as part of the Sikang province,of 
China, the '!fibetan Government, over whom the Chinese 'claim sUile .. 
rainty, are tollecting revenue and ·exercising jurisdiction in the Tawang 
area many miles south of the international frontier. The Government 
of India a>nsidt'r that some 'effective steps should ,be taken to ·challenge 
activities 'which may be .extended to'a oJaim on ,behalf of,China ,to 
Ta\\ang itself, 'or even Bhutan and Sikkim. They therefore propose 
tb demand from the Tibetan Go~tnment, which has l'eCently re.affirm­
ed the 'Macmahon Line, that ·collection of revenue for the latter 
Government in the Tawang ar-ea should be d~cuntinU'ed, and ;the 
question whether it 'Will be neCessary to introduce Indian administra­
dOh to 'replace Tibetan officials in that area has been left for :further 
consideration in the light of Mr. 'Gould's r~port on conclusion of his 
miasion to Lhasa. The suggestion which has nOw been made to this 
Government is that ,it is highly desirable to emphasise the 'interest of 
British India in the Tawang area either by actual tours 'or by collecting 
tke re7lenue ourselves, since the mere reproduction ·oT the Macmahon .Line 
on Survey of India Maps would be insufficient lto correct rfalse impres~ 
sions which have gained ground in the years since 1914. The .COt:lti­
nued exercise of jurisdiction by Tibet in Tawang and the area south 
of Tawang 'might enable China. Or still wotse, might enable-any other 
power which may in future be in the position 'to assert authority oV'el' 
Tibet, to claim prescriptive rights' over a part 'of tho-territory recognised. 
as within India by the 1914 Convention In taking any :steps of the 
nllture contemplated it wOllld be nec~sai'y to make it very clear that 
there is no interttion to intetfere "With the purely lmonastic ~ollection of 
the Tawang monastery." 

The views bf the Govetnor"wert fotwarded 'to the . Government of 
InOia -in Assam -letter rNo.284.GS., dated'the 27th May!l931, ,in 
which it 'was !lUated'that ifawang was undoubtedly Tibetan U~lto 1914, 
when it'was, ceded .to India, but that, cc though .undoubtedly British it 
has been controlled by Tibet, -and 'none of the inliabitants 'have'Qny 
idea that they are'not Tibetan :Sl1bjects ". Thelletter 'then went on' 
to say: 

'cc ·After·giving the .matter' his'm'03t Icareful. attentitJn, 'he! is ,fOl'll:6a 

to tbe 'eonclusion 'that more -impressive 'and 'permanent Jactron:is 
i'eqair~d if TaWang'is to:be efi"eet1vely occupied 'and possible .intTU!Jion 
by China into that 'a'reaforestalled. 'Gl'eat 'importance'was .attached 
'to Tawa'ng in 19l4. :by, Sir 'Henry McMahon· and Sir;Charles {th'en 
'Mr. ,C. IA.) Bell, a'rid,it 'was'th-en >Urged that a .tactful and 'disGreet 
officer should' be pl)Sted'to Tawang for the summer' ,mo'nths, Iwith 
instructions to tollect a light -tax 'but at the [SaMe 'time'to leave the 
people ·to manage their own affairs. 'His ,ExceUency,considers ,that 
the time has now'come When 'the policy advocated lin 1914 butJso long 
__________________ ~ __ ~ ________ ~~,w,~,~ ____ ~ __ ~·~. 

Governor's (Assam) Secretariat, Tribai, A, June 1940, Nos. 331-534. 
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held in abeyance should be carried out. His Excellency would there­
fore propose that a European officer of the Indian Police with experi­
ence of frontier diplomacy should be posted as Assistant to the Political 
Officer, Balipara Frontier Tract, and should proceed to Tawang in 
the spring of 1938 and remain there for the summer, the visit being 
repeated year by year for the present. He should be furnished with 
an escort of a size consistent with the importance of his mission and 
sufficient for his protection. This would be not less than one platoon 
ofthe Assam Rifles. He should have a carefully selected Sub-Assistant 
Surgeon who, in addition to his ordinary duties, would give flee to the 
local inhabitants the medica! treatment of which they are believed to 
be in great need. The Governor would propose to impress upon the 
officer deputed to Tawang the great importance of tactful behaviour 
towards the inhabitants. In particular it is desirable that he should, 
as suggested By Sir Charles Bell, give to the owners of privatee states 
an assurance that their proprietary rights would be respected, and to 
the monks of Tawang monastery an undertaking that the Tibetan 
Government would be consulted whenever a new head Lama was 
appointed. " 

After further consideration it was proposed that, as a preliminary, 
a small expedition should go up to Tawang, "examine the -country, get 
into touch with the inhabitants. and fOlm some estimate of its revenue 
possibilities" before a 6nal decision was come to. This was agreed 
to by the Governmen t of India. ' 

Captain Lightfoot was in charge of the expedition and the instruc­
tions issued to him were as follows-

" ...... your task will be to explore facts rather than to issue orders 
and make decisions. 

4. Our position vis a vis the Tawang monastery is a particularly 
delicate one in view of Tibet's defacto position there. In the autumn 
of 1936 Gould had an interview with the Kashag in Lhasa at which 
Tawang was discussed. Their attitude was that (1) up to 1914 
Tawang had undoubtedly been Tibetan, (2) they regarded the adjust­
ment of the Tibet-Indian boundary as part and parcel of the general 
adjustment and determination of boundaries contemplated in the 1914 
Convention. If they could, with our help, secure a de6nite Sino­
Tibetan boundary they would of course be glad to observe the Indo­
Tibetan border as de6ned in 1914, (3) they had been encouraged in 
thinking that His Majesty}s Government and the Government of 
India sympathised with this way of regarding the matter owing to the 
fact that at no time since the Convention and Declaration of 1914 
had the Indian Government taken steps to question Tibetan, or to 
assert British, authority in the Tawang area. There is, of course, 110 

possible doubt that the Indo-Tibetan boundary was definitely 
determined; and I am to ask you to be scrupulously c.::reful to give 
no impression that the matter can be reopened. Your presence with 
an escort in Tawang will in itself be an assertion of British authority, 
but your conduct in all things should be such as may be calculated 
to cause least shock to Tibetan susceptibilities." . ... ... ... ... 
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7. It is probable that the preliminary to detailed action in 
future will be the notification of a Control Area to include the Tawang 
area and the country to the south as far as the administered border, 
I am to ask you therefore to submit on your return proposals for a 
suitable boundary for such an area .......... . 

8. Detailed questions, such as that of tribute, now exacted in the 
area, should be left till a Control Area has been established, but 
the more mformation you can obtain on all such matters the better. 

9. Any officials of the Tlbetan Government whom you may 
encounter will realise at once that we are at last asserting our rights. 
You should endeavour to find out exactly what they are doing on our 
side of the boundary and note for the information of Government 
their attitude and any claims they may make. It would be improper 
for you to give them any o(ders ; that will have to be done through 
the Government of India. 

10. I am to say that your whole handling of this delicate situa­
tion must be cautious. It is better to go too slow than too fast " 

The expedition reached Tawang on the 30th of April 1938. 

Their arrival soon came to the ears of the Tibetan Government, 
who protested to Mr. B. J. Gould the Political Officer in Sikkim and 
asked that the expedition should be withdrawn. Meanwhile, Captain 
Lightfoot had reported on the 26th April that Tibetan officials had 
been collecting taxes in presence of the expedition and asked that they 
be made to withdraw. The Governor therefore asked that the Tibetan 
Government be requested to withdraw their officials to their side of 
the International boundary. The Government of India, however, 
were averse to "any action which would commit them to permanent 
occupation and further expenditure." They intimated that "Light­
foot should inform all concerned that Tawang is by treaty Indian and 
not Tibetan territory and should impress this on Tibetan officials if he 
meets them. He should not however demand their withdrawal and 
should give no assurances to local inhabitants but should simply inform 
them that he has been sent to make enquiries into local conditions and 
that Government will decide after he returns whether to take any 
further interest in them or not. This attitude may create difficulties for 
Lightfoot but is only possible line until future policy has been 
decided." 

Captain Lightfoot furnished a full and accurate report of condi­
tions as he found them in Tawang and in addition made certain 
concrete suggestions for the future control of this area, of which the 
following are extrActs. 

H(1) The Tibetan Government should be asked to withdraw their 
officials, vi~., the Tsona Dzongpons and their assistants. With them 
will automatically disappear their exactions of tribute and forced 
labour. Till th,ii i'1 done our prestige must inevitably be non-existent. 

Governor's Secretariat, Tribal A, June 1940, Nos.535-626 
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(2) It would be of the utmost advantage if the withdrawal of the 
Tibetan officials from the monastery could be arranged, making it, 
what in fact it is, a Monba monastery. So inextricably are State and 
Religion intermingled in Tibet that 'till the Tibetan monastic officials 
are withdrawn, Tibetan influence and intrigue must persist in the 
surrounding country. 

(3) The monopolies of salt and rice should be abolished. 
(4) Payment of tribute in kind, whether to us or the monasteries, 

should be abolished and payment in cash substituted. Payment in 
kind means carriage of the bulky tribute by forced labour, the form of 
oppression moot bitterly resented 'now. 

4. The following are the innovations the introduction of which I 
beg to propose :-

(1) In place of the present haphazard and inequitable tribute in 
kind I beg to propose that tribute in cash at the rate ofRs.5 a house 
be paid to the Government of India throughout the Control Area the 
establishmen t of which is proposed below. This rate of tax may seem 
high as an initial rate, but I am of the opinion that it is not excessive. 
I think, indeed, lhat in a few years this rate might even be increased. 
Such a fixed and properly distributed tax would be a boon to the 
villagelS in that it would do away with the greater part of the forced 
labour now being inflicted on them. I have calculated that at the 
beginning about Rs.ll ,000 in tribute would be collected from such a 
tax. The following figures will e"'<plain how this total is arrived at:-

In the Tawang area there are approximately 80 villages with an 
average of 15 homes in each. In the Dirang area there are about 15 
villages with about 40 houses in each. In the Kalaktang area there 
are some 15 Monba villages of 12 houses each and in addition there are 
two Sherdukpcn villages of 160 houses. This makes a rough total of 
2140 houses, which gives a revenue of approximately Rs.ll,OOO. 1 
confide-ntly anticipated that the amount of this tribute will gradually 
increase. Not only will freedom from oppression lead to greater 
prosperity, but the emigration of families seeki!lg asylum in Bhutan 
will cease, and many will return. 

(2) After the removal of the Tsona Dzongpons, I would suggest 
the appointment of two Agents, one of whom, the senior, would be 
stationed in Tawang, and the other in Dirangdzong. 

These Agents would be assisted by panchayats. The panchayat 
at Tawang would be composed of 2 Representatives of the monastery 
council, elected for a period of one year, and 4 village headmen, who 
would be elected by a meeting of aU village headmen once a year. In 
the Dirangdzong area two panchayats would he necessary, one in 
Dirang and the other in Kalaktang, the additional panchayat being 
necessary owing to the great distance between the two places. The 
Dirang panchayat would consist of the two Dirang Dzongpon~, who are 
monastery officials, and, as in Tawang, 4 village headmen, who would 
be similarly elected. Tie Kalaktang panchayat would be composed 

Governor's Secretariat, Tribal, A, March IOU, NOb.l.41. 
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in the same w.ay as, the Dirang panchayat, except that the Talung 
Dzongpons would take the place of the Dirang Dzongpons. Th~se 
panchayats ~hould be empowered to deal with all cases under the 
supervision of the Agents and, of course, subject to the right of appeal 
to the Political Officer of Balipara Frontier Tract. The two Agents, 
who should be Tibetan-spea~ing persons of good social position, should 
be given considerable powers to deal with cases independently of the 
panchayau when necessary. A brief summary of the two Agent's duties 
is given herewith. 

(i) The collection of the Rs.5 house tax. 
(ii) With the aid of the panchayat the hearing of cases. 
(iii) Checking and counting houses in the villages. 
(iv) Keeping the Political Officer informed of all matters. 

concerning 'their areas. 
(v) Putting up of appeals. 

The Senior. Agent would carry out the above duties in the Tawang 
Area, and would, in addition make occasional VIsits to Dirang for the 
purpos~ of inspecting the work of the Junior Agents; who would be 
under his supervision. 

* .... * 
"5. To.mark the limits of our loose administration and of the area 

from which revenue IS received a Control Area should be established. 
6. I would recommend the institution of village panchayats as is, 

done in most hill districts. Such panchayats would hear all petty 
village cases, the parties, of course, having the right to appeal to the 
main panchayat of their area. 

7. Influence should tactfully be brought to bear to trv and 
persuade the monastery officials to elect Monbas to their high religio~s 
posts and not to allow Tibetans to be brought from Drepung in Lhasa. 
1 am maJcing this proposal tentatively as, being. a matter of religion, it 
would haye to be very care(ully hll-ndled, As the Monbas dislike the 
Tibetans I dQ not thjnk. that such action would, be difficult· of accom ... 
plishment. " 

In forwarding these proposals to the. Government of India in his 
letter No. 38SI-G.S., dated the 7th September 1933, the acting Go­
vemor.(Siz: Gilbert Hogg) expressed himselfstrongly to the effect that 
the existing situation-was intolerable and should be terminated as soon 
as possible. He accepted in general Captain Lightfoot's proposals and 
recommended as follows: ~ 

(I) A control area should be declared~ with boundaries as propo­
sed by the. Political Officer (vide Report, p,art II, paragraph 2 and 
Appendix 2). This will in itself entail no expenditure,. but will mark the 
limits of the area fl'Om which the trib~te proposed in sub-paragraph(5) 
below will be paid and into which raids by Akas from the east will 
not be allowed. 
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(2) The Tibetan Government should be requested to withdlaw 
their officials from this area. The absolute necessity of this needs, 
His Excellency feels, no further emphasis (Vide Report, Part II para­
graph 3). 

(3) Negotiations should be begun with the object of causing the 
substitution of Monba for Tibetan religious officials in Towang monas­
tery and of placing the contributions to the monastery on a known and 

equitable basis, with the abolition of aU forced labour. 
(4) Monopolies in salt and rice should be abolished. 
(5) A tribute of Rs. 5 per house should be imposed throughout the 

area. His Excellency has discussed this with the Political Officer and 
is satisfied that it is not e..x.cessive [vide Report, Part II paragraph 
4(1)]. • 

His Excellency recommends that this should be a tribute rather than 
a tax, for he considers that the area now under consideration must re­
main tribal territory and cannot form part of the Province of Assa m 
even with the status only of an excluded area, in any future that can 
be foreseen The inhabitants are for the most part Buddists, with no 
affinilies with the plainsmen of Assam. Indeed members of some of 
the tribes are, His Excel1ency understands, forbidden by their reli­
gion even to visit the plains. His Excellency thf'refore considers that 
the receipts in the form of tribute from the Towang area should be 
credited to Central Revenues, from wl.ich expenditure on the area, 
will be drawn. 

(6) llis Excellency agrees with the Political Officer (vide Report 
Part II, para 4(2) (3) and (4) that the administrative staff should 
consist of an Agent at Towang and Assistant Agent at Dirangdzong, 
and considers that the type of officer and pay proposed are suitable." 

Estimates amounting to Rs.41,617 non-recurring and Rs.37,896 
recurring to Cover the cost of carrying out this policy were subsequently 
submitted. 

In December 1938 the Government of India were again addressed 
to the effect that, if permanent occupation were not immediately prac­
ticable, a second expedition in the ensuing April would be desirable, 
as there were sign that the Tibetan officials were re\'erting to their 
previous practices since OUf people had left. 

The Central Government however, reluctantly decided (their letter 
No. F -8-XI 38, dated the 20th April 1939) that the proposed second 
tour could not be allowed as it "might result in the Government of 
India having to undertake pelmanent occupation in order to fulfil their 
obligations towards the Monbas". It was decided subsequf'ntly, inJuly 
1939, that the question offutule policy should be decided after the 
expiry of one year. While agreeing that the situation should be 
watched, the Government of India trusted that nothing would be done 
to incur commitments in that area. 

X. Minorincidcllts-1938-40.-The main event of the year 1938.39 
was the visit to Tawang, but besides that there were the following 
minor incidents. 
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An Expedition· visited in Decr-mber 1938 the Miji Aka village of 
Nakhu in order to warn them that raiding and taking tribute from the 
Monbas of the Dirangdzong area must stop. 

In the Eastern Duma country, Kabeng was guilty of a raid on 
Pinji, a village in the tribal area but very close to our frontier, in 
which 8 persons were carried off. Orders were issued to release the 
prisoners, but as they were disobeyed a punitive expedition was 
despatched, the captives were released and a fine of 10 mit han 
imposed. The Political Officer reported that this action had a good 
effect on other Dumas. 

In 1939-40t the Miji Akas were again troublesome, attempting to 
exact tribute from the Monbas of the Dirangdzong and Sherdukpen 
areas, Nakhu again being conspicuous. 

XI. Posa.-References to the payment of posa occur frequently 
thr.oughout the history of this tract. 

Captain Nevill's annual report for 1914-15 gives the details of the 
posa payments as follows. 

"Pl.Isa.-The following amounts are paid :-

Tawang Monbas 

Rupa and SherKaon 

Tembang 

Akas, Kovat sun 

Akas, Kutsun 

Dallas 

Miri-Abors 

Rs. a. p. 

5,000 0 0 

2,526 7 0 

145 13 6 

536 ° 0 

164 0 0 

3,.631 2 3 

1,124 11 ° 

Called by the 
Assamese 
Charduar 
Bhutias or Sat 
Rajas. 

Called by 
Assamese 
Thebengia 
Bhutias. 

Called Kopa. 
chors. 

Called Hazari .. 
khowas. 

As regards the posa paid to the Tawang Monbas, the amount was 
agreed upon in 1853 and was given in order to put a stop to the Bhutia 
raids! ~~d to their quite groun~less claim to !and in the Manga1dai 
subdlvl~lon. T?e Rs.5,000 pal~ at U da1guu! as I have previously 
stated, IS sent dIrect to Lhas'Ja With the exception of Rs. 500 which is 
retained by the Monks of the Tawang Monastery. 

*Administration Report for 1938-1939. 
tAdministration Report for 1939-1940. 
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The Rupa, and Shergaon Monbas receive Rs. 2,~26 .. 7-0. This 
was,origiQ~lly paid. to ~heIll in lieu of ~pods obtain«:d by. black-~a~lin~ 
the plains people. It IS h:tr.d to conceIve why these. two vt!ry InSlgm* 
ficant villages should receIve SO large a sum, especIally as they are a 
very timid people and quite incapable of ever causing much trouble 
on the Frontier. 

The Tembang Monbas receive Rs. 145-13-6. How these people 
establish~d a claim to pasa is extr.aordinary. Their village is a small 
one about, 5 days' march from the plains, and due north of Rupa. 
They are the most craven and degraded people I have seen in the 
hills. 

The two Aka tribes, receive pasa of Rs. 536 and. Rs. 164, respec­
tively. These amounts are paid to the t,wo chiefs and they are held 
responsible fox:, the good behaviour of their. people. 

The pasa paid to the Dafla~ and M,iri-Abors ill in. varying sums 
from Rs. 350 to four annas and in some viJlages as many as twenty 
persons receive it. Amongst the Daflas the great majority of posa 
receivers are men of no standmg or influence at all, in some cases even 
slaves receive payment. Pasa is paid on the production of a piece of 
paper called a Hat Chilo Previously little or no effort has· been made 
to verify the claim of the producer to this Hat chit. These chits have 
been made an object of bart~ and consequently in some cases quite 
uninfluential people will produce 7 or 8 chitr. Runaway slaves have 
stolen the chits from their masters and have settled In the plains 
and received payment on production of the chds. Every endeavour 
has been m~e this year to straighten matters out. The producer 
has been asked to establish his claim and state how he became 
possessed of his chit and his fingerprints have been taken, in order 
that in future, there may be some check. Since posa is given it is a 
great pity that it is not paid to responsible headmen who could be 
made responsible for the good behaviour of their villages. 

With the Miri-Abors the state of things is better and the larger 
receivers of, pasa are in most cases influential men. 

In addition to mOQey .. payment of pasa it ha~ become an esta­
blished custom to present the hillmen with 203 battlu of liquor, 18 
maunds 3.2 seers of salt, Rs. 164-2 6 -to meet their expenses in the 
plains, also 108 yards of red broad cloth" 

In his {eport for, 1921.22. Nevill again mentioned the payment 
to the Tawang Jongpens of pasa of Rs. 5,000, which went to Drt'­
pung monastery, except, for R.s. 500 to Tawang, and said that it 
ought to be discontinued. The point was examined· and it was 
found, that it originfltt1<i in lll44 when it was sanctioned by the 
Government of Il1~ia in cammll~ation of the claims of the Bhutias 
of Kuriapara l;)\,Iar: and. it was gua:r:ante=~d in the treaty shown at 
page 156 o.f Aitchison~s Treaties, Volumn I. Though Captain Nnill 
affirmed that the Tawang J?eople h~d got the pasa on false pretenses, 
and that the monastery receIved the pasa and not the Tibetan 

·Assam Secretariat, Appoin.tmen~ and Political, J).lly 1922, Nos. 64-67, 
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Government, it was decided that the payment could not now be 
stopped. So the rather curious position, by which, as Mr. A. W. 
Botham, the then Chief Secretary, put it, "Tawang being a depen­
dency of Lhassa and Tibet being a dependency of China, we are 
in a way paying tribute to China for part of the Darrang Dis­
trict", continued. 

By 1923-24 the amounts paid to the Dumas had been reduced 
to Rs. 2,440 and that to the Miris to Rs. 935. Nevill again re­
ferred to it as "a very bad system, but it is very hard to abolish" . 

XII 

POLITICAL OFFICER~ WESTERN SECTION, NORTH-EAST 
~ FRONTIER 
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1919-1928 Captain G. A. Nevill, I,P. (Retired 21st May 
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